# MAST CELLS: BRIDGING HOST-MICROORGANISM INTERACTIONS

EDITED BY: Rommel Chacon-Salinas, Anna Di Nardo and Soman Ninan Abraham PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-549-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-549-4

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

## MAST CELLS: BRIDGING HOST-MICROORGANISM INTERACTIONS

**Topic Editors:** 

Rommel Chacon-Salinas, Departamento de Inmunología, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico Anna Di Nardo, University of California, San Diego, United States Soman Ninan Abraham, Duke University, United States

**Citation:** Chacon-Salinas, R., Di Nardo, A., Abraham, S. N., eds. (2022). Mast Cells: Bridging Host-Microorganism Interactions. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-549-4

2

## Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Mast Cells: Bridging Host-Microorganism Interactions Rommel Chacón-Salinas, Anna Di Nardo and Soman N. Abraham

06 The Emerging Role of Mast Cells in Response to Fungal Infection Miao Yu, Xiao-ting Song, Bo Liu, Ting-ting Luan, Shuang-lu Liao and Zuo-tao Zhao

12 Mast Cells Modulate Antigen-Specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Activation During LCMV Infection

Yana Hackler, Frank Siebenhaar, Max Löhning, Marcus Maurer and Melba Muñoz

25 TLR2 Regulates Mast Cell IL-6 and IL-13 Production During Listeria monocytogenes Infection

Rodolfo Soria-Castro, Ángel R. Alfaro-Doblado, Gloria Rodríguez-López, Marcia Campillo-Navarro, Yatsiri G. Meneses-Preza, Adrian Galán-Salinas, Violeta Alvarez-Jimenez, Juan C. Yam-Puc, Rosario Munguía-Fuentes, Adriana Domínguez-Flores, Sergio Estrada-Parra, Sonia M. Pérez-Tapia, Alma D. Chávez-Blanco and Rommel Chacón-Salinas

- **40 Responses of Mast Cells to Pathogens: Beneficial and Detrimental Roles** Mariela Jiménez, Daniel Cervantes-García, Laura E. Córdova-Dávalos, Marian Jesabel Pérez-Rodríguez, Claudia Gonzalez-Espinosa and Eva Salinas
- 71 Murepavadin, a Small Molecule Host Defense Peptide Mimetic, Activates Mast Cells via MRGPRX2 and MrgprB2

Aetas Amponnawarat, Chalatip Chompunud Na Ayudhya and Hydar Ali

82 Molecular Mechanisms of Mast Cell Activation by Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins

Lubica Draberova, Magda Tumova and Petr Draber

- **97** Study of Antibody-Dependent Reactions of Mast Cells In Vitro and in a Model of Severe Influenza Infection in Mice Andrey Mamontov, Igor Losev, Dmitrii Korzhevskii, Valeriia Guselnikova, Alexander Polevshchikov and Yulia Desheva
- 109 Mast Cell Modulation of B Cell Responses: An Under-Appreciated Partnership in Host Defence

Alejandro M. Palma, Mark R. Hanes and Jean S. Marshall

 Mast Cells Are Identified in the Lung Parenchyma of Wild Mice, Which Can Be Recapitulated in Naturalized Laboratory Mice
Yu-Wen Yeh, Arka Sen Chaudhuri, Ling Zhou, Yu Fang, Preben Boysen and Zou Xiang





## **Editorial: Mast Cells: Bridging Host-Microorganism Interactions**

Rommel Chacón-Salinas<sup>1\*</sup>, Anna Di Nardo<sup>2\*</sup> and Soman N. Abraham<sup>3,4,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departamento de Inmunología, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, (ENCB-IPN), Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Department of Dermatology, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Pathology Department, School of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Molecular Genetics and Microbiology, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

Keywords: mast cell (MC), bacteria, virus, fungi, microbiota

Editorial on the Research Topic

Mast Cells: Bridging Host-Microorganism Interactions

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited and reviewed by:

lan Marriott, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Rommel Chacón-Salinas rommelchacons@yahoo.com.mx Anna Di Nardo adinardo@ucsd.edu Soman N. Abraham soman.abraham@duke.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 December 2021 Accepted: 13 January 2022 Published: 31 January 2022

#### Citation:

Chacón-Salinas R, Di Nardo A and Abraham SN (2022) Editorial: Mast Cells: Bridging Host-Microorganism Interactions. Front. Immunol. 13:827375. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.827375 Mast cells (MCs) evolved as part of the innate immune system more than 500 million years ago to respond to varying signals from microorganisms that establish different interactions with the host, ranging from mutualistic to parasitic. This Research Topic illustrates how MCs influence the immune system's relationship with different microorganisms and how these MC responses modulate subsequent host-microorganism interplay.

In a comprehensive overview, Jiménez et al. describe the biology and major functions of MCs with a focus on our current understanding of their interaction with microorganisms, ranging from viruses to parasites. They discuss the importance of MC mechanisms to induce protection against infection and they also illustrate the damage associated with exacerbated MC activation during different infectious diseases.

Yu et al. discuss the importance of MC activation during fungal infections. They review experimental evidence of the role of MCs during infections with the fungi *Candida albicans*, *Aspergillus fumigatus*, and *Sporothrix schenkii*.

Because of their strategic location, MCs are sentinels at epithelial interfaces and are first responders in host-microbiome interactions. MCs primarily interact with microbes *via* innate immune receptors, such as Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs). As Soria-Castro et al. describe, during infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*, MCs responses are mediated through TLR2 activation. However, they can also respond when TLR2 is blocked, using other innate immune receptors.

Draberova et al. describe alternate pathways of MC activation during infection, focusing on Gram-positive bacterial exotoxins that promote cholesterol-dependent cellular lysis. At low concentrations, these exotoxins cause pore formation in the membrane of MCs leading to the activation of cell signaling pathways that induce MC degranulation and production of several inflammatory mediators. Interestingly, other molecules that can modify MC membrane integrity can mimic this activation pathway.

However, the significance of MCs in host defense is more evident when we see MCs also modulate the acquired immune system. Palma et al. illustrate how MCs modulate B-cell responses. Their review describes the critical impacts of MCs on B cells using information from both clinical

and laboratory studies. They also discuss the implications of these findings on host responses to infections.

Antibody responses can modulate the responses of MCs to microorganisms, which is illustrated by Mamontov et al. during influenza virus infection, turning the capacity of MCs to recognize viruses into a damaging response. This study elegantly shows that virus-specific non-neutralizing antibodies can interact with MCs upon infection with the avian influenza virus. It is suggested that this antibody-mediated MC response, which includes significant histamine release, could potentially cause side effects when vaccinated subjects are infected with the influenza virus.

A second level of MC interactions with the adaptive immune response is evident during T cell activation following viral infections. Employing MC deficient mice, Hackler et al. reveal the critical role played by MCs in promoting adequate dendritic cell activation and the induction of specific CD8+ Tcell responses that limit lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infections.

The ability of MCs to participate in the control of bacterial infections can be exploited by employing distinct polypeptides that target specific molecules on MCs. For example, Amponnawarat et al. show that murepavadin, a lipopolysaccharide transport protein D (LptD)- binding host defense peptidomimetic antimicrobial peptide that targets multi-drug resistant *Pseudomonas aureginosa*, can activate MCs *in vitro* through Mas-Related G Protein-Coupled Receptor member X2 (MRGPRX2), inducing degranulation and cytokine production. Moreover, *in vivo*, they revealed that murepavadin increases vascular permeability in mice.

Finally, Yeh et al. reveal that MC interactions with microorganisms can be a bidirectional response, where interactions with microbiota impact MC distribution in the lungs. They show that mice captured in the wild exhibit high numbers of MCs in the lung parenchyma compared to conventional pathogen-free laboratory animals. Remarkably, when laboratory mice are bred in conditions that mimic the environment in the wild, they exhibit increased numbers of MCs in the lungs.

In conclusion, this Research Topic updates the current state of knowledge regarding MC crosstalk with mutualistic and parasitic microorganisms and how this interaction impacts innate and adaptive immune response modulating host homeostasis. The role of MCs clearly depends on the nature of its interactions with specific microorganisms, as these interactions can promote either protection or damage to the host. Purposeful modulation of some of these interactions could represent new therapeutic targets and novel strategies to combat infectious diseases.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to this work and approved it for publication.

#### FUNDING

RC-S was supported by Secretaría de Investigación y Posgrado I.P.N, (SIP-IPN).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all authors for their contributions and the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) for the initiation and support of this Research Topic.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chacón-Salinas, Di Nardo and Abraham. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Emerging Role of Mast Cells in Response to Fungal Infection

Miao Yu<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>, Xiao-ting Song<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Bo Liu<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Ting-ting Luan<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>, Shuang-lu Liao<sup>1,2,3</sup> and Zuo-tao Zhao<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Dermatology and Venerology, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Beijing Key Laboratory of Molecular Diagnosis on Dermatoses, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup> National Clinical Research Center for Skin and Immune Diseases, Beijing, China, <sup>4</sup> Peking University School of Nursing, Beijing, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rommel Chacon-Salinas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional (IPN), Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Luis Antonio Pérez-García, Autonomous University of San Luis Potosí, Mexico Eva Salinas, Autonomous University of Aguascalientes, Mexico Vanessa Lara, University of São Paulo, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Zuo-tao Zhao zhaozuotaotao@163.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 19 May 2021 Published: 03 June 2021

#### Citation:

Yu M, Song X-t, Liu B, Luan T-t, Liao S-I and Zhao Z-t (2021) The Emerging Role of Mast Cells in Response to Fungal Infection. Front. Immunol. 12:688659. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.688659 Mast cells (MCs) have been considered as the core effector cells of allergic diseases. However, there are evidence suggesting that MCs are involved in the mechanisms of fungal infection. MCs are mostly located in the border between host and environment and thus may have easy contact with the external environmental pathogens. These cells express receptors which can recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns such as Toll-like receptors (TLR2/4) and C-type Lectins receptors (Dectin-1/2). Currently, more and more data indicate that MCs can be interacted with some fungi (Candida albicans, Aspergillus fumigatus and Sporothrix schenckil). It is demonstrated that MCs can enhance immunity through triggered degranulation, secretion of cytokines and chemokines, neutrophil recruitment, or provision of extracellular DNA traps in response to the stimulation by fungi. In contrast, the involvement of MCs in some immune responses may lead to more severe symptoms, such as intestinal barrier function loss, development of allergic bronchial pulmonary aspergillosis and increased area of inflammatory in S. schenckii infection. This suggests that MCs and their relevant signaling pathways are potential treatment regimens to prevent the clinically unwanted consequences. However, it is not yet possible to make definitive statements about the role of MCs during fungal infection and/or pathomechanisms of fungal diseases. In our article, we aim to review the function of MCs in fungal infections from molecular mechanism to signaling pathways, and illustrate the role of MCs in some common host-fungi interactions.

Keywords: mast cell, fungi, pathogen-associated molecular patterns, Candida albicans, Aspergillus fumigatus, Sporothrix schenckii

#### INTRODUCTION

Fungal infections are a serious health problem all over the world. Currently, more than 300 million people suffer from severe fungal infections, and an estimated over 1.5 million people die from deep fungal infections each year (1). With broad-spectrum antibiotics used and the increase of immunodeficiency disease such as acquired immune deficiency syndrome, pathogenic fungi opportunistic infections showed a trend of rising sharply (2–4). Although early diagnosis and the use of antifungal drugs have a certain positive effect on the prevention and control of fungal

infection, there are still some unsolved problems in clinical practice, such as insufficient evidence of some etiology and drug resistance.

Both innate immunity and adaptive immunity play an indispensable role in anti-fungal infection. Mast cells (MCs) are one of the most important innate immune cells, which can initiate and regulate innate and adaptive immunity. Traditionally, MCs have been referred as the key effector cells of allergic diseases, such as urticaria, allergic rhinitis and bronchial asthma (5-7). MCs are mostly located in the border between host and environment such as skin, gastrointestinal and respiratory mucosa and thus may have easy contact with the external environmental pathogens (8). In addition, MCs express a variety of different pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on their cell surface to detect bacterial, viral, fungal or parasitic components known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (9) such as  $\beta$ -glucan, mannan and lipopolysaccharide. Due to their strategic location and the wide variety of PRRs they express, many researchers have attempted to explore the potential immune relationship between MCs and fungal infection (9-11). Therefore, we will review the role of MCs in fungal infections from molecular mechanism to signaling pathways, and illustrate the role of MCs in some common fungal infections (e.g., Candida albicans (C. albicans), Aspergillus fumigatus (A. fumigatus) and Sporothrix schenckii (S. schenckii)) to light new ideas for prevention and treatment.

#### FUNGI RECOGNITION RECEPTORS ON MCs

MCs can directly recognize PAMPs *via* their PRRs and then be activated. PRRs have comprised mainly five families including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin-like receptors (CLRs), Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) and retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) like receptors (RLRs) and absent-in-melanoma (AIM)-like receptors (ALRs) (12). Current studies have shown that TLRs and CLRs are main PRRs in host anti-fungal infection. The fungal wall is composed of many layers. Any component of the cell wall could be a potential PAMP. It is reported that the main molecules that trigger the immune response are chitin,  $\beta$ -glucan, mannan and others (13).

#### Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs)

The TLR family is an important group of receptors that recognize invading microorganisms through innate immunity. A total of 13 members of the TLRs family have been reported, 10 of which are associated with human including TLR1-10 (14). TLRs are distributed on a variety of cells including macrophages, dendritic cells and MCs. Mouse connective tissue-type MCs (CTMC) express TLR2, TLR4, and TLR5 on cell surface membrane, whereas TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9 are present both on the cell membrane and intracellularly (15). TLRs can recognize and be activated by different PAMPs. Compared with bone marrow-derived MCs (BMMCs) from wild type mice C57BL/6, a decrease in *C. albicans* phagocytosis and nitric oxide (NO) production were detected in TLR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (16). Whereas mannan, extracted from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, directly activates murine CTMC to initiate the proinflammatory response *via* TLR4 (17). When pretreated with TAK242, a small-molecule-specific inhibitor of TLR4 signaling, CTMC significantly decreased the generation of cysLT and reactive oxygen species (ROS) as compared to nontreated MCs in response to mannan (17). In summary, TLR2 and TLR4 are the main members of TLRs on MCs with potential to bind different PAMPs on the surface of fungi and induce subsequent host immune response.

#### C-Type Lectin-Like Receptors (CLRs)

CLRs are a family of calcium dependent receptors that bind to carbohydrates. A total of 17 members have been reported. Lectin activity of these receptors depends on conserved carbohydrate recognition domains. CLRs include Dectin-1, Dectin-2, macrophage-inducible C-type lectin (Mincle), intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-3) and dendritic cell-specific ICAM3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) (18). Studies on CLR expression and immune function in MCs are still limited. Dectin-1 is the most commonly studied receptor in CLRs, which exists in both human and murine MCs. Dectin-1 can recognize β-glucans and trigger a variety of cellular responses such as phagocytosis and the production of cytokines. Zymosan, a βglucan derived from yeast of Saccharomyces cerevisiae, for example, induced mature mice peritoneal MCs migration and pro-inflammatory expression via Dectin-1 (19). Similar results were observed in human cord blood-derived mast cells (CBMCs). When incubated with zymosan, CBMCs significantly decreased the level of leukotriene (LT) B<sub>4</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> in the presence of inhibitors of Dectin-1 (20). Some studies have shown that Dectin-2 can activate FcRy chain to recognize  $\alpha$ -mannose and induce immune response in dendritic cells (21), macrophages (22), and neutrophils (23), which leads to upregulation of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1ra secretion (24). Host Dectin-2 preferentially binds to hyphae form of C. albicans, Microsporum audouinii and Trichophyton rubrum (24), which is essential for inducing Th1/Th17 immune responses (25). The expression and immune function of Dectin-2 of MCs remains to be further studied.

#### SIGNALING PATHWAYS OF MCs AGAINST FUNGI

#### **TLR Signaling Pathway**

TLR signaling pathway can be mainly divided into two different mechanisms, namely Myeloid differentiation 88 (MyD88) -dependent pathway and MyD88-independent pathway. The MyD88 dependent pathway is used by all TLRs except TLR3 (26). MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed an increase of susceptibility to *C. albicans* infection and the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-12p70 could not be detected from antigen-stimulated splenocytes (27). Upon activation, MyD88 might trigger several different intracellular signaling pathways such as nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- $\kappa$ B), mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK including extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), p38 and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)) and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K), leading to the release of inflammatory cytokines and other inflammatory mediators. IgE-sensitized BMMCs from both TLR2 and MyD88 gene-deleted mice showed a decrease of IL-6 production in comparison of wild type BMMCs (28). Furthermore, a high concentration of Malassezia sympodialis extract inhibited phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and the release of IL-6 in IgE-sensitized BMMCs, indicating that the ERK1/2 pathway may regulate release of IL-6 (28). Except for ERK1/2, other molecules which involved MyD88-dependent pathways for TLR activation have been less investigated in MCs against fungi. PI3K pathway has been reported to be involved in lipopolysaccharide stimulation of murine BMMCs to produce IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  (29). In other cells, such as oral epithelial cells, all Candida species were able to activate the NF-KB and c-Jun pathway and only Candida dubliniensis and C. albicans hyphae can trigger MAPK/MKP1/c-Fos pathway (30).

#### **CLR Signaling Pathway**

CLR signaling pathway can be divided into tyrosine kinase Sykdependent and -independent signaling pathways. Both signaling pathways eventually activated NF-kB, and produced cytokines and chemokines such as IL-6, IL-23, TNF-a, macrophage inflammatory protein and CXCL12, which affected differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells. Traditionally, CLRs (e.g., Dectin-1, Dectin-2) are coupled with Syk to further activate NFκB pathway by activating caspase recruitment domain protein 9 (CARD9) in Syk-dependent signaling pathway. CARD9 was expressed on the surface of MCs, but its expression level was slightly lower than that of macrophages, dendritic cells and neutrophils. It was found that LTC4 and LTB4 were released from human MCs co-cultured with zymosan, suggesting that the expression of LTC4 and LTB4 was mediated by Dectin-1/ Syk pathway (20). In Syk-independent signaling pathway, activated CLRs (e.g., Dectin-1 and DC-SIGN) can recruit GTPase Ras proteins which subsequently activate serine/ threonine-protein kinase Raf-1. This results in Raf-1 mediated phosphorylation of the p65 subunit of NF-KB, which leads to the production of cytokines (31). In addition, the interaction between PRR can be more effective in the control of fungal infection. Studies have been proved that Dectin-1 and TLR2 collaborate to enhance the role of MAPK pathway resulting in an increase of cytokines (32).

#### MCs AND FUNGI

#### MCs and C. albicans Infection

*C. albicans* is one of the most common dimorphic fungus colonizing mucosal surfaces such as gastrointestinal tract, oral-nasal cavity and skin. Vulvovaginal candidiasis is one of the most common forms of candidiasis. When host immunity is suppressed or damaged,

*C. albicans* can result in severe invasive diseases. Invasive candidiasis is the most common critical care-associated fungal infection in patients hospitalized in intensive care units, with mortality rates between 40% and 55% (33).

MCs play a positive role in the defense mechanism against C. albicans infections, including phagocytosis and killing yeasts in the extracellular environment (34). Both yeast and hyphae of C. albicans can induce the degranulation of BMMCs and lead to the production of different cytokines and chemokines (CCL3 and CCL4) that regulate immune response (35). In response to the stimulation by yeast cells, BMMCs showed increased production of IL-6 and IL- $\beta$  that could not be induced by hyphae (35). C. albicans hyphae hide their  $\beta$ -glucan residues beneath a cover of mannoproteins on the cell walls, thus escaping Dectin-1-mediated phagocytosis and stimulating different cytokines production (36). Dectin-1, but not TLR2, is involved in the release of TNF- $\alpha$ through NF-KB/Syk pathway (35). The production of ROS and NO enhanced the ability to defense against C. albicans by MCs. When challenged with C. albicans, deletion of TLR2 or Dectin-1 significantly reduced NO levels, in comparison with wild type BMMCs. Whether Dectin-1 participates in the production of ROS remains controversial (16, 36).

Human MC immune responses towards *C. albicans* can be mainly divided into three phases. Human mast cell line HMC-1 degranulate in an early and direct response to fungal encounter, thus reducing the viability of *C. albicans* by 30% (37). Next, infected cell line HMC-1 release pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-8) to recruit neutrophils, followed by the release of anti-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-16 and IL-1ra (37). MCs extracellular traps will be formed to contribute to fungal physical restriction, but not killing activity, as there was no significant difference in fungal viability in the presence or absence of nuclease (37). *C. albicans* can cause MCs death by different mechanisms, including the release of MC extracellular traps and rupture by the growth of internalized *C. albicans* hyphae, leading to a temporary immune response (37).

Although secretion of monocyte chemotactic protein 1 was not observed in infected MCs (37), they can produce short-lived soluble mediators to improve the crawling of tissue-resident macrophages and induce migration to *C. albicans* infection (38). Uninfected MCs were found to restrict macrophage phagocytosis of *C. albicans*, which is the result of maintaining a balance between the host and the fungus (38).

MCs exhibited dual effects in response to *C. albicans*, which is dependent on their protease content and site of *C. albicans* colonization. In mice, two types of MCs have been described as CTMCs, which originate from fetal liver progenitors and are mainly located in stromal tissue, and mucosal MCs (MMCs), which originate in the bone marrow and reside in the intestine and lung (39). Two similar types of MCs are also observed in humans (40). Different MCs types regulated by cytokine production (e.g. TGF- $\beta$ , IL-9, IL-10) can discriminate between the fungal morphotypes, thereby promoting local inflammation or protective tolerance. Some studies have found that MMCs contribute to barrier function loss in leaky gut models (39) or higher sensitization against food antigen (41) in response to yeast stimulation. Whereas CTMCs induce local protective tolerance to infection by release of anti-inflammatory cytokine in response to hyphae (39). MCs promoting either inflammatory dysbiosis or tolerance were also observed in vulvovaginal candidiasis (42).

#### MCs and A. fumigatus Infection

A. fumigatus is the most frequent opportunistic pathogenic species of the genus Aspergillus by far, responsible for about 90% of the cases of Aspergillus diseases (43). A. fumigatus is abundant in the environment, releasing spores (conidia) which are inhaled. After inhalation, patients with lung function or immune defenses impaired are unable to eliminate conidia which will germinate into hyphae that colonize the airways. A. fumigatus hyphae will penetrate pulmonary tissues causing invasive aspergillosis, the most severe disease caused by Aspergillus spp (44). A. fumigatus is known to contain 23 antigenic components that can induce the production of specific IgE (45). Classically, antigen-specific IgE which cross links FceRI can trigger MCs degranulation and increase IL-5 release (46). IL-5 is one of the important cytokines that can promote eosinophils migration to inflammation site, which are associated with severe asthma and allergic bronchial pulmonary aspergillosis (47, 48).With further studied, investigators found that mature A. fumigatus hyphae can directly stimulate MCs to degranulate in the absence of IgE (49). When cultivated with heat-killed A. fumigatus spores, HMC-1 cell line was activated to degranulation and release IL-5 (50). Taken together, the activation of MCs induced by A. fumigatus may be the initiator of the whole sensitization process. The studies concerning the signaling pathway of immune response of MCs in A. fumigatus infection are scarce. In dendritic cells, TLR2/ MyD88 signaling pathway has been proved to regulate immune response to A. fumigatus conidia, which results in a development of Th2 response (51).

#### MCs and S. schenckii Infection

*S. schenckii* is a common biphasic fungal pathogen. The incidence of sporotrichosis is increasing and has become an urgent global health problem (52). The World Health Organization classifies sporotrichosis as one of the Neglected Tropical Diseases which place a significant burden on individuals, families and society (53).

Studies have shown that MCs play a non-protective role in response to *S. schenckii* infection. In our previous study, we

#### REFERENCES

- Wexler AG, Goodman AL. An Insider's Perspective: Bacteroides as a Window Into the Microbiome. *Nat Microbiol* (2017) 2:17026. doi: 10.1038/ nmicrobiol.2017.26
- Souza L, Nouér SA, Morales H, Simões B, Solza C, Queiroz-Telles F, et al. Epidemiology of Invasive Fungal Disease in Haematologic Patients. *Mycoses* (2021) 64(3):252–6. doi: 10.1111/myc.13205
- Ferrarese A, Cattelan A, Cillo U, Gringeri E, Russo FP, Germani G, et al. Invasive Fungal Infection Before and After Liver Transplantation. World J Gastroenterol (2020) 26(47):7485–96. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i47.7485
- Wu L, Xiao J, Song Y, Gao G, Zhao H. The Clinical Characteristics and Outcome of Cryptococcal Meningitis With AIDS in a Tertiary Hospital in China: An Observational Cohort Study. *BMC Infect Dis* (2020) 20(1):912. doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05661-9

observed that MC-deficient C57BL/6-Kit<sup>W</sup>/Kit<sup>W/v</sup> and MCdeficient Cpa3-Cre/Mcl-1<sup>fl/fl</sup> (Hello Kitty, HK) mice had more serious inflammation symptoms with elevation of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 in comparison with wild type mice (54). Rat peritoneal MCs can be activated by *S. schenckii* yeasts and release IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  *via* ERK pathway without degranulation (55, 56).

#### DISCUSSION

MCs are recognized as important effector in response to fungal infection. Their impacts can be protective and non-protective, depending on the pathogen and invasion site. Fungal recognition receptors commonly studied on MCs are TLR2/4 and Dectin-1.Upon activated by TLR/MyD88 or Syk pathway, MCs can produce specific cytokines and chemokines which can elicit a direct temporary immune response and recruit some neutrophils to the infection sites. MCs activation can enhance the immune response against infection. In contrast, the involvement of MCs in some immune responses may lead to more severe symptoms, such as intestinal barrier function loss, development of allergic bronchial pulmonary aspergillosis and increased area of inflammatory in S. schenckii infection, which suggests that MCs and their singling pathways are potential treatment regimens to prevent the clinically unwanted consequences. However, up to now, we still have a relatively poor understanding of the mechanism of MCs in response to common fungal infection. Many of the key signaling pathways involved in mediating selective cytokine and chemokine responses from MCs remain unknown. In the future, more in vitro and in vivo studies are urgently needed to further explore the role of MCs in response to fungal infection.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MY: substantial contributions to draft the manuscript. X-tS: drafted the article. BL: drafted the article. T-tL: participated in material collection. S-lL: participated in material collection. Z-tZ: substantial contributions to conception and reviewed the article critically for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Song XT, Chen YD, Yu M, Liu B, Zhao ZT, Maurer M. Omalizumab in Children and Adolescents With Chronic Urticaria: A 16-Week Real-World Study. *Allergy* (2021) 76(4):1271–73. doi: 10.1111/all.14686
- Chen YD, Maurer M, Yu M, Tu P, Zhao ZT. Addition of Omalizumab to Antihistamine Treatment in Chronic Urticaria: A Real-World Study in China. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (2020) 125(2):217–9. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2020.04.026
- Chen YD, Krause K, Tu P, Zhao ZT, Maurer M. Response of Omalizumab in Normocomplementemic Urticarial Vasculitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract (2020) 8(6):2114–7.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2020.02.024
- Reber LL, Sibilano R, Mukai K, Galli SJ. Potential Effector and Immunoregulatory Functions of Mast Cells in Mucosal Immunity. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8(3):444–63. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.131
- Jiao Q, Luo Y, Scheffel J, Zhao Z, Maurer M. The Complex Role of Mast Cells in Fungal Infections. *Exp Dermatol* (2019) 28(7):749–55. doi: 10.1111/ exd.13907

- Piliponsky AM, Acharya M, Shubin NJ. Mast Cells in Viral, Bacterial, and Fungal Infection Immunity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(12):2851. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20122851
- Bird JA, Sánchez-Borges M, Ansotegui IJ, Ebisawa M, Ortega Martell JA. Skin as an Immune Organ and Clinical Applications of Skin-Based Immunotherapy. World Allergy Organ J (2018) 11(1):38. doi: 10.1186/ s40413-018-0215-2
- Agier J, Pastwińska J, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E. An Overview of Mast Cell Pattern Recognition Receptors. *Inflamm Res* (2018) 67(9):737-46. doi: 10.1007/s00011-018-1164-5
- García-Carnero LC, Martínez-Álvarez JA, Salazar-García LM, Lozoya-Pérez NE, González-Hernández SE, Tamez-Castrellón AK. Recognition of Fungal Components by the Host Immune System. *Curr Protein Pept Sci* (2020) 21 (3):245–64. doi: 10.2174/1389203721666191231105546
- Satoh T, Akira S. Toll-Like Receptor Signaling and Its Inducible Proteins. *Microbiol Spectr* (2016) 4(6):1–7. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.MCHD-0040-2016
- Agier J, Żelechowska P, Kozłowska E, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E. Expression of Surface and Intracellular Toll-like Receptors by Mature Mast Cells. *Cent Eur J Immunol* (2016) 41(4):333–8. doi: 10.5114/ceji.2016.65131
- Pinke KH, Lima HG, Cunha FQ, Lara VS. Mast Cells Phagocyte Candida Albicans and Produce Nitric Oxide by Mechanisms Involving TLR2 and Dectin-1. *Immunobiol* (2016) 221(2):220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.09.004
- Żelechowska P, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E, Różalska S, Agier J, Kozłowska E. Mannan Activates Tissue Native and IgE-sensitized Mast Cells to Proinflammatory Response and Chemotaxis in TLR4-dependent Manner. *J Leukoc Biol* (2021) 109(5):931–42. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4A0720-452R
- Mayer S, Raulf MK, Lepenies B. C-Type Lectins: Their Network and Roles in Pathogen Recognition and Immunity. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2017) 147(2):223– 37. doi: 10.1007/s00418-016-1523-7
- Żelechowska P, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E, Różalska S, Agier J, Kozłowska E. Native and IgE-primed Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells Exert Pro-Inflammatory Activity and Migrate in Response to Yeast Zymosan Upon Dectin-1 Engagement. *Immunol Res* (2021) 69(2):176–88. doi: 10.1007/s12026-021-09183-7
- Olynych TJ, Jakeman DL, Marshall JS. Fungal Zymosan Induces Leukotriene Production by Human Mast Cells Through a dectin-1-dependent Mechanism. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2006) 118(4):837–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.06.008
- 21. Ishikawa T, Itoh F, Yoshida S, Saijo S, Matsuzawa T, Gonoi T, et al. Identification of Distinct Ligands for the C-type Lectin Receptors Mincle and Dectin-2 in the Pathogenic Fungus Malassezia. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 13(4):477–88. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.03.008
- Ifrim DC, Quintin J, Courjol F, Verschueren I, van Krieken JH, Koentgen F, et al. The Role of Dectin-2 for Host Defense Against Disseminated Candidiasis. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2016) 36(4):267–76. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2015.0040
- Wu SY, Weng CL, Jheng MJ, Kan HW, Hsieh ST, Liu FT, et al. Candida Albicans Triggers NADPH Oxidase-Independent Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Through Dectin-2. *PloS Pathog* (2019) 15(11):e1008096. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1008096
- Sato K, Yang XL, Yudate T, Chung JS, Wu J, Luby-Phelps K, et al. Dectin-2 is a Pattern Recognition Receptor for Fungi That Couples With the Fc Receptor Gamma Chain to Induce Innate Immune Responses. J Biol Chem (2006) 281 (50):38854–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606542200
- Robinson MJ, Osorio F, Rosas M, Freitas RP, Schweighoffer E, Gross O, et al. Dectin-2 is a Syk-coupled Pattern Recognition Receptor Crucial for Th17 Responses to Fungal Infection. J Exp Med (2009) 206(9):2037–51. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082818
- Akira S, Takeda K, Kaisho T. Toll-Like Receptors: Critical Proteins Linking Innate and Acquired Immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(8):675–80. doi: 10.1038/90609
- Villamón E, Gozalbo D, Roig P, Murciano C, O'Connor JE, Fradelizi D, et al. Myeloid Differentiation Factor 88 (MyD88) is Required for Murine Resistance to Candida Albicans and is Critically Involved in Candida-induced Production of Cytokines. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2004) 15(3):263–71.
- Selander C, Engblom C, Nilsson G, Scheynius A, Andersson CL. Tlr2/MyD88dependent and -Independent Activation of Mast Cell IgE Responses by the Skin Commensal Yeast Malassezia Sympodialis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182 (7):4208–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0800885

- Hochdörfer T, Kuhny M, Zorn CN, Hendriks RW, Vanhaesebroeck B, Bohnacker T, et al. Activation of the PI3K Pathway Increases TLR-induced Tnf-α and IL-6 But Reduces IL-1β Production in Mast Cells. *Cell Signal* (2011) 23(5):866–75. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2011.01.012
- Moyes DL, Murciano C, Runglall M, Kohli A, Islam A, Naglik JR. Activation of MAPK/c-Fos Induced Responses in Oral Epithelial Cells is Specific to Candida Albicans and Candida Dubliniensis Hyphae. *Med Microbiol Immunol* (2012) 201(1):93–101. doi: 10.1007/s00430-011-0209-y
- Gringhuis SI, den Dunnen J, Litjens M, van der Vlist M, Wevers B, Bruijns SC, et al. Dectin-1 Directs T Helper Cell Differentiation by Controlling Noncanonical NF-kappaB Activation Through Raf-1 and Syk. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(2):203–13. doi: 10.1038/ni.1692
- Goodridge HS, Underhill DM. Fungal Recognition by TLR2 and Dectin-1. Handb Exp Pharmacol (2008) 183):87–109. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-72167-3\_5
- Logan C, Martin-Loeches I, Bicanic T. Invasive Candidiasis in Critical Care: Challenges and Future Directions. *Intensive Care Med* (2020) 46(11):2001–14. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06240-x
- 34. Trevisan E, Vita F, Medic N, Soranzo MR, Zabucchi G, Borelli V. Mast Cells Kill Candida Albicans in the Extracellular Environment But Spare Ingested Fungi From Death. *Inflammation* (2014) 37(6):2174–89. doi: 10.1007/s10753-014-9951-9
- Nieto-Patlán A, Campillo-Navarro M, Rodríguez-Cortés O, Muñoz-Cruz S, Wong-Baeza I, Estrada-Parra S, et al. Recognition of Candida Albicans by Dectin-1 Induces Mast Cell Activation. *Immunobiol* (2015) 220(9):1093–100. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.05.005
- Yang Z, Marshall JS. Zymosan Treatment of Mouse Mast Cells Enhances Dectin-1 Expression and Induces dectin-1-dependent Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Generation. *Immunobiology* (2009) 214:321–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.imbio.2008.09.002
- Lopes JP, Stylianou M, Nilsson G, Urban CF. Opportunistic Pathogen Candida Albicans Elicits a Temporal Response in Primary Human Mast Cells. Sci Rep (2015) 5:12287. doi: 10.1038/srep12287
- De Zuani M, Paolicelli G, Zelante T, Renga G, Romani L, Arzese A, et al. Mast Cells Respond to Candida Albicans Infections and Modulate Macrophages Phagocytosis of the Fungus. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2829. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.02829
- Renga G, Moretti S, Oikonomou V, Borghi M, Zelante T, Paolicelli G, et al. IL-9 and Mast Cells Are Key Players of Candida Albicans Commensalism and Pathogenesis in the Gut. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23(6):1767–78. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2018.04.034
- Church MK, Kolkhir P, Metz M, Maurer M. The Role and Relevance of Mast Cells in Urticaria. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 282(1):232–47. doi: 10.1111/imr.12632
- Yamaguchi N, Sugita R, Miki A, Takemura N, Kawabata J, Watanabe J, et al. Gastrointestinal Candida Colonisation Promotes Sensitisation Against Food Antigens by Affecting the Mucosal Barrier in Mice. *Gut* (2006) 55(7):954–60. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.084954
- 42. Renga G, Borghi M, Oikonomou V, Mosci P, Bartoli A, Renauld JC, et al. Il-9 Integrates the Host-Candida Cross-Talk in Vulvovaginal Candidiasis to Balance Inflammation and Tolerance. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2702. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02702
- Strickland AB, Shi M. Mechanisms of Fungal Dissemination. Cell Mol Life Sci (2021) 78(7):3219–38. doi: 10.1007/s00018-020-03736-z
- 44. Gomez C, Carsin A, Gouitaa M, Reynaud-Gaubert M, Dubus JC, Mège JL, et al. Mast Cell Tryptase Changes With Aspergillus Fumigatus - Host Crosstalk in Cystic Fibrosis Patients. J Cyst Fibros (2018) 17(5):631–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2018.01.012
- Fukutomi Y, Taniguchi M. Sensitization to Fungal Allergens: Resolved and Unresolved Issues. *Allergol Int* (2015) 64(4):321–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.alit.2015.05.007
- 46. Mathias CB, Freyschmidt EJ, Caplan B, Jones T, Poddighe D, Xing W, et al. Ige Influences the Number and Function of Mature Mast Cells, But Not Progenitor Recruitment in Allergic Pulmonary Inflammation. J Immunol (2009) 182(4):2416–24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801569
- Morán G, Uberti B, Ortloff A, Folch H. Aspergillus Fumigatus-Sensitive IgE is Associated With Bronchial Hypersensitivity in a Murine Model of Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation. J Mycol Med (2018) 28(1):128–36. doi: 10.1016/j.mycmed.2017.11.005

- Wu G, Meng X, Zheng P, Zhang XD, Li L, Hu H, et al. Elevated Serum Levels of Periostin in Patients With Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis. *Mycoses* (2019) 62(9):780–9. doi: 10.1111/myc.12957
- Urb M, Pouliot P, Gravelat FN, Olivier M, Sheppard DC. Aspergillus Fumigatus Induces Immunoglobulin E-independent Mast Cell Degranulation. J Infect Dis (2009) 200(3):464-72. doi: 10.1086/600070
- Chen LS, Li YM, Tong XL, Zhao ZT, Wang C. [Effects of Aspergillus Fumigatus Spore on the Activation of Mast Cell]. *Chin J Mycol* (2017) 12 (1):3–7. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-3827.2017.01.002
- 51. Percier P, De Prins S, Tima G, Beyaert R, Grooten J, Romano M, et al. Aspergillus Fumigatus Recognition by Dendritic Cells Negatively Regulates Allergic Lung Inflammation Through a TLR2/MyD88 Pathway. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2021) 64(1):39–49. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2020-0083OC
- 52. Lopes-Bezerra LM, Mora-Montes HM, Zhang Y, Nino-Vega G, Rodrigues AM, de Camargo ZP, et al. Sporotrichosis Between 1898 and 2017: The Evolution of Knowledge on a Changeable Disease and on Emerging Etiological Agents. *Med Mycol* (2018) 56(suppl\_1):126–43. doi: 10.1093/mmy/myx103
- Organization WH. Working to Overcome the Global Impact of Neglected Tropical Diseases: First WHO Reporton Neglected Tropical Diseases: Summary[J]. Geneva Switzerland Who (2011) 7(4244):596.

- Jiao Q, Luo Y, Scheffel J, Geng P, Wang Y, Frischbutter S, et al. Skin Mast Cells Contribute to Sporothrix Schenckii Infection. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:469. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00469
- Romo-Lozano Y, Hernández-Hernández F, Salinas E. Mast Cell Activation by Conidia of Sporothrix Schenckii: Role in the Severity of Infection. Scand J Immunol (2012) 76(1):11–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2012.02706.x
- Romo-Lozano Y, Hernández-Hernández F, Salinas E. Sporothrix Schenckii Yeasts Induce ERK Pathway Activation and Secretion of IL-6 and TNF-α in Rat Mast Cells, But No Degranulation. Med Mycol (2014) 52(8):862–8. doi: 10.1093/mmy/myu055

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Yu, Song, Liu, Luan, Liao and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Mast Cells Modulate Antigen-Specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Activation During LCMV Infection

### Yana Hackler<sup>1</sup>, Frank Siebenhaar<sup>1</sup>, Max Löhning<sup>2,3</sup>, Marcus Maurer<sup>1</sup> and Melba Muñoz<sup>1,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dermatological Allergology, Allergie-Centrum-Charité, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Allergology, Charité -Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Experimental Immunology and Osteoarthritis Research, Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Charité -Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Pitzer Laboratory of Osteoarthritis Research, German Rheumatism Research Center (DRFZ), A Leibniz Institute, Berlin, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Clinician Scientist Program, Berlin Institute of Health at Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rommel Chacon-Salinas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional (IPN), Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Ashley L. St. John, Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore Sam Basta, Queen's University, Canada

> \*Correspondence: Melba Muñoz melba.munoz-roldan@charite.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 March 2021 Accepted: 26 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

#### Citation:

Hackler Y, Siebenhaar F, Löhning M, Maurer M and Muñoz M (2021) Mast Cells Modulate Antigen-Specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Activation During LCMV Infection. Front. Immunol. 12:688347. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.688347 Mast cells (MCs), strategically localized at mucosal surfaces, provide first-line defense against pathogens and shape innate and adaptive immune responses. Recent studies have shown that MCs are involved in pathogenic responses to several viruses including herpes simplex viruses, dengue virus, vaccinia virus and influenza virus. However, the underlying mechanisms of MCs in the activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during viral infections are not fully understood. Therefore, we investigate the role of MCs in the development of virusspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses using the well-characterized murine lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) model and the transgenic MasTRECK mice that contain the human diphtheria toxin receptor as an inducible MC-deficient model. Here, we report that MCs are essential for the activation and expansion of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. After MC depletion and subsequent intradermal LCMV infection, the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector phenotype and antiviral cytokine production were impaired at the peak of infection (day 8 p.i.). Importantly, MC-deficient mice were unable to control the infection and exhibited significantly higher viral loads in the spleen and in the ear draining lymph nodes compared to that of wild type control mice. In the absence of MCs, dendritic cell (DC) activation was impaired upon LCMV infection. In addition, type-I interferon (IFN) levels in the serum and in the spleen of MC-deficient mice were reduced during the first days of infection. Interestingly, depletion of MCs after intradermal LCMV infection did not impair virusspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion, activation or antiviral cytokine production. In summary, our results indicate that MCs play a pivotal role in the activation and antiviral functions of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells through proper DC activation. A better understanding of the impact of MCs on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses is mandatory to improve antiviral immune responses.

#### Keywords: mast cells, CD8+ T cells, viral infection, immunosuppression, dendritic cells

#### INTRODUCTION

Mast cells (MCs) are long-lived immune cells distributed throughout nearly all tissues and particularly close to the skin and mucosa (1). MCs can quickly respond to invading pathogens and initiate immune responses due to their location and the expression of a wide spectrum of pattern recognition receptors (2-4). In addition, MCs sense stress and tissue damage via receptors of danger-associated molecular patterns (5-7). Furthermore, MCs can release a plethora of immune mediators including cytokines, chemokines, proteases, and antimicrobial peptides, which allow them to activate both immune and nonimmune cells (8, 9). Thus, MCs can be considered a bridge between innate and adaptive immune responses (10). Several studies have shown that MCs play a protective role during bacterial, fungal and parasitic infections (11-16). In addition, increasing evidence using experimental infection models in mouse and human cell lines have revealed novel insights into the role of MCs in viral infections.

MCs can directly sense viruses (2) and can also be activated by inflammatory mediators produced during viral infections (17). Depending on the mechanism of viral recognition, MCs release immune mediators through degranulation or de novo cytokine and chemokine production (18). MCs have shown to modulate the course of cytomegalovirus, vaccinia virus, influenza virus, epstein barr virus and dengue virus infections (19-22). Moreover, MCs mediate the recruitment of short-lived effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into the lung in a CCL-5 dependent manner after cytomegalovirus infection (19). Antimicrobial peptides produced by MCs such as cathelicidin exert antiviral properties against vaccinia virus infection as shown by increased viral loads in infected MC-deficient mice compared to infected wild type animals (23). MCs not only mediate recruitment of cytotoxic cells such as NK cells, NKT cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (24, 25) but also contribute to viral clearance after dengue virus infection (26). Similarly, MC-deficient mice exhibited increased clinical severity and mortality with elevated virus titers compared to wild type mice after a HSV-2 infection (27).

Recent studies show that DC-MC interactions have a strong impact in the modulation of DC migration, activation and function (28-30). In addition, molecular transfers of major histocompatibility complex class II (MHCII) proteins between MCs and DCs enhanced T cell priming efficiency (31). MCs not only induce DC migration but also enhance DC maturation in vitro, antigen uptake, and cross-presentation (28, 32). In addition to direct MC-DC communication, a recent study show that MC granules and exosomes are able to promote DC maturation (33). MCs have been shown to induce the activation and migration of antigen-presenting cells from the skin. MCdeficient Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> or TNF(-/-) mice showed significantly reduced migration of airway DCs to local LNs 24 h after intranasal challenge with FITC-OVA in a model of contact hypersensitivity to FITC (34). In addition, activated mast cells were shown to alter the pulmonary micromilieu and induce antigen uptake, activation and migration of DCs (35).

Despite the increasing evidence for the critical role of MCs in immune responses and their protective role in viral infections,

the underlying mechanisms are still not completely understood. Here, we report that MCs are crucial for the activation, expansion and function of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Accordingly, MC-deficient mice were not able to control the infection and exhibited high viral loads in the spleen and in the ear draining lymph nodes (ear-dLNs). In the absence of MCs, DC activation was impaired and type-I IFN levels were reduced. Furthermore, MC-deficient mice exhibited diminished chemokine concentrations that led to decreased recruitment of DCs to secondary lymphoid organs. Thus, our findings indicate that MCs are essential for the development of antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells responses during viral infections.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Mice

C57BL/6 (WT) and MasTRECK mice on C57BL/6 background (36) were bred in the animal facility at Charité, Berlin under specific pathogen-free conditions. C57BL/6 (WT) were used for peritoneal mast cell and DC isolation. For mast cell depletion, C57BL/6 (WT) and MasTRECK mice received 250 ng of diphtheria toxin intraperitoneally during five consecutive days. All animal experiments were performed at the Charité, Berlin in accordance with the German law for animal protection and approved by the Landesamt für Gesundheit und Soziales of Berlin (LaGeSO approval number G0078/17).

## Virus, Measurement of Viral Titers and Inoculation of Mice

LCMV-WE strain was propagated on L-929 cells. LCMV stocks and viral titers in the spleen and the ear-dLNs were titrated by standard immunofocus assays on MC57G cells as described previously (37). In brief, MC57G cells were plated with organ homogenates or virus stock dilutions and subsequently overlaid with 2% methylcellulose. After 48 h of incubation at 37°C, the confluent monolayer of cells was fixed with 4 % formaldehyde, permeabilized with 1 % Triton X-100 (v/v) and stained with antibodies against LCMV nucleoprotein (VL-4). After a secondary staining step with peroxidase-conjugated anti-rat IgG antibody (Jackson), foci were developed by 20 min incubation with OPD substrate (0.1 mol/L Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.5 mol/L citric acid, 0.03 % H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and 20 mg o-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride). Mice were intradermally infected on the ventral side of the ear pinna with 9\*10<sup>4</sup> PFU of LCMV-WE in 10 µL PBS.

#### **Preparation of Ear Cell Suspensions**

Ears were splitted in two layers, cut into small pieces and subsequently placed into fleshly prepared digestion medium (915  $\mu$ L RPMI, 40  $\mu$ L FCS (4 %), 0.5  $\mu$ L DNase (40  $\mu$ g/mL) (Roche), 35  $\mu$ L Liberase<sup>TM</sup> (10 mg/mL) (Roche) and 10  $\mu$ L hyaluronidase (50 mg/mL). After incubation (60 min, 37°C, 1400 rpm) undigested tissue was removed using a 30  $\mu$ m cell strainer and the cells were washed (10 min, 4°C, 300 g) in PBS/BSA (0.5 % w/v). Afterwards the single cell suspension was used for flow cytometry staining.

#### Flow Cytometry Analysis

Surface receptor staining and intracellular cytokine staining procedures have been described previously (38). The LCMV-specific CD8+ T cell response to the dominant glycoprotein-derived epitope GP33 and the nucleoprotein-derived epitope NP396 were assessed by MHC class I tetramer staining as described previously (39).

Surface receptor staining was performed in single cell suspensions of ears, ear-dLNs and the spleen after homogenization using mechanical disruption through a 70  $\mu$ m cell strainer. FACS analysis included surface marker stainings for anti-CD4 (GK1.5), anti-CD45 (30-F11), anti-KLRG1, anti-CD127 (IL-7R), anti-CD62L, anti-CXCR3 (CXCR3-173), anti-CCR2 (SA203G11), anti-MHCII (M5/114.15.2), anti-CD11c (N418), anti-CD11b (M1/70), anti-CD8 (53-6.7), anti-CD80 (16-10A1), anti-CD86 (GL1), anti-Ly6C (HK1.4), anti-Ly6G (1A8) anti-B220 (RA3-6B2), anti-F4/80 (BM8) and anti-Siglec H (551) (BioLegend). Zombie-Aqua (BioLegend) was used as a live/dead discrimination marker. Rat IgG1 (R3-34) and rat IgG2a (R35-95) isotype control antibodies (BD Biosciences) were used at the same concentrations as the respective cytokine antibodies.

For the analysis of intracellular cytokines, cells were restimulated with GP33 (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) and NP396 (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) (Neosystem) for infected animals or with PMA (5 ng/ml) and ionomycin (500 ng/ml; Sigma) for uninfected mice. 5 µg/mL brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich) was added after 30 minutes. After 3 h, surface marker stainings were performed and cells were subsequently fixed with 2 % formaldehyde (Merck). Later on, cells were stained with the following rat anti-mouse cytokine antibodies or isotype control antibodies in permeabilization buffer containing 0.05% saponin (Sigma-Aldrich): anti-IFN- $\gamma$ (XMG1.2), anti-TNF-α (MP6-XT22) and anti-IL-10 (JES5-16E3) in permeabilization buffer containing 0.05 % saponin (Sigma-Aldrich). Rat IgG1 (R3-34) and rat IgG2a (R35-95) isotype control antibodies (BD Biosciences) were used at the same concentrations as the respective cytokine antibodies. Flow cytometry analysis was performed in BD FACS Canto II. The gating strategy for flow cytometry analysis of immune subsets in the spleen, ear-dLNs and ears is shown in Figure S1. After gating on live cells and subsequently on CD45<sup>+</sup> cell, neutrophils (Ly6G<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup>), macrophages (F4/80<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup>) DC, (MCHII<sup>+</sup> CD11c<sup>+</sup>) and inflammatory monocyte (LyC6<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup>) were gated. For CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells subsets, cells were gated on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and subsequently, on KLRG-1<sup>+</sup> IL-7R<sup>-</sup> or CD44<sup>+</sup> CD62L<sup>-</sup> or CXCL3<sup>+</sup> for activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, GP33-Tetramer<sup>+</sup> and NP396-Tetramer<sup>+</sup> for LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and IFN- $\gamma^+$ and IL-10<sup>+</sup> for cytokine production (Figure S2). For lymphocytic DCs, analysis gates were set on CD8<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> cells (**Figure S3A**) and for pDC, after excluding CD3<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>+</sup> and CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells were gated on  $B220^+$  and lastly on Siglec-H<sup>+</sup> (Figure S3B).

#### **LCMV Infection Model In Vitro**

For peritoneal MC isolation, the abdominal skin of mice was washed with 70 % ethanol. The peritoneum was exposed by a 1cm midline abdominal incision, and 4.0 mL of sterile, pyrogenfree, 0.9 % NaCl and 4.0 mL of air were injected into the peritoneal cavity via a 22-gauge needle. The abdomen was massaged gently for ~3 min and the peritoneal fluid was recovered via a 22-gauge needle. Peritoneal MCs show a purity  $\geq$  95% (depicted by FccRI+ c-Kit+) after isolation in the flow cytometry analysis (**Figure S4A**). Subsequently, peritoneal MCs were then wash with PBS, infected with LCMV-WE at MOI 5 and cultured in RPMI 1640 plus GlutaMax-I supplemented with 10 % (vol/vol) FCS (Gibco; Life Technologies), penicillin (100 U/ mL; Gibco; Life Technologies), streptomycin (100 µg/mL; Gibco; Life Technologies), and  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (50 ng/mL; Sigma-Aldrich) for 24h. Cells were harvested and stained for flow cytometry analysis. Supernatants were collected for cytokine and chemokine detection.

## Cytokine and Chemokine Analysis in Supernatants

The concentrations of cytokines and chemokines were determined in supernatants of 2x10e5 splenocytes and cells from ear draining lymph nodes cultured in a 96 U-bottom well plate in 200  $\mu$ L RPMI complete medium for 24 h and using a magnetic bead based multiplex ELISA (LEGENDplex<sup>TM</sup>-BioLegend) and the chemokine 26-Plex Mouse ProcartaPlex<sup>TM</sup> Panel 1 (Invitrogen) according manufacturer's instructions.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin sections (5  $\mu$ m) were deparaffinized as follows: 2 x 10 min in xylol, 2 x 3 min in absolute ethanol, 2 x 3 min in 96 % ethanol, 1 x 3 min in 70 % ethanol, 3 x 5 min in deionized water and 3 x 5 s in TBS buffer (Tris-Base (7,4 mmol/L), Tris-HCl (43,5 mmol/L), NaCl (150 mmol/L), pH = 7.5). For MC staining, the sections were incubated with Avidin-FITC (BioLegend) for 15 min in the dark. After washing (3 x 3 min with TBS) the sections were embedded with Fluoromount-G<sup>TM</sup> containing DAPI (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and dried for 24 h.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

GraphPad Prism (v8.0) software was used for data analysis. Statistical significance was determined by Student's t-test (unpaired two-tailed) for all figures when not indicated different. More than two groups were compared via one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post test for multiple comparisons. P = 0.01 to 0.05 was considered statistically significant (\*), p = 0.001 to 0.01 as very significant (\*\*), and p < 0.001 (\*\*\*) as extremely significant, ns, not significant.

#### RESULTS

#### Mast Cells Are Crucial for Immune Cell Recruitment to the Site of LCMV Infection

In order to investigate the role of MCs in the development of virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses, we used transgenic MasTRECK mice that contain the human diphtheria toxin (DT) receptor under the control of an intronic enhancer that is essential for *Il4* gene transcription in MCs but not in other cell types (36). After five days of DT i.p. application into both wildtype (WT) and MasTRECK mice, MCs were depleted in

the skin of MasTRECK mice but not in that of WT mice (**Figure 1A**). The frequencies of different immune cell subsets in the spleen, ear draining lymph nodes (ear-dLNs) and ears were comparable between uninfected WT and MasTRECK mice after MC depletion (**Figures S1** and **S5A-E**). Basophils are concomitantly depleted with MC after DT administration and are therefore absent in MasTRECK mice during the course of LCMV infection including the last time point of analysis (day 8 p.i.) (36). One day after the last DT treatment, WT and MasTRECK mice were intradermally infected with LCMV on the ventral side of the ear pinna (**Figure 1B**). WT mice displayed

a significant increase in ear thickness from day 6 to day 8 post infection compared to infected MasTRECK mice (**Figure 1C**). Furthermore, frequencies of haematopoietic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in the ear of WT mice were markedly increased compared to that of infected MasTRECK mice at the peak of infection (day 8 p.i.) (**Figure 1D**). In addition, infected MasTRECK mice displayed significantly reduced frequencies and absolute numbers of neutrophils, macrophages, DCs, and inflammatory monocytes compared to that of infected WT mice, suggesting that MCs are crucial for the recruitment of immune cells to the site of LCMV infection (**Figures 1E–H**).





#### Mast Cells Are Key Players in the Expansion and Recruitment of Virus-Specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells

We then examined LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in WT and MasTRECK mice treated with DT for 5 days followed by intradermal infection with LCMV on the ventral side of the ear pinna (**Figure 1B**). Frequencies of total CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (**Figure 2A**) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells specific for the dominant LCMV glycoprotein epitope GP33 and nucleoprotein epitope NP396 were markedly reduced in the ear-dLNs of MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT animals at day 5 post infection (**Figures 2B, C**). At this early time point, virtually no virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were observed in the spleen of both groups of infected animals (**Figure S6**). At the peak of infection, on day 8, frequencies and absolute cell numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (**Figure 2D**) as well as of GP33- and NP396-tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were markedly reduced in the spleen of MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT animals (**Figures 2E, F**). Accordingly, GP33- and NP396-tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell frequencies and absolute numbers were also diminished in the infected ear of MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT animals at day 8 post infection (**Figures 2G-I**). Taken together, these data indicate that the expansion of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the secondary lymph organs and their recruitment to the site of the infection are impaired in the absence of MCs.





#### Mast Cell Deficient Mice Show Impaired CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Effector Phenotype and Antiviral Cytokine Production After Infection

We then characterized the phenotype and function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells of WT and MasTRECK mice in the ear-dLN at day 5 post infection and in the spleen at the peak of LCMV infection (**Figure S2**). Uninfected WT and MasTRECK mice displayed similar frequencies of naïve (CD44<sup>-</sup> CD62L<sup>+</sup>) as well as activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (CD44<sup>+</sup> CD62L<sup>-</sup>) (**Figure S7A**) as well as comparable frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen (**Figure S7B**). However, infected MasTRECK mice

displayed markedly reduced frequencies and absolute numbers of short-lived effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, depicted by KLRG-1<sup>+</sup> IL-7R<sup>-</sup> expression, compared to that of infected WT animals in the eardLNs (**Figure S8A**) and in the spleen (**Figure 3A** and **Figure S9A**). Furthermore, we observed that not only total CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells showed an impaired effector phenotype, but also the few GP33tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells found in the spleen of infected MasTRECK mice displayed markedly reduced KLRG-1 expression compared to that of GP33-tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells of WT infected mice (**Figure 3B**). In addition, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that expressed CXCR3, shown to be up-regulated on the surface of activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and important for their recruitment to



**FIGURE 3** | Mast cell deficient mice show impaired CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector phenotype and antiviral cytokine production after infection. Frequencies and absolute numbers of **(A)** KLRG1<sup>+</sup> IL-7R<sup>-</sup>, **(B)** KLRG1<sup>+</sup> gated on GP33-Tet<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and **(C)** CXCR3<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 8 post intradermal LCMV infection. Frequency and absolute number of **(D)** IFN- $\gamma$ - and **(E)** IL-10-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen after *ex vivo* restimulation with GP33 and NP396 peptides of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 8 post LCMV infection analyzed by flow cytometry. **(F)** Virus titers in ear-dLNs and spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 8 post intradermal LCMV infection. All experiments were performed at least twice, and each experimental group included n  $\ge$  4. Data are representative and expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistically significant differences are analyzed by *t*- test and indicated as follows: \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

Mast Cells Modulate CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells

antigen-rich areas of the spleen (40) were diminished in the eardLNs (**Figure S8B**) and in the spleen (**Figure 3C**) of infected MasTRECK mice compared to that of infected WT animals. Furthermore, infected MastTRECK mice had markedly reduced frequencies and absolute numbers of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after GP33 and NP396 peptide restimulation *ex vivo* in eardLN (**Figure S8C**) and in the spleen (**Figure 3D** and **Figure S9B**) compared to that of WT animals. In contrast, the frequency and the absolute cell number of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells producing the antiinflammatory cytokine, IL-10 were increased in ear-dLNs (**Figure S8D**) and in the spleen (**Figure 3E**) of infected MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT mice.

In line with the impaired effector phenotype and defective cytokine production displayed by their virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, MasTRECK mice were unable to control LCMV infection and exhibited significantly higher viral loads in the spleen and ear-dLNs at the peak of infection compared to that of infected WT mice (**Figure 3F**). These findings collectively suggest that after intradermal LCMV infection, MCs are essential for antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector differentiation, antiviral cytokine production and viral clearance at the peak of infection.

#### Dendritic Cell Activation Is Impaired in Mast Cell Deficient Mice After LCMV Infection

The initiation of antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses requires the interaction of naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with mature DCs (41). Particularly, CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs have been shown to be crucial in the initiation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses after LCMV infection (42, 43) and also appeared to dominate cytotoxic T cell priming after skin infection (44). Since the virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immune response was strongly impaired in infected MasTRECK mice at the peak of the infection, we hypothesize that the absence of MCs hindered the proper activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs at early time points after LCMV infection. Therefore, we examined the frequency of CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs (CD8<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>) cells and their costimulatory molecule expression on in the spleen at day 1 and 3 post infection (Figure S3A). Infected MasTRECK mice exhibited reduced frequencies and absolute cell numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs compared to that of infected WT mice (Figure 4A). In addition, the mean fluorescent intensity of the costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 expressed on CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs was significantly lower in infected MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT mice at day 3 p.i.in the spleen (Figure 4B). Similarly, infected MasTRECK mice exhibited reduced frequencies and absolute cell numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs as well as reduced mean fluorescent intensity of CD86 in the ear-dLNs compared to that of infected WT mice (Figures S10A, B).

Splenic macrophages also play an important role in the activation of  $CD8^+$  T cells as well as in the control of viral load upon LCMV infection (45). Interestingly, infected MasTRECK mice exhibited reduced frequencies of F4/80<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells (**Figure 4C**) and the mean fluorescent intensity of their costimulatory molecules CD80 but not CD86 was also significantly lower compared to that of WT mice at day 3 p.i. in the spleen (**Figure 4D**).

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation is not only driven by properly activated DCs but also by the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as type-I IFNs (46). Therefore, we assessed the frequency and activation of plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) (Figure S3B) known to be the major producers of type-I IFNs (47). pDCs frequencies and absolute numbers were similar in the spleen of infected MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT animals at day 1 post infection but increased at day 3 p.i. (Figure 4E). Furthermore, the mean fluorescent intensity of CD86 on pDCs was significantly lower in infected MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT mice (**Figure 4F**). Interestingly, levels of IFN- $\alpha$  were also significantly reduced in the serum and in spleen homogenates of infected MasTRECK mice at day 3-post infection (Figure 4G). Taken together, these data indicate that the maturation of both classical and plasmacytoid DCs as well as the production of IFN- $\alpha$  after intradermal LCMV infection are impaired in the absence of MCs.

#### Mast Cell Deficient Mice Display Decreased Chemokine Levels at the Peak of the Infection

MCs produce several cytokines and chemokines upon activation and during viral infections (48, 49). Chemokines such as CCL3 and CCL4 are produced by human cord blood-derived mast cells (CBMCs) infected with mammalian reovirus (50) and play a key role in T cell-DC interactions involved in the generation of immune responses (51). We hypothesized that MC deficiency induces a modified chemokine milieu that alters CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and DC recruitment and activation. Indeed, CCL3, CCL4 and CXCL10 concentrations were decreased in ear-dLNs (Figure 5A) and spleen homogenates (Figure 5B) from infected MasTRECK mice compared to that of WT mice at day 8 p.i. Few frequencies of isolated peritoneal MCs (Figure S4A) were directly infected in vitro with LCMV at MOI 5 (Figure S4B). However, high levels of CXCL1 and CCL2 were detected in the supernatant of infected peritoneal MCs compared to uninfected counterparts after 24 hours p.i. (Figures S4C, D). Interestingly, infected MasTRECK mice displayed significantly lower concentrations of CCL2 in the spleen compared to that of infected WT mice at day 3 post LCMV infection (Figure 5C). CCR2, the receptor of CCL2 has been reported to play a critical role in the recruitment of DCs (52) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during viral infections (53). Accordingly, infected MasTRECK mice exhibited lower frequencies of CCR2<sup>+</sup> DCs and CCR2<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen compared to that of WT mice at day 3 post LCMV infection (Figures 5D, E). These results show that the chemokine milieu in the secondary lymphoid organs is altered in the absence of MCs.

#### Mast Cell Depletion After LCMV Infection Does Not Impair Virus-Specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Responses

Our data suggested that the presence of MCs is important for proper DC maturation and recruitment at early time points after intradermal LCMV infection, which in turn is essential for proper effector differentiation, and antiviral cytokine



**FIGURE 4** | Dendritic cell activation is impaired in mast cell deficient mice after LCMV infection. (A) Frequency and absolute number of CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice on day 1 and 3 post intradermal LCMV infection. (B) Expression levels of CD80 and CD86 (geometric mean of fluorescence intensity) gated on CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 1 and 3 post infection. (C) Frequency of splenic macrophages (F4/80<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup>) and (D) expression levels of CD80 and CD86 (geometric mean of fluorescence intensity) gated on macrophages as well as representative histograms in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 1 and 3 post infection. (C) Frequency of splenic macrophages (F4/80<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup>) and (D) expression levels of CD80 and CD86 (geometric mean of fluorescence intensity) gated on macrophages as well as representative histograms in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 1 and 3 post infection. (F) Expression levels of CD86 (geometric mean of fluorescence intensity) gated on pDCs in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 1 and 3 post infection. (G) IFN- $\alpha$  concentration in the spleen and serum of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 3 post LCMV infection assessed by magnetic beads multiplex ELISA. All experiments were performed at least twice, and each experimental group included n  $\ge 3$ . Data are representative and expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistically significant differences are analyzed by *t*- test and indicated as follows: ns = not significant, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

production of antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as viral clearance. Therefore, we investigated the impact of MC depletion on the phenotype and the function of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells at a later time point after LCMV infection. For this, WT and MasTRECK mice were initially infected with LCMV on the ventral side of the ear pinna, and DT treatment followed between day 4 and day 8 post infection (**Figure 6A**). Interestingly, the conditional depletion of mast cells at a later time point after infection completely reverted the suppression of LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses observed when MCs were

depleted before the infection. No difference in the ear thickness was observed between infected WT and MasTRECK mice (**Figure 6B**). In addition, absolute cell numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as GP33- and NP396-tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice were comparable at the peak of infection (**Figures 6C, D**). Furthermore, similar frequencies of KLRG1<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were observed in the spleen of both groups of infected animals (**Figure 6E**). Moreover, absolute cell numbers of IFN- $\gamma$ - and IL-10-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen of infected



**FIGURE 5** Mast cell deficient mice display decreased chemokine levels at the peak of the infection. Concentrations of CCL3, CCL4 and CXCL10 in the supernatants of cultured cells from (**A**) ear-dLNs and from the (**B**) spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 8 post infection. (**C**) Concentrations of CCL2 in supernatants of cultured splenocytes of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 3 post infection assessed by the chemokine 26-Plex Mouse ProcartaPlex<sup>TM</sup> Panel 1. (**D**) Frequencies of CCR2<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and (**E**) CCR2<sup>+</sup> DCs in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 3 post infection analyzed by flow cytometry. All experiments were performed at least twice, and each experimental group included n ≥ 3. Data are representative and expressed as mean ± SEM. Statistically significant differences are analyzed by *t*- test and indicated as follows: \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

MasTRECK mice after GP33 and NP396 peptide restimulation *ex vivo* were similar to that of infected WT mice (**Figures 6F, G**). As expected, both infected WT and MasTRECK mice were able to control LCMV infection and no viral loads were detected in the spleen and ear-dLNs at day 9 p.i. (**Figure 6H**). In summary, our data demonstrate that the presence of MCs at the beginning

of the intradermal infection is crucial for the expansion, activation and antiviral cytokine production of virus-specific  $CD8^+$  T cells.

#### DISCUSSION

In recent years, there is increasing evidence that MCs are key players of both innate and adaptive immune responses (1). MCs have been particularly known for their pivotal role in allergic type-I reactions (54). However, several studies have demonstrated that MC orchestrate the development of immune responses due to their strategic location, their ability to sense pathogens and danger as well as their capacity to directly and indirectly modify the activation and function of other immune cells (55). Furthermore, studies show MC influence on the cellular immune response to viruses (17). In a mouse model of Newcastle virus infection, recruitment of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to the site of infection was dependent on the presence of MCs (56). MCs are equipped with a plethora of immune mediators that influence the migration, activation and function of granulocytes, DCs, macrophages, NK, NKT and T cells (24, 26, 48). We used transgenic MasTRECK mice that do not harbor any additional alterations of other immune cell subsets and it is an inducible model that allows us to deplete MCs with the administration of DT at different time points before and after LCMV infection. Although, basophils are also depleted after DT treatment, we do not envision any direct effects of basophils on antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses upon LCMV infection known to induce a strong Th-1 immune response. Here, we report that MCs are crucial for the proper activation of DCs, splenic macrophages and pDCs during the first days of intradermal LCMV infection. The absence of MCs at the beginning of the intradermal LCMV infection led to an impaired activation, expansion and function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in infected mice.

The role of MCs in T cell expansion has been mostly associated with the ability of MCs to modulate DC migration to the dLNs (57, 58). In recent years, studies have revealed strong interactions between MCs and DCs that subsequently modulate their activation and their functionality. MC activation not only promotes DC migration (59) but also induces DC activation that in turn is critical for optimal CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation (28). Accordingly, we show that in the absence of MCs, the frequency and absolute number of CD8<sup>+</sup> DCs as well as their costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 were decreased during the first three days after intradermal LCMV infection. Subsequently, impaired DC activation led to the generation of defective virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that displayed a dysfunctional effector phenotype characterized by low KLRG-1, low CXCR3 expression, reduced IFN-y and high IL-10 production at the peak of infection that hindered the control of the viral clearance at the peak of the infection. In addition, the presence of MCs were also important for the proper activation of splenic macrophages. The presence of MCs at the beginning of the intradermal infection was crucial for the generation of optimal antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells since MC depletion at day



**FIGURE 6** | Mast cell depletion after LCMV infection does not impair virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses. (A) Schematic experimental layout to analyze virusspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in WT and MasTRECK mice that were first infected with LCMV into the ventral side of the ear pinna and subsequently treated with 250 ng DT i.p. for 5 consecutive days between days 4-8 p.i. (B) Ear thickness daily measured using a caliper during 9 days after LCMV infection. (C) Absolute numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, (D) GP33-Tet<sup>+</sup> and NP396-Tet<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as (E) KLRG1<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice at day 9 post infection. (F) Absolute numbers of IFN- $\gamma$ - and (G) IL-10-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice after *ex vivo* restimulation with GP33 and NP396 peptides at day 9 post infection assessed by flow cytometry. (H) Virus titers in ear-dLN and spleen of WT and MasTRECK mice assessed by plaque assay at day 9 post intradermal LCMV infection. All experiments were performed at least twice, and each experimental group included n  $\ge$  4. Data are representative and expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistically significant differences are analyzed by *t*-test and indicated as follows: ns = not significant.

4 post infection did not impair the phenotype or antiviral cytokine production of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and infected mice were able to control the infection.

One of the most challenging aspects for the role of MCs in the development of virus-specific T cell responses is the spatial separation between peripheral MCs and the  $CD8^+$  T cells in the spleen. However, MCs are not only located in the connective and mucosal tissue, they are also distributed around blood vessels and in close proximity to perivascular DCs (33). In addition, MCs can modulate  $CD8^+$  T cell responses over a distance, and signals from MCs can reach the spleen *via* the bloodstream, e.g.

in the context of degranulation or *via* the release of the exosomes (60). Recent studies indicate that MCs can exert long distance effects through MC granule trafficking *via* lymphatic vessels and active shuttling of MC granules by DCs (61). Moreover, MCs can modulate T cell activation through exosomes that harbor inflammatory mediators (62, 63). CCL3 and CCL4 have been shown to facilitate T cell-DC interactions (51). In our study, the levels of CCL2, CCL3, CCL4 and CXCL10 were reduced in infected MC-deficient mice. We used peritoneal MCs as a surrogate for skin-MCs. Although very few frequencies of LCMV infected peritoneal MC were observed *in vitro* after

24 h p.i., high production of CCL2 and CXCL1 was detected. MCs could sense LCMV particles and produce chemokines such as CCL2 as previously reported (26). Furthermore, frequencies of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells–expressing CXCR3, the receptor for CXCL10, and of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells–expressing CCR2, the receptor for CCL2, were reduced in MC-deficient mice.

Collectively, our results indicate that after intradermal LCMV infection, MCs promote optimal CD8<sup>+</sup> DC and pDC activation leading to the generation of a proper proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine milieu essential for the activation of antigenspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that are crucial to achieve the control of the viral infection.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

Animal protocols were performed in accordance with the German law for animal protection and the institutional guidelines of the Charité Berlin. The animal study was reviewed and approved by Landesamt fuer Gesundheit und Soziales LAGeSo G0078/17.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Galli SJ, Nakae S, Tsai M. Mast Cells in the Development of Adaptive Immune Responses. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(2):135–42. doi: 10.1038/ni1158
- Abraham SN, St John AL. Mast Cell-Orchestrated Immunity to Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(6):440–52. doi: 10.1038/nri2782
- Migalovich-Sheikhet H, Friedman S, Mankuta D, Levi-Schaffer F. Novel Identified Receptors on Mast Cells. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:238. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00238
- Sandig H, Bulfone-Paus S. TLR Signaling in Mast Cells: Common and Unique Features. Front Immunol (2012) 3:185. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00185
- Espinosa E, Valitutti S. New Roles and Controls of Mast Cells. Curr Opin Immunol (2018) 50:39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.10.012
- Hoppe A, Katsoulis-Dimitriou K, Edler HJ, Dudeck J, Drube S, Dudeck A. Mast Cells Initiate the Vascular Response to Contact Allergens by Sensing Cell Stress. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2020) 145(5):1476–9 e3. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2020.01.036
- Olivera A, Beaven MA, Metcalfe DD. Mast Cells Signal Their Importance in Health and Disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 142(2):381–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.01.034
- Rao KN, Brown MA. Mast Cells: Multifaceted Immune Cells With Diverse Roles in Health and Disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2008) 1143:83–104. doi: 10.1196/annals.1443.023
- Redegeld FA, Yu Y, Kumari S, Charles N, Blank U. Non-IgE Mediated Mast Cell Activation. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 282(1):87–113. doi: 10.1111/imr.12629
- Katsoulis-Dimitriou K, Kotrba J, Voss M, Dudeck J, Dudeck A. Mast Cell Functions Linking Innate Sensing to Adaptive Immunity. *Cells* (2020) 9(12). doi: 10.3390/cells9122538
- Lu F, Huang S. The Roles of Mast Cells in Parasitic Protozoan Infections. Front Immunol (2017) 8:363. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00363
- 12. Nieto-Patlan A, Campillo-Navarro M, Rodriguez-Cortes O, Munoz-Cruz S, Wong-Baeza I, Estrada-Parra S, et al. Recognition of Candida Albicans by

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FS, MMu, and MMa designed the research. YH and MMu performed the research. YH and MMu analyzed the data. YH, ML, and MMu performed the visualization, preparation, and presentation of the data. YH and MMu wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

The German Research Foundation (MU 4006/2-1) supported this work. MMu is a BIH-Charité Clinical Scientist funded by the Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin and the Berlin Institute of Health.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank F. Petzhold, Niklas A. Mahnke, V. Holecska and I. Panse for their expert technical assistance.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 688347/full#supplementary-material

Dectin-1 Induces Mast Cell Activation. *Immunobiology* (2015) 220(9):1093–100. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.05.005

- Siebenhaar F, Syska W, Weller K, Magerl M, Zuberbier T, Metz M, et al. Control of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Skin Infections in Mice is Mast Cell-Dependent. Am J Pathol (2007) 170(6):1910-6. doi: 10.2353/ ajpath.2007.060770
- Xu X, Zhang D, Lyubynska N, Wolters PJ, Killeen NP, Baluk P, et al. Mast Cells Protect Mice From Mycoplasma Pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2006) 173(2):219–25. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200507-1034OC
- Zimmermann C, Troeltzsch D, Gimenez-Rivera VA, Galli SJ, Metz M, Maurer M, et al. Mast Cells Are Critical for Controlling the Bacterial Burden and the Healing of Infected Wounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2019) 116(41):20500–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1908816116
- Rathore AP, St John AL. Protective and Pathogenic Roles for Mast Cells During Viral Infections. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2020) 66:74–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.coi.2020.05.003
- Marshall JS, Portales-Cervantes L, Leong E. Mast Cell Responses to Viruses and Pathogen Products. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(17). doi: 10.3390/ ijms20174241
- Wernersson S, Pejler G. Mast Cell Secretory Granules: Armed for Battle. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(7):478–94. doi: 10.1038/nri3690
- Ebert S, Becker M, Lemmermann NA, Buttner JK, Michel A, Taube C, et al. Mast Cells Expedite Control of Pulmonary Murine Cytomegalovirus Infection by Enhancing the Recruitment of Protective CD8 T Cells to the Lungs. *PloS Pathog* (2014) 10(4):e1004100. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004100
- Graham AC, Hilmer KM, Zickovich JM, Obar JJ. Inflammatory Response of Mast Cells During Influenza A Virus Infection Is Mediated by Active Infection and RIG-I Signaling. J Immunol (2013) 190(9):4676–84. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1202096
- Syenina A, Jagaraj CJ, Aman SA, Sridharan A, St John AL. Dengue Vascular Leakage Is Augmented by Mast Cell Degranulation Mediated by Immunoglobulin Fcgamma Receptors. *Elife* (2015) 4. doi: 10.7554/eLife.05291

- Troupin A, Shirley D, Londono-Renteria B, Watson AM, McHale C, Hall A, et al. A Role for Human Skin Mast Cells in Dengue Virus Infection and Systemic Spread. J Immunol (2016) 197(11):4382–91. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1600846
- Wang Z, Lai Y, Bernard JJ, Macleod DT, Cogen AL, Moss B, et al. Skin Mast Cells Protect Mice Against Vaccinia Virus by Triggering Mast Cell Receptor S1PR2 and Releasing Antimicrobial Peptides. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(1):345– 57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101703
- Mantri CK, St John AL. Immune Synapses Between Mast Cells and Gammadelta T Cells Limit Viral Infection. J Clin Invest (2019) 129 (3):1094–108. doi: 10.1172/JCI122530
- Morrison J, Rathore APS, Mantri CK, Aman SAB, Nishida A, St John AL. Transcriptional Profiling Confirms the Therapeutic Effects of Mast Cell Stabilization in a Dengue Disease Model. J Virol (2017) 91(18). doi: 10.1128/JVI.00617-17
- 26. St John AL, Rathore AP, Yap H, Ng ML, Metcalfe DD, Vasudevan SG, et al. Immune Surveillance by Mast Cells During Dengue Infection Promotes Natural Killer (NK) and NKT-Cell Recruitment and Viral Clearance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2011) 108(22):9190–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105079108
- Aoki R, Kawamura T, Goshima F, Ogawa Y, Nakae S, Nakao A, et al. Mast Cells Play a Key Role in Host Defense Against Herpes Simplex Virus Infection Through TNF-Alpha and IL-6 Production. *J Invest Dermatol* (2013) 133 (9):2170–9. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.150
- Dudeck A, Dudeck J, Scholten J, Petzold A, Surianarayanan S, Kohler A, et al. Mast Cells are Key Promoters of Contact Allergy That Mediate the Adjuvant Effects of Haptens. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):973–84. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2011.03.028
- Dudeck A, Koberle M, Goldmann O, Meyer N, Dudeck J, Lemmens S, et al. Mast Cells as Protectors of Health. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 144(4S):S4– S18. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.10.054
- Dudeck J, Ghouse SM, Lehmann CH, Hoppe A, Schubert N, Nedospasov SA, et al. Mast-Cell-Derived TNF Amplifies CD8(+) Dendritic Cell Functionality and CD8(+) T Cell Priming. *Cell Rep* (2015) 13(2):399–411. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2015.08.078
- Dudeck J, Medyukhina A, Frobel J, Svensson CM, Kotrba J, Gerlach M, et al. Mast Cells Acquire MHCII From Dendritic Cells During Skin Inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(12):3791–811. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160783
- Caron G, Delneste Y, Roelandts E, Duez C, Herbault N, Magistrelli G, et al. Histamine Induces CD86 Expression and Chemokine Production by Human Immature Dendritic Cells. J Immunol (2001) 166(10):6000–6. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.166.10.6000
- 33. Choi HW, Suwanpradid J, Kim IH, Staats HF, Haniffa M, MacLeod AS, et al. Perivascular Dendritic Cells Elicit Anaphylaxis by Relaying Allergens to Mast Cells Via Microvesicles. *Science* (2018) 362(6415). doi: 10.1126/science. aao0666
- Suto H, Nakae S, Kakurai M, Sedgwick JD, Tsai M, Galli SJ. Mast Cell-Associated TNF Promotes Dendritic Cell Migration. J Immunol (2006) 176 (7):4102–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4102
- Reuter S, Dehzad N, Martin H, Heinz A, Castor T, Sudowe S, et al. Mast Cells Induce Migration of Dendritic Cells in a Murine Model of Acute Allergic Airway Disease. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2010) 151(3):214–22. doi: 10.1159/000242359
- 36. Otsuka A, Kubo M, Honda T, Egawa G, Nakajima S, Tanizaki H, et al. Requirement of Interaction Between Mast Cells and Skin Dendritic Cells to Establish Contact Hypersensitivity. *PloS One* (2011) 6(9):e25538. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0025538
- Recher M, Lang KS, Hunziker L, Freigang S, Eschli B, Harris NL, et al. Deliberate Removal of T Cell Help Improves Virus-Neutralizing Antibody Production. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(9):934–42. doi: 10.1038/ni1102
- Lohning M, Hegazy AN, Pinschewer DD, Busse D, Lang KS, Hofer T, et al. Long-Lived Virus-Reactive Memory T Cells Generated From Purified Cytokine-Secreting T Helper Type 1 and Type 2 Effectors. J Exp Med (2008) 205(1):53–61. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071855
- Gallimore A, Glithero A, Godkin A, Tissot AC, Pluckthun A, Elliott T, et al. Induction and Exhaustion of Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus-Specific Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Visualized Using Soluble Tetrameric Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I-Peptide Complexes. J Exp Med (1998) 187(9):1383–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.187.9.1383

- Kurachi M, Kurachi J, Suenaga F, Tsukui T, Abe J, Ueha S, et al. Chemokine Receptor CXCR3 Facilitates CD8(+) T Cell Differentiation Into Short-Lived Effector Cells Leading to Memory Degeneration. J Exp Med (2011) 208 (8):1605–20. doi: 10.1084/jem.20102101
- Mellman I, Steinman RM. Dendritic Cells: Specialized and Regulated Antigen Processing Machines. *Cell* (2001) 106(3):255–8. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01) 00449-4
- Lay MD, Zhang L, Ribeiro RM, Mueller SN, Belz GT, Davenport MP. Kinetics of Major Histocompatibility Class I Antigen Presentation in Acute Infection. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(2):902–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.902
- Munoz M, Hegazy AN, Brunner TM, Holecska V, Marek RM, Frohlich A, et al. Th2 Cells Lacking T-Bet Suppress Naive and Memory T Cell Responses Via IL-10. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2021) 118(6). doi: 10.1073/pnas.2002787118
- 44. Allan RS, Smith CM, Belz GT, van Lint AL, Wakim LM, Heath WR, et al. Epidermal Viral Immunity Induced by CD8alpha+ Dendritic Cells But Not by Langerhans Cells. *Science* (2003) 301(5641):1925–8. doi: 10.1126/science. 1087576
- 45. Seiler P, Aichele P, Odermatt B, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Schwendener RA. Crucial Role of Marginal Zone Macrophages and Marginal Zone Metallophils in the Clearance of Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus Infection. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27(10):2626–33. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830271023
- Curtsinger JM, Valenzuela JO, Agarwal P, Lins D, Mescher MF. Type I Ifns Provide a Third Signal to CD8 T Cells to Stimulate Clonal Expansion and Differentiation. J Immunol (2005) 174(8):4465–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 174.8.4465
- Cella M, Jarrossay D, Facchetti F, Alebardi O, Nakajima H, Lanzavecchia A, et al. Plasmacytoid Monocytes Migrate to Inflamed Lymph Nodes and Produce Large Amounts of Type I Interferon. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(8):919–23. doi: 10.1038/11360
- King CA, Anderson R, Marshall JS. Dengue Virus Selectively Induces Human Mast Cell Chemokine Production. J Virol (2002) 76(16):8408–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.16.8408-8419.2002
- Mukai K, Tsai M, Saito H, Galli SJ. Mast Cells as Sources of Cytokines, Chemokines, and Growth Factors. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 282(1):121–50. doi: 10.1111/imr.12634
- McAlpine SM, Issekutz TB, Marshall JS. Virus Stimulation of Human Mast Cells Results in the Recruitment of CD56(+) T Cells by a Mechanism Dependent on CCR5 Ligands. *FASEB J* (2012) 26(3):1280–9. doi: 10.1096/ fj.11-188979
- Castellino F, Huang AY, Altan-Bonnet G, Stoll S, Scheinecker C, Germain RN. Chemokines Enhance Immunity by Guiding Naive CD8+ T Cells to Sites of CD4+ T Cell-Dendritic Cell Interaction. *Nature* (2006) 440(7086):890–5. doi: 10.1038/nature04651
- Peters W, Cyster JG, Mack M, Schlondorff D, Wolf AJ, Ernst JD, et al. CCR2-Dependent Trafficking of F4/80dim Macrophages and CD11cdim/ intermediate Dendritic Cells is Crucial for T Cell Recruitment to Lungs Infected With Mycobacterium Tuberculosis. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(12):7647– 53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7647
- Nansen A, Marker O, Bartholdy C, Thomsen AR. CCR2+ and CCR5+ Cd8+ T Cells Increase During Viral Infection and Migrate to Sites of Infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30(7):1797–806. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200007)30:7<1797:: AID-IMMU1797>3.0.CO;2-B
- Bischoff SC. Role of Mast Cells in Allergic and non-Allergic Immune Responses: Comparison of Human and Murine Data. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(2):93–104. doi: 10.1038/nri2018
- St John AL, Abraham SN. Innate Immunity and Its Regulation by Mast Cells. J Immunol (2013) 190(9):4458–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203420
- Orinska Z, Bulanova E, Budagian V, Metz M, Maurer M, Bulfone-Paus S. TLR3-Induced Activation of Mast Cells Modulates CD8+ T-Cell Recruitment. *Blood* (2005) 106(3):978–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2656
- Bryce PJ, Miller ML, Miyajima I, Tsai M, Galli SJ, Oettgen HC. Immune Sensitization in the Skin Is Enhanced by Antigen-Independent Effects of Ige. *Immunity* (2004) 20(4):381–92. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00080-9
- Jawdat DM, Albert EJ, Rowden G, Haidl ID, Marshall JS. IgE-Mediated Mast Cell Activation Induces Langerhans Cell Migration In Vivo. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(8):5275–82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.8.5275
- Shelburne CP, Nakano H, St John AL, Chan C, McLachlan JB, Gunn MD, et al. Mast Cells Augment Adaptive Immunity by Orchestrating Dendritic Cell

Trafficking Through Infected Tissues. Cell Host Microbe (2009) 6(4):331–42. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.09.004

- Liang Y, Qiao L, Peng X, Cui Z, Yin Y, Liao H, et al. The Chemokine Receptor CCR1 Is Identified in Mast Cell-Derived Exosomes. *Am J Transl Res* (2018) 10 (2):352–67.
- Dudeck J, Froebel J, Kotrba J, Lehmann CHK, Dudziak D, Speier S, et al. Engulfment of Mast Cell Secretory Granules on Skin Inflammation Boosts Dendritic Cell Migration and Priming Efficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 143(5):1849–64.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.08.052
- Admyre C, Telemo E, Almqvist N, Lotvall J, Lahesmaa R, Scheynius A, et al. Exosomes - Nanovesicles With Possible Roles in Allergic Inflammation. *Allergy* (2008) 63(4):404–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01600.x
- 63. Skokos D, Le Panse S, Villa I, Rousselle JC, Peronet R, David B, et al. Mast Cell-Dependent B and T Lymphocyte Activation Is Mediated by the Secretion

of Immunologically Active Exosomes. J Immunol (2001) 166(2):868–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.868

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hackler, Siebenhaar, Löhning, Maurer and Muñoz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# TLR2 Regulates Mast Cell IL-6 and IL-13 Production During *Listeria monocytogenes* Infection

#### OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Juarez Antonio Simões Quaresma, Evandro Chagas Institute, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Cheorl-Ho Kim, Sungkyunkwan University, South Korea Zane Orinska, Forschungszentrum Borstel, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Alma D. Chávez-Blanco celular\_alma@hotmail.com Rommel Chacón-Salinas rommelchacons@yahoo.com.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 January 2021 Accepted: 24 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

#### Citation:

Soria-Castro R, Alfaro-Doblado ÁR, Rodríguez-López G, Campillo-Navarro M, Meneses-Preza YG, Galán-Salinas A, Alvarez-Jimenez V, Yam-Puc JC, Munguía-Fuentes R, Domínguez-Flores A, Estrada-Parra S, Pérez-Tapia SM, Chávez-Blanco AD and Chacón-Salinas R (2021) TLR2 Regulates Mast Cell IL-6 and IL-13 Production During Listeria monocytogenes Infection. Front. Immunol. 12:650779. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.650779 Rodolfo Soria-Castro<sup>1</sup>, Ángel R. Alfaro-Doblado<sup>1</sup>, Gloria Rodríguez-López<sup>1</sup>, Marcia Campillo-Navarro<sup>2</sup>, Yatsiri G. Meneses-Preza<sup>1</sup>, Adrian Galán-Salinas<sup>1</sup>, Violeta Alvarez-Jimenez<sup>3</sup>, Juan C. Yam-Puc<sup>4</sup>, Rosario Munguía-Fuentes<sup>5</sup>, Adriana Domínguez-Flores<sup>1</sup>, Sergio Estrada-Parra<sup>1</sup>, Sonia M. Pérez-Tapia<sup>1,6</sup>, Alma D. Chávez-Blanco<sup>7\*</sup> and Rommel Chacón-Salinas<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departamento de Inmunología, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional (ENCB-IPN), Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Research Coordination, Centro Médico Nacional 20 de Noviembre, Instituto de Seguridad y Servicios Sociales de los Trabajadores del Estado (ISSSTE), Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Unidad de Citometría de Flujo, Lab de Biología Molecular y Bioseguridad Nivel 3, Centro Médico Naval, Secretaría de Marina (SEMAR), Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>4</sup> Institute of Immunology and Immunotherapy, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom, <sup>5</sup> Departamento de Ciencias Básicas, Unidad Profesional Interdisciplinaria en Ingeniería y Tecnologías Avanzadas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional (UPIITA-IPN), Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>6</sup> Unidad de Desarrollo e Investigación en Bioprocesos (UDIBI), Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional (ENCB-IPN), Mexico, <sup>7</sup> Subdirección de Investigación Básica, Instituto Nacional de Cancerología (INCan), México City, Mexico

Listeria monocytogenes (L.m) is efficiently controlled by several cells of the innate immunity, including the Mast Cell (MC). MC is activated by L.m inducing its degranulation, cytokine production and microbicidal mechanisms. TLR2 is required for the optimal control of L.m infection by different cells of the immune system. However, little is known about the MC receptors involved in recognizing this bacterium and whether these interactions mediate MC activation. In this study, we analyzed whether TLR2 is involved in mediating different MC activation responses during L.m infection. We found that despite MC were infected with L.m, they were able to clear the bacterial load. In addition, MC degranulated and produced ROS, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-13 and MCP-1 in response to bacterial infection. Interestingly, L.m induced the activation of signaling proteins: ERK, p38 and NF- $\kappa$ B. When TLR2 was blocked, L.m endocytosis, bactericidal activity, ROS production and mast cell degranulation were not affected. Interestingly, only IL-6 and IL-13 production were affected when TLR2 was inhibited in response to L.m infection. Furthermore, p38 activation depended on TLR2, but not ERK or NF-kB activation. These results indicate that TLR2 mediates only some MC activation pathways during L.m infection, mainly those related to IL-6 and IL-13 production.

Keywords: mast cell, Listeria monocytogenes, toll like receptor-2, IL-6, IL-13, p38, MAPK, LLO

#### INTRODUCTION

Classically, mast cells (MC) are associated with type I hypersensitivity reactions (1). However, growing evidence has placed them as initiators of the inflammatory process against several infectious agents, including bacteria (2). Due to their strategic location in mucosal epithelia, skin, and connective tissue, they can respond immediately to the signals derived from mutualistic and pathogenic bacteria, adapting their response accordingly to maintain host homeostasis (3). In this way, MC are provided with at least one member of each of the Pattern Recognition Receptor (PRR) families. These include Toll-Like Receptors (TLR), C-type Lectin Receptors (CLR), NOD-Like Receptors (NLRs), RIG-Like Receptors (RLRs), and Scavenger Receptors (4). When MC are activated, they release many preformed mediators found in their granules, through cell degranulation. Furthermore, they can also synthesize de novo molecules such as inflammatory mediators derived from arachidonic acid, reactive oxygen species (ROS) as well as cytokines and chemokines (5). Several studies have shown that MC are involved in the immune response to pathogenic bacteria, including: Pseudomonas aeruginosa (6), Klebsiella pneumoniae (7), Staphylococcus aureus (8), Mycobacterium tuberculosis (9) and Listeria monocytogenes (L.m) (10), to mention only a few.

L.m is a Gram-positive, facultative intracellular bacteria and the causal agent of listeriosis, a foodborne disease with a high mortality rate (11). L.m presents tropism towards the gravid uterus and central nervous system (CNS), contributing to the most severe clinical manifestations (12). Although, these severe cases are rare in immunocompetent individuals, they increase in case of immunosuppression or immunodeficiencies (11). This implies that host immune response mechanisms are crucial to the containment of the bacteria, and its alteration can increase susceptibility to the infection (13).

Cells of the innate immune response play a crucial role in containing L.m infection, notably, macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, NK cells and MC (14, 15). In experimental murine listeriosis models, MC have been shown to initiate the effector response against this bacterium, promoting recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages to the site of infection (10, 15). Furthermore, MC response to L.m includes intracellular infection (16), degranulation (16, 17), ROS production (18) and different cytokines and chemokines (15, 16). However, it is unclear which receptors mediates L.m activation by MC.

TLR2 is a transmembrane type I receptor, which contains a cytoplasmic TIR domain as well as an extracellular domain with leucine-rich repeats (19). TLR2 ligands include: Diacil-lipopeptides, lipoarabinomannan, lipoproteins, lipoteichoic acid (LTA), peptidoglycan (PGN), porins, phospholipomannan and zymosan (20). Once TRL2 binds to its ligand, it is dimerized with either TLR1 or TLR6 (21). When this occurs, TIR domain recruits the adaptive molecules TIRAP and MyD88 that lead to the activation of the transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B and the mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPK) that activate the transcription factor AP-1 (21, 22). Additionally, TLR2 activates the P13K-AKT signaling pathway (22)

Activation of TLR2 promotes diverse cellular functions such as phagocytic activity (23), bactericidal activity (24), ROS production (25), degranulation (26) and cytokine production (27). In addition, TLR2-deficient mice are more susceptible to L.m infection than wild type mice, which is consistent with poor control of the bacterial load on target organs (28). In addition, MyD88-deficient MC produce less IL-6 and MCP-1 in response to L.m (16). Considering that MC express TLR2 (29), we decided to dissect the activation mechanisms that are regulated by TLR2 during mast cell activation by *Listeria monocytogenes* infection.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### **Bacteria Culture**

L.m strain 1778+H 1b (ATCC 43249, USA, Manassas, VA, USA) was grown in brain heart infusion broth (BHI, BD-Difco, USA) for 18 h at 37°C with constant shaking at 112 xg. Bacterial cultures were washed with Hanks Balanced Saline Solution (HBSS) (Life Technologies, USA) and bacterial pellets resuspended in RPMI-1640 Glutamax (Life Technologies, USA) supplemented with 40% Fetal Bovine Serum (Life Technologies, USA) and frozen at -70 °C until use. Aliquots of L.m were serially diluted and plated in BHI agar at 37°C for 18-24 h. Bacterial numbers were determined by counting Colony-Forming Units (CFU).

#### **Mast Cells**

Bone Marrow-derived Mast Cell (BMMC) was obtained following the protocol described by (30). Briefly, bone marrow cells were obtained from femurs and tibias of 6-8-week-old C57BL/6 female mice. Cells were maintained in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 5  $\mu$ M β-mercaptoethanol (Life Technologies, USA) and 2% antibiotic and antimycotic (Sigma, USA) (complete RPMI 1640 medium) plus 10 ng/mL of murine recombinant IL-3 (Peprotech, USA) and 10 ng/mL of murine recombinant stem cell factor (Peprotech, USA)). Nonadherent cells were transferred to fresh culture medium twice a week for 6–9 weeks. The purity of BMMC was ≥90% assessed by flow cytometry after staining of CD117 (clone: 2B8, BioLegend, USA; 0.25  $\mu$ g/mL) and FccRI (clone: MAR-1, BioLegend, USA; 0.16  $\mu$ g/mL) (**Supplementary Figure 1A**).

Peritoneum-derived mast cells (PMC), cells were obtained from peritoneal cavity of mice and cultured in complete RPMI-1640 medium plus IL-3 (30 ng/mL) and SCF (20 ng/mL). Nonadherent cells were transferred to fresh culture medium twice a week for 3–4 weeks. The purity of PMC was  $\geq$ 90% assessed by flow cytometry (**Supplementary Figure 1C**).

All experiments followed institutional biosecurity and safety procedures. All animal experiments were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the ENCB, IPN (ZOO-016-2019).

#### **Toluidine Blue Staining**

 $2x10^5$  BMMC or  $2x10^5$  PMC/0.25 mL of RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and 5 $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (complete medium) were plated in cytospin chambers, and then stained with toluidine blue for 10 minutes. Finally, slides were air-dried and mounted with Entellan resin (Merck Millipore, USA) under a coverslip. Images were captured with a digital camera attached to a brightfield microscope (Zeiss Primo Star, Germany), and analyzed with Micro capture v7.9 software (**Supplementary Figure 1B, D**).

#### Viability Mast Cell Assay

 $2.5 \times 10^5$  BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were stimulated with L.m at different MOI (1:1, 10:1, 100:1) or stimulated with LLO (125, 250, 500, 1000 ng/mL) for 24 h. Then cells were washed with 1 mL of Annexin V binding Buffer 1X (Invitrogen, USA) and stained with 1 µg/mL Annexin V (BioLegend, USA) and 0.5 µg/mL propidium iodide (eBioscience, USA). After staining, cell viability was measured by flow cytometry (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

#### **Degranulation Assay**

The degranulation assay was carried out as described previously (31). Briefly,  $2x10^5$  BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were incubated with L.m at different MOI for 90 minutes. Then were washed and stained with anti-CD107a (clone: 1D4B Biolegend, USA; 0.25 µg/mL) and anti-FccRI. Staining was measured by flow cytometry.

 $\beta$ -Hexosaminidase release was performed as follows:  $2x10^5$ BMMC/0.25 mL of HEPES-Tyrode Buffer (HBT) (130 mM NaCl, 5.5 mM glucose, 2.7 mM KCl, 1.0 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2 H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.1% [wt/vol] Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA), 12 mM HEPES, 0.45 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1H<sub>2</sub>O, pH 7.2) were stimulated with L.m at different MOI or stimulated with PMA (125 nM) plus Ionomicin (10 µM) for 90 minutes at 37°C. The supernatants were then recovered, and the cell pellet was lysed with 200 µL of 0.2% Triton X-100 in HBT. Both supernatants and cell lysates were incubated with 4-methylumbelliferyl N-acetyl-β-Dglucosaminide (Sigma-Aldrich, USA; 1 mM in 200 mM Na Citrate Buffer pH 4.5) for 2 h at 37°C. The enzyme reaction was stopped by the addition of 100 µL of 200 mM Tris base, pH 10.7. The samples were analyzed in a fluorescence plate reader (SpectraMax M, USA) using excitation 356 nm and emission 450 nm. The percentage of release of  $\beta$ -Hexosaminidase is calculated using the formula: % Release =  $\left[\frac{supernatan}{(supernatan+cellpellet)}\right] \times 100.$ 

#### Superoxide Anion(O<sub>2</sub>) Production

 $2x10^5$  BMMC were cultured in 0.25 mL of RPMI-1640 without phenol red (Life Technologies, USA) and then, stimulated with L.m at different MOI for 120 minutes. In the last 15 minutes of incubation 25 µL of a solution of p-nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) at 1 mg/mL were added. Then, cells were washed with PBS 1X (Life Technologies, USA) and fixed with absolute methanol. The formazan precipitates were dissolved by adding 54 µL of potassium hydroxide (KOH) 2mM and 46 µL of Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The samples were read at a wavelength of 620 nm in a plate reader (Multiskan EX, Thermo Scientific, USA).

#### **Bacterial Load Assay**

 $2x10^5$  BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were incubated with L.m at different MOI for 2 h. At the end of incubation, HBSS

supplemented with ampicillin at 200 ng/mL was added for 1 h. Afterwards, cells were washed and then transferred to complete medium supplemented with ampicillin at 200 ng/mL for 0 and 24 h. Then, cells were washed with HBSS and then lysed with sterile distilled water. Cell suspension were homogenized, and serial decimal dilutions were prepared in saline solution. Afterwards, 20 $\mu$ L of each dilution were plated on BHI agar at 37°C for 48 h, bacterial numbers were determined by counting CFU.

#### **Cytokines Quantification**

 $2 x 10^5$  BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were stimulated with L.m at different MOI or stimulated with Recombinant Listeriolysin-O (LLO; RayBiotech, USA) at different concentration (125, 250, 500 and 1000 ng/mL) for 24h. Then, supernatants were collected for the detection of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, MCP-1 (Biolegend, San Diego, CA., USA) and IL-13 (eBioscience, USA) by ELISA according to manufacturer's instructions.

#### **Evaluation of Phosphorylated Proteins**

2x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were stimulated with L.m MOI 100:1 for 15 minutes to evaluate p-ERK 1/2, 30 minutes for p-p65 and 60 minutes for p-p38. Then, the cells were preserved with 250 µL of Fixation buffer (BD-Bioscience, USA) for 10 min/37°C. Subsequently, were washed with 1 mL of Stain Buffer (BD-Bioscience, USA) and permeabilized with 1mL of 0.5x Perm buffer IV (BD-Bioscience, USA) for 15 min at room temperature (RT) and protected from light. Then, the cells were washed with 1 mL of Stain Buffer. After blocking with 0.015 µg of anti-CD16/32 (Mouse BD Fc Block<sup>TM</sup>, clone: 2.4G2. BD-Biosciences, USA) cells were stained with antibodies to p-ERK 1/2-PE (clone: 20A; 4 µL per tube), p-p65-PE (clone: K10-895.12.50; 4 µL per tube), p-p38-PE (Clone: 36/p38; 4 µL per tube) or isotype controls (Clone: MOPC-21; Mouse IgG<sub>1</sub>, κ-PE or Clone: MCP-11; Mouse IgG<sub>2b</sub>, ĸ-PE). (All from BD-Biosciences, USA) for 60 min at RT and protected from light. Finally, the cells were washed and resuspended in 0.15 mL of Stain Buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry. The times chosen for the detection of each phosphorylated protein were selected based on kinetic assay (Supplementary Figure 4).

#### **Expression of TLR2**

 $2 \times 10^5$  BMMC/0.1 mL of PBS 1X were marked with anti-TLR2biotin (clone: 6C2, eBioscience, USA; 1 µg/0.1 mL) or isotype control-biotin (clone: eB149/10H5, eBioscience, USA; Rat IgG<sub>2b</sub>,  $\kappa$ -biotin; 1 µg/0.1 mL) and stained with streptavidin-APC (BD-Bioscience, USA; 0.02 µg/mL), prior blocking with anti-CD16/ 32. Staining was measured by flow cytometry.

#### **TLR2 Blocking Assays**

 $2\times10^5$  BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were pre-incubated 30 minutes with 200 ng/mL of anti-TLR2 (clone: C9A12; IgG2a) or 200 ng/mL of isotype control (clone: T9C6; 1gG2a), both from Invivogen, USA. Afterwards, cells were stimulated with L.m MOI 100:1 and the bacterial load,  $O_2^-$  production, degranulation, cytokines production and evaluation of phosphorylated proteins assays were performed as indicated above. The bacterial load was analyzed as endocytic activity and bactericidal activity, according to the following formula: endocytic activity = (CFU at 0 h/MOI added) \*100 (%). Bactericidal activity = (100-(CFU at 24 h/CFU at 0 h) \*100) (%) (32). To evaluate the efficiency of antibody-mediated TLR2 inhibition,  $2x10^5$  BMMC/ 0.25 mL were pre-incubated with different concentrations of anti-TLR2 (12.5, 25, 50, 100 y 200 ng/mL) for 30 min and then stimulated with the TLR2 agonist: *Staphylococcus aureus* peptidoglycan (PGN) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) at 10 µg/mL for 24 h. Then, supernatants were collected for the detection of IL-6 by ELISA (**Supplementary Figure 5**).

#### **Flow Cytometry**

All cell samples stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies were acquired using FACSAria Fusion (BD Biosciences, USA) and analyzed with FlowJo software version 6.0 (FlowJo, LLC). Cell debris and doublets were excluded from the analysis.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed with SigmaPlot software version 14.0, from Systat Software, Inc., San Jose California USA, www.systatsoftware.com. Data normality was assessed by Kolmogorov-Smirnov with Lilliefors correction. Variables that followed normal distribution were plotted as mean  $\pm$  standard error mean (s.e.m), represented as bars and analyzed with one way-analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) post-hoc. While variables that did not follow normal distribution, semi-quantitative variables, normalized variables or percentages, were plotted as median + range, represented as boxes and analyzed with the Mann-Whitney test (comparisons between two groups) or Kruskal-Wallis test (comparisons between more than two groups). A value of p < 0.05 was considered to be significant.

#### RESULTS

# Mast Cell Activation Concurs With the Control of *Listeria monocytogenes* Infection

Previous studies have noticed that MC can respond to L.m infection through degranulation, ROS production, internalization, and clearance of this bacterium (16–18). To corroborate the presence of these MC activation mechanisms during L.m infection, we incubated BMMC with different MOI of this bacterium to determine degranulation either through the surface expression of CD107a (**Figure 1A**) or  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release (**Figure 1B**), ROS production with detection of  $O_2^-$  (**Figure 1C**) and internalization and clearance of L.m by evaluating intracellular CFU (**Figure 1D**). We found that degranulation and  $O_2^-$  production from BMMC occurred using L.m MOI 100:1 (**Figures 1A–C**). Also, we detected viable bacteria within BMMC at 0-hour post-infection (hpi) with the different MOI of L.m tested; however, we recovered small amounts of this bacterium at 24h, corresponding to a

reduction of more than 3 logarithms for any MOI tested (**Figure 1D**). These results indicate that BMMC degranulate and produce ROS with high amounts of L.m and that BMMC are capable of internalizing and controlling L.m infection.

#### *Listeria monocytogenes* Induces Mast Cell Cytokine and Chemokine Release

Previous reports have shown that L.m induces the *de novo* synthesis of different cytokines and chemokines (16, 33). To further corroborate the MC response to L.m we determined the production of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-13 and MCP-1. We stimulated BMMC with different MOI of L.m and at 24 h we determined the levels of each mediator. We found that BMMC produced TNF- $\alpha$  with MOI 1:1, 10:1 and 100:1 of L.m (**Figure 2A**). While IL-1 $\beta$  production was only detected in BMMC incubated with MOI 100:1 of L.m (**Figure 2B**). Similarly, we found that this bacterium induced IL-6 (**Figure 2C**) and IL-13 (**Figure 2D**) only with MOI 100:1 of L.m in BMMC. While MCP-1 was induced with MOI 101:1 and 100:1 of L.m in BMMC (**Figure 2E**). Together, these results indicate that L.m induces *de novo* synthesis of cytokines and chemokines.

#### *Listeria monocytogenes* Induces the Activation of Signaling Pathways Associated With TLR Activation on Mast Cells

Since L.m promoted the activation of BMMC, we decided to evaluate if this was associated with the induction of some intracellular signals that are associated with TLR receptors (22). To this end, we incubated BMMC with L.m (MOI 100:1) and determined the phosphorylation of some signaling proteins by flow cytometry. Initially we evaluated the phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 (Figure 3A) and p38 (Figure 3B), molecules belonging to the MAPK signaling pathway and which have been related to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in macrophages infected with L.m (34, 35). Interestingly, we found that L.m induced phosphorylation of both signaling proteins in BMMC (Figures 3A, B). An important transcription factor in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by macrophages infected with L.m is NF- $\kappa$ B (34). Therefore, we determined whether this transcription factor was activated in BMMC in response to L.m, by evaluating the phosphorylation of p65 subunit. Interestingly, we found that L.m induced phosphorylation of p65 in BMMC (Figure 3C). Together, these results indicate that L.m induces the activation in BMMC of cell signaling molecules that are associated with TLR activation.

#### TLR2 Is Not Involved in Mast Cell Degranulation, ROS Release, Endocytosis and *Listeria monocytogenes* Clearance

One of the main receptors found in various cells of the innate immune response that recognizes different components of the cell wall of Gram-positive bacteria, such as L.m, is TLR2 (20). The importance of macrophage TLR2 for phagocytosis and ROS



CFU assay as indicated in Material and methods. (sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group; \*\*p<0.01; Mann-Whitney test).

production during infection with L.m has been demonstrated previously (36). Furthermore, BMMC TLR2 is known to participate in degranulation upon stimulation with peptidoglycan (PGN) (26). Based on these findings, we decided to evaluate whether TLR2 is involved in recognizing L.m and promoting the activation mechanisms in MC. Because some studies have suggested that human MCs do not express TLR (37), we evaluated the expression of this receptor on the surface of BMMC by flow cytometry. As reported previously (18, 22), this receptor was present in BMMC (Figure 4A). Afterwards, we preincubated BMMC with anti-TLR2 or isotype control for 30 minutes and then added to L.m (MOI 100:1). Then again, we evaluated cell degranulation through CD107a expression, ROS production with O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> detection, endocytic and bactericidal activity with intracellular CFU. We found that TLR2 blockade did not affect degranulation (Figure 4B), the levels of  $O_2^-$  produced (Figure 4C). We did not observe any change in the endocytic or bactericidal activity of BMMC incubated with L.m when TLR2 was blocked (Figures 4D, E). Altogether, our results indicate that MC TLR2 is not involved in the development of degranulation, ROS production, endocytosis or bacteria clearance during L.m infection.

# Mast Cell TLR2 Participates in IL-6 and IL-13 Production During *Listeria monocytogenes* Infection

Previous studies have shown the importance of macrophage TLR2 activation for the secretion of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$ during the infection with L.m (38, 39). Furthermore, MyD88deficient BMMC are reduced in their ability to produce IL-6 and MCP-1 in response to L.m implying a role of TLR in MC response (16). Therefore, we decided to investigate whether this MC TLR2 could mediate *de novo* synthesis of the cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-13 and MCP-1 in two different sources of MCs: peritoneal MCs (PMC) and bone-marrow-derived MCs (BMMC). To this end, we pre-incubated MCs with 200 ng/mL anti-TLR2, a dose that efficiently blocks the interaction of TLR-2 and its natural ligand (Supplementary Figure 5), or its respective isotype control for 30 minutes and then stimulated with L.m MOI 100:1 for 24 h. We found that blocking TLR2 in both PMC and BMMC did not affect the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  (Figure 5A), IL-1 $\beta$ (Figure 5B) or MCP-1 (Figure 5E). However, we observed that blocking this receptor significantly reduced the levels of IL-6 (Figure 5C) and IL-13 (Figure 5D) in both PMC and BMMC. These results show that MC TLR2 does not participate in the



production of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ ; and MCP-1; but regulates IL-6 and IL-13 production during L.m infection.

To discern which cell signaling pathway was regulated in MC by TLR2 during L.m infection, p38, ERK and p65 activation was evaluated after incubating MCs with anti-TLR2. Interestingly, we noticed that p38 phosphorylation was inhibited when TLR-2 was blocked, while ERK and p65 phosphorylation were not affected (**Figures 6A–C**). This result showed that p38 cell signaling is regulated by TLR2 in MCs during L.m infection.

Finally, previous reports indicate that L.m soluble products, like listeriolysin O, can activate MCs through increasing intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> by altering endoplasmic reticulum independently of MCs receptors (17). To evaluate whether MC TLR2 was involved in LLO mediated activation, BMMCs were incubated with blocking antibodies to TLR-2 and stimulated with 1000 ng/mL LLO, a dose that did not induced MC apoptosis nor necrosis, but induced cytokine production (**Supplementary Figure 2** and **3**). We noticed that MC released similar amounts of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-13 and MCP-1 in response to LLO independently of TLR2 (**Figures 7A–D**). These results indicated that TLR2 was not necessary for MC activation by LLO.

Collectively, our data show that MC activation by TLR2 during L.m infection regulates IL-6 and IL-13 production and suggest that other receptors could be involved in mediating other mechanisms of MC activation (**Figure 8**).

#### DISCUSSION

MC are cells of the innate immune system that are key to the control of diverse infectious processes, since they promote the

recruitment of other effector cells, through the release of cytokines and chemokines (2). In experimental murine listeriosis model, MC are crucial in controlling the infection by promoting recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection (10). Therefore, this suggests that MC can recognize L.m and get activated. However, little is known about the MC receptors involved in recognizing the bacteria and whether these interactions mediate MC activation.

In this study, we confirmed that L.m activates MC by inducing cell degranulation and ROS production. In addition, L.m infects MC, but they control the intracellular bacterial load. Moreover, MC produce different cytokines in response to L.m. We also provide evidence that L.m promotes the activation of some intracellular signaling pathways in MC that are involved in TLR activation. Furthermore, we demonstrate that TLR2 is not involved in cell degranulation, ROS release or in the endocytosis and clearance of L.m. Similarly, MC TLR2 does not participate in the production of the inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and MCP-1; but it is crucial for the production of IL-6 and IL-13 in response to L.m infection.

MAPK pathway and NF-kB has been reported to be activated on macrophages after infection with L.m, and their expression are related with the production of different cytokines (34, 40, 41). In the case of MC, MAPK is induced in response to hemolysinproducing *Escherichia coli* (42), streptococcal exotoxin streptolysin O (43), and *E. coli* LPS (44); and NF-kB in response to *E. coli* LPS (29) and *Candida albicans* (45). Here, we show for the first time that L.m induces the activation of MAPK molecules (ERK and p38) and NF-kB in BMMC, indicating that these signaling pathways are active in these cells and could promote the cytokine and MCP-1 production.





TLR2 is one of the main receptors expressed in cells of the innate immune response. TLR2 is one of the main receptors expressed in cells of the innate immune response. Unlike TLR4, which recognizes ligands such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and mannuronic acid polymers from Gram-negative bacteria, some viral components and Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) (46). TLR2 recognizes different ligands including diacyl-lipopeptides, lipoarabinomannan, lipoproteins, lipoteichoic acid (LTA), peptidoglycan (PGN), porins,

phospholipomannan and zymosan (20). Although TLR4 also recognizes ligands from Gram-positive bacteria such as LTA (46) or LLO from L.m (47), TLR2 seems to play a more important role in the recognition of Gram-positive bacteria, such as L. m (20) and is expressed on MC, as shown here and by others (29, 48, 49). Interestingly, TLR2-deficient mice are susceptible to L.m infection (28). Although TLR2 has been involved in MC degranulation against *S. aureus* PGN (26), L.m seems not to be inducing this mechanism through TLR2. Therefore, our findings



**FIGURE 4** | Mast cell degranulation, ROS production, endocytosis and clearance of Listeria monocytogenes are TLR2-independent. **(A)**. 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC were marked with anti-TLR2-biotin (1 μg/0.1 mL) or biotinylated isotype control (I.C) (1 μg/0.1 mL) and stained with streptavidin-APC. Staining was evaluated by flow cytometry. **(B)** 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes and then were stimulated with L.m (MOI 100:1) for 90 minutes. BMMC degranulation was determined by flow cytometry. Left panel shows representative zebra-plots. Right panel shows the fold change in the percentage of FccRI+/CD107a+ cells with respect to unstimulated MC (sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group; N.S, Not Significance; Kruskal-Wallis test). **(C)** 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes. Afterwards, were stimulated with L.m (MOI 100:1) for 2 h. Then, the determination was performed by the NBT reduction assay (sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group; N.S, Not Significance; Kruskal-Wallis test). **(D, E)** 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes. Afterwards, were stimulated with L.m (MOI 100:1) for 2 h. Then, the determination was performed by the NBT reduction assay (sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group; N.S, Not Significance; Kruskal-Wallis test). **(D, E)** 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes. Afterwards, were stimulated with L.m (MOI 100:1) for 2 h. Then the O<sub>2</sub>intracellular bacteria were quantified by CFU assay. **(D)** Graphs show the percentage of endocytic activity (CFU at 0 h/MOI added x 100). **(E)** Graphs show the percentage of endocytic activity (CFU at 0 h/MOI added x 100). **(E)** Graphs show the percentage of addecytic activity (NS, Not Significance; Kruskal-Wallis test).

suggest that TLR2-independent interactions promote MC degranulation against L.m.

ROS production in L.m infected MC is associated with the release of MC extracellular traps (MCET), through a mechanism dependent on NADPH oxidase, MCET contribute to L.m extracellular clearance (18). Moreover, ROS production also promotes the intracellular clearance of internalized *E. coli* in MC endosomes (50). Furthermore, TLR2 promotes in L.m infected macrophages to the release of mitochondrial ROS associated with TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 synthesis *via* NF-kB and MAPK activation (36). However, our findings suggest that ROS release by L.m infected MC is not associated with TLR2- interactions.

Despite L.m endocytosis by macrophages has been shown be dependent of PI3K-AKT-Rac1 signaling pathway induced by TLR2 (23), we did not find any involvement of TLR2 in L.m endocytosis by MC. One possibility is that L.m entry does not involve TLR2 in MC. Additionally, we also noticed that MC TLR2 did not participate in L.m intracellular clearance, contrary to what is observed in TLR2-deficient MC infected with *F. tularensis* (24). This suggests that different signals may promote the activation of intrinsic microbicidal mechanisms in MC or that L.m virulence factors may promote the permanence of this bacterium within MC (16).

MC release a wide variety of cytokines and chemokines in response to L.m, including TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-13 and MCP-1 (15, 16, 33). Interestingly, TNF- $\alpha$  or TNF-receptor deficient mice are highly susceptible to L.m infection (51-53). This could be associated with the TNF- $\alpha$  exacerbation of intracellular killing of L.m by macrophages through ROS and nitric oxide production (54, 55). On the other hand, antibody-mediated IL-1 receptor blockade affects neutrophil recruitment and macrophage activation in L.m-infected mice (56), which coincides with an increase in bacterial load in the spleen and liver (57). Similarly, mice deficient in MCP-1 are more susceptible to L.m infection, which correlates with poor recruitment of inflammatory monocytes (58). While IL-6 deficient mice are unable to mobilize neutrophils from the bone marrow into the blood circulation, making them highly susceptible to L.m infection (59). Finally, administration of IL-13 to mice infected with L.m favors infection control, which coincides with enhanced NK cells activation and an increase in serum IL-12 concentration (60). Therefore, these mediators produced by MC may contribute significantly to host defense against L. m infection.

In contrast to previous reports where it has been shown that TLR2-deficient MC exhibit a reduced production of TNF- $\alpha$  in response to *S. aureus* PGN (29) and *S. equi* (61), we found TNF-



**FIGURE 5** | Mast cells TLR2 is required for IL-6 and IL-13 production in response to *Listeria monocytogenes*.  $2.5 \times 10^5$  BMMC or  $2.5 \times 10^5$  PMC in 0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes and then were stimulated with L.m (MOI 100:1) for 24 h. Mediators levels were evaluated in culture supernatants by ELISA. (A) TNF- $\alpha$ , (B) IL-1 $\beta$ , (C) IL-6, (D) IL-13 and (E) MCP-1. Data are expressed as percentage of cytokine production, considering as 100% the production induced for L.m only. (Sum of 6 independent experiments, n=6 per group and for each mediator for BMMC (light grey boxes); sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group and for each mediator for PMC (dark grey boxes); N.D, Not detected; N.S, Not Significance; \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001; Kruskal-Wallis test).

α production was independent to TLR2 signals. A possibility for this difference could rely on the ability of L.m to release the virulent factor LLO. Previous studies, showed that LLO increases intracellular calcium levels in MC, leading to activation of NFAT, a transcription factor that promotes TNF-α synthesis (17). Furthermore, we observed that BMMC produced significant amount of TNF-α after being stimulated with LLO (**Supplementary Figure 3**), and this production was not affected when TLR2 was blocked (**Figure 7A**). This suggest LLO-activated signaling pathway is more relevant than TLR2 for the production of TNF-α in MC.

Similarly, TLR2 was not involved in IL-1 $\beta$  production by L.m infected MC. This coincides with findings in MyD88 or TLR2/4 -deficient MC infected with L.m (33). IL-1 $\beta$  production in L.m-infected macrophages depends on both the recognition of L.m lipoproteins by TLR2 and the recognition of L.m PGN fragments by NOD1/NOD2 receptors intracellularly. In both cases, pro-IL-1 $\beta$  transcription through NF-kB is induced (62, 63). Therefore, we suggest that TLR2 is not mediating IL-1 $\beta$  production by L.m infected MC and that PGN of this bacterium may induce its production through their recognition by NOD1/NOD2. Furthermore, other interactions could mediate the production of this cytokine, such as integrin  $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 2 (CD49b/CD29), which has been shown partially involved in IL-1 $\beta$  production by L.m stimulated MC (64).

We observed that TLR2 was not involved in MCP-1 production by L.m infected MC. Interestingly, TLR2 is important for the production of this chemokine by *S. equi* 

infected MC (61). This suggests that other PRR are involved in the production of MCP-1 in response to L.m. MCP-1 production is dependent on NF- $\kappa$ B activation (65). Therefore, different signaling pathways that converge in NF- $\kappa$ B may be involved in its production. The recognition of L.m PGN by NOD1/NOD2 receptors would contribute to the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and thus the induction of MCP-1. Interestingly, MCP-1 production in MC infected with L.m, depends partially on the signaling carried by MyD88, E-cadherin-IntA interaction and LLO (16).

However, we observed that TLR2 participates in the production of IL-6 and IL-13 in MC infected with L.m. In fact, TLR2-deficient MC exhibit a reduced production of IL-6 in response to S. aureus PGN (26) and S. equi (61); and MyD88deficient MC stimulated with S. aureus PGN and L.m are unable to produce IL-6 (16). Moreover, IL-13 production is TLR2dependent in MC stimulated with bacterial pathogens such as S. equi (61) or with peptidoglycan from S. aureus (26). Therefore, we suggest that MC TLR2 may recognize the cell wall components of L.m and thus promote IL-6 and IL-13 synthesis. IL-6 expression is generally associated with NF-KB, MAPK/AP-1, C/EBP, CREB and PI3K/AKT activation (66-69) and interestingly, TLR2-MyD88 signaling leads to activation of NF-KB, MAPK/AP-1, PI3K/AKT (22, 70). Our results indicate L.m is inducing NF-KB, ERK and p38 activation. Interestingly, p38 was the only cell signaling pathway modulated by TLR2 which could be involved in IL-6 and IL-13 production, as has been described in BMMC stimulated with IL-33 (71). On the other hand, a recent study demonstrated that L.m induces ERK 1/2 phosphorylation in human epithelial



FIGURE 6 | Mast cells TLR2 regulates p38 activation in response to *Listeria monocytogenes*. 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes and then were stimulated with L.m (MOI 100:1) for different times to determine the phosphorylation of (A) ERK 1/2 at 15 minutes, (B) p38 at 60 minutes and (C) p65 at 30 minutes by flow cytometry. The graphs show the median fluorescence intensity (MFI). (The figure shows the sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group and for each phospho-protein. \*\*p<0.01; N.S, Not Significance; Kruskal-Wallis test).



**FIGURE 7** | Cytokine production by mast cells in response to Listeriolysin-O is independent of TLR2.  $2.5 \times 10^5$  BMMC/0.25 mL of complete medium were preincubated with anti-TLR2 for 30 minutes and then were stimulated with 1000 ng/mL of Listeriolysin-O (LLO) for 24 h. Mediators levels were evaluated in culture supernatants by ELISA. (A) TNF- $\alpha$ , (B) IL-6, (C) IL-13 and (D) MCP-1. (Sum of 4 independent experiments, n=4 per group and for each mediator; N.D, Not detected; N.S, Not Significance; One Way ANOVA test).

Caco-2 cells, mediated mainly by LLO binding to cholesterol and subsequent pore formation. Interestingly, this effect correlates with the ability of L.m to invade and replicate into fibroblasts and macrophages (72). Therefore, we suggest that ERK 1/2 activation in L.m-stimulated MC may be LLO-dependent. However, it is unclear whether L.m takes advantage of this signaling pathway in MC to invade and replicate in them beyond promoting the induction of proinflammatory cytokines.

Interestingly, we found that LLO induced the release of IL-6 and IL-13 by MC, without requiring TLR2 signaling. This shows that multiple L.m pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) lead to IL-6 and IL-13 production, indicating a vital role of these cytokines in the host immune response to L.m, and suggests that LLO could be recognized by MC through other receptors, with TLR4 being a potential candidate (47, 73).

IL-13 together with IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 belong to the group of cytokines of the type 2 response profile, since they promote the induction of the humoral immune response by favoring the production of antibodies by B cells, diminish the cellular immune response and lead to an anti-inflammatory environment (74, 75). The type response profile 2 cytokines and other mediators produced by MC are able to direct, amplify and perpetuate the Th2 immune response in allergy, helminthic infection and in oral immunization models (76-80). Interestingly type 2 response has been recently associated as a relevant mechanism during bacterial infection, in particular during the skin infection with S. aureus, by favoring IgE production and effector mechanisms regulated by MC (81). Our results suggest that MC TLR2 could have a relevant role during the innate immune response to bacteria and promote an environment that favors type-2 immune response. However, it is unclear whether this response could be elicited by L.m. Our findings suggest that IL-13 production by MC responds to different L.m-activated signals, some independent of TLR2 (as is the case with LLO). This is surprising since previous studies have shown that LLO inhibits Th2-mediated reactions in murine models of allergic rhinitis (82). Thus, the functional role of IL-13 produced by MC in the context of L.m infection needs to be further explored.

In conclusion, our results show that L.m induces the activation of signaling pathways in mast cells, mainly related to cytokines synthesis. In addition, TLR2 participates in IL-6 and IL-13 production and p38 activation. While TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ ,


MCP-1 production, ROS release, cell degranulation, the endocytic and bactericidal activity of mast cells, as well as ERK and NF- $\kappa$ B activation are TLR2-independent mechanisms. Therefore, we demonstrate that mast cell TLR2 plays a crucial role in regulating the synthesis of IL-6 and IL-13 during *Listeria monocytogenes* infection in MC.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Research Ethics Committee of the ENCB, IPN.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Experimental design and analysis: RS-C, AA-D, GR-L, MC-N, YM-P, AG-S, VA-J, JY-P, RM-F, AD-F, SE-P, SP-T, AC-B, and RC-S. Experimental performing: RS-C, AA-D, GR-L, YM-P, and AG-S. Manuscript preparation: RS-C, GR-L,

MC-N, VA-J, JY-P, RM-F, and RC-S. Funding: AC-B and RC-S. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **FUNDING**

This research was supported by SIP, IPN (20210225), and Conacyt Ciencia Básica (258738).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Jeanet Serafin-López for providing us with the L.m strain to perform the experiments, Jessica Castañeda-Casimiro for her technical assistance, and Dr. Maricarmen Godínez-Victoria and Dr. Octavio Rodríguez-Cortés for facilitating the use of the central flow cytometry for the analysis and acquisition of the cell samples. We also want to thank Cameron Burnett for proofreading the manuscript.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2021.650779/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- 1. Galli SJ, Tsai M. Ige and Mast Cells in Allergic Disease. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:693–704. doi: 10.1038/nm.2755
- Abraham SN, St. John AL. Mast Cell-Orchestrated Immunity to Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:440–52. doi: 10.1038/nri2782
- Garcia-Rodriguez KM, Bahri R, Sattentau C, Roberts IS, Goenka A, Bulfone-Paus S. Human Mast Cells Exhibit an Individualized Pattern of Antimicrobial Responses. *Immunity Inflamm Dis* (2020) 8:198–210. doi: 10.1002/iid3.295
- Campillo-Navarro M, Chávez-Blanco AD, Wong-Baeza I, Serafin-López J, Flores-Mejía R, Estrada-Parra S, et al. Mast Cells in Lung Homeostasis: Beyond Type I Hypersensitivity. *Curr Respir Med Rev* (2014) 10:115–23. doi: 10.2174/1573398X10666141024220151
- da Silva EZM, Jamur MC, Oliver C. Mast Cell Function: A New Vision of an Old Cell. J Histochem Cytochem (2014) 62:698–738. doi: 10.1369/ 0022155414545334
- Junkins RD, Carrigan SO, Wu Z, Stadnyk AW, Cowley E, Issekutz T, et al. Mast Cells Protect Against Pseudomonas Aeruginosa-Induced Lung Injury. *Am J Pathol* (2014) 184:2310–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.05.009
- Sutherland RE, Olsen JS, McKinstry A, Villalta SA, Wolters PJ. Mast Cell IL-6 Improves Survival From Klebsiella Pneumonia and Sepsis by Enhancing Neutrophil Killing. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (2008) 181:5598–605. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5598
- Lei Z, Zhang D, Lu B, Zhou W, Wang D. Activation of Mast Cells in Skin Abscess Induced by Staphylococcus Aureus (s. Aureus) Infection in Mice. *Res Vet Sci* (2018) 118:66–71. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2018.01.016
- Garcia-Rodriguez KM, Goenka A, Alonso-Rasgado MT, Hernández-Pando R, Bulfone-Paus S. The Role of Mast Cells in Tuberculosis: Orchestrating Innate Immune Crosstalk? *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1290. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2017.01290
- Gekara NO, Weiss S. Mast Cells Initiate Early anti-Listeria Host Defences. Cell Microbiol (2008) 10:225–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.01033.x
- Radoshevich L, Cossart P. Listeria Monocytogenes: Towards a Complete Picture of its Physiology and Pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2018) 16:32– 46. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.126
- Vázquez-Boland JA, Kuhn M, Berche P, Chakraborty T, Domínguez-Bernal G, Goebel W, et al. Listeria Pathogenesis and Molecular Virulence Determinants. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2001) 14:584–640. doi: 10.1128/ CMR.14.3.584-640.2001
- Soria-Castro R, Chávez-Blanco AD, García-Pérez BE, Wong-Baeza I, Flores-Mejía R, Flores-Borja F, et al. Valproic Acid Inhibits Interferon-γ Production by NK Cells and Increases Susceptibility to Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10:1–14. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-74836-w
- D'Orazio SEF. Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses During Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. *Microbiol Spectr* (2019) 7:1–40. doi: 10.1128/ microbiolspec.gpp3-0065-2019
- Dietrich N, Rohde M, Geffers R, Kroger A, Hauser H, Weiss S, et al. Mast Cells Elicit Proinflammatory But Not Type I Interferon Responses Upon Activation of TLRs by Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2010) 107:8748–53. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0912551107
- Jobbings CE, Sandig H, Whittingham-Dowd JK, Roberts IS, Bulfone-Paus S. Listeria Monocytogenes Alters Mast Cell Phenotype, Mediator and Osteopontin Secretion in a Listeriolysin-Dependent Manner. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:1–11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057102
- Gekara NO, Westphal K, Ma B, Rohde M, Groebe L, Weiss S. The Multiple Mechanisms of Ca2+ Signalling by Listeriolysin O, the Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin of Listeria Monocytogenes. *Cell Microbiol* (2007) 9:2008–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00932.x
- Campillo-Navarro M, Leyva-Paredes K, Donis-Maturano L, González-Jiménez M, Paredes-Vivas Y, Cerbulo-Vázquez A, et al. Listeria Monocytogenes Induces Mast Cell Extracellular Traps. *Immunobiology* (2017) 222:432–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.08.006
- Krishnan J, Selvarajoo K, Tsuchiya M, Lee G, Choi S. Toll-Like Receptor Signal Transduction. *Exp Mol Med* (2007) 39:421–38. doi: 10.1038/ emm.2007.47
- Oliveira-Nascimento L, Massari P, Wetzler LM. The Role of TLR2 Ininfection and Immunity. Front Immunol (2012) 3:79. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00079

- Zhu J, Mohan C. Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathways—Therapeutic Opportunities. Mediators Inflamm (2010) 2010:1–7. doi: 10.1155/2010/781235
- Espinosa-Riquer ZP, Segura-Villalobos D, Ramírez-Moreno IG, Pérez Rodríguez MJ, Lamas M, Gonzalez-Espinosa C. Signal Transduction Pathways Activated by Innate Immunity in Mast Cells: Translating Sensing of Changes Into Specific Responses. *Cells* (2020) 9:1–39. doi: 10.3390/cells9112411
- Shen Y, Kawamura I, Nomura T, Tsuchiya K, Hara H, Dewamitta SR, et al. Toll-Like Receptor 2- and MyD88-dependent Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and Rac1 Activation Facilitates the Phagocytosis of Listeria Monocytogenes by Murine Macrophages. *Infect Immun* (2010) 78:2857–67. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.01138-09
- Rodriguez AR, Yu J-J, Guentzel MN, Navara CS, Klose KE, Forsthuber TG, et al. Mast Cell Tlr2 Signaling is Crucial for Effective Killing of Francisella Tularensis. J Immunol (2012) 188:5604–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200039
- 25. Shishido T, Nozaki N, Takahashi H, Arimoto T, Niizeki T, Koyama Y, et al. Central Role of Endogenous Toll-like Receptor-2 Activation in Regulating Inflammation, Reactive Oxygen Species Production, and Subsequent Neointimal Formation After Vascular Injury. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 345:1446–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.05.056
- Supajatura V, Ushio H, Nakao A, Akira S, Okumura K, Ra C, et al. Differential Responses of Mast Cell Toll-like Receptors 2 and 4 in Allergy and Innate Immunity. *JClinInvest* (2002) 109:1351–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI14704
- Ghosh TK, Mickelson DJ, Fink J, Solberg JC, Inglefield JR, Hook D, et al. Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) 2-9 Agonists-Induced Cytokines and Chemokines: I. Comparison With T Cell Receptor-Induced Responses. *Cell Immunol* (2006) 243:48–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2006.12.002
- Torres D, Barrier M, Bihl F, Quesniaux VJF, Maillet I, Akira S, et al. Toll-Like Receptor 2 Is Required for Optimal Control of Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. *Infection Immun* (2004) 72:2131–9. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.4.2131-2139.2004
- Supajatura V, Ushio H, Nakao A, Okumura K, Ra C, Ogawa H. Protective Roles of Mast Cells Against Enterobacterial Infection are Mediated by Toll-Like Receptor 4. J Immunol (2001) 167:2250-6. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.167.4.2250
- Campillo-Navarro M, Leyva-Paredes K, Donis-Maturano L, Rodríguez-López GM, Soria-Castro R, García-Pérez BE, et al. Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Catalase Inhibits the Formation of Mast Cell Extracellular Traps. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1161. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01161
- Rodríguez-López GM, Soria-Castro R, Campillo-Navarro M, Pérez-Tapia SM, Flores-Borja F, Wong-Baeza I, et al. The Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor Valproic Acid Attenuates Phospholipase Cγ2 and IgE-mediated Mast Cell Activation. J Leukocyte Biol (2020) 108:1–8. doi: 10.1002/JLB.3AB0320-547RR
- 32. Kaneko M, Emoto Y, Emoto M. A Simple, Reproducible, Inexpensive, Yet Old-Fashioned Method for Determining Phagocytic and Bactericidal Activities of Macrophages. *Yonsei Med J* (2016) 57:283–90. doi: 10.3349/ ymj.2016.57.2.283
- 33. Gekara NO, Dietrich N, Lyszkiewicz M, Lienenklaus S, Weiss S. Signals Triggered by a Bacterial Pore-Forming Toxin Contribute to Toll-Like Receptor Redundancy in Gram-Positive Bacterial Recognition. J Infect Dis (2009) 199:124–33. doi: 10.1086/595562
- 34. Stoiber D, Stockinger S, Steinlein P, Kovarik J, Decker T. Listeria Monocytogenes Modulates Macrophage Cytokine Responses Through Stat Serine Phosphorylation and the Induction of Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 3. J Immunol (2001) 166:466–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.1.466
- 35. Anand PK, Tait SWG, Lamkanfi M, Amer AO, Nunez G, Pagès G, et al. TLR2 and RIP2 Pathways Mediate Autophagy of Listeria Monocytogenes Via Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase (ERK) Activation. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:42981–91. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.310599
- 36. Herb M, Gluschko A, Wiegmann K, Farid A, Wolf A, Utermöhlen O, et al. Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Enable Proinflammatory Signaling Through Disulfide Linkage of NEMO. *Sci Signaling* (2019) 12:1–15. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aar5926
- 37. Plum T, Wang X, Rettel M, Krijgsveld J, Feyerabend TB, Rodewald H-R. Human Mast Cell Proteome Reveals Unique Lineage, Putative Functions, and Structural Basis for Cell Ablation. *Immunity* (2020) 52:404–16.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.01.012
- 38. Özören N, Masumoto J, Franchi L, Kanneganti T-D, Body-Malapel M, Ertürk İ, et al. Distinct Roles of TLR2 and the Adaptor ASC in IL-1 $\beta$ /Il-18 Secretion

in Response to Listeria Monocytogenes. J Immunol (2006) 176:4337-42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4337

- Aubry C, Corr SC, Wienerroither S, Goulard C, Jones R, Jamieson AM, et al. Both TLR2 and TRIF Contribute to Interferon-β Production During Listeria Infection. *PLloS One* (2012) 7:1–9. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033299
- Kuhn M, Goebel W. Host Cell Signalling During Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. Trends Microbiol (1998) 6:11–5. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(97)01139-6
- Pengal RA, Ganesan LP, Wei G, Fang H, Ostrowski MC, Tridandapani S. Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Production of interleukin-10 is Promoted by the Serine/Threonine Kinase Akt. *Mol Immunol* (2006) 43:1557–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2005.09.022
- Krämer S, Sellge G, Lorentz A, Krueger D, Schemann M, Feilhauer K, et al. Selective Activation of Human Intestinal Mast Cells by Escherichia Coli Hemolysin. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:1438–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.2.1438
- Stassen M, Müller C, Richter C, Neudörfl C, Hültner L, Bhakdi S, et al. The Streptococcal Exotoxin Streptolysin O Activates Mast Cells To Produce Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha by P38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinaseand Protein Kinase C-Dependent Pathways. *Infection Immun* (2003) 71:6171– 7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.11.6171-6177.2003
- Masuda A, Yoshikai Y, Aiba K, Matsuguchi T. Th2 Cytokine Production From Mast Cells Is Directly Induced by Lipopolysaccharide and Distinctly Regulated by C-Jun N-Terminal Kinase and p38 Pathways. J Immunol (2002) 169:3801–10. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.7.3801
- Nieto-Patlán A, Campillo-Navarro M, Rodríguez-Cortés O, Muñoz-Cruz S, Wong-Baeza I, Estrada-Parra S, et al. Recognition of Candida Albicans by Dectin-1 Induces Mast Cell Activation. *Immunobiology* (2015) 220:1093–100. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.05.005
- Vaure C, Liu Y. A Comparative Review of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression and Functionality in Different Animal Species. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00316
- Park JM, Ng VH, Maeda S, Rest RF, Karin M. Anthrolysin O and Other Gram-Positive Cytolysins are Toll-like Receptor 4 Agonists. J Exp Med (2004) 200:1647–55. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041215
- Varadaradjalou S, Thieblemont N, Ben N, Pleau J, Dy M, Arock M. Toll-Like Receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR-4 Differentially Activate Human Mast Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 2:899–906. doi: 10.1002/eji.200323830
- Pietrzak A, Wierzbicki M, Wiktorska M, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E. Surface TLR2 and TLR4 Expression on Mature Rat Mast Cells Can be Affected by Some Bacterial Components and Proinflammatory Cytokines. *Mediators Inflamm* (2011) 2011:1–11. doi: 10.1155/2011/427473
- Malaviya R, Ross EA, MacGregor JI, Ikeda T, Little JR, Jakschik BA, et al. Mast Cell Phagocytosis of FimH-expressing Enterobacteria. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (1994) 152:1907–14.
- Fontan E. Early Translocation of Acid-Adapted Listeria Monocytogenes During Enteric Infection in TNF/Ltα-/- Mice. FEMS Microbiol Lett (2001) 205:179-83. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(01)00450-5
- 52. Rothe J, Lesslauer W, Lötscher H, Lang Y, Koebel P, Köntgen F, et al. Mice Lacking the Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 1 are Resistant to TNFmediated Toxicity But Highly Susceptible to Infection by Listeria Monocytogenes. *Nature* (1993) 364:798–802. doi: 10.1038/364798a0
- Endres R, Luz A, Schulze H, Neubauer H, Fütterer A, Holland SM, et al. Listeriosis in p47phox-/- and TRp55-/- Mice: Protection Despite Absence of ROI and Susceptibility Despite Presence of RNI. *Immunity* (1997) 7:419–32. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80363-5
- Müller M, Althaus R, Fröhlich D, Frei K, Eugster H-P. Reduced Antilisterial Activity of TNF-deficient Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages is Due to Impaired Superoxide Production. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29:3089–97. doi: 10.1002/(SICI) 1521-4141(199910)29:10<3089::AID-IMMU3089>3.0.CO;2-D
- Leenen PJM, Canono BP, Drevets DA, Voerman JS, Campbell PA. TNF-Alpha and IFN-gamma Stimulate a Macrophage Precursor Cell Line to Kill Listeria Monocytogenes in a Nitric Oxide-Independent Manner. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (1994) 153:5141–7.
- Rogers HW, Tripp CS, Schreiber RD, Unanue ER. Endogenous IL-1 is Required for Neutrophil Recruitment and Macrophage Activation During Murine Listeriosis. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (1994) 153:2093–101.
- Havell EA, Moldawer LL, Helfgott D, Kilian PL, Sehgal PB. Type I IL-1 Receptor Blockade Exacerbates Murine Listeriosis. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (1992) 148:1486–92.

- Jia T, Serbina NV, Brandl K, Zhong MX, Leiner IM, Charo IF, et al. Additive Roles for MCP-1 and MCP-3 in CCR2-Mediated Recruitment of Inflammatory Monocytes During Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:6846–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.10.6846
- Dalrymple SA, Lucian LA, Slattery R, McNeil T, Aud DM, Fuchino S, et al. Interleukin-6-deficient Mice are Highly Susceptible to Listeria Monocytogenes Infection: Correlation With Inefficient Neutrophilia. *Infection Immun* (1995) 63:2262–8. doi: 10.1128/IAI.63.6.2262-2268.1995
- Flesch I. Effects of IL-13 on Murine Listeriosis. Int Immunol (1997) 9:467–74. doi: 10.1093/intimm/9.4.467
- Rönnberg E, Guss B, Pejler G. Infection of Mast Cells With Live Streptococci Causes a Toll-Like Receptor 2- and Cell-Cell Contact-Dependent Cytokine and Chemokine Response. *Infect Immun* (2010) 78:854–64. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.01004-09
- Eitel J, Suttorp N, Opitz B. Innate Immune Recognition and Inflammasome Activation in Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. *Front Microbiol* (2011) 1:149. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2010.00149
- Hara H, Seregin SS, Yang D, Fukase K, Chamaillard M, Alnemri ES, et al. The NLRP6 Inflammasome Recognizes Lipoteichoic Acid and Regulates Gram-Positive Pathogen Infection. *Cell* (2018) 175:1651–64.e14. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.09.047
- McCall-Culbreath KD, Li Z, Zhang Z, Lu LX, Orear L, Zutter MM. Selective, α2β1 Integrin-Dependent Secretion of Il-6 by Connective Tissue Mast Cells. *J Innate Immun* (2011) 3:459–70. doi: 10.1159/000324832
- Yoshimura T. The Chemokine MCP-1 (CCL2) in the Host Interaction With Cancer: A Foe or Ally? *Cell Mol Immunol* (2018) 15:335–45. doi: 10.1038/ cmi.2017.135
- Siebenlist U, Franzoso G, Brown K. Structure, Regulation and Function of NF-Kappab. Annu Rev Cell Biol (1994) 10:405–55. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.cb.10.110194.002201
- Hershko DD, Robb BW, Luo G, Hasselgren PO. Multiple Transcription Factors Regulating the IL-6 Gene are Activated by cAMP in Cultured Caco-2 Cells. Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2002) 283:1140–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00161.2002
- Lin J, Zhou Z, Huo R, Xiao L, Ouyang G, Wang L, et al. Cyr61 Induces Il-6 Production by Fibroblast-like Synoviocytes Promoting Th17 Differentiation in Rheumatoid Arthritis. J Immunol (2012) 188:5776–84. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1103201
- Li J, Lan T, Zhang C, Zeng C, Hou J, Yang Z, et al. Reciprocal Activation Between IL-6/STAT3 and NOX4/Akt Signalings Promotes Proliferation and Survival of non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cells. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:1031–48. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2671
- Carmody RJ, Chen YH. Nuclear factor-kappaB: Activation and Regulation During Toll-Like Receptor Signaling. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2007) 4:31–41.
- Drube S, Kraft F, Dudeck J, Müller A-L, Weber F, Göpfert C, et al. Mk2/3 Are Pivotal for IL-33–Induced and Mast Cell–Dependent Leukocyte Recruitment and the Resulting Skin Inflammation. J Immunol (2016) 197:3662–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600658
- Cheng C, Sun J, Yu H, Ma T, Guan C, Zeng H, et al. Listeriolysin O Pore-Forming Activity is Required for ERK1/2 Phosphorylation During Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1146. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01146
- Hernández-Flores KG, Vivanco-Cid H. Biological Effects of Listeriolysin O: Implications for Vaccination. *BioMed Res Int* (2015) 2015:1–9. doi: 10.1155/ 2015/360741
- Lucey DR, Clerici M, Shearer GM. Type 1, and Type 2 Cytokine Dysregulation in Human Infectious, Neoplastic, and Inflammatory Diseases. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (1996) 9:532–62. doi: 10.1128/cmr.9.4.532
- Scheller J, Chalaris A, Schmidt-Arras D, Rose-John S. The Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Properties of the Cytokine Interleukin-6. *Biochim Biophys Acta* - *Mol Cell Res* (2011) 1813:878–88. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.034
- Kitawaki T, Kadowaki N, Sugimoto N, Kambe N, Hori T, Miyachi Y, et al. IgE-activated Mast Cells in Combination With Pro-Inflammatory Factors Induce Th2-promoting Dendritic Cells. *Int Immunol* (2006) 18:1789–99. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxl113
- Liu Z-Q, Song J-P, Liu X, Jiang J, Chen X, Yang L, et al. Mast Cell-Derived Serine Proteinase Regulates T Helper 2 Polarization. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:1–7. doi: 10.1038/srep04649

- Ryan NM, Oghumu S. Role of Mast Cells in the Generation of a T-helper Type 2 Dominated Anti-Helminthic Immune Response. *Biosci Rep* (2019) 39:1–11. doi: 10.1042/BSR20181771
- Kool M, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. Cellular Networks Controlling Th2 Polarization in Allergy and Immunity. F1000 Biol Rep (2012) 4:1–12. doi: 10.3410/B4-6
- Aoki I, Itoh S, Yokota S, Tanaka SI, Ishii N, Okuda K, et al. Contribution of Mast Cells to the T Helper 2 Response Induced by Simultaneous Subcutaneous and Oral Immunization. *Immunology* (1999) 98:519-24. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.1999.00878.x
- Starkl P, Watzenboeck ML, Popov LM, Zahalka S, Hladik A, Lakovits K, et al. Ige Effector Mechanisms, in Concert With Mast Cells, Contribute to Acquired Host Defense Against Staphylococcus Aureus. *Immunity* (2020) 53:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.08.002
- 82. Yamamoto K, Kawamura I, Tominaga T, Nomura T, Ito J, Mitsuyama M. Listeriolysin O Derived From Listeria Monocytogenes Inhibits the Effector Phase of an Experimental Allergic Rhinitis Induced by

Ovalbumin in Mice. Clin Exp Immunol (2006) 144:475–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03092.x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Soria-Castro, Alfaro-Doblado, Rodríguez-López, Campillo-Navarro, Meneses-Preza, Galán-Salinas, Alvarez-Jimenez, Yam-Puc, Munguía-Fuentes, Domínguez-Flores, Estrada-Parra, Pérez-Tapia, Chávez-Blanco and Chacón-Salinas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Responses of Mast Cells to Pathogens: Beneficial and Detrimental Roles**

Mariela Jiménez<sup>1</sup>, Daniel Cervantes-García<sup>1,2</sup>, Laura E. Córdova-Dávalos<sup>1</sup>, Marian Jesabel Pérez-Rodríguez<sup>3</sup>, Claudia Gonzalez-Espinosa<sup>3</sup> and Eva Salinas<sup>1\*</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Immunology, Department of Microbiology, Universidad Autónoma de Aguascalientes, Aguascalientes, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Cátedras CONACYT, National Council of Science and Technology, Mexico City, Mexico,
 <sup>3</sup> Department of Pharmacobiology, Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados (Cinvestav), Unidad Sede Sur, Mexico City, Mexico

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rommel Chacon-Salinas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Silvia Bulfone-Paus, The University of Manchester, United Kingdom Magnus Åbrink, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden

\*Correspondence:

Eva Salinas emsalin@correo.uaa.mx; maria.salinas@edu.uaa.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 March 2021 Accepted: 28 May 2021 Published: 15 June 2021

## Citation:

Jiménez M, Cervantes-García D, Córdova-Dávalos LE, Pérez-Rodríguez MJ, Gonzalez-Espinosa C and Salinas E (2021) Responses of Mast Cells to Pathogens: Beneficial and Detrimental Roles. Front. Immunol. 12:685865. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2021.685865 Mast cells (MCs) are strategically located in tissues close to the external environment. being one of the first immune cells to interact with invading pathogens. They are long living effector cells equipped with different receptors that allow microbial recognition. Once activated, MCs release numerous biologically active mediators in the site of pathogen contact, which induce vascular endothelium modification, inflammation development and extracellular matrix remodeling. Efficient and direct antimicrobial mechanisms of MCs involve phagocytosis with oxidative and non-oxidative microbial destruction, extracellular trap formation, and the release of antimicrobial substances. MCs also contribute to host defense through the attraction and activation of phagocytic and inflammatory cells, shaping the innate and adaptive immune responses. However, as part of their response to pathogens and under an impaired, sustained, or systemic activation, MCs may contribute to tissue damage. This review will focus on the current knowledge about direct and indirect contribution of MCs to pathogen clearance. Antimicrobial mechanisms of MCs are addressed with special attention to signaling pathways involved and molecular weapons implicated. The role of MCs in a dysregulated host response that can increase morbidity and mortality is also reviewed and discussed, highlighting the complexity of MCs biology in the context of host-pathogen interactions.

Keywords: mast cells, phagocytosis, extracellular traps, mast cell mediators, pathology development participation, signaling pathways

# INTRODUCTION

Described by Paul Ehrlich in 1878 and widely studied in the context of allergy, the mast cells (MCs) are cellular components of the immune system that perform crucial functions in innate and adaptive immune responses (1). MCs contain cytoplasmic granules that store a plethora of preformed mediators, such as heparin, histamine and enzymes, mainly chymase, tryptase and carboxypeptidase A, which are released upon cell activation. Depending on the stimulus, MCs can also *de novo* synthesize eicosanoids, such as leukotrienes (LTs), prostaglandins (PGs) and

40

platelet activation factor, as well as a wide variety of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (2). Several of these compounds prompt vasodilation, an increase in vascular permeability and recruitment of inflammatory cells during the allergic process and the antimicrobial response.

Different experimental models are used to study MC biology and its participation in physiological and pathological processes (Figure 1). *In vitro* studies of MCs are predominantly performed using MCs isolated from the peritoneal cavity of mice and rats (3–5), or rodent or human MCs obtained by cultures from bone marrow progenitors (BMMC), umbilical cord blood progenitors (CBMC) or embryonic stem cells (6–9). Immortalized MC lines from rodent (RBL-2H3, MC-9) and human (HMC-1, LAD2) origin have been also developed and are commonly used (5, 10, 11).



In addition, MCs can be isolated from peripheral tissues through enzymatic digestion and enrichment processes (12). MC transcriptome changes depending on the tissue from which cells are obtained or whether they are or not subjected to culture conditions (13, 14). In this sense, the identification of tissuespecific expressed genes arises the possibility to study individual cell population within the tissue, circumventing the necessity of extensive MC purification (13, 14). In vivo studies of MCs were detonated with the discovery of c-Kit mutant MC-deficient mice (most used are  $W/W^{\nu}$ ,  $W^{sh}/W^{sh}$ ) and the development of c-Kit independent MC-deficient mice strains (Cpa3-Cre and Mcpt5-*Cre*) (15–19). These animal models permit to evaluate the role of MCs in particular conditions, since they can be reconstituted by adoptive transfer of cultured MCs obtained from congenic wildtype or transgenic or knock-out mice (20). Each experimental approach has its own limitations to consider when interpreting or extrapolating the results (Figure 1).

## ORIGIN, LOCATION, HETEROGENEITY, AND PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

Early observations led to consider MCs as components of connective tissue derived from undifferentiated mesenchymal cells. The hematopoietic origin of MCs in mice and humans was demonstrated in 1977 and 1994, respectively, when it was shown that these cells were derived from bone marrow (BM) progenitor cells (21, 22). Recently, the use of hematopoietic fate mapping tools in mice revealed that MCs initially derive from yolk sac precursors in the embryo but are progressively replaced by definitive MCs at later stages of development (23). During embryogenesis, early erythro-myeloid progenitors (EMP)derived MCs firstly populate most tissues, but are later replaced in most connective tissues by late EMP-derived MCs with exception of adipose tissue and pleural cavity; finally, fetal hematopoietic stem cells (HSC)-derived MCs populate the mucosa (24). After birth, these embryonic MCs continue their development into mature MCs. While evidence support that mucosal MCs depend on adult HSCs for their replacement, connective MCs do not. Specifically, MC progenitors in skin expand locally to form clonal colonies and mature MCs are selfmaintained independent of BM, except during the inflammatory process in which there is an influx of new BM-progenitors that proliferate to form new colonies (25). In humans, a single MCcommitted progenitor derived directly from the pluripotent stem cell CD34<sup>+</sup>, c-Kit<sup>+</sup> was described (26). This progenitor was sensitive to stem cell factor (SCF), the ligand of c-Kit receptor, and can be detected in BM, peripheral blood, and peripheral tissues (27). In mice, three MC-committed progenitors were described, two of them in BM which were derived directly either from a multipotent progenitor or from a common myeloid progenitor, and the other one in the spleen (28). The MCcommitted progenitors circulate in the vascular system as immature progenitor cells and complete their maturation when homing within tissues and are exposed to the influence of characteristic factors of each tissue. In humans, in response to

several cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-3, IL-4, IL-9 and IL-10, they stop expressing CD34 and the IL-3R $\alpha$  chain (CD123) and begin expressing higher levels of the high-affinity receptor for IgE (FccRI) and c-Kit (29–32). Besides ILs, SCF derived from tissue-resident stromal cells also regulate MC differentiation, maturation, and survival (33). The importance of the tissue microenvironment in MC maturation is evidenced when MCs are transferred from one anatomical site to another, as they change their phenotype (20, 34).

MCs reside near to blood vessels and nerve endings in almost all vascularized tissues, being especially abundant in the skin and the mucosal tissues, which are sites exposed to the external environment and the gateway of pathogens (35). Mature MCs constitute a very heterogeneous cell population both in humans and rodents, showing differences in number, distribution, type of expressed proteases, proteoglycans and vasoactive amines, surface receptors and growth factors that drive their differentiation, as summarized in **Tables 1** and **2** (2, 36–59). This plasticity enables MCs to respond to local specific signals, in normal and pathological conditions.

MCs play key roles in the modulation of diverse physiological processes (60-64). MCs participate in wound healing and bone remodeling, since in their absence both processes are impaired (65-68). MCs store preformed molecules that improve fibroblast and epithelial cell proliferation, leukocyte recruitment and collagen synthesis in damaged tissue, such as tryptase (69-74) and chymase (75, 76). Besides wound healing, angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis are also influenced by MCs (77-80). They produce several angiogenic mediators, such as histamine, tryptase, matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and -9, chymase, vascular endothelial growth factor A, platelet-derived growth factor and fibroblast growth factor (77, 81-86). Moreover, MCs are closely residents of nerve endings (87, 88), executing a bidirectional crosstalk with nerve fibers (89-92). MCs also regulate cardiovascular and renal systems (93-96), and participate in cancer control (97, 98).

In addition, a wealth of evidence supports the protective role of MCs during infectious processes, although, under certain circumstances MC response to microbial encounter may lead to harmful conditions in the host. This dual effect of MC activation in the response to pathogens will be revised in detail in the next sections, firstly reviewing the antimicrobial mechanisms that generate protection in the host, i.e. MC beneficial roles, and finally, those conditions in which the response of the cell to the microbial stimulus induces damage in the host, considered as MC detrimental roles.

## ANTIMICROBIAL ROLES OF MAST CELLS

Due to their strategic location and the expression of a wide panel of receptors, MCs represent a sentinel system for the detection of invading pathogens with the capacity to generate an immediate response against them (35, 63, 99). Traditionally, MCs have been categorized as starters of the innate response against pathogens, however they can also promote the activation of adaptive

#### TABLE 1 | Main characteristics of MC types described in rodents.

	MMCs	CTMCs	References
Distribution	Nasal and pulmonary mucosa, intestinal lamina propria	Skin and peritoneum	(2, 36, 37)
Size	7–12 μm (rat)	17-22 μm (rat)	(2, 38, 39)
Granules	Few granules and with variable size (rat)	Many granules and with little size variability (rat)	(40)
Behavior	Migratory	Nonmigratory	(41)
	(rat)	(rat)	(07 (1 (0)
Proteases	MCPT-1, MCPT-2 (chymases)	MCPT-3, MCPT-4 (chymases)	(37, 41, 42)
	(mouse)	MCPT-5 (elastase)	
	MCPT-2, MCPT-5 (chymases)	MCPT-6 (tryptase)	
	(rat)	MCPT-7 (tryptase)	
		CPA3	
		(mouse)	
		MCPT-1 (chymase)	
		CPA3	
		(rat)	
Amines	Histamine	Histamine	(37, 42, 43)
	(low amount)	(high amount)	
	Serotonin	Serotonin	
Proteoglycans	Chondroitin sulfate E	Heparin	(37, 41)
	(mouse)	(mouse)	
	Chondroitin sulfate	Heparin	
	di-B, A, E	Chondroitin sulfate E	
	(rat)	(rat)	
T-cell dependence in <i>in vivo</i> development	Yes	No	(38, 42, 44)
Cytokine needed to <i>in vitro</i> proliferation	IL-3	IL-4 in the presence	(43, 45-47)
		of IL-3 (mouse)	( - , - , ,
		SCF in presence	
		of IL-3 (rat)	
Sensitive to C48/80	No	Yes	(40, 48–50)
Activated by SP	No	Yes	(49, 51)
Inhibited by sodium cromoglycate	No	Yes	(42, 48, 50, 52

MC, mast cell; MMCs, Mucosal-type mast cells; CTMCs, Connective tissue-type mast cells; MCPT, mast cell protease; CPA, carboxypeptidase; C48/80, compound 48/80; SP, substance P; SCF, stem cell factor; IL, interleukin.

response by: i) cytokine secretion, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , that induces the migration of dendritic cells (DC) to draining lymph nodes or T cell proliferation; ii) exosome secretion containing class II major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and co-stimulatory molecules; iii) the formation of

immunological synapses with DC that facilitate the transfer of endosomal content and other molecules between both cells; and iv) presenting antigens and directly activating antigenexperienced T cell (100). This latter action is highly interesting, because it places MCs as important direct participants in the

 TABLE 2 | Main characteristics of MC types described in humans.

	MCT	MC <sub>TC</sub>	MCc	References
Distribution	Nasal and small intestinal mucosa, alveoli	Skin, small intestinal submucosa	Submucosa, mucosa of the stomach, submucosa of the small intestine, mucosa of the colon	(41, 53, 54)
Size	9.2 µm	9.9 µm	Not reported	(55)
Proteases	Tryptase	Tryptase, Chymase, CPA3, Catepsine G, Granzyme B	Chymase	(54, 56)
Amines	Histamine	Histamine	Not reported	(37)
Proteoglycans	Chondroitin sulfate A, E and heparin	Chondroitin sulfate A, E and heparin	Not reported	(37, 41, 57)
T-cell dependence	Yes	No	Not reported	(58)
Sensitive to C48/80	No	Yes	Not reported	(42)
Activated by SP	No	Yes	Not reported	(42)
Inhibited by sodium cromoglycate	Yes	No	Not reported	(42, 59)

MC, mast cells; MC<sub>T</sub>, mast cell tryptase-type; MC<sub>TC</sub>, mast cell tryptase and chymase-type; MC<sub>C</sub>, mast cell chymase-type; CPA, carboxypeptidase; C48/80, compound 48/80; SP, substance P.

initiation of adaptive immunity. For example, co-culture of T cells with BMMCs caused T cell proliferation by FccRIdependent and FccRI-independent mechanisms, being the latter dependent on the MC secretion of TNF- $\alpha$  (101). In another study, human psoriatic skin biopsies showed an important infiltrate of IL-22<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that were found in contact with MCs (102). *In vitro*, human MCs were observed forming immunologic synapses with CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, inducing the expansion of Th22 and IL-22/interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ -producing Th cells (102). Finally, after FccRI or Toll-like receptor (TLR)4 activation, murine and human MCs upregulated the synthesis of molecules associated with antigen presentation, enabling the autologous memory T cell activation (103, 104).

Participation of MCs in responses against microbes occurs by direct interactions with microorganisms, and by recognition of products from the damaged tissue. MC responses can produce a direct antimicrobial effect and the recruitment and activation of effector cells (35, 63, 99). Direct interactions between MCs and pathogens, as in other immune cells, mainly occur via the activation of pattern-recognition-receptors (PRRs), while antibody-mediated interactions occur through Fc receptors. Evidence collected from distinct MC preparations has shown that they express all the main families of PRRs (105). Members of the TLR family (TLR1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9) have been detected by real-time PCR in murine MCs (106, 107). Also, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like and retinoic acid-inducible gene-I-like receptor families (108), together with the C-type lectin receptors and the Mas-related G protein-coupled receptors have been identified in cultured and/or in freshly isolated MCs from mice and humans (109).

The different roles played by MCs in the elimination of pathogens can be classified as follows: phagocytosis, formation of MC-derived extracellular traps (MCETs), and secretion of preformed and newly synthesized mediators. In the following sections, information about each one of those processes, together with the known signal transduction pathways involved, is presented.

## **Phagocytosis**

Distinct MC preparations have shown the capacity to internalize microbes by canonical cellular processes, although the details of all involved receptors and signaling cascades have not been fully described (110) (Figure 2A). In MCs, several phagocytosisinducing receptors have been described. Some of them activate the process through the direct recognition of pathogenassociated molecular patterns, such as TLR2 or the mannosylated protein CD48, whereas other receptors (like CR3 and FcyRI and FcyRII enable phagocytosis of opsonin-bound pathogens (111-113). Early evidence about phagocytosis in MCs was described in an opsonin-dependent manner in rat peritoneal MCs, where it was shown that sheep erythrocytes covered with IgG and C3b were actively phagocytosed (114). Later works showed that the phagocytosis in MCs also represented a mechanism of pathogen elimination. Human CBMCs engulfed and destroyed Gram-negative (Citrobacter freundii clinical isolate (CI)125, Klebsiella pneumoniae CI128) and Grampositive (Streptococcus faecium CI126, Staphylococcus aureus CI127) bacteria (115). This broad recognizing capacity was proposed to be mediated by specific antibodies and complement proteins. Once bacteria were attached to the surface of the cell, protoplasmic protrusions started to surround them (Figure 2B), and then, internalized bacteria could be observed in vacuoles together with a time-dependent decrease in their viability (Figure 2C).

MCs can internalize pathogens expressing the mannosebinding FimH from type I fimbriae such as *Escherichia coli*, with subsequent bactericidal activity through the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), mainly the superoxide anion (**Figure 2D**) (116, 117). The capacity of MCs to phagocytose microbes could be specific for certain MC populations or conditions, since it was also reported that some preparations of MCs, such as mice BMMCs were unable to phagocytose *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Listeria monocytogenes* (118). Recognition of FimH-expressing bacteria by MCs was mediated by the glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored molecule CD48 (115). When phagocytosis occurs, it is





assumed that phagocytic vacuoles are acidified, as the treatment with ammonium chloride reduced the microbicidal activity (116, 117) (Figure 2D). On the other hand, human CBMCs were shown to internalize S. aureus through a process mediated by CD48 and TLR2 receptors and dependent on alive bacteria and a functional cytoskeleton (119). In this case, S. aureus internalization was associated with increased survival of bacteria and the extracellular release of IL-8 and TNF-α. Nevertheless, in serum-free conditions the mechanism of FimH-expressing E. coli uptake by BMMCs was mediated through cellular caveolae, since intracellular bacteria were contained in chambers surrounded by caveolin (120). CD48 was co-localized with caveolin in the plasma membrane of the cell. This endocvtic route of E. coli internalization was distinct from the classical endosome-lysosome pathway, which might allow bacteria to remain in a viable state (121). Similarly, it was reported that internalization of Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans by murine BMMCs happens at different rates depending on whether opsonization was present or absent, being higher without opsonization (122). Whether A. actinomycetemcomitans is killed once internalized under each condition needs to be further investigated.

MCs also phagocyte and kill yeasts, which indicate that they may have an important role against fungal infections (123). Members of the family Candida spp. are common inhabitants of human skin and mucosal cavities, and they behave as opportunistic pathogens in superficial and systemic infections (124). Rat peritoneal MCs had discrete phagocytic activity on heat-killed Candida albicans; while yeast opsonization with rat serum increased the percentage of phagocytizing cells. Nevertheless, the percentage of killing of non-opsonized yeast was notably higher than those opsonized, which might suggest that extracellular killing capacity is more important than the one achieved intracellularly (113). The phagocytosis rate of C. albicans diminished when TLR2-deficient BMMCs were employed or an antagonistic antibody against Dectin-1 was used. Moreover, the killing capacity of murine BMMCs against C. albicans was found dependent on intracellular nitric oxide (NO) production (125).

A few studies have shown that once MCs have phagocytosed microbes, they can process microbial antigens for presentation to T cells. Using an assay in which a well-characterized T cell epitope was expressed within bacteria as a fusion protein, it was demonstrated that MCs are capable of processing bacterial antigens for presentation through class I MHC molecules to T cell hybridomas (126). Recently, MCs have been shown to take up and process both soluble and particulate antigens in an IgG opsonization- and IFN-y-independent manner, however, while OVA or particulate antigens can be internalized through different pathways, viral antigen capture by MCs was mainly mediated through clathrin and caveolin-dependent endocytosis but not through phagocytosis or micropinocytosis (104). MC secretory granules were used for antigen processing, although the specific proteases involved were not described and require further research. When MCs were stimulated with IFN-y, they expressed HLA-DR, HLA-DM as well as co-stimulatory molecules, which enable them to activate an antigen-specific recall response of  $CD4^+$  Th1 cells (104).

## **Extracellular Traps**

Since 2003, a few studies proposed direct and phagocytosisindependent antimicrobial activity of MCs against bacteria, although the precise mechanism was unclear. The cathelicidin LL-37, a broad-spectrum antimicrobial peptide (AMP) stored in MC granules, was implicated in the antimicrobial mechanism of the cell against group A Streptococcus (GAS), proposing that its activity could be due to intracellular (after phagocytosis) or extracellular mechanisms (127). Furthermore, supernatants from cultured MCs were able to kill Citrobacter rodentium, indicating a possible extracellular antibacterial effect consistent with the cell capacity to produce AMPs (128). In 2008, four years after the description of extracellular trap (ET) formation by neutrophils (NETs) (129), it was demonstrated that MCs produced extracellular structures like NETs (named as MCETs) with antimicrobial activity (130). Those studies showed that the extracellular death of Streptococcus pyogenes (M23 serotype GAS) by MCs depended on the formation of MCETs, which consisted of a chromatin-DNA backbone decorated with histones, and specific granule proteins, such as tryptase and LL-37, that ensnared and killed bacteria. MCET formation was dependent on the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase activity and occurred 15 minutes after exposure of MCs to the bacteria. The inhibition of *S. pyogenes* growth was unaffected by treatment with the phagocytosis inhibitor cytochalasin D, ruling out the possibility that antimicrobial activity was mediated through the phagocytic uptake of S. pyogenes by the cells; although a closeness between both elements, the bacteria and the MC, was required. For the first time, MCET formation was described in HMC-1 cells and murine BMMCs as an antimicrobial mechanism in which DNA backbone embedded with granule components and histones forms a physical trap that catches pathogens into a microenvironment highly rich in antimicrobial molecules (Figure 3).

ET formation by MCs was later described in response to other GAS strain (131), or to other extracellular bacteria. For example, by HMC-1 in contact with Pseudomonas aeruginosa (130), HMC-1 or BMMCs co-cultured with S. aureus (132), or BMMCs infected with Enterococcus faecalis (133). Bacteria entrapped in MCETs were killed (132, 133). Although the cathelicidin LL-37 has been designated as an important weapon in the antimicrobial activity of MCs against E. faecalis (133), its direct activity as part of MCET structure still needs to be investigated. In good correlation, M1 protein of GAS was an important contributor to the MCET response in HMC-1 cell infection, but at the same time it conferred resistance to MCETdependent killing of the bacteria, at least in part by binding/ sequestration of the cathelicidin LL-37 (134). Concerning intracellular bacteria, the cell line HMC-1 stimulated with L. monocytogenes also released MCETs that contain histone, tryptase and  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase (135). ET formation in response to L. monocytogenes was also a NADPH- and ROS-



dependent process and, interestingly, the inhibition of the bacterial growth was partly due to  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase. The role of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase in MCETs still requires to be elucidated.

As aforementioned, most studies in mouse MCs or human MC cell lines about MCET formation describe a ROS-dependent process, that resembles neutrophil cell death involving ETs (suicidal ET formation), a phenomenon that occurs through chromatin decondensation and disruption of the nuclear membrane (see Figure 3A1) (136). Interestingly, cathelicidin LL-37 can reach the nucleus and disrupt the nuclear membrane during NET generation in human and murine neutrophils (137). In this context, cultured human LAD2 cells treated with a high concentration of exogenous LL-37 released nucleic acids extracellularly, suggesting that LL-37 is permeabilizing both nuclear and plasma membranes; nevertheless, no ET-like structures were released (138). As LL-37 can disrupt membranes both in bacterial and normal eukaryotic cells (139, 140), the role of LL-37 in the formation of MCETs through the alteration of cellular membranes remains to be elucidated. Recently, using a flow cytometry assay, it was described that L. monocytogenes, and to a lesser extent S. aureus, induced DNA externalization without intracellular ROS production in human primary MCs (141). Induction of DNA release by L. monocytogenes occurred in live human MCs, and the process was associated with a low level of cell death and the presence of tryptase in extracellular DNA (see Figure 3A2). A similar type of vital ET release had been described in neutrophils in response to S. aureus, in which the release of DNA occurred by fusion of DNA-containing vesicles with the plasma membrane (142). Although more research is needed, the rapid and vital release of MCETs more adequately matches the long-living nature of these tissue-resident mature cells.

MCs express different PRRs and produce inflammatory mediators traditionally involved in the antiviral, antifungal and antiparasitic response in other cells (62, 105, 143). Nevertheless, few studies have investigated the participation of MCETs in host protective response against these non-bacterial pathogens. Concerning fungi, human CBMCs and HMC-1 cells released MCETs decorated with tryptase upon C. albicans stimulation (144). Although ET formation increased over the time of fungal infection, it affected only a very low percentage of cells. C. albicans was ensnared in DNA backbone, but in contrast to results reported in bacteria, fungal viability was not affected by MCETs as shown by DNase treatment assays. In accordance, MCETs might be contributing to the physical restriction of the fungal pathogen. On the other hand, promastigotes of Leishmania tropica (causing cutaneous Leishmaniasis) and Leishmania donovani (causing visceral Leishmaniasis) triggered ET release from mouse peritoneal MCs and RBL-2H3 cell line, the greatest effect being in response to the last parasite (145). These MCETs were composed of DNA, histones and tryptase, and apart from killing the promastigotes they might physically restrict the parasite dissemination (145). As tryptase has been involved in the killing of other parasites, such as Toxoplasma tachyzoites (146), it would be interesting to investigate its role in Leishmania promastigotes death induced by MCETs.

Many questions are still unanswered regarding the formation of MCETs and its role on MC responses to pathogens; among them, whether MCETs might restrict the inflammatory response by breaking down cytokines and chemokines, as described in NETs (147). In this context, *in vitro* assays showed that MC tryptase and chymase could cleave a lower number of cytokines and chemokines than neutrophil proteases (148–150). Interestingly, when combining both MC proteases, three of the most potent Th2 cytokines (thymic stromal lymphopoietin, IL-18 and IL-33) were cleaved (149), indicating that *in vivo* they might exert a potent negative feedback loop or a regulatory role on anti-parasitic immunity.

# Activation of MCs: Release of Pre-Formed and Newly Synthesized Mediators

MCs release immunoregulatory compounds in a specific and intensity-dependent fashion (82, 151). The best-characterized ones are the pre-formed mediators stored in secretory lysosomes (granules), such as histamine, proteases, TNF- $\alpha$ , serotonin and heparin, among others. Secretion of those mediators can occur in a massive event known as anaphylactic degranulation, which is highly dependent on intracellular Ca2+ increase and cytoskeletal rearrangements (152). Degranulation involves the fusion of granule membrane to plasmatic membrane and the extrusion of almost all granule content in few minutes (152). On the other hand, presynthesized mediators can also be secreted by a process named piecemeal degranulation, that implies the gradual emptiness of granule content without apparent fusion of granule membrane with the plasma membrane, by a yet poorly described mechanism [Reviewed in (152)]. Also, the triggering of different receptors leads to de novo synthesis and secretion of lipid mediators by enzymes localized in plasma membrane, and the activation of transcription factors that induce the synthesis of mRNAs encoding cytokines, chemokines, angiogenic and growth factors. De novo synthesized cytokines and chemokines seem to be secreted by budding vesicles from the Golgi apparatus utilizing elements of the constitutive secretory pathway (63, 152), and, recently, secretion of exosomes containing regulatory molecules has also been described in MCs (reviewed in 153). Anaphylactic degranulation occurs through compound exocytosis within 15 to 90 seconds upon cell activation when triggered with a high intensity stimulus (such as the crosslinking of FceRI receptor), while piecemeal degranulation can take up to 30 minutes after stimulation of TLR4 receptor (99, 154, 155). On the other hand, the production of *de novo*-synthesized mediators can take from few minutes (arachidonic acid derivatives) to several hours (cytokines or growth factors). The best described mechanism of activation of MC is that triggered by the high intensity activation of the FceRI receptor. Antigen-dependent crosslinking of the IgE molecules bound to FceRI receptors causes the activation and autophosphorylation of Lyn and Fyn kinases. In turn, those kinases phosphorylate the immunotyrosine-activationmotifs located in the  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  subunits of the receptor, creating docking sites for the amplifying kinase Syk. This event initiates a complex signaling cascade that leads to degranulation, synthesis of derivatives of arachidonic acid and activation of transcription factors that will give origin to cytokine mRNAs (156, reviewed in 157). Interestingly, a new mechanism of MC degranulation was described in 2015, and was named antibody-dependent degranulatory synapse (ADDS). This process was mediated by crosslinking of FceRI or FcyRIIA receptors by cell-bound IgE or IgG and it resulted in a polarized and sustained release or exposure of the granule content at the contact surface between both cells. The signalling pathways activated in ADDS involved tyrosine and the

phosphorylation of the adapter protein LAT (linker for activation of T cells), together with the clearance of cortical actin (146).

In this section, we will review the preformed and *de novo-*synthetized mediators released by MCs in response to bacteria, viruses, parasites, and fungi, making emphasis on their antimicrobial activity.

### Bacteria

In 1996, it was demonstrated the crucial role of MCs against acute bacterial infections. Echtenacher et al. showed that MCdeficient mice were significantly more sensitive to experimental acute bacterial peritonitis induced by cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) than normal mice of the same strain (158). Intraperitoneal reconstitution of MC-deficient mice with matured and differentiated BMMCs before peritonitis induction protected animals from its harmful effects. Nevertheless, the administration of anti-TNF- $\alpha$  antibodies immediately after CLP suppressed these protective effects. Simultaneously, it was reported an increased number of alive K. pneumoniae in MCdeficient mice after their intraperitoneal or intranasal inoculation, compared to that found in wild-type animals (159). These results revealed the role of MCs in the elimination of the bacteria, which is dependent on their activation by FimH, the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and the subsequent neutrophil chemoattraction. MCs were mainly related to an early (15 min) peak of TNF- $\alpha$  production after antigen administration (160). Using MC protease (MCPT)4deficient mice with CLP of moderate severity, it was demonstrated that MCPT-4 enhanced survival of animals, at least in part by degrading peritoneal TNF- $\alpha$  at the initial stage of the infection that subsequently avoided an excessive recruitment of neutrophils to peritoneal cavity (161). The protective role of MCs in acute bacterial infection was further demonstrated using another model of genetically modified MC mouse, such as C57BL/6 tg/tg, that shows a diminution in the number of MCs in the skin and the peritoneal cavity due to a mutation that affects the expression of the microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (162). MCs also played important roles in the elimination of bacteria in other tissues, such as during the early stage of otitis media caused by Haemophilus influenzae (163), as well as in pneumonia caused by Mycoplasma pulmonis (164), decreasing the seriousness of the pathology.

Bacterial activation of MCs is accomplished by a variety of stimuli (**Figure 4**). Gram-positive bacteria such as *Streptococcus equi* (165), or peptidoglycan from *S. aureus* (166) directly activated the cell through TLR2 receptor, although the participation of heterodimers composed by TLR2 and other members of the TRL family of receptors was not evaluated in the mentioned studies. Moreover, Gram-negative bacteria, such as *E. coli*, seemed to trigger TLR4 by its interaction with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (166), or through CD48 *via* FimH protein (167). Mycobacteria, such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, caused CD48 aggregation and histamine secretion (168). On the other hand, complement proteins were essential in MCs activation during bacterial infections (169), mainly through the CD21/CD35 (CR2/CR1) receptors (170). In addition, *P.* 



**FIGURE 4** | MC-released mediators and signaling pathways elicited by bacteria. After recognition by specific pattern recognition receptors (i.e. TLR4 or TLR2) or specialized receptors (i.e. CR1, CR2 and CD48), distinct signaling cascades are activated in MCs causing the synthesis and secretion of numerous pro-inflammatory mediators, such as leukotriene B4 (LTB4), leukotriene C4 (LTC4), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , interleukins (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-12, IL-13, granulocyte and monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and preformed mediators, such as β-hexosaminidase and histamine. The better-known signaling pathway activated by bacteria is the MyD88-dependent cascade leading to cytokine gene transcription after NFxB and AP-1 activation, that requires classical IKK and MAPK (ERK1/2, P38 and JNK) phosphorylation, together with the recruitment of Huntingtin. IKK also contributes to TNF secretion through the phosphorylation of SNAP23 and the ERK1/2-dependent TACE activation. Still controversial, TLR4 is internalized upon LPS recognition and translocated to acidic endo-lysosomes, inducing IFN- $\beta$  releasing. A particular mechanism has been described for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, that promotes endothelin (ET)-1 release from surrounding cells, triggering ETA receptor in MCs. In this scheme solid-lines indicate known pathways and dashed-lines show reported effects of receptor triggering in cases where signaling cascades have not been described. LPS, lipopolysaccharide; PGN, peptidoglycan.

aeruginosa mediated indirectly skin MC activation by the cutaneous production of endothelin-1, a protein that induces MC degranulation through  $ET_A$  receptors (171, 172). Nevertheless, it is important to highlight that after cell activation the mediators released are not always the same. Thus, BMMCs co-cultured with alive S. equi secreted high levels of chemokines such as CCL2/monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1, CCL7/MCP-3, CXCL2/macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-2a, CCL5/RANTES (regulated upon activation normal T-cell expressed and secreted), IL-4, IL-6, IL-12, IL-13 and TNF- $\alpha$ . The release of these mediators was activated by stimulation of TLR2 receptor and was dependent on cell-to-cell contact. Under those conditions, although cytokine release was significant, cells showed a reduced degranulation with a low release of histamine (165). Nevertheless, activation of BMMCs through TLR2 receptor by peptidoglycans from S.

*aureus* led to calcium mobilization and cell degranulation as well as *de novo* synthesis of cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, and IL-13, but not IL-1 $\beta$  (166). On the other hand, activation of BMMCs through TLR4 by LPS from *E. coli* did not induce degranulation or significant calcium release, although it triggered the *de novo* synthesis of cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-13 after activation of kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells transcription factor (also known as nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B, NF $\kappa$ B) (166). Since heterodimerization of TLR1 or TLR6 with TLR2 has been demonstrated in other cells with distinct consequences on signaling pathway activation (173, 174), further investigation is needed to gain insight into the detailed activation mechanisms of MCs by bacterial products through TLR receptors.

Evidence have shown that *in vitro* exposure of MCs to FimHexpressing *E. coli* generated a high release of LTB4 and LTC4 (175). Thus, the administration of a potent pharmacological LTsynthesis inhibitor reduced the differences in neutrophil influx and bacterial survival induced by intraperitoneal injection of E. coli between MC-deficient and MC-proficient (wild-type and MC-deficient but reconstituted) mice. Moreover, MCPT-6(-/-) mice, that lack the protease homologous to human tryptase  $\beta$ -1, lost their ability to eliminate K. pneumoniae from the peritoneal cavity; highlighting the role of this protease in the innate immune response against bacteria. That phenomenon was associated with early extravasation of neutrophils to the peritoneal cavity (176). Supporting these results, mouse MCPT-6 triggered the release of CXCL-2/MIP-2 from endothelial cells, a cytokine equivalent to human IL-8 that enhances the release of TNF- $\alpha$  from MCs (177, 178). Additionally, complement activation was essential in MC activation in response to bacterial infection. Particularly, C3 was associated with MC degranulation, TNF- $\alpha$  production, neutrophil infiltration, and bacterial elimination in the CLP model in C3-deficient mice (169). The anaphylatoxin C3a is a potent activator of connective tissue-type MCs, although C3a and related peptides are also shown to inhibit FccRI activation in mucosal-type MCs (179). Besides, C3b and C3bi mediate opsonin-dependent phagocytosis in MCs (111, 115), and C3d can activate MCs through CD21/CD35 (170). As human skin MCs can produce C3, process that can be up-regulated by various cytokines (180), and both tryptase and chymase can cleave C3 (181, 182), the participation of locally produced C3 in MC response to bacterial infection requires deeper investigation. Other MC-mediators have been implicated in antibacterial response. BMMCs co-cultured with macrophages inhibited the uptake and growth within macrophages of the Gram-negative bacteria Francisella tularensis. Both MC-deficient mice and IL-4R(-/-) mice showed greater susceptibility to infection with F. tularensis compared to normal animals, which point out their beneficial roles; although results showed that IL-4 is not mainly produced by MCs in pulmonary infection by F. tularensis (183). On the other hand, MC-derived IL-6 improved mice survival following K. pneumoniae lung infection and sepsis (184). In line with these results, it was demonstrated the important role of MCs in the healing of skin wounds infected with P. aeruginosa; specifically, MCs protected mice from skin infection by secreting IL-6 that induced anti-bacterial effects on keratinocytes by upregulating the production of AMPs (185). Moreover, it was demonstrated in vitro that M. tuberculosis activated cultured MCs, triggering the release of preformed mediators such as histamine and  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase, and newly synthesized cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  (168). Concerning proteases, the mouse MCPT-4 was associated with the protective role of MCs during urinary tract infections caused by uropathogenic E. coli and during the female lower genital tract infections caused by group B Streptococcus (GBS) in mice models (186, 187); in the first infectious condition by directly cleaving and activating caspase-1 that induced the death and shedding of bladder epithelial cells and in the last one by cleaving the host extracellular matrix protein fibronectin that diminished GBS adherence.

More recently, the antibacterial activity of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase was described. MC-deficient mice reconstituted or not with MCs without  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase ( $\beta$ -hexosaminidase(-/-) MCs) presented greater severity in symptoms and a higher rate of death due to intraperitoneal infection with Staphylococcus epidermidis, as compared to wild-type mice and MC-deficient mice reconstituted with  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase(+/+) MCs (188). Nevertheless,  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase absence did not change serum allergen-specific IgE levels neither lung infiltration of inflammatory cells in asthmatic animals (188). On the other hand, in vitro bacterial growth was inhibited with the addition of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase(+/+) MCs lysate, but not with that of  $\beta$ hexosaminidase(-/-) MCs. The authors suggested that  $\beta$ hexosaminidase together with lysozyme act by destroying the cell wall of S. epidermidis via degradation of peptidoglycans (188). However, the microbicidal effect of MC-derived  $\beta$ hexosaminidase cannot be extrapolated to other Gram-positive bacteria, as no effect was observed on S. aureus (188).

The existence of canonical PRR-triggered signal transduction cascades leading to NFKB and activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factors and the production of ROS (observed in macrophages and DC) has been confirmed in MCs and explains de novo synthesis of cytokines after challenge with bacterial products; in addition, distinctive pathways coupling PRRs to the secretion of pre-formed mediators seem to be quite specific for MCs (Figure 4). For example, triggering of TLR4 receptor led to the engagement of the myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88)-dependent signaling cascade that includes the activation of downstream molecules such as the TNF receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF6) and the IKB kinase (IKK) together with the nuclear translocation of p65 NF $\kappa$ B (166, 189). However, the TLR4-induced TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- $\beta$  (TRIF)-dependent signaling pathway leading to the secretion of IFN- $\beta$ , whereas broadly observed in macrophages and DC, was reported absent in MCs (190). The absence of this pathway is controversial, since recently, BMMCs showed to release IFN- $\beta$  after TLR4 induction via LPS and the internalization and translocation of the receptor to acidic endo-lysosomal compartments was a prerequisite for cytokine release (191). On the other hand, particular roles of IKK and the mitogen-activated kinase (MAPK) extracellular receptor kinase (ERK)1/2 were found in BMMCs activated through the TLR4 receptor, since those kinases participated in the piecemeal secretion of TNF- $\alpha$ through the phosphorylation of SNAP23 (soluble Nethylmaleimide sensitive factor attachment protein receptor-23) and the activation of the disintegrin/metalloprotease ADAM-17/TNF $\alpha$ -converting enzyme (TACE), respectively (192, 193). Also, Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization and activation of Lyn and Fyn kinases occurred in BMMCs after LPS-dependent TLR4 triggering (154, 189, 192). Finally, recent evidence indicated that the multifunctional protein Huntingtin was required for the activation of the ERK1/2-AP-1 axis after TLR4 triggering in BMMCs, contributing to the accumulation of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)-B mRNAs and secretion of those cytokines (194).

Regarding NOD-like receptors, although no particular signaling molecules were described in MCs and seems that the formation of inflammasomes and activation of NF $\kappa$ B follows the same pathways that those reported in other immune cells (105, 108), it was shown that those receptors were inducible in response to cathelicidin LL-37 and defensin hBD-2 (108) and were important for MC-microbe interactions leading to exocytosis of mediators. For example, the NOD2-specific agonist muramyl dipeptide promoted TNF- $\alpha$  secretion from MCs and, *in vivo*, a significant increase in NOD2 positive MCs was reported in colonic mucosal biopsies from Crohn's disease patients compared to those coming from ulcerative colitis or control biopsies (195).

### Virus

MCs present a diverse response against viruses (196). Studies on the pathogenesis of viruses in their natural hosts have increased our understanding about what happens in humans. In this regard, we can find many similarities in bovine respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection and its human homologous hRSV (197). Although, histopathological findings showed degranulation of MCs during infection by bovine RSV (198, 199), using in vitro models it was suggested that degranulation was indirectly induced by hRSV (200). The role of MCs on airway hyperreactivity was studied in the onset of viral infection in guinea pig, since it is a feasible model that resembles the observed signs in humans (201, 202). Parainfluenza virus 3 induced degranulation and histamine release in pulmonary MCs from guinea pig, which may represent a significant mechanism to provoke wheezing and asthma pathogenesis (202). Additionally, viral components can stimulate the synthesis and release of de novo mediators alone or in combination with degranulation (Figure 5). The extracellular version of protein Nef expressed in the early phase of infection of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) triggered the release of CXCL8/IL-8 and CCL3/MIP-1α through the CXCR4 receptor in MCs (203). Besides, the indirect activation of MCs during viral infection was documented. In patients affected by acute and chronic viral hepatitis B, C, A and E, the endogen superantigen Fv is produced in high concentrations by hepatocytes, and it induced the secretion of LTC4 or PGD2, as well histamine or tryptase, presumably by interacting with the variable domain of the IgE heavy-chain (204, 205). Although many of these mediators can contribute under certain circumstances to the physiopathology of viral infections, in this section we will focus on the data that have contributed to position the MCs as crucial elements of defense against viruses.

In vivo and in vitro murine models defined that vaccinia virus triggers MC degranulation by activating S1P2 receptor after binding of lipids of the viral membrane, generating the release of cathelicidin that abolished the virus infectivity (206). In this context, MC activation was dependent on the fusion of the virus envelope to cell membrane. In young mice susceptible to atopic dermatitis (AD), MC-derived cathelicidin was a determining factor to avoid eczema vaccinatum in response to vaccinia virus (207). In this regard, as vaccination with vaccinia virus is

contraindicated in AD patients, to define the role of MC-derived cathelicidin will allow to establish better strategies to prevent adverse reactions (207). The antiviral activity of AMPs was demonstrated against human influenza A virus (208), hRSV (209), Zika virus (210) and HIV (211). Concerning dengue virus (DENV), it was observed that DENV infection upregulated the transcription of CCL5/RANTES, CXCL12, CX3CL1/fractalkine, TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\alpha$  in RBL-2H3 cells (212). Besides, human MC cell lines infected with the DENV in the presence of specific antibodies selectively released chemokines such as CCL3/MIP-1α, CCL4/MIP-1β, CCL5/ RANTES, but not IL-8 or CXCL5 (213). These mediators might be involved in the mobilization of lymphocytes, or other immune cells, which favors the early response against the virus. In a recent study, using a cell line of human mature MCs directly exposed to DENV in an antibody-independent manner, it was evidenced that the virus does not replicate in MCs but triggers its degranulation, the synthesis of tryptase, chymase, PGs and LTs and up-regulates the transcription of genes associated with the antiviral response and the Th1-polarization (214). On the other hand, murine intradermal infection with the herpes simplex virus (HSV)-2 induced the synthesis of IL-33 by keratinocytes, that in turn activated the synthesis of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 by MCs, key cytokines in reducing the severity of the infection (215). The same protective effect was mediated by MCs in HSV-1 infection on the cornea; however, in this immune privileged environment the MCs controlled inflammation and viral replication by reducing the infiltration of polymorphonuclear cells (additional reservoirs of the HSV-1), probably due to changes in levels of chemoattractant (216). Thus, authors described that MCdeficient mice showed a decrease in the PGD2:12hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (12-HETES) ratio, and while PGD2 suppresses neutrophil chemotaxis and endothelial transmigration during acute inflammation, 12-HETES is a potent neutrophil chemoattractant that promotes increased vascular permeability. The increased expression of CXCL2/ MIP-2 $\alpha$  in the corneas of MC-deficient mice might be also facilitating the neutrophil influx during HSV-1 infection. Recently, it was shown that the human placental MCs and HMC-1 cell line were permissible to in vivo and in vitro Zika virus infection, respectively; in HMC-1 cells, viral infection triggered degranulation as well as the release of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-10, which might induce an optimal defense against the pathogen; however, the pro-inflammatory environment coupled with the viral replication in placental MCs suggest a role of the cell in vertical transmission (217). Then, many questions remain to be resolve about the role of MCs in defense against Zika virus.

Regarding receptors involved in MCs response to viruses, the cytosolic receptors participate in the increased expression of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , as well as type I IFNs, such as IFN- $\beta$  and Mx-2, as shown by BMMCs infected with the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) (118). It is important to mention that type I IFNs play critical roles in innate host defense against viral infections (218), since after binding to their receptors they activate the expression of hundreds of genes that promote an "antiviral state"



virus binds sphingosine-1-phosphate 2 (S1P2) receptor and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) to CXCR4, triggering signaling pathways leading to cathelicidin or CXCL8 and CCL3 chemokines release, respectively. Intracellular dengue virus (DENV) is probably recognized by RIG-1 and MDA5 and herpes simplex virus (HSV) directly or through the release of alarmin IL-33 by other cells lead to the secretion of cytokines and chemokines, together with the arachidonic acid derivatives prostaglandin 2 (PGD2) and 12-hydroxyeicosatetranoic acid (12-HETES). Fv endogen superantigen from hepatocytes infected by hepatitis viruses (HVs) promotes MC degranulation and the release of leukotriene C4 (LTC4) and prostaglandin D2 (PGD2) by a mechanism that seems to depend on the activation of FccRI receptor and calcium mobilization. Zika virus infection promotes MC degranulation and cytokine secretion. Finally, classical responses to viral compounds *via* TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9 receptors have been observed in MCs, that lead to the synthesis of interferon (IFN)- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$  through the activation of interferon regulatory factor (IRF)-7 and NFxB, and also to the release of tryptase and chymase. Solid-lines indicate known pathways and dashed-lines show reported effects of receptor triggering or MC-virus interactions, although specific signaling cascades remain to be described.

in cells (219). Transcripts for MDA5 and retinoic acid-inducible gene-1 were found up-regulated after the infection of MCs with DENV (212, 220) and with VSV, leading to the synthesis of IL-6, IFN- $\beta$  and IFN- $\alpha$  during VSV infection (221). The activation of the cell by viruses was also dependent on the TLR pathways (222). Activation of TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9 by their respective ligands, polyI:C (double-stranded (ds)RNA analog, TLR3 agonist), R:848 (synthetic TLR7 agonist), and CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (unmethylated consensus DNA sequences, TLR9 agonist), respectively, did not trigger degranulation, but induced the production of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, CCL5/RANTES, CCL3/MIP-1a and CXCL2/MIP-2 by murine fetal skin-derived MCs but not by murine BMMCs (223). Besides, a recent study showed that the stimulation of cultured human peripheral blood-derived MCs (PBMCs) with polyI:C or R848 induced MC activation and the release of chymase,

tryptase, IL-8, CCL3/MIP-1 $\alpha$  and CCL4/MIP-1 $\beta$  (224), highlighting the diverse functionality of MCs depending on their location and origin. In this context, cultured human PBMCs produced IFN- $\alpha$  through TLR3 in response to RSV, reovirus type 1 and polyI:C, but not TNF, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-5 or granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (225). The phosphorylation of TLR3 was demonstrated in murine MCs in response to Newcastle disease virus, causing antiviral response mediated by interferon stimulated gene 15 (ISG15), IFN- $\beta$ , CXCL10/IP-10 and CCL5/RANTES, which was a MC-degranulation independent process (226).

### Parasites

Mucosal and connective tissue MCs play important roles in defense against intestinal parasitosis, as it has been reported in infections with *Trichinella spiralis* (227, 228), *Strongyloides ratti* 

(229, 230) and Toxocara canis (231), among others (232, 233). In addition, the MCs seem to play a crucial role in the decrease in the fertility rate of Heligmosomoides polygyrus (234). One of the most important MC activation mechanisms in the immune response to parasites is mediated via FceRI and Fcy receptors and anti-parasite-specific IgE and IgG antibodies. This fact was demonstrated to H. polygyrus, Nippostrogylus brasiliensis, Strongyloides venezuelensis and T. spiralis infection using IgE (-/-), IL-4(-/-) null mice or MC-deficient mice infected with the parasite in the presence or absence of parasite immune seraderived IgE or IgG (235, 236). In addition, different models of MC-deficient mice showed that MCs play a more important role during the early phase of primary immune response than in the late phase or the secondary response against helminths (230, 237-239). Protection against Fasciola hepatica was associated with infiltration of eosinophils, IgE positive cells and MCs (240). The importance of parasite-specific IgE in the protective response to helminths was evidenced by the impaired protective activity in animals with high levels of non-specific IgE that compete for Fc receptors in MCs (241). In this context, degranulation, and histamine production, together with the release of distinct lipid mediators and cytokines was shown in studies where the interaction of MCs and parasites was addressed and the participation of IgE antibodies was identified (reviewed in 242). The pattern of secreted mediators and changes in MC morphology (i.e. degranulation) indicates that the full signaling cascade of FceRI, which has been characterized in response to allergens, is activated by parasites (235) (Figure 6). On the other hand, tachyzoites of Toxoplasma gondii opsonized with IgG specific to the SAG-1 surface antigen and co-cultured with MCs induced a polarized degranulation mediated by ADDS that resulted in tryptase-dependent parasite death. In addition, MCs were activated to produce CCL2/MCP-1, CCL4/MIP-1β, CXCL8/IL-8, GM-CSF, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (146).

IgE-independent MC activation mechanisms are not underestimated in parasitic diseases. Direct contact with alive Leishmania promastigotes induced degranulation of BMMCs, with the release of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase and TNF- $\alpha$  as well as de novo synthesis of the latter (243). Giardia intestinalis trophozoites and their total soluble extract increased tryptase expression and IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  production by a hybrid rat MC line, and the histamine secretion by peritoneal MCs (244); while the total soluble extract activates the release of IL-6 and tryptase, but not degranulation by BMMCs (245). In addition, it was identified that arginine deiminase from G. intestinalis, maybe directly or through its metabolic product citrulline, triggered the release of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  (246). Arginine deiminase is an immunodominant antigen that has been identified in vivo and in vitro after infection by the parasite (247-249). Giardia intestinalis infection induced mRNA expression of MC-derived proteases in intestinal tissue of mice. Besides, MMP-7 was one of the most up-regulated genes and together with NO played a key role in the decline of Giardia trophozoites. As MMP-7 is responsible for the production of  $\alpha$ -defensins in mice, the protective effect of MCs might be mediated by this AMP (250). Whether the cellular source of MMP-7 was MC or another cell it

needs to be elucidated. Interestingly, mature adult mice with deletion in chymase MCPT-4 gene (MCPT-4-/-) showed a significant weight reduction due to G. intestinalis infection, a characteristic clinical sign of the symptomatic giardiasis, as compared to MCPT-4+/+ mice; the weight loss was not observed in MCPT-4-/- or MCPT-4+/+ young mice (251). However, one of the proteases that becomes more important in defense against helminths is MCPT-1, since in its absence the intestinal permeability was blocked, affecting the expulsion mechanisms of T. spiralis (252). Additionally, experiments in MC-deficient mice suggested that the expulsion of the parasite was dependent on MC-derived IL-4 and TNF- $\alpha$  (253). Moreover, MC proteases were responsible for degrading the collagen-like proteins in the Necator americanus cuticle (254). However, as aforementioned, the diversity of parasites and the complex nature of their antigens generate a broad range of responses in the cells. For example, the secretory products of Entamoeba histolytica promoted the synthesis of IL-8 by MCs via a protease activated receptor-2 independent mechanism (255).

Interestingly, the interaction between parasites and MCs can also lead to the blockage of mediator secretion in this cell. For example, the ES-62 protein, secreted by the parasitic worm *Acanthochilonema viteae*, exhibited immunomodulatory activities lowering MC responsiveness (256). It was found that ES-62 inhibited the signaling from the IL-33/ST2 receptor independently on the phenotype of MCs. Interestingly, ES-62 sequestered MyD88 and then contributed to the downregulation of cytokine expression triggered by TLR4 and FccRI receptors (257). On the other hand, parasites may also modulate the activity of MCPTs. In this context, excretory-secretory proteins from *Giardia* increased the enzymatic activity of human and mouse tryptase (245).

#### Fungi

Although it is estimated that 1 billion people worldwide have some type of fungal infection (258), just a little is known about the release of mediators by MCs upon their activation by fungi. Concerning fungal PRRs, the C-type lectin receptor family member Dectin-1 and Mincle (macrophage inducible  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent lectin receptor) are expressed in MCs and their signaling systems seem to induce the secretion of proinflammatory mediators (259, 260). Curdlan, a Dectin-1 agonist, led to histamine release and degranulation, but not to the production of CCL2/MCP-1, IL-6 or LTC4 (261). On the other hand, Mincle seems to interact with  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  subunits of the FccRI receptor, activating Syk tyrosine kinase and leading to anaphylactic degranulation as observed with IgE/Ag complexes (262).

Dectin-1 (261, 263) and TLR2 (264) are the receptors mainly involved in the MC antifungal response, which becomes relevant considering that MC is the cell type with the higher expression of Dectin-1 in the skin (259). Zymosan possess  $\beta$ -glucans that are recognized by Dectin-1; however, zymosan can also interact with other receptors due to its complex composition, including heterodimers of TLR1 or TRL6 with TLR2 (265). Therefore, to analyze the specific activation of Dectin-1, ligands such as

52

curdlan are used (**Figure 7**). In RBL-2H3 cells, curdlan triggered MC degranulation (261) and caused the phosphorylation of phospholipase C $\gamma$ 2 and the expression of IL-3, CCL2/MCP-1, IL-13, IL-4 and TNF- $\alpha$  mRNAs in a Syk dependent manner, as the effect was abrogated when cells were preincubated with the Syk inhibitor R406 (263). Remarkably, curdlan-induced cytokine mRNAs, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-3 were also sensitive to the

MAPK/ERK kinase inhibitor PD98059, showing that several downstream proteins, such as ERK1/2, are shared between Dectin-1 and FccRI in MCs (263). Besides, zymosan induced *de novo* synthesis of LTs, GM-CSF and IL-1 $\beta$  by CBMCs in a dose-dependent manner (264). In human MCs, LTC4 was released in a Syk-dependent mechanism *via* Dectin-1 receptor (266); meanwhile, zymosan induced the generation of



FIGURE 6 | MC-released mediators and signaling pathways elicited by parasites. Distinct parasites promote IgE-dependent and IgE-independent activation patterns. When recognized by IgE, helminths induce full degranulation and cytokine secretion as it has been described for IgE/antigen complexes and the shown intracellular signaling cascade is inferred. Antigen-dependent crosslinking of the IgE molecules bound to FccRI monomers causes the activation and autophosphorylation of two Src family kinases, named Lyn and Fyn. In turn, those kinases phosphorylate the immunotyrosine-activation-motifs located in the  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$ subunits of the receptor, creating docking sites for the amplifying kinase Syk. Once recruited and activated, Syk phosphorylates membrane adapters that will conform two main protein complexes directing the signaling i) to the main events leading to calcium mobilization and degranulation, and ii) to secondary processes that contribute to sustain degranulation and induce migration and cytokine production. In order to trigger degranulation, the activated phospholipase C (PLC)y hydrolyses phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate to produce diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol 3-phosphate (IP3). Those messengers activate several isoforms of protein kinase C (PKC) and the IP3 receptor located in endoplasmic reticulum intracellular Ca2+ storages. The main final consequences of this signaling branch are the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> to the cytoplasm and the phosphorylation of distinct proteins involved in the fusion of granules to the plasma membrane. Crosslinking of FcyRIIA receptors by bound-cell IgGs results in a polarized and sustained release of the granule content at the contact surface between both cells, named antibodydependent degranulatory synapse (ADDS). ES-62 protein inhibits interleukin (IL)-33-dependent ST2 receptor activation and targets MyD88, which causes downregulation of cytokine synthesis triggered by TLR4 and FccRI receptors, while excretion/secretion (E/S) proteins from Giardia increase tryptase activity. IgEindependent activation is mediated by not well-defined receptors and causes histamine and cytokine secretion. In this figure, solid-lines indicate reported effects of receptor triggering or MC-parasite interactions, whereas dashed-lines show suggested activated pathways, assuming the activation of the high affinity IgE receptor (FccRI) in this cell type.



FIGURE 7 [MC-released mediators and signaling pathways in response to fungi. (A) Toll-like receptor (TLR)-2 and Dectin-1 (D1) receptors recognize yeasts. Triggering of D1 receptor leads to Syk kinase activation and the release of histamine and cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α, interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-3, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-13 chemokines such as CCL2, CCL3 and CCL4 and granulocyte and monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). Secretion of leukotriene (LT) B4 and LTC4 also has been described, together with the reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent activation of NFkB. Mannan recognition through TLR4 receptor induces histamine release and ROS, cysLTs, cytokine and chemokine production in a MyD88-, TRIF- and Syk-dependent manner. (B) Hyphae also seem to be recognized by TLR2 and D1 receptors that leads to cytokine secretion. Finally, *Aspergilius fumigatus* induces the release of β-hexosaminidase. Dashed-lines show unknown pathways activated in MC response to yeast and hyphae. Solid-lines show fragments of signaling pathways that have been experimentally demonstrated and dashed-lines show reported effects of receptor triggering or MC-fungi interactions. Central red dashed-line separate what is known about the interactions with the yeasts or hyphae of fungi.

intracellular ROS through Dectin-1, and to a lesser extent via TLR2, in murine BMMCs (267). BMMCs also released IFN- $\beta$  in response to zymosan via TLR2; where the internalization of the receptor and the endosome maturation were needed (191). Recently, the antifungal response of MCs through TLR4 receptor was demonstrated. Rat peritoneal MCs stimulated with mannan released histamine and produced cysLTs, ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , GM-CSF, TNF-a, CCL2/MCP-1 and CCL3, via TLR4 and dependent on MyD88, TRIF and Syk (268). Mannan also increased the gene expression of different immunoregulatory and pro-inflammatory cytokines and the chemoattraction of MCs. Interestingly, cell response to mannan was enhanced in IgE-sensitized MCs (268), which is important to be considered in the context of IgE-mediated allergic conditions, as ongoing fungal infection in humans could exacerbate and worsen the course of the allergic disease.

The release of mediators by MCs in response to dimorphic fungal pathogens can be different depending on their morphotype (yeast or mycelia) and state of maturation. Degranulation of RBL-2H3 cells was induced by Paracoccidioides brasiliensis yeasts and by mature Aspergillus fumigatus hyphae, but not by their immature hyphae or conidia (269, 270). Furthermore, a recombinant version of the PbPga1 protein from the yeast surface of P. brasiliensis, activated the release of IL-6 via NFKB (269). C. albicans also induced degranulation and de novo synthesis of various cytokines by MCs, although results are still controversial. Nieto-Patlán et al. reported that both yeasts and hyphae induce the production of TNF-α, IL-6, IL-10, CCL3/MIP- $1\alpha$  and CCL4/MIP-1 $\beta$  by BMMCs via Dectin-1, without ruling out TLR2 involvement; while IL-1 $\beta$  was only induced by yeast cells (271). Nevertheless, De Zuani et al., using the same MC type, showed that only yeasts triggered the release of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-13, and IL-4 (272). Likely, during the early response, C. albicans

extracellular destruction is mediated by products derived from the cell degranulation, such as histamine and TNF- $\alpha$  (113, 144, 271, 273), since the MC fungicidal activity was greater to extracellular than to engulfed yeasts (113, 144).

The MC response to *Sporothrix schenckii*, a dimorphic fungus that causes a chronic subcutaneous mycosis called sporotrichosis that affects both humans and animals, was also studied. Both *S. schenckii* conidia and yeast induced TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 secretion by peritoneal MCs without a significant degranulation, and while the former potentiated histamine secretion induced by C48/80, the latter activated MC through ERK1/2 pathway (274, 275). BMMCs also dose-dependent released IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-10 in response to *S. schenckii* yeasts (276). Although IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  are cytokines that play important roles in the defense against fungi (277–279), it is suggested their participation in the pathogenesis of *S. schenckii* infection, and this injurious side of the MCs will be discussed later.

# Modulation of Innate and Adaptive Response to Infection

Through the release of mediators, the MCs establish connections with various cells at the site of infection, supporting the microbicidal activity of macrophages and neutrophils. In addition, MCs participate in the chemoattraction of various pro-inflammatory cells to site of infection. During infection by Gram-negative bacteria, the production of TNF-α, LTs and mouse MCPT-6 participated in neutrophil chemoattraction (159, 160, 175, 176). Additionally, *de novo* production of TNF- $\alpha$  and GM-CSF by MCs was implicated both in the recruitment of neutrophils and the improvement of their phagocytic activity and ROS generation in a model of acute lung inflammation induced by LPS (280). Furthermore, MC-derived GM-CSF decreased neutrophil spontaneous apoptosis (280), and MC-derived IL-6 improved bacterial killing by neutrophils (184). Studies performed in histidine decarboxylase(-/-) mice and infected with M. tuberculosis showed that MC-derived histamine mediated the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6, as well as suppressed the Th1 response, prompting an inflammatory pathology (281). On the other hand, during viral infection, MCs usually produce a series of chemokines that modulate the migration of cells associated to antiviral activity. The chemoattraction of NK and NKT cells in a MC-dependent fashion at the site of DENV infection was associated with MC expression of CCL5/RANTES, CXCL12, CX3CL1/fractalkine, TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\alpha$  (212). While the production of CXCL8/IL-8 by CBMCs after exposure to mammalian reovirus serotype 3 led to the chemoattraction of NK cells (282). In helminth infection, mouse MCPT-6 was associated with eosinophil chemoattraction in an IgEdependent manner (283). In addition, HMC-1 cells infected with C. albicans induced the recruitment of neutrophils, probably due to the increase in IL-8 synthesis (144). Interestingly, a recent study in MCdeficient mice showed that MCs participate in the resolution of zymosan-induced inflammation by promoting the efferocytosis mediated by macrophages, possibly through IL-4 and CXCL1 secretion (191).

In the context of the adaptive immune response, the products secreted by MCs recruit DC precursors, promote the influx of

monocyte-derived DCs, activate DCs for antigen presentation and induce their mobilization to draining lymph nodes. In response to peptidoglycans or Gram-positive bacteria, MCs activated skin Langerhans cells, which leads to an increase in the number of these cells at the draining lymph nodes (284). It is known that histamine favors the capture of antigens, the cross-presentation of DCs, the expression of costimulatory molecules by DCs and the induction of Th-differentiation profiles (285, 286). Thus, the histamine secreted during infection by activated MCs might be modulating DC response. In this sense, the histamine receptor (HR)2 expressed by DCs was involved in the attraction of plasmacytoid DCs to draining lymph nodes in response to the pathogen (284). Furthermore, the administration of MC-derived exosomes containing exogenous antigens and heat shock proteins to naive mice enhanced specific humoral responses and induced phenotypic and functional maturation of DC both in vivo and in vitro (287). Likewise, MC granules exocytosed in response to LPS were captured intact by dermal DCs, promoting the maturation and migration of DC to the lymph nodes and improving the priming of T cells; the TNF embedded in exocytosed MC granule was partially responsible for these effects (288). Besides, TNF released by MCs in mice infected with E. coli increased the expression of E-selectin in local blood vessels, facilitating the recruitment of DC to the site of infection (289). Furthermore, activation of murine MCs through TLR3-polyI:C induced CCL5/ RANTES, CCL4/MIP-1β and keratinocyte-derived chemokine production, triggering the recruitment of CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes (226). MCs also interact directly with CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes by presenting antigen via MHC molecules class I, and induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes to produce IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and CCL3/MIP-1 $\alpha$ . At the same time, they regulate the cytotoxic activity of CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes by increasing their degranulation and up-regulating granzyme expression. This effect is enhanced when MCs are activated via PRR, by LPS or polyI:C (290). The presentation of antigens to CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes by MCs is not ruled out, since in vitro stimulation of murine MCs with LPS and IFN-y or in vivo with LPS or Leishmania major induced the expression of MHC class II and costimulatory molecules (103). The just-mentioned in vitro experiments showed that MCs via MHC II can reactivate antigen-experienced CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes and antigen-specific T regulatory (Treg) cells, over naïve T cells. In this sense, it was demonstrated using longitudinal intravital multiphoton microscopy and DC/MC double reporter mice, that after cell-tocell contact DCs transferred class II MHC proteins to dermal MCs in the context of skin inflammation (291); although this DC-to-MC communication exacerbated the subsequent T-cell driven skin inflammation and promoted T cell survival, more studies are needed to clarify the physiological impact of this phenomenon. Finally, there is a cross-communication between MCs and Treg lymphocytes. The adoptive transfer of in vitro-stimulated CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg cells to mice with polymicrobial sepsis increased the number of peritoneal MCs and the production of TNF- $\alpha$ , in addition to improving bacterial elimination and animal survival (292). In addition, histamine released by BMMCs activated by FccRI cross-linking inhibited the suppressive activity of CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg cells through the HR1 receptor, probably due to the

reduction in the expression level of CD25 and Foxp3 (293). Despite the discoveries made so far concerning MC-Treg intercommunication (294–296) there are still many questions to be resolved in the setting of the antimicrobial response.

## DETRIMENTAL ROLES OF MAST CELLS DURING ANTIMICROBIAL RESPONSE

Different studies support that under a high microbial load in the body, the uncontrolled secretory response of MCs can contribute to the development of a pathological conditions. In this sense, while MCs showed a protective role in CLP mice models that caused moderate peritonitis, the MC response was detrimental in severe peritonitis with a high bacterial load, leading to an increase in animal mortality (297). Using MC-deficient mice  $(W^{sh}/W^{sh})$ intraperitoneally engrafted with either wild-type MCs or TNFdeficient MCs, it was shown that MC-derived TNF contributes to the deleterious effects of MCs after severe CLP induction or after intraperitoneal inoculation of S. typhimurium. In these experimental conditions, MCs might be susceptible to activation by bacteria carried within the blood stream, and the resulting release of mediators could potentially have lethal effects on the host as they quickly reach the blood vessels due to perivascular location of MCs (298), resulting in severe systemic effects. Accordingly, when animals with CLP were administered with the MC stabilizer sodium cromoglycate clinical manifestations of sepsis were attenuated and there was an improved mice survival by preventing splenocyte apoptosis and the consequent increase in serum levels of the high mobility group box-1 alarmin, suggesting that MCs contribute to systemic inflammation during sepsis (299). The functional importance of MC systemic degranulation during infection was evaluated by compartmentspecific MC reconstitution in W<sup>sh</sup>/W<sup>sh</sup> mice with CLP-induced septic peritonitis. This study demonstrated that while MC reconstitution only at the peritoneal cavity improved the survival of animals, MC reconstitution both at the peritoneal and systemic levels decreased animal survival (300). In addition, systemically reconstituted animals with IL-6(-/-) BMMCs improved survival compared to those reconstituted with IL-6(+/+) BMMCs, suggesting that degranulation and IL-6 release from MCs located distant to the site of infection play a detrimental role during CLPinduced infection (300). A later study described a potential mechanism of indirect harmful participation of MCs during severe peritonitis, which was mediated by the early release of preformed IL-4, achieving immunosuppressive effects on the ability of macrophages to phagocytose bacteria (301). A similar double-face behavior of MCs has been described in DENV infection. Localized MC response to DENV might protect the host by recruiting key cells involved in virus clearance and by limiting the number of cellular targets to viral infection (212, 302). On the other hand, granule particles released extracellularly by virus-infected skin MCs contained DENV and could disseminate and propagate the infection in mice through lymph (303). This newly proposed mechanism of virus spreading is in accordance with the described interaction between DENV envelope proteins and heparin (304). Concerning dengue pathology, the MC

participation in the vascular loss induced during viral infection in severe states of disease was reported. In experimental models of systemic DENV infection using a virus CI, MC mediators able to modulate vascular endothelium, such as the mice chymase MCPT-1, were elevated in serum (305). Chymase levels were also increased in serum of dengue fever and dengue hemorrhagic fever patients as compared to healthy controls (305). Two indicators of vascular leaking, dye leakage into tissues and hematocrit levels, were decreased in MC-deficient mice, and recovered after MC reconstitution. Besides, this study confirmed the involvement of MCs and LTs in dengue-induced vascular permeability using the MC-stabilizing compound cromolyn and ketotifen and the antagonist of LT receptor montelukast (214, 305). Besides chymase and LTs, MC-derived serotonin was also recently implicated in thrombocytopenia in a severe model of dengueinduced disease (306); thus, the potential of MCs as a therapeutic target to limit dengue vasculopathy or thrombocytopenia should be evaluated in clinical trials. According to results in peritonitis and DENV infection models, while local and immediate MC activation during infection seems to be beneficial, sustained, and systemic activation may not be.

In tuberculosis, it is speculated that TNF- $\alpha$  released by MCs might play a role in the formation of the mycobacterial granuloma, which results in latent disease that can be reactivated later in life (115, 307). A correlation between MCs number and granuloma formation has been described. Analyzing lymph nodes from patients with tuberculous lymphadenitis, MC number was positively correlated with the number of granulomas and the number of multinucleated giant cells (308). The data about MCs in leprosy, a chronic dermatoneurological granulomatous disease caused by Mycobacterium leprae, are controversial. Most of the studies indicate an increased number of MCs in skin biopsies of lepromatous lesions, in comparison with other leprosy forms (309-311), except for one study in which a higher dermal MC number was found around granulomas in skin biopsies from patients with tuberculoid or mild-borderline leprosy in comparison to lepromatous leprosy biopsies (312). A more recent study showed that there is a greater amount of degranulated versus intact MCs and a predominance of tryptase positive versus chymase positive MCs in the skin of leprosy patients, independently of leprosy form and reactional episodes (313). These data suggest that MC derived mediators can perpetuate inflammation during M. leprae infection, and MC tryptase might be exerting detrimental effects on tissue structure and remodeling in leprosy lesions, as it has mitogenic activity on fibroblasts and increases type I collagen production (69). In support of this notion, an association between collagen increase and tryptase-rich MC density in the epineurium of leprous nerves was described (314). Whether MC response contribute to immunity or disease pathogenesis in chronic granulomatous diseases remains to be deeply studied.

Data also suggest that MCs develop harmful roles during antimicrobial response when the infection is associated with a pre-existing inflammatory disorder. Skin colonization with *S. aureus* was associated with worsening of the inflammatory process linked to AD (315). Among *S. aureus* exotoxins,  $\delta$ toxin can activate MC degranulation in an IgE- and allergen-

MC Responses to Pathogens

independent manner (316). In experimental models of AD, mice colonized with wild-type S. aureus developed higher IgE levels and a more severe inflammatory skin disease than mice inoculated with the bacterium deficient in  $\delta$ -toxin. Strikingly, in MC-deficient mice  $(W^{sh}/W^{sh})$  inoculated with the wild-type S. aureus the level of IgE and the intensity of skin inflammation induced by epicutaneous sensitization was decreased in comparison with wild-type mice, but the severity of the skin disease was restored upon adoptive transfer of MCs into the skin of  $W^{sh}/W^{sh}$  mice (316). As different studies show an indispensable role of MCs in the pathogenesis of experimental AD induced by epicutaneous sensitization (317, 318), these results suggest that MC activation by S. aureus in the setting of AD exacerbates the pre-existing inflammatory and atopic process. However, more research is needed in this field as it was also suggested protective effects or no participation of MCs in spontaneous AD-like disease or inflammation developed by genetically modified mice (319, 320). M. sympodialis infection is also related to the exacerbation of the inflammatory response in AD. MCs responded to M. sympodialis, but the response was higher when cells were obtained from patients with AD than those derived from healthy donors (259). Malassezia extract induced the production of LTs by sensitized and nonsensitized MCs, the degranulation and production of CCL2/ MCP-1 by sensitized cells, as well as improved IgE-dependent degranulation and impaired the synthesis of IL-6 via TLR2/ MyD88. These changes in the MC response induced by M. sympodialis might cause an exacerbated inflammatory response in patients with AD (260). Similarly, MCs are implicated in the pathogenesis of gastritis. An increased MC density was found in mucosa biopsy from subjects with gastritis, and the number was even higher in Helicobacter pylori-infected gastric mucosa specimens (321). While MCs in H. pylori-infected gastric mucosa showed degranulation, no findings of degranulation were seen in the normal stomach (322). These data suggest that MC response to H. pylori infection might be exacerbating the inflammatory response underlying gastritis, as a positive correlation between MC density and intensity of inflammation was described (321). According to all these studies, MC hyperactivation by recurrent infections in the context of an inflammatory disorder can exacerbate pathological tissue damage.

MCs also play crucial roles in the pathogeny associated with some infectious diseases, such as that caused by viruses. It was described that the gp120 glycoprotein of HIV-1, characterized as a superantigen that interacts with the heavy chain of IgE, triggers the release of proinflammatory, angiogenic and lymphangiogenic mediators from human lung MCs (323). As serum IgE levels were elevated in subjects with HIV infection compared to controls (324, 325), this study was the first approach to decipher the possible involvement of MC mediators in chronic lung diseases, that are prevalent among HIV patients (326–328). Besides, human MC progenitors can be HIV infected and retain the virus with their maturation (329). MC participation as a virus reservoir is of great impact on pathology as they are long-lived cells, abundant at viral replication sites and chemoattracted in response to HIV antigens, resistant to the virus cytotoxic effects, and able to contribute to HIV transmission (330-332). In this line, MC precursors cultured in vitro from fetal or adult CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitors co-expressed CD4, CXCR4, and CCR5 and were susceptible to R5 tropism in viral infection, but only marginally susceptible to X4-HIV infection. When IgE-FceRI aggregation was induced by HIV gp120 or antigen from Schistosoma mansoni eggs, the expression of CXCR4 in MC precursors was up-regulated, increasing their susceptibility to X4 and R5X4 virus infection (333). These data suggest that HIV-positive individuals with pre-existing comorbid conditions associated with elevated levels of IgE, such as atopic diseases or helminth infections, may predispose to a predominant X4 virus phenotype, which has been associated with a more rapid progression to AIDS in infected individuals (334). In the same context of viral infections, it was reported that the activation of brain MCs was causative of worsening infection, morbidity, and mortality in a mice model of Japanese encephalitis virus infection (335). MCs are resident immune cells in the central nervous system that are strategically located near the blood-brain barrier and the neurovascular unit (336). Particularly, MC chymase was identified as the key mediator involved in the increase of permeability in the blood-brain barrier that promotes Japanese encephalitis virus neuroinvasion and neurological dysfunction (335). In addition, MC-deficient mice  $(W^{sh}/W^{sh})$  exhibited resistance to inflammatory disease induced by influenza A virus infection, suggesting that the histamine, LTs, cytokine and chemokine secreted by cultured MCs upon influenza A virus infection might be contributing to the excessive host immune response against the virus (337). Similarly, MC-deficient mice (both  $W^{sh}/W^{sh}$  and  $Sl/Sl^d$ ; the latter harbors deletions in the SCF coding region) showed reduced myocardial inflammation and necrosis, accompanied by an increase in animal survival, compared to normal mice after infection with the encephalomyocarditis virus. Histopathological severity of the myocardial lesions induced by the virus was significantly increased in MC-reconstituted animals, which indicates that MCs are participating in the pathogenesis of viral myocarditis (338). Besides viral diseases, MCs have been also implicated in the development of other infectious pathologies. As previously mentioned, MCs activated by yeast of S. schenckii secrete cytokines, mainly TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 (275, 276). Nevertheless, when tissue fungal dissemination was evaluated in rats infected with the fungus, the absence of functional MCs in the inoculation site reduced fungal dissemination and the setting of a more severe sporotrichosis (274). The MC contribution to sporotrichosis was recently corroborated using models of MC-depleted mice, and Sporothrix virulence was linked to MC cytokine production and the latter to disease activity in patients with sporotrichosis (276).

MCs have been described as potential reservoirs for different pathogens. S. aureus promoted its internalization within skin MCs during infection to avoid the extracellular antimicrobial activities (132). S. aureus responded to stress imposed by extracellular antimicrobial weapons released by MCs by upregulating  $\alpha$ -hemolysin and other fibronectin-binding proteins. The former was involved in S. aureus internalization within MCs (339). Particularly, the interaction between bacterial  $\alpha$ hemolysin and ADAM10 of MCs and the subsequently

MC Responses to Pathogens

activated signaling induced the up-regulation of \$1-integrin expression on MCs, which mediated S. aureus internalization through a pathway different from the normal phagocytic one. Bacterial  $\alpha$ -hemolysin was also involved in bacterial survival within the MCs (339). Through hiding within MCs, staphylococci not only avoid clearance but also establish an infection reservoir that could contribute to a chronic carriage. In the same context, it was shown that E. coli was up-taken by mice BMMCs in antibody deficient conditions upon FimH-CD48 interaction through a mechanism mediated by caveolae (120). In macrophages, internalized E. coli by FimH employing a similar caveolar endocytic pathway showed an increased intracellular survival as compared to opsonized bacteria internalized via antibody (340), which suggests that E. coli contained in MC caveolar chambers might be also avoiding intrinsic bactericidal activity bypassing phago-lysosomal fusion. However, bacteria viability inside MC caveolae needs a further demonstration, as an interaction of internalized caveolae with lysosomal compartment was described (341, 342).

The detrimental roles described to MC as a consequence of interaction with microbes are summarized in **Figure 8**; nevertheless, and before closing this section it is worthy to mention that it was reported the first evidence that MC response to an opportunistic pathogen might be associated with allergy onset. Gastrointestinal *Candida* colonization promotes sensitization against food antigens in mice, at least partly due to MC-mediated hyper-permeability in the gastrointestinal mucosa (343). Previous reports had positively associated *H. pylori* infection and the development of food allergy and AD by linking the infectious process with the inhibition of oral tolerance (344–

346). Recent works showed that the interaction of *C. albicans* with different MC types, i.e. mucosal or stromal MCs, induced different cytokine microenvironments which contributed respectively to barrier function loss, fungal dissemination, and inflammation or to increase mucosal immune tolerance in gastrointestinal or vulvovaginal candidiasis. The IL-9/MC axis was associated with this dual role of the cell (347, 348).

Finally, few works have suggested the MC participation in the development of both COVID-19 pathology and post-COVID syndrome (349, 350), although more studies are needed to demonstrate the direct implication of the cell in both conditions. An increased MC density was a distinguishing pathological feature in the lungs of COVID-19 patients compared to H1N1-induced pneumonia and control subjects (351), and the levels of chymase, tryptase and carboxypeptidase A3 were higher in serum from SARS-CoV-2 infected patients with generalized inflammation than in uninfected donors (224). Besides, a retrospective cohort study showed that famotidine intake by COVID-19 patients during hospitalization statistically reduced the risk of intubation or death (352). It was suggested that the principal famotidine mechanism of action for COVID-19 was targeting HR2 activity, and that the development of clinical COVID-19 involved dysfunctional MC activation and histamine release (353).

## **CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES**

MCs can respond to parasites, bacteria, viruses, and fungi. They perform different antimicrobial mechanisms, such as phagocytosis, ET formation and the release of granular content or *de novo* 



synthesized mediators. MC mediators efficiently initiate the recruitment of additional innate effector cells crucial to pathogen clearance, such as neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages, NK cells, NKT cells, or eosinophils. MCs are also associated with the regulation of the adaptive response developed in response to the invading pathogen by directly promoting T-cell activation or by modulating the migration and functionality of DCs.

However, the wide variety of MC mediators allow multifaceted effects, promoting host defense against pathogens on one hand but inducing damage to the host on the other. The outcome of MC response to pathogens seems to depend on the context in which the cell is activated, being able to entail protection or damage. The main factors involved in this dual role are the followings: *i*) the pathogen distribution, load, and location; *ii*) the compartment or organ in which the activated MC is located; *iii*) the previous existence of a pathological condition associated with the infection; *iv*) the potential use of MCs as a reservoir; and *v*) whether it is an acute or chronic infectious process. More research is needed to complete the signaling pathways described in MCs when responding to pathogen encounters and to identify the points of connection or the distinctive molecules among the pathways involved in phagocytosis, ET release and secretion of mediators (summarized in **Figure 9**). Also, future research should consider the possible pathogen-induced epigenetic changes that chronic infections could



**FIGURE 9** | Integrated responses of MCs to distinct pathogens. Distinct pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed in MCs directly recognize pathogens, promoting phagocytosis, extracellular traps (ETs) formation and the release of pre-formed and *de novo* synthesized mediators. Canonical signaling pathways described for PRRs have increased complexity in MCs, where PRR triggering leads not only to the activation of NFxB but also to the secretion of granule content by anaphylactic and piecemeal degranulation. MC activation is observed also as a secondary event after the production of mediators by other cells, which causes the amplification of the initial inflammatory response. On the other hand, IgE-mediated FccRI signaling cascade by parasites leads to a protective anaphylactic degranulation response that appears to require the activation of well-described signaling pathways participating in the allergic response. Finally, bacterial phagocytosis, ET release and secretion of mediators seem to be connected by mechanisms to be defined yet. Solid-lines indicate known signaling pathways, whereas dashed-lines indicate suggested pathways or reported effects triggered by receptor stimulation or interactions of MCs with pathogens. LPS, lipopolysaccharide; PGN, peptidoglycan.

induce in MCs, inducing long-term alterations in their phenotype that could modify the response from protective one to detrimental. With that information, it will be possible to suggest potential therapeutic intervention strategies directed not only to generate immune protection or resolve inflammation but also to limit or avoid tissue damage in those infectious scenarios in which the MC plays harmful roles.

The high incidence of infections with fatal outcomes in humans and the goal that we are facing of developing new treatments, as many bacteria have generated resistance to antibiotics (354–360), highlight the importance of generating knowledge about MC response to the infection process. Animal models are mostly used to evaluate the immune response to pathogenic agents as they induce immunological responses homologous to humans, although several differences are present. Therefore, mechanisms demonstrated to MCs during antimicrobial scenario in animals need to be proved to occur in humans, to later propose potential therapies aid to modulate MC activity.

## REFERENCES

- Crivellato E, Beltrami CA, Mallardi F, Ribatti D. Paul Ehrlich's Doctoral Thesis: A Milestone in the Study of Mast Cells. *Br J Haematol* (2003) 123(1):19–21. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04573.x
- Komi EAD, Wöhrl S, Bielory L. Mast Cell Biology at Molecular Level: A Comprehensive Review. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol (2020) 58(3):342–65. doi: 10.1007/S12016-019-08769-2
- Cooper PH, Stanworth DR. Isolation of Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells in High Yield and Purity. Methods Cell Biol (1976) 14:365–78. doi: 10.1016/S0091-679x(08)60496-3
- Cabado AG, Vieytes MR, Botana LM. Rat Pleural and Peritoneal Mast Cells Stimulated at Different Cellular Levels: Difference in and Influence of Purification Media. Int Arch Allergy Immunol (1993) 100:234–9. doi: 10.1159/000236417
- Jensen BM, Swindle EJ, Iwaki S, Gilfillan AM. Generation, Isolation, and Maintenance of Rodent Mast Cells and Mast Cell Lines. *Curr Protoc Immunol* (2006) Chapter 3:Unit 3.23. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.Im0323s74
- Ekoff M, Strasser A, Nilsson G. Fcepsilonri Aggregation Promotes Survival of Connective Tissue-Like Mast Cells But Not Mucosal-Like Mast Cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(7):4177–83. doi: 10.4049/Jimmunol.178.7.4177
- Benedé S, Cody E, Agashe C, Berin MC. Immune Characterization of Bone Marrow-Derived Models of Mucosal and Connective Tissue Mast Cells. *Allergy Asthma Immunol Res* (2018) 10(3):268–77. doi: 10.4168/Aair.2018.10.3.268
- Westerberg CM, Ullerås E, Nilsson G. Differentiation of Mast Cell Subpopulations From Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells. J Immunol Methods (2012) 382(1-2):160–6. doi: 10.1016/J.Jim.2012.05.020
- Andersen HB, Holm M, Hetland TE, Dahl C, Junker S, Schiøtz PO, et al. Comparison of Short Term In Vitro Cultured Human Mast Cells From Different Progenitors - Peripheral Blood-Derived Progenitors Generate Highly Mature and Functional Mast Cells. J Immunol Methods (2008) 336 (2):166–74. doi: 10.1016/J.Jim.2008.04.016
- Passante E. Mast Cell and Basophil Cell Lines: A Compendium. *Methods Mol Biol* (2014) 1192:101–13. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1173-8\_8
- Passante E, Frankish N. The RBL-2H3 Cell Line: Its Provenance and Suitability as a Model for the Mast Cell. *Inflamm Res* (2009) 58(11):737–45. doi: 10.1007/S00011-009-0074-Y
- Kulka M, Metcalfe DD. Isolation of Tissue Mast Cells. Curr Protoc Immunol (2010) Chapter 7:Unit 7.25. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.Im0725s90
- Motakis E, Guhl S, Ishizu Y, Itoh M, Kawaji H, de Hoon M, et al. Redefinition of The Human Mast Cell Transcriptome by Deep-CAGE Sequencing. *Blood* (2014) 123(17):e58–67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-483792
- Akula S, Paivandy A, Fu Z, Thorpe M, Pejler G, Hellman L. Quantitative In-Depth Analysis of the Mouse Mast Cell Transcriptome Reveals Organ-Specific Mast Cell Heterogeneity. *Cells* (2020) 9(1):211. doi: 10.3390/cells9010211

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MJ and ES conceived the review. MJ, DC-G, LC-D, MP-R, CG-E, and ES wrote de manuscript and designed the figures. MP-R drew the figures. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **FUNDING**

This work was supported by Autonomous University of Aguascalientes (grant PIBB20-1 to ES) and by Conacyt (grant CF-2019-51488 to CG-E).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All figures were created with BioRender.com.

- Kitamura Y, Go S, Hatanaka K. Decrease of Mast Cells in W/Wv Mice and Their Increase by Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Blood* (1978) 52(2):447–52. doi: 10.1182/blood.V52.2.447.bloodjournal522447
- Grimbaldeston MA, Chen CC, Piliponsky AM, Tsai M, Tam SY, Galli SJ. Mast Cell-Deficient W-Sash C-Kit Mutant Kit W-Sh/W-Sh Mice as a Model for Investigating Mast Cell Biology In Vivo. Am J Pathol (2005) 167(3):835–48. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62055-X
- Feyerabend TB, Weiser A, Tietz A, Stassen M, Harris N, Kopf M, et al. Cre-Mediated Cell Ablation Contests Mast Cell Contribution in Models of Antibody- and T Cell-Mediated Autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2011) 35 (5):832–44. doi: 10.1016/J.Immuni.2011.09.015
- Dudeck A, Dudeck J, Scholten J, Petzold A, Surianarayanan S, Köhler A, et al. Mast Cells are Key Promoters of Contact Allergy That Mediate the Adjuvant Effects of Haptens. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):973–84. doi: 10.1016/J.Immuni.2011.03.028
- Lilla JN, Chen CC, Mukai K, Benbarak MJ, Franco CB, Kalesnikoff J, et al. Reduced Mast Cell and Basophil Numbers and Function in Cpa3-Cre; Mcl-1fl/Fl Mice. *Blood* (2011) 118(26):6930–8. doi: 10.1182/Blood-2011-03-343962
- 20. Nakano T, Sonoda T, Hayashi C, Yamatodani A, Kanayama Y, Yamamura T, et al. Fate of Bone Marrow-Derived Cultured Mast Cells After Intracutaneous, Intraperitoneal, and Intravenous Transfer Into Genetically Mast Cell-Deficient W/Wv Mice. Evidence That Cultured Mast Cells Can Give Rise to Both Connective Tissue Type and Mucosal Mast Cells. J Exp Med (1985) 162:1025–43. doi: 10.1084/jem.162.3.1025
- Kitamura Y, Shimada M, Hatanaka K, Miyano Y. Development of Mast Cells From Grafted Bone Marrow Cells in Irradiated Mice. *Nature* (1977) 268 (5619):442–3. doi: 10.1038/268442a0
- Födinger M, Fritsch G, Winkler K, Emminger W, Mitterbauer G, Gadner H, et al. Origin of Human Mast Cells: Development From Transplanted Hematopoietic Stem Cells After Allogeneic Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Blood* (1994) 84 (9):2954–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V84.9.2954.bloodjournal8492954
- Gentek R, Ghigo C, Hoeffel G, Bulle MJ, Msallam R, Gautier G, et al. Hemogenic Endothelial Fate Mapping Reveals Dual Developmental Origin of Mast Cells. *Immunity* (2018) 48(6):1160–71.e5. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2018.04.025
- 24. Li Z, Liu S, Xu J, Zhang X, Han D, Liu J, et al. Adult Connective Tissue-Resident Mast Cells Originate From Late Erythro-Myeloid Progenitors. *Immunity* (2018) 49(4):640–53.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.09.023
- Weitzmann A, Naumann R, Dudeck A, Zerjatke T, Gerbaulet A, Roers A. Mast Cells Occupy Stable Clonal Territories in Adult Steady-State Skin. J Invest Dermatol (2020) 140(12):2433–41.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2020.03.963
- Agis H, Willheim M, Sperr WR, Wilfing A, Krömer E, Kabrna E, et al. Monocytes Do Not Make Mast Cells When Cultured in the Presence of SCF.

Characterization of the Circulating Mast Cell Progenitor as a C-Kit+, CD34+, Ly-, CD14-, CD17-, Colony-Forming Cell. J Immunol (1993) 151(8):4221-7.

- Kempuraj D, Saito H, Kaneko A, Fukagawa K, Nakayama M, Toru H, et al. Characterization of Mast Cell-Committed Progenitors Present in Human Umbilical Cord Blood. *Blood* (1999) 93(10):3338–46. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V93.10.3338.410k05\_3338\_3346
- Huang H, Li Y, Liu B. Transcriptional Regulation of Mast Cell and Basophil Lineage Commitment. Semin Immunopathol (2016) 38(5):539–48. doi: 10.1007/S00281-016-0562-4
- 29. Valent P, Akin C, Hartmann K, Nilsson G, Reiter A, Hermine O, et al. Mast Cells as a Unique Hematopoietic Lineage and Cell System: From Paul Ehrlich's Visions to Precision Medicine Concepts. *Theranostics* (2020) 10 (23):10743–68. doi: 10.7150/Thno.46719
- Ochi H, Hirani WM, Yuan Q, Friend DS, Austen KF, Boyce JA. T Helper Cell Type 2 Cytokine-mediated Comitogenic Responses and CCR3 Expression During Differentiation of Human Mast Cells In Vitro. J Exp Med (1999) 190 (2):267–80. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.2.267
- Kirshenbaum AS, Goff JP, Semere T, Foster B, Scott LM, Metcalfe DD. Demonstration That Human Mast Cells Arise From a Progenitor Cell Population That is CD34(+), c-Kit(+), and Expresses Aminopeptidase N (CD13). *Blood* (1999) 94(7):2333–42. doi: 10.1182/blood.V94.7.2333.419k30\_2333\_2342
- 32. Schernthaner GH, Hauswirth AW, Baghestanian M, Agis H, Ghannadan M, Worda C, et al. Detection Oof Differentiation- and Activation-Linked Cell Surface Antigens on Cultured Mast Cell Progenitors. *Allergy* (2005) 60 (10):1248–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2005.00865.x
- Okayama Y, Kawakami T. Development, Migration, and Survival of Mast Cells. Immunol Res (2006) 34(2):97–115. doi: 10.1385/IR:34:2:97
- 34. Levi-Schaffer F, Austen KF, Gravallese PM, Stevens RL. Coculture of Interleukin 3-Dependent Mouse Mast Cells With Fibroblasts Results in a Phenotypic Change of The Mast Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1986) 83 (17):6485–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.17.6485
- Galli SJ, Tsai M. Mast Cells: Versatile Regulators of Inflammation, Tissue Remodeling, Host Defense and Homeostasis. J Dermatol Sci (2008) 49(1):7– 19. doi: 10.1016/J.Jdermsci.2007.09.009
- Vogel P, Janke L, Gravano DM, Lu M, Sawant DV, Bush D, et al. Globule Leukocytes and Other Mast Cells in the Mouse Intestine. *Vet Pathol* (2018) 55 (1):76–97. doi: 10.1177/0300985817705174
- Heib V, Becker M, Taube C, Stassen M. Advances in the Understanding of Mast Cell Function. *Br J Haematol* (2008) 142(5):683–94. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-2141.2008.07244.X
- Bienenstock J, Befus AD, Pearce F, Denburg J, Goodacre R. Mast Cell Heterogeneity: Derivation and Function, With Emphasis on the Intestine. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (1982) 70(6):407–12. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(82)90001-X
- Dahlin JS, Ding Z, Hallgren J. Distinguishing Mast Cell Progenitors From Mature Mast Cells in Mice. *Stem Cells Dev* (2015) 24(14):1703–11. doi: 10.1089/Scd.2014.0553
- Enerbäck L, Lundin PM. Ultrastructure of Mucosal Mast Cells in Normal and Compound 48-80-Treated Rats. *Cell Tissue Res* (1974) 150(1):95–105. doi: 10.1007/BF00220383
- Welle M. Development, Significance, and Heterogeneity of Mast Cells With Particular Regard to the Mast Cell-Specific Proteases Chymase and Tryptase. *J Leukoc Biol* (1997) 61(3):233–45. doi: 10.1002/Jlb.61.3.233
- Metcalfe DD, Baram D, Mekori YA. Mast Cells. *Physiol Rev* (1997) 77 (48):1033–79. doi: 10.1152/Physrev.1997.77.4.1033
- Nakahata T, Kobayashi T, Ishiguro A, Tsuji K, Naganuma K, Ando O, et al. Extensive Proliferation of Mature Connective-Tissue Type Mast Cells In Vitro. Nature (1986) 324(6092):65–7. doi: 10.1038/324065a0
- 44. Guy-Grand D, Dy M, Luffau G, Vassalli P. Gut Mucosal Mast Cells. Origin, Traffic, and Differentiation. J Exp Med (1984) 160(1):12–28. doi: 10.1084/ Jem.160.1.12
- 45. Tsuji K, Nakahata T, Takagi M, Kobayashi T, Ishiguro A, Kikuchi T, et al. Effects of Interleukin-3 and Interleukin-4 on the Development of "Connective Tissue-Type" Mast Cells: Interleukin-3 Supports Their Survival and Interleukin-4 Triggers and Supports Their Proliferation Synergistically With Interleukin-3. Blood (1990) 75(2):421–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V75.2.421.421
- Haig DM, Mcmenamin C, Redmond J, Brown D, Young IG, Cohen SD, et al. Rat IL-3 Stimulates the Growth of Rat Mucosal Mast Cells in Culture. *Immunology* (1988) 65(2):205–11. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-432015-4.50007-4

- 47. Haig DM, Huntley JF, Mackellar A, Newlands GF, Inglis L, Sangha R, et al. Effects of Stem Cell Factor (Kit-Ligand) and Interleukin-3 on the Growth and Serine Proteinase Expression of Rat Bone-Marrow-Derived or Serosal Mast Cells. *Blood* (1994) 83(1):72–83. doi: 10.1182/blood.V83.1.72.bloodjournal83172
- Goose J, Blair AM. Passive Cutaneous Anaphylaxis in the Rat, Induced With Two Homologous Reagin-Like Antibodies and Its Specific Inhibition With Disodium Cromoglycate. *Immunology* (1969) 16(6):749–60.
- 49. Ogasawara T, Murakami M, Suzuki-Nishimura T, Uchida MK, Kudo I. Mouse Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells Undergo Exocytosis, Prostanoid Generation, and Cytokine Expression in Response to G Protein-Activating Polybasic Compounds After Coculture With Fibroblasts in the Presence of C-Kit Ligand. J Immunol (1997) 158(1):393–404.
- Singh R, Kumar P, Gupta PP. Comparative Functional Characterization of Mouse Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells and Peritoneal Mast Cells in Response to Non-Immunological Stimuli. *Indian J Exp Biol* (2001) 39 (4):323–8.
- Shanahan F, Denburg JA, Fox J, Bienenstock J, Befus D. Mast Cell Heterogeneity: Effects of Neuroenteric Peptides on Histamine Release. *J Immunol* (1985) 135(2):1331–7.
- Pearce FL, Befus AD, Gauldie J, Bienenstock J. Mucosal Mast Cells. II. Effects of Anti-Allergic Compounds on Histamine Secretion by Isolated Intestinal Mast Cells. J Immunol (1982) 128(6):2481–6.
- Irani AM, Bradford TR, Kepley CL, Schechter NM, Schwartz LB. Detection of MCT and MCTC Types of Human Mast Cells by Immunohistochemistry Using New Monoclonal Anti-Tryptase and Anti-Chymase Antibodies. *J Histochem Cytochem* (1989) 37(10):1509–15. doi: 10.1177/37.10.2674273
- 54. Weidner N, Austen KF. Heterogeneity of Mast Cells at Multiple Body Sites. Fluorescent Determination of Avidin Binding and Immunofluorescent Determination of Chymase, Tryptase, and Carboxypeptidase Content. Pathol Res Pract (1993) 189(2):156–62. doi: 10.1016/S0344-0338(11)80086-5
- 55. Irani AA, Schechter NM, Craig SS, Deblois G, Schwartz LB. Two Types of Human Mast Cells That Have Distinct Neutral Protease Compositions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1986) 83(12):4464–8. doi: 10.1073/Pnas.83.12.4464
- Schwartz LB, Irani AM, Roller K, Castells MC, Schechter NM. Quantitation of Histamine, Tryptase, and Chymase in Dispersed Human T and TC Mast Cells. *J Immunol* (1987) 138(8):2611–5.
- Moon TC, St Laurent CD, Morris KE, Marcet C, Yoshimura T, Sekar Y, et al. Advances in Mast Cell Biology: New Understanding of Heterogeneity and Function. *Mucosal Immunol* (2010) 3(2):111–28. doi: 10.1038/Mi.2009.136
- Irani AM, Craig SS, Deblois G, Elson CO, Schechter NM, Schwartz LB. Deficiency of the Tryptase-Positive, Chymase-Negative Mast Cell Type in Gastrointestinal Mucosa of Patients With Defective T Lymphocyte Function. *J Immunol* (1987) 138(12):4381–6.
- Church MK, Hiroi J. Inhibition of Ige-Dependent Histamine Release From Human Dispersed Lung Mast Cells by Anti-Allergic Drugs and Salbutamol. Br J Pharmacol (1987) 90(2):421–9. doi: 10.1111/J.1476-5381.1987.Tb08972.X
- Rao KN, Brown MA. Mast Cells: Multifaceted Immune Cells With Diverse Roles in Health and Disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2008) 1143:83–104. doi: 10.1196/annals.1443.023
- Varricchi G, Rossi FW, Galdiero MR, Granata F, Criscuolo G, Spadaro G, et al. Physiological Roles of Mast Cells: Collegium Internationale Allergologicum Update 2019. Int Arch Allergy Immunol (2019) 179(4):247–61. doi: 10.1159/ 000500088
- Piliponsky AM, Acharya M, Shubin NJ. Mast Cells in Viral, Bacterial, and Fungal Infection Immunity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(12):2851. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20122851
- Wernersson S, Pejler G. Mast Cell Secretory Granules: Armed for Battle. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:7. doi: 10.1038/nri3690
- Maurer M, Taube C, Schröder NWJ, Ebmeyer J, Siebenhaar F, Geldmacher A, et al. Mast Cells Drive IgE-Mediated Disease But Might be Bystanders in Many Other Inflammatory and Neoplastic Conditions. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019) 144(4S):S19–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.07.017
- Weller K, Foitzik K, Paus R, Syska W, Maurer M. Mast Cells are Required for Normal Healing of Skin Wounds in Mice. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(13):2366–8. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-5837fje
- Silberstein R, Melnick M, Greenberg G, Minkin C. Bone Remodeling in W/ Wv Mast Cell Deficient Mice. *Bone* (1991) 12(4):227–36. doi: 10.1016/8756-3282(91)90068-t

- Kroner J, Kovtun A, Kemmler J, Messmann JJ, Strauss G, Seitz S, et al. Mast Cells are Critical Regulators of Bone Fracture-Induced Inflammation and Osteoclast Formation and Activity. J Bone Miner Res (2017) 32(12):2431–44. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.3234
- Lind T, Gustafson AM, Calounova G, Hu L, Rasmusson A, Jonsson KB, et al. Increased Bone Mass in Female Mice Lacking Mast Cell Chymase. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(12):e0167964. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167964
- 69. Garbuzenko E, Nagler A, Pickholtz D, Gillery P, Reich R, Maquart FX, et al. Human Mast Cells Stimulate Fibroblast Proliferation, Collagen Synthesis and Lattice Contraction: A Direct Role for Mast Cells in Skin Fibrosis. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2002) 32(2):237–46. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2002.01293.x
- Akers IA, Parsons M, Hill MR, Hollenberg MD, Sanjar S, Laurent GJ, et al. Mast Cell Tryptase Stimulates Human Lung Fibroblast Proliferation Via Protease-Activated Receptor-2. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2000) 278(1):L193–201. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2000.278.1.L193
- Bagher M, Larsson-Callerfelt AK, Rosmark O, Hallgren O, Bjermer L, Westergren-Thorsson G. Mast Cells and Mast Cell Tryptase Enhance Migration of Human Lung Fibroblasts Through Protease-Activated Receptor 2. Cell Commun Signal (2018) 16(1):59. doi: 10.1186/s12964-018-0269-3
- Cairns JA, Walls AF. Mast Cell Tryptase Stimulates the Synthesis of Type I Collagen in Human Lung Fibroblasts. J Clin Invest (1997) 99(6):1313–21. doi: 10.1172/JCI119290
- 73. Gruber BL, Kew RR, Jelaska A, Marchese MJ, Garlick J, Ren S, et al. Human Mast Cells Activate Fibroblasts: Tryptase Is a Fibrogenic Factor Stimulating Collagen Messenger Ribonucleic Acid Synthesis and Fibroblast Chemotaxis. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(5):2310–7.
- Cairns JA, Walls AF. Mast Cell Tryptase Is a Mitogen for Epithelial Cells. Stimulation of IL-8 Production and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Expression. J Immunol (1996) 156(1):275–83.
- Chen H, Xu Y, Yang G, Zhang Q, Huang X, Yu L, et al. Mast Cell Chymase Promotes Hypertrophic Scar Fibroblast Proliferation and Collagen Synthesis by Activating TGF-Beta1/Smads Signaling Pathway. *Exp Ther Med* (2017) 14 (5):4438–42. doi: 10.3892/etm.2017.5082
- Succar J, Giatsidis G, Yu N, Hassan K, Khouri R, Gurish MF, et al. Mouse Mast Cell Protease-4 Recruits Leukocytes in the Inflammatory Phase of Surgically Wounded Skin. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) (2019) 8(10):469–75. doi: 10.1089/wound.2018.0898
- Varricchi G, Loffredo S, Galdiero MR, Marone G, Cristinziano L, Granata F, et al. Innate Effector Cells in Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2018) 53:152–60. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.05.002
- Paduch R. The Role of Lymphangiogenesis and Angiogenesis in Tumor Metastasis. Cell Oncol (Dordr) (2016) 39(5):397–410. doi: 10.1007/s13402-016-0281-9
- Tonnesen MG, Feng X, Clark RA. Angiogenesis in Wound Healing. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc (2000) 5(1):40–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1087-0024.2000.00014.x
- Varricchi G, Granata F, Loffredo S, Genovese A, Marone G. Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis in Inflammatory Skin Disorders. J Am Acad Dermatol (2015) 73(1):144–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.03.041
- Adams RH, Alitalo K. Molecular Regulation of Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2007) 8(6):464–78. doi: 10.1038/ nrm2183
- Mukai K, Tsai M, Saito H, Galli SJ. Mast Cells as Sources of Cytokines, Chemokines, and Growth Factors. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 282(1):121–50. doi: 10.1111/imr.12634
- Heissig B, Rafii S, Akiyama H, Ohki Y, Sato Y, Rafael T, et al. Low-Dose Irradiation Promotes Tissue Revascularization Through VEGF Release From Mast Cells and MMP-9-Mediated Progenitor Cell Mobilization. J Exp Med (2005) 202(6):739–50. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050959
- 84. Ribatti D, Crivellato E, Candussio L, Vacca A, Nico B, Benagiano V, et al. Angiogenic Activity of Rat Mast Cells in the Chick Embryo Chorioallantoic Membrane Is Down-Regulated by Treatment With Recombinant Human Alpha-2a Interferon and Partly Mediated by Fibroblast Growth Factor-2. *Haematologica* (2002) 87(5):465–71.
- Sörbo J, Jakobsson A, Norrby K. Mast-Cell Histamine Is Angiogenic Through Receptors for Histamine1 and Histamine2. *Int J Exp Pathol* (1994) 75(1):43–50.
- de Souza Junior DA, Borges AC, Santana AC, Oliver C, Jamur MC. Mast Cell Proteases 6 and 7 Stimulate Angiogenesis by Inducing Endothelial Cells to Release Angiogenic Factors. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(12):e0144081. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0144081

- Magadmi R, Meszaros J, Damanhouri ZA, Seward EP. Secretion of Mast Cell Inflammatory Mediators Is Enhanced by CADM1-Dependent Adhesion to Sensory Neurons. *Front Cell Neurosci* (2019) 13:262. doi: 10.3389/fncel. 2019.00262
- Buhner S, Schemann M. Mast Cell-Nerve Axis With a Focus on the Human Gut. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2012) 1822(1):85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis. 2011.06.004
- Barbara G, Stanghellini V, De Giorgio R, Cremon C, Cottrell GS, Santini D, et al. Activated Mast Cells in Proximity to Colonic Nerves Correlate With Abdominal Pain in Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Gastroenterology* (2004) 126 (3):693–702. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2003.11.055
- Bischoff SC, Schwengberg S, Lorentz A, Manns MP, Bektas H, Sann H, et al. Substance P and Other Neuropeptides Do Not Induce Mediator Release in Isolated Human Intestinal Mast Cells. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2004) 16 (2):185–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2004.00502.x
- 91. van der Kleij HP, Ma D, Redegeld FA, Kraneveld AD, Nijkamp FP, Bienenstock J. Functional Expression of Neurokinin 1 Receptors on Mast Cells Induced by IL-4 and Stem Cell Factor. J Immunol (2003) 171(4):2074–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.4.2074
- Salinas E. Neuroimmune Biology of Mast Cells. Adv Neuroimmune Biol (2012) 3:57–72. doi: 10.3233/NIB-2012-012032
- Patel S, Rauf A, Khan H, Abu-Izneid T. Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone (RAAS): The Ubiquitous System for Homeostasis and Pathologies. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2017) 94:317–25. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.07.091
- 94. Reid AC, Silver RB, Levi R. Renin: at the Heart of the Mast Cell. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 217:123–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00514.x
- Mackins CJ, Kano S, Seyedi N, Schäfer U, Reid AC, Machida T, et al. Cardiac Mast Cell-Derived Renin Promotes Local Angiotensin Formation, Norepinephrine Release, and Arrhythmias in Ischemia/Reperfusion. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(4):1063–70. doi: 10.1172/JCI25713
- Silver RB, Reid AC, Mackins CJ, Askwith T, Schaefer U, Herzlinger D, et al. Mast Cells: A Unique Source of Renin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101 (37):13607–12. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403208101
- Stoyanov E, Uddin M, Mankuta D, Dubinett SM, Levi-Schaffer F. Mast Cells and Histamine Enhance the Proliferation of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cells. *Lung Cancer* (2012) 75(1):38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2011.05.029
- Oldford SA, Haidl ID, Howatt MA, Leiva CA, Johnston B, Marshall JS. A Critical Role for Mast Cells and Mast Cell-Derived IL-6 in TLR2-Mediated Inhibition of Tumor Growth. J Immunol (2010) 185(11):7067–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001137
- Moon TC, Befus AD, Kulka M. Mast Cell Mediators: Their Differential Release and The Secretory Pathways Involved. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:569. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00569
- 100. Schuijs MJ, Hammad H, Lambretch BN. Professional and "Amateur" Antigen-Presenting Cells in Type 2 Immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2019) 40:22–34. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.11.001
- 101. Nakae S, Suto H, Kakurai M, Sedgwick JD, Tsai M, Galli SJ. Mast Cells Enhance T Cell Activation: Importance of Mast Cell-Derived TNF. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2005) 102:6467–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501912102
- 102. Gaudenzio N, Laurent C, Valitutti S, Espinosa E. Human Mast Cells Drive Memory CD4+ T Cells Toward an Inflammatory IL-22+ Phenotype. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131:1400–7. doi: 10.16/j.jaci.2013.01.029
- 103. Kambayashi T, Allenspach EJ, Chang JT, Zou T, Shoag JE, Reiner SL, et al. Inducible MHC Class II Expression by Mast Cells Supports Effector and Regulatory T Cell Activation. J Immunol (2009) 182(8):4686–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803180
- 104. Lotfi-Emran S, Ward BR, Le QT, Pozez AL, Manjili MH, Woodfolk JA, et al. Human Mast Cells Present Antigen to Autologous CD4(+) T Cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141:311–21. doi: 10.16/j.jaci.2017.02.048
- 105. Agier J, Pastwińska J, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E. An Overview of Mast Cell Pattern Recognition Receptors. *Inflamm Res* (2018) 67(9):737–46. doi: 10.1007/s00011-018-1164-5
- 106. Saluja R, Delin I, Nilsson GP, Adner M. FceRI-Mediated Mast Cell Reactivity is Amplified Through Prolonged Toll-Like Receptor-Ligand Treatment. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(8):e43547. doi: 10.101371/journal.pone.0043547
- 107. Agier J, Zelechowska PL, Koslowska E, Brzezinska-Blaszczyk E. Expression of Surface and Intracellular Toll-Like Receptors by Mature Mast Cells. *Cent Eur J Immunol* (2016) 41(4):333–4. doi: 10.5114/ceji.2016.65131

- 108. Agier J, Rozalska S, Wiktorska M, Zelechowska P, Pastwinska J, Brzezinska-Blaszczyk EB. The RLR/NLR Expression and Pro-Inflammatory Activity of Tissue Mast Cells are Regulated by Cathelicidin LL-37 And Defensin Hbd-2. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8:11750. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30289-w
- 109. Hermans M, van Stigt AC, van de Meerendonk S, Schrijver B, vand Daele PLA, van Hagen PM, et al. Human Mast Cell Line HMC1 Expresses Functional Mas-Related G-Protein Coupled Receptor 2. Front Immunol (2021) 12:625284. doi: 10.3389/immu.2021.625284
- Mekori YA, Metcalfe DD. Mast Cell-T Cell Interactions. J Allergy Clin Immunol (1999) 104(3 Pt 1):517–23. doi: 10.1016/s0091-6749(99)70316-7
- 111. Féger F, Varadaradjalou S, Gao Z, Abraham SN, Arock M. The Role of Mast Cells in Host Defense and Their Subversion by Bacterial Pathogens. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23(3):151–8. doi: 10.1016/s1471-4906(01)02156-1
- 112. Matsuguchi T. Mast Cells as Critical Effectors of Host Immune Defense Dgainst Gram-Negative Bacteria. Curr Med Chem (2012) 19(10):1432–42. doi: 10.2174/092986712799828319
- 113. Trevisan E, Vita F, Medic N, Soranzo MR, Zabucchi G, Borelli V. Mast Cells Kill *Candida Albicans* in the Extracellular Environment But Spare Ingested Fungi From Death. *Inflammation* (2014) 37(6):2174–89. doi: 10.1007/ s10753-014-9951-9
- 114. Otani I, Conrad DH, Carlo JR, Segal DM, Ruddy S. Phagocytosis by Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells: Independence of IgG Fc-Mediated and C3-Mediated Signals. J Immunol (1982) 129(5):2109–12. doi: 10.1016/0161-5890(82)90123-7
- 115. Arock M, Ross E, Lai-Kuen R, Averlant G, Gao Z, Abraham SN. Phagocytic and Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Response of Human Mast Cells Following Exposure to Gram-Negative and Gram-Positive Bacteria. *Infect Immun* (1998) 66(12):6030–4. doi: 10.1128/IAI.66.12.6030-6034.1998
- Malaviya R, Ross EA, MacGregor JI, Ikeda T, Little R, Jakschik BA, et al. Mast Cell Phagocytosis of FimH-Expressing Enterobacteria. *J Immunol* (1994) 152 (4):1907–14.
- 117. Malaviya R, Ikeda T, Ross EA, Jakschik BA, Abraham SN. Bacteria-Mast Cell Interactions in Inflammatory Disease. Am J Ther (1995) 2(10):787–92. doi: 10.1097/00045391-199510000-00010
- 118. Dietrich N, Rohde M, Geffers R, Kröger A, Hauser H, Weiss S, et al. Mast Cells Elicit Proinflammatory But Not Type I Interferon Responses Upon Activation of TLRs by Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107 (19):8748–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912551107
- 119. Rocha-de-Souza CM, Berent-Maoz B, Mankuta D, Moses AE, Levi-Schaffer F. Human Mast Cell Activation by *Staphylococcus Aureus*: Interleukin-8 and Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Release and the Role of Toll-Like Receptor 2 and CD48 Molecules. *Infect Immun* (2008) 76(10):4489–97. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.00270-08
- 120. Shin JS, Gao Z, Abraham SN. Involvement of Cellular Caveolae in Bacterial Entry Into Mast Cells. *Science* (2000) 289(5480):785–8. doi: 10.1126/ science.289.5480.785
- 121. Shin JS, Abraham SN. Co-Option of Endocytic Functions of Cellular Caveolae by Pathogens. *Immunology* (2001) 102(1):2–7. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2567.2001.01173.x
- 122. Lima HG, Pinke KH, Gardizani TP, Souza-Júnior DA, Carlos D, Avila-Campos MJ, et al. Mast Cells Act as Phagocytes Against the Periodontopathogen Aggregatibacter Actinomycetemcomitans. J Periodontol (2013) 8(2):265-72. doi: 10.1902/jop.2012.120087
- 123. Jiao Q, Luo Y, Scheffel J, Zhao Z, Maurer M. The Complex Role of Mast Cells in Fungal Infections. *Exp Dermatol* (2019) 28(7):749–55. doi: 10.1111/ exd.13907
- Mayer FL, Wilson D, Hube B. Candida Albicans Pathogenicity Mechanisms. Virulence (2013) 4(2):119–28. doi: 10.4161/viru.22913
- Pinke KH, Lima HG, Cunha FQ, Lara VS. Mast Cells Phagocyte Candida Albicans and Produce Nitric Oxide by Mechanisms Involving TLR2 and Dectin-1. Immunobiology (2016) 221(2):220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.09.004
- 126. Malaviya R, Twesten NJ, Ross EA, Abraham SN, Pfeifer JD. Mast Cells Process Bacterial Ags Through a Phagocytic Route for Class I MHC Presentation to T Cells. *J Immunol* (1996) 156(4):1490–6.
- 127. Di Nardo A, Vitiello A, Gallo RL. Cutting Edge: Mast Cell Antimicrobial Activity is Mediated by Expression of Cathelicidin Antimicrobial Peptide. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(5):2274–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.5.2274
- 128. Wei OL, Hilliard A, Kalman D, Sherman M. Mast Cells Limit Systemic Bacterial Dissemination But Not Colitis in Response to *Citrobacter*

rodentium. Infect Immun (2005) 73(4):1978-85. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73. 4.1978-1985.2005

- Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Kill Bacteria. *Science* (2004) 303 (5663):1532–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1092385
- 130. von Köckritz-Blickwede M, Goldmann O, Thulin P, Heinemann K, Norrby-Teglund A, Rohde M, et al. Phagocytosis-Independent Antimicrobial Activity of Mast Cells by Means of Extracellular Trap Formation. *Blood* (2008) 111(6):3070–80. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-104018
- 131. Clark M, Kim J, Etesami N, Shimamoto J, Whalen RV, Martin G, et al. Group A Streptococcus Prevents Mast Cell Degranulation to Promote Extracellular Trap Formation. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:32. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.0032
- 132. Abel J, Goldmann O, Ziegler C, Höltje C, Smeltzer MS, Cheung AL, et al. Staphylococcus Aureus Evades the Extracellular Antimicrobial Activity of Mast Cells by Promoting Its Own Uptake. J Innate Immun (2011) 3(5):495– 507. doi: 10.1159/000327714
- 133. Scheb-Wetzel M, Rohde M, Bravo A, Goldmann O. New Insights Into the Antimicrobial Effect of Mast Cells Against Enterococcus faecalis. Infect Immun (2014) 82(11):4496–507. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02114-14
- 134. Lauth X, von Köckritz-Blickwede M, McNamara CW, Myskowski S, Zinkernagel AS, Beall B, et al. M1 Protein Allows Group A Streptococcal Survival in Phagocyte Extracellular Traps Through Cathelicidin Inhibition. *J Innate Immun* (2009) 1(3):202–14. doi: 10.1159/000203645
- 135. Campillo-Navarro M, Leyva-Paredes K, Donis-Maturano L, González-Jiménez M, Paredes-Vivas Y, Cerbulo-Vázquez A, et al. *Listeria Monocytogenes* Induces Mast Cell Extracellular Traps. *Immunobiology* (2017) 222(2):432–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.08.006
- Wartha F, Henriques-Normark B. ETosis: A Novel Cell Death Pathway. Sci Signal (2008) 1(21):pe25. doi: 10.1126/stke.121pe25
- 137. Neumann A, Berends ET, Nerlich A, Molhoek EM, Gallo RL, Meerloo T, et al. The Antimicrobial Peptide LL-37 Facilitates the Formation of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. *Biochem J* (2014) 464(1):3–11. doi: 10.1042/BJ20140778
- Dahl S, Anders E, Gidlöf O, Svensson D, Nilsson BO. The Host Defense Peptide LL-37 Triggers Release of Nucleic Acids From Human Mast Cells. *Peptides* (2018) 109:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2018.10.001
- 139. Oren Z, Lerman JC, Gudmundsson GH, Agerberth B, Shai Y. Structure and Organization of the Human Antimicrobial Peptide LL-37 in Phospholipid Membranes: Relevance to the Molecular Basis for Its Non-Cell-Selective Activity. *Biochem J* (1999) 341:501–13. doi: 10.1042/bj3410501
- 140. Johansson J, Gudmundsson GH, Rottenberg ME, Berndt KD, Agerberth B. Conformation-Dependent Antibacterial Activity of the Naturally Occurring Human Peptide LL-37. J Biol Chem (1998) 273(6):3718–24. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.273.6.3718
- 141. Garcia-Rodriguez KM, Bahri R, Sattentau C, Roberts IS, Goenka A, Bulfone-Paus S. Human Mast Cells Exhibit an Individualized Pattern of Antimicrobial Responses. *Immun Inflamm Dis* (2020) 8(2):198–210. doi: 10.1002/iid3.295
- 142. Pilsczek FH, Salina D, Poon KK, Fahey C, Yipp BG, Sibley CD, et al. A Novel Mechanism of Rapid Nuclear Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation in Response to Staphylococcus Aureus. J Immunol (2010) 185(12):7413–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000675
- Abraham SN, St John AL. Mast Cell-Orchestrated Immunity to Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(6):440–52. doi: 10.1038/nri2782
- 144. Lopes JP, Stylianou M, Nilsson G, Urban CF. Opportunistic Pathogen Candida albicans Elicits a Temporal Response in Primary Human Mast Cells. Sci Rep (2015) 5:12287. doi: 10.1038/srep12287
- 145. Naqvi N, Ahuja K, Selvapandiyan A, Dey R, Nakhasi H, Puri N. Role of Mast Cells in Clearance of Leishmania Through Extracellular Trap Formation. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):13240. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12753-1
- 146. Joulia R, Gaudenzio N, Rodrigues M, Lopez J, Blanchard N, Valitutti S, et al. Mast Cells Form Antibody-Dependent Degranulatory Synapse for Dedicated Secretion and Defence. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6174. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms7174
- 147. Schauer C, Janko C, Munoz LE, Zhao Y, Kienhöfer D, Frey B, et al. Aggregated Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Limit Inflammation by Degrading Cytokines and Chemokines. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(5):511–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.3547

- 148. Fu Z, Thorpe M, Alemayehu R, Roy A, Kervinen J, de Garavilla L, et al. Highly Selective Cleavage of Cytokines and Chemokines by the Human Mast Cell Chymase and Neutrophil Cathepsin G. J Immunol (2017) 198(4):1474– 83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601223
- 149. Fu Z, Akula S, Thorpe M, Hellman L. Highly Selective Cleavage of TH2-Promoting Cytokines by the Human and the Mouse Mast Cell Tryptases, Indicating a Potent Negative Feedback Loop on TH2 Immunity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(20):5147. doi: 10.3390/ijms20205147
- 150. Fu Z, Akula S, Thorpe M, Hellman L. Potent and Broad But Not Unselective Cleavage of Cytokines and Chemokines by Human Neutrophil Elastase and Proteinase 3. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(2):651. doi: 10.3390/ijms21020651
- Abdi Sahid MN, Kiyoi T. Mast Cell Activation Markers for In Vitro Study. J Immunoassay Immunochem (2020) 41:778–816. doi: 10.1080/15321819. 2020.1769129
- 152. Blank U, Madera-Salcedo IK, Danelli L, Claver J, Tiwari N, Sanchez-Miranda E, et al. Vesicular Trafficking and Signaling for Cytokine and Chemokine Secretion in Mast Cells. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:453. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00453
- Vukman KV, Forsonits A, Oszvald A, Toth EA, Buzás EI. Mast Cell Secretome: Soluble and Vesicular Components. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2017) 67:65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.02.002
- 154. Martín-Ávila A, Medina-Tamayo J, Ibarra-Sanchez A, Vazquez-Victorio G, Castillo-Arellano J-I, Hernandez-Mondragon A-C, et al. Protein Tyrosine Kinase Fyn Regulates TLR4-Elicited Responses on Mast Cells Controlling the Function of A PP2A/PKCα/β Signaling Node Leading to TNF Secretion. *J Immunol* (2016) 196:5075–88. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501823
- 155. Espinosa-Riquer ZP, Segura-Villalobos D, Ramirez-Moreno IG, Perez-Rodriguez MJ, Lamas M, Gonzalez-Espinosa C. Signal Transduction Pathways Activated by Innate Immunity in Mast Cells: Translating Sensing of Changes Into Specific Responses. *Cells* (2020) 9:2411. doi: 10.3390/cells9112411
- 156. Blank U, Huang H, Kawakami T. The High Affinity IgE Receptor: A Signaling Update. Curr Opin Immunol (2021) 72:51–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coi. 2021.03.015
- 157. Siraganian RP, de Castro RO, Barbu EA, Zhan J. Mast Cell Signaling: The Role of Protein Tyrosine Kinase Syk, Its Activation and Screening Methods for New Pathway Participants. *FEBS Lett* (2010) 584:4933–40. doi: 10.10167/ j.febslet.2010.08.006
- 158. Echtenacher B, Männel DN, Hültner L. Critical Protective Role of Mast Cells in a Model of Acute Septic Peritonitis. *Nature* (1996) 381(6577):75–7. doi: 10.1038/381075a0
- 159. Malaviya R, Ikeda T, Ross E, Abraham SN. Mast Cell Modulation of Neutrophil Influx and Bacterial Clearance at Sites of Infection Through TNF-Alpha. *Nature* (1996) 381(6577):77–80. doi: 10.1038/381077a0
- 160. Zhang Y, Ramos BF, Jakschik BA. Neutrophil Recruitment by Tumor Necrosis Factor From Mast Cells in Immune Complex Peritonitis. *Science* (1992) 258(5090):1957–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1470922
- 161. Piliponsky AM, Chen CC, Rios EJ, Treuting PM, Lahiri A, Abrink M, et al. The Chymase Mouse Mast Cell Protease 4 Degrades TNF, Limits Inflammation, and Promotes Survival in a Model of Sepsis. Am J Pathol (2012) 181(3):875–86. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.05.013
- 162. Jippo T, Morii E, Ito A, Kitamura Y. Effect of Anatomical Distribution of Mast Cells on Their Defense Function Against Bacterial Infections: Demonstration Using Partially Mast Cell-Deficient Tg/Tg Mice. J Exp Med (2003) 197(11):1417–25. doi: 10.1084/jem.20022157
- 163. Ebmeyer J, Furukawa M, Pak K, Ebmeyer U, Sudhoff H, Broide D, et al. Role of Mast Cells in Otitis Media. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 116(5):1129–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.07.026
- 164. Xu X, Zhang D, Lyubynska N, Wolters PJ, Killeen NP, Baluk P, et al. Mast Cells Protect Mice From *Mycoplasma Pneumonia*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2006) 173(2):219–25. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200507-1034OC
- 165. Rönnberg E, Guss B, Pejler G. Infection of Mast Cells With Live Streptococci Causes a Toll-Like Receptor 2- and Cell-Cell Contact-Dependent Cytokine and Chemokine Response. *Infect Immun* (2010) 78(2):854–64. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.01004-09
- 166. Supajatura V, Ushio H, Nakao A, Akira S, Okumura KO, Ra C, et al. Differential Responses of Mast Cell Toll-Like Receptors 2 and 4 in Allergy and Innate Immunity. J Clin Invest (2002) 109(10):1351–9. doi: 10.1172/ JCI14704

- 167. Malaviya R, Gao Z, Thankavel K, van der Merwe PA, Abraham SN. The Mast Cell Tumor Necrosis Factor α Response to FimH-Expressing Escherichia Coli is Mediated by the Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Anchored Molecule CD48. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1999) 96(14):8110–5. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.96.14.8110
- 168. Muñoz S, Hernández-Pando R, Abraham SN, Enciso JA. Mast Cell Activation by *Mycobacterium Tuberculosis*: Mediator Release and Role of CD48. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.11.5590
- 169. Prodeus AP, Zhou X, Maurer M, Galli SJ, Carroll MC. Impaired Mast Cell-Dependent Natural Immunity in Complement C3-Deficient Mice. *Nature* (1997) 390(6656):172–5. doi: 10.1038/36586
- 170. Gommerman JL, Oh DY, Zhou X, Tedder TF, Maurer M, Galli SJ, et al. A Role for CD21/CD35 and CD19 in Responses to Acute Septic Peritonitis: A Potential Mechanism for Mast Cell Activation. *J Immunol* (2000) 165 (12):6915–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.12.6915
- 171. Siebenhaar F, Syska W, Weller K, Magerl M, Zuberbier T, Metz M, et al. Control of *Pseudomonas Aeruginosa* Skin Infections in Mice is Mast Cell-Dependent. *Am J Pathol* (2007) 170(6):1910–6. doi: 10.2353/ajpath. 2007.060770
- 172. Magnúsdóttir EI, Grujic M, Bergman J, Pejler G, Lagerström MC. Mouse Connective Tissue Mast Cell Proteases Tryptase and Carboxypeptidase A3 Play Protective Roles in Itch Induced by Endothelin-1. J Neuroinflamm (2020) 17(1):123. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01795-4
- 173. Triantafilou M, Gamper FGJ, Hanston RM, Mouratis MA, Morath S, Hartung T, et al. Membrane Sorting of Toll-like Receptor (TLR)-2/6 and TLR2/1 Heterodimers at the Cell Surface Determines Heterotypic Associations With CD36 and Intracellular Targeting. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:31002–11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M602794200
- 174. Farhat K, Riekenberg S, Heine H, Debarry J, Lang R, Mages J, et al. Heterodimerization of TLR2 With TLR1 or TLR6 Expands the Ligand Spectrum But Does Not Lead to Differential Signaling. J Leuk Biol (2008) 83:692–701. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0807586
- 175. Malaviya R, Abraham SN. Role of Mast Cell Leukotrienes in Neutrophil Recruitment and Bacterial Clearance in Infectious Peritonitis. J Leukoc Biol (2000) 67(6):841–6. doi: 10.1002/jlb.67.6.841
- 176. Thakurdas SM, Melicoff E, Sansores-Garcia L, Moreira DC, Petrova Y, Stevens RL, et al. The Mast Cell-Restricted Tryptase mMCP-6 Has a Critical Immunoprotective Role in Bacterial Infections. J Biol Chem (2007) 282(29):20809–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M611842200
- 177. Mercer-Jones MA, Shrotri MS, Heinzelmann M, Peyton JC, Cheadle WG. Regulation of Early Peritoneal Neutrophil Migration by Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-2 and Mast Cells in Experimental Peritonitis. *J Leukoc Biol* (1999) 65(2):249–55. doi: 10.1002/jlb.65.2.249
- 178. Wang Y, Thorlacius H. Mast Cell-Derived Tumour Necrosis Factor-α Mediates Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-2-Induced Recruitment of Neutrophils in Mice. Br J Pharmacol (2005) 145(8):1062–8. doi: 10.1038/ sj.bjp.0706274
- Erdei A, Andrásfalvy M, Péterfy H, Tóth G, Pecht I. Regulation of Mast Cell Activation by Complement-Derived Peptides. *Immunol Lett* (2004) 92(1-2):39–42. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2003.11.019
- Fukuoka Y, Hite MR, Dellinger AL, Schwartz LB. Human Skin Mast Cells Express Complement Factors C3 and C5. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(4):1827–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202889
- 181. Lipitsä T, Naukkarinen A, Laitala J, Harvima IT. Complement C3 is Expressed by Mast Cells in Cutaneous Vasculitis and Is Degraded by Chymase. Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308(8):575–84. doi: 10.1007/s00403-016-1677-0
- 182. Lubbers R, van Essen MF, van Kooten C, Trouw LA. Production of Complement Components by Cells of the Immune System. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2017) 188(2):183–94. doi: 10.1111/cei.12952
- 183. Ketavarapu JM, Rodriguez AR, Yu JJ, Cong Y, Murthy AK, Forsthuber TG, et al. Mast Cells Inhibit Intramacrophage *Francisella Tularensis* Replication Via Contact and Secreted Products Including IL-4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(27):9313–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707636105
- 184. Sutherland RE, Olsen JS, McKinstry A, Villalta SA, Wolters PJ. Mast Cell IL-6 Improves Survival From Klebsiella Pneumonia and Sepsis by Enhancing Neutrophil Killing. J Immunol (2008) 181(8):5598–605. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.181.8.5598

- 185. Zimmermann C, Troeltzsch D, Giménez-Rivera VA, Galli SJ, Metz M, Maurer M, et al. Mast Cells Are Critical for Controlling the Bacterial Burden and the Healing of Infected Wounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2019) 116(41):20500–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1908816116
- 186. Choi HW, Bowen SE, Miao Y, Chan CY, Miao EA, Abrink M, et al. Loss of Bladder Epithelium Induced by Cytolytic Mast Cell Granules. *Immunity* (2016) 45(6):1258–12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.11.003
- 187. Gendrin C, Shubin NJ, Boldenow E, Merillat S, Clauson M, Power D, et al. Mast Cell Chymase Decreases the Severity of Group B Streptococcus Infections. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 142(1):120–9.e6. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2017.07.042
- 188. Fukuishi N, Murakami S, Ohno A, Yamanaka N, Matsui N, Fukutsuji K, et al. Does β-Hexosaminidase Function Only as a Degranulation Indicator in Mast Cells? The Primary Role of β-Hexosaminidase in Mast Cell Granules. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(4):1886–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302520
- 189. Avila M, Martinez-Juarez A, Ibarra-Sanchez A, Gonzalez-Espinosa C. Lyn Kinase Controls TLR4-Dependent IKK and MAPK Activation Modulating the Activity of TRAF-6/TAK-1 Protein Complex in Mast Cells. *Innate Immun* (2012) 18:648–60. doi: 10.1177/1753425911435265
- 190. Keck S, Müller I, Fejer G, Savic I, Tchaptchet S, Nielsen P-J, et al. Absence of TRIF Signaling in Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Murine Mast Cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:5478–88. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000458
- 191. Kornstädt L, Pierre S, Weigert A, Ebersberger S, Schäufele TJ, Kolbinger A, et al. Bacterial and Fungal Toll-Like Receptor Activation Elicits Type I IFN Responses in Mast Cells. *Front Immunol* (2021) 11:607048. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2020.607048
- 192. Madera-Salcedo I, Cruz S, Gonzalez-Espinosa C. Morphine Prevents Lipopolysaccharide-Induced TNF Secretion in Mast Cells Blocking IκB Kinase Activation and SNAP-23 Phosphorylation: Correlation With the Formation of a β-Arrestin/TRAF6 Complex. J Immunol (2013) 191:3400–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202658
- 193. Guzman-Mejia F, Lopez-Rubalcava C, Gonzalez-Espinosa C. Stimulation of Nachr7 Receptor Inhibits TNF Synthesis and Secretion in Response to LPS Treatment of Mast Cells by Targeting ERK1/2 and TACE Activation. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2018) 13:39–52. doi: 10.1007/s11481-017-9760-7
- 194. Pérez-Rodríguez MJ, Ibarra-Sánchez A, Román-Figueroa A, Pérez-Severiano F, González-Espinosa C. Mutant Huntingtin Affects Toll-Like Receptor 4 Intracellular Trafficking and Cytokine Production in Mast Cells. J Neuroinflamm (2020) 17(1):95. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01758-9
- 195. Okumura S, Yuki K, Kobayashi R, Okamura S, Ohmori K, Saito H, et al. Hyperexpression of NOD2 in Intestinal Mast Cells of Crohn's Disease Patients: Preferential Expression of Inflammatory Cell-Recruiting Molecules Via NOD2 in Mast Cells. *Clin Immunol* (2009) 130:175–85. doi: 10.16/j.clim.2008.08.027
- 196. Rathore AP, St John AL. Protective and Pathogenic Roles for Mast Cells During Viral Infections. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2020) 66:74–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.coi.2020.05.003
- 197. Taylor G. Animal Models of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection. Vaccine (2017) 35(3):469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.11.054
- 198. Kimman TG, Terpstra GK, Daha MR, Westenbrink F. Pathogenesis of Naturally Acquired Bovine Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection in Calves: Evidence for the Involvement of Complement and Mast Cell Mediators. *Am J Vet Res* (1989) . 50(5):694–700.
- 199. Jolly S, Detilleux J, Desmecht D. Extensive Mast Cell Degranulation in Bovine Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Associated Paroxystic Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Vet Immunol Immunopathol (2004) 97(3-4):125–36. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2003.08.014
- Shirato K, Taguchi F. Mast Cell Degranulation is Induced by A549 Airway Epithelial Cell Infected With Respiratory Syncytial Virus. *Virology* (2009) 386(1):88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009.01.011
- 201. Riedel F, Krause A, Slenczka W, Rieger CH. Parainfluenza-3-Virus Infection Enhances Allergic Sensitization in the Guinea-Pig. *Clin Exp Allergy* (1996) 26 (5):603–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.1996.tb00583.x
- 202. Graziano FM, Tilton R, Hirth T, Segaloff D, Mullins T, Dick E, et al. The Effect of Parainfluenza 3 Infection on Guinea Pig Basophil and Lung Mast Cell Histamine Release. Am Rev Respir Dis (1989) 139(3):715–20. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm/139.3.715

- 203. Rossi FW, Prevete N, Rivellese F, Lobasso A, Napolitano F, Granata F, et al. HIV-1 Nef Promotes Migration and Chemokine Synthesis of Human Basophils and Mast Cells Through the Interaction With CXCR4. *Clin Mol Allergy* (2016) 14:15. doi: 10.1186/s12948-016-0052-1
- Patella V, Bouvet JP, Marone G. Protein Fv Produced During Vital Hepatitis is a Novel Activator of Human Basophils and Mast Cells. *J Immunol* (1993) 151(10):5685–98.
- 205. Patella V, Giuliano A, Bouvet JP, Marone G. Endogenous Superallergen Protein Fv Induces IL-4 Secretion From Human Fc Epsilon RI+ Cells Through Interaction With the VH3 Region of IgE. J Immunol (1998) 161 (10):5647–55.
- 206. Wang Z, Lai Y, Bernard JJ, MacLeod DT, Cogen AL, Moss B, et al. Skin Mast Cells Protect Mice Against Vaccinia Virus by Triggering Mast Cell Receptor S1PR2 and Releasing Antimicrobial Peptides. J Immunol (2012) 188(1):345– 57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101703
- 207. Domenico J, Lucas JJ, Fujita M, Gelfand EW. Susceptibility to Vaccinia Virus Infection and Spread in Mice is Determined by Age at Infection, Allergen Sensitization and Mast Cell Status. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2012) 158 (2):196–205. doi: 10.1159/000330647
- 208. Jiang Y, Yang D, Li W, Wang B, Jiang Z, Li M. Antiviral Activity of Recombinant Mouse β-Defensin 3 Against Influenza A Virus *in Vitro* and *In Vivo. Antivir Chem Chemother* (2012) 22(6):255–62. doi: 10.3851/ IMP2077
- 209. Harcourt JL, McDonald M, Svoboda P, Pohl J, Tatti K, Haynes LM. Human Cathelicidin, LL-37, Inhibits Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection in Polarized Airway Epithelial Cells. *BMC Res Notes* (2016) 9:11. doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1836-y
- 210. He M, Zhang H, Li Y, Wang G, Tang B, Zhao J, et al. Cathelicidin-Derived Antimicrobial Peptides Inhibit Zika Virus Through Direct Inactivation and Interferon Pathway. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:722. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00722
- Chang TL, Klotman ME. Defensins: Natural Anti-HIV Peptides. AIDS Rev (2004) 6(3):161–8.
- 212. St John AL, Rathore AP, Yap H, Ng ML, Metcalfe DD, Vasudevan SG, et al. Immune Surveillance by Mast Cells During Dengue Infection Promotes Natural Killer (NK) and NKT-Cell Recruitment and Viral Clearance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2011) 108(22):9190–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105079108
- 213. King CA, Anderson R, Marshall JS. Dengue Virus Selectively Induces Human Mast Cell Chemokine Production. J Virol (2002) 76(16):8408–19. doi: 10.1128/jvi.76.16.8408-8419.2002
- 214. Syenina A, Saron WAA, Jagaraj CJ, Bibi S, Arock M, Gubler DJ, et al. Th1-Polarized, Dengue Virus-Activated Human Mast Cells Induce Endothelial Transcriptional Activation and Permeability. *Viruses* (2020) 12(12):1379. doi: 10.3390/v12121379
- 215. Aoki R, Kawamura T, Goshima F, Ogawa Y, Nakae S, Nakao A, et al. Mast Cells Play a Key Role in Host Defense Against Herpes Simplex Virus Infection Through TNF-α and IL-6 Production. J Invest Dermatol (2013) 133(9):2170–9. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.150
- 216. Royer DJ, Zheng M, Conrady CD, Carr DJJ. Granulocytes in Ocular HSV-1 Infection: Opposing Roles of Mast Cells and Neutrophils. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2015) 56(6):3763–75. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-16900
- 217. Rabelo K, Gonçalves AJDS, Souza LJ, Sales AP, Lima SMB, Trindade GF, et al. Zika Virus Infects Human Placental Mast Cells and the HMC-1 Cell Line, and Triggers Degranulation, Cytokine Release and Ultrastructural Changes. *Cells* (2020) 9(4):975. doi: 10.3390/cells9040975
- Teijaro JR. Type I Interferons in Viral Control and Immune Regulation. Curr Opin Virol (2016) 16:31–40. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2016.01.001
- Stetson DB, Medzhitov R. Type I Interferons in Host Defense. *Immunity* (2006) 25(3):373–81. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.007
- 220. Brown MG, McAlpine SM, Huang YY, Haidl ID, Al-Afif A, Marshall JS, et al. RNA. Sensors Enable Human Mast Cell Anti-Viral Chemokine Production and IFN-Mediated Protection in Response to Antibody-Enhanced Dengue Virus Infection. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e34055. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034055
- 221. Fukuda M, Ushio H, Kawasaki J, Niyonsaba F, Takeuchi M, Baba T, et al. Expression and Functional Characterization of Retinoic Acid-Inducible Gene-I-Like Receptors of Mast Cells in Response to Viral Infection. *J Innate Immun* (2013) 5:163–73. doi: 10.1159/000343895

- 222. Sandig H, Bulfone-Paus S. TLR Signaling in Mast Cells: Common and Unique Features. Front Immunol (2012) 3:185. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00185
- 223. Matsushima H, Yamada N, Matsue H, Shimada S. TLR3-, TLR7-, and TLR9-Mediated Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines and Chemokines From Murine Connective Tissue Type Skin-Derived Mast Cells But Not From Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells. J Immunol (2004) 173(1):531–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.531
- 224. Gebremeskel S, Schanin J, Coyle KM, Butuci M, Luu T, Brock EC, et al. Mast Cell and Eosinophil Activation Are Associated With COVID-19 and TLR-Mediated Viral Inflammation: Implications for an Anti-Siglec-8 Antibody. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:650331. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.650331
- 225. Kulka M, Alexopoulou L, Flavell RA, Metcalfe DD. Activation of Mast Cells by Double-Stranded RNA: Evidence for Activation Through Toll-Like Receptor 3. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2004) 114:1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2004. 03.049
- 226. Orinska Z, Bulanova E, Budagian V, Metz M, Maurer M, Bulfone-Paus S. TLR3-Induced Activation of Mast Cells Modulates CD8+ T-cell Recruitment. *Blood* (2005) 106(3):978–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2656
- 227. Fernández-Blanco JA, Estévez J, Shea-Donohue T, Martínez V, Vergara P. Changes in Epithelial Barrier Function in Response to Parasitic Infection: Implications for IBD Pathogenesis. J Crohns Colitis (2015) 9(6):463–76. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv056
- Ha TY, Reed ND, Crowle PK. Delayed Expulsion of Adult Trichinella spiralis by Mast Cell-Deficient W/Wv Mice. *Infect Immun* (1983) 41(1):445–7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.41.1.445-447.1983
- 229. Abe T, Nawa Y. Worm Expulsion and Mucosal Mast Cell Response Induced by Repetitive IL-3 Administration in *Strongyloides Ratti*-Infected Nude Mice. *Immunology* (1988) 63(2):181–5.
- Reitz M, Brunn ML, Rodewald HR, Feyerabend TB, Roers A, Dudeck A, et al. Mucosal Mast Cells Are Indispensable for the Timely Termination of *Strongyloides ratti* Infection. *Mucosal Immunol* (2017) 10(2):481–92. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.56
- 231. Carlos D, Machado ER, De Paula L, Sá-Nunes A, Sorgi CA, Jamur MC, et al. Evidence for Eosinophil Recruitment, Leukotriene B4 Production and Mast Cell Hyperplasia Following *Toxocara Canis* Infection in Rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res* (2011) 44(4):319–26. doi: 10.1590/s0100-879x2011007500027
- 232. Pennock JL, Grencis RK. The Mast Cell and Gut Nematodes: Damage and Defence. Chem Immunol Allergy (2006) 90:128–40. doi: 10.1159/000088885
- Vukman KV, Lalor R, Aldridge A, O'Neill SM. Mast Cells: New Therapeutic Target in Helminth Immune Modulation. *Parasite Immunol* (2016) 38 (1):45–52. doi: 10.1111/pim.12295
- 234. Hashimoto K, Uchikawa R, Tegoshi T, Takeda K, Yamada M, Arizono N. Immunity-Mediated Regulation of Fecundity in the Nematode *Heligmosomoides Polygyrus*-the Potential Role of Mast Cells. *Parasitology* (2010) 137(5):881–7. doi: 10.1017/S0031182009991673
- 235. Mukai K, Tsai M, Starkl P, Marichal T, Galli SJ. IgE and Mast Cells in Host Defense Against Parasites and Venoms. *Semin Immunopathol* (2016) 38 (5):581–603. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0565-1
- 236. Gurish MF, Bryce PJ, Tao H, Kisselgof AB, Thornton EM, Miller HR, et al. IgE Enhances Parasite Clearance and Regulates Mast Cell Responses in Mice Infected With *Trichinella Spiralis*. J Immunol (2004) 172(2):1139–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.2.1139
- 237. Mukai K, Karasuyama H, Kabashima K, Kubo M, Galli SJ. Differences in the Importance of Mast Cells, Basophils, IgE, and IgG Versus That of CD4+ T Cells and ILC2 Cells in Primary and Secondary Immunity to Strongyloides Venezuelensis. *Infect Immun* (2017) 85(5):e00053–17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00053-17
- Blankenhaus B, Reitz M, Brenz Y, Eschbach ML, Hartmann W, Haben I, et al. Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Regulatory T Cells Delay Expulsion of Intestinal Nematodes by Suppression of IL-9-Driven Mast Cell Activation in BALB/c But Not in C57BL/6 Mice. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(2):e1003913. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1003913
- 239. Shimokawa C, Kanaya T, Hachisuka M, Ishiwata K, Hisaeda H, Kurashima Y, et al. Mast Cells Are Crucial for Induction of Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells and Clearance of Helminth Infections. *Immunity* (2017) 46(5):863–74.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.017
- 240. Van Milligen FJ, Cornelissen JB, Hendriks IM, Gaasenbeek CP, Bokhout BA. Protection of *Fasciola hepatica* in the Gut Mucosa of Immune Rats is

Associated With Infiltrates of Eosinophils, IgG1 and IgG2a Antibodies Around the Parasites. *Parasite Immunol* (1998) 20(6):285–92. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3024.1998.00144.x

- 241. Watanabe N. Impaired Protection Against *Trichinella Spiralis* in Mice With High Levels of IgE. *Parasitol Int* (2014) 63(2):332–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.parint.2013.12.004
- 242. Ditgen D, Anandarajah EM, Meissner KA, Brattig N, Wrenger C, Liebau E. Harnessing the Helminth Secretome for Therapeutic Immunomodulators. *BioMed Res Intern* (2014) 204:964350. doi: 10.1155/2014/964350
- 243. Bidri M, Vouldoukis I, Mossalayi MD, Debré P, Guillosson JJ, Mazier D, et al. Evidence for Direct Interaction Between Mast Cells and Leishmania Parasites. *Parasite Immunol* (1997) 19(10):475–83. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3024.1997.d01-153.x
- 244. Muñoz-Cruz S, Gómez-García A, Millán-Ibarra J, Giono-Cerezo S, Yépez-Mulia L. Giardia Lamblia: Interleukin 6 and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha Release From Mast Cells Induced Through an Ig-Independent Pathway. Exp Parasitol (2010) 126(3):298–303. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2010.06.013
- 245. Li Z, Peirasmaki D, Svärd S, Åbrink M. Giardia Excretory-Secretory Proteins Modulate the Enzymatic Activities of Mast Cell Chymase and Tryptase. *Mol Immunol* (2019) 114:535–44. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.07.024
- 246. Muñoz-Cruz S, Gomez-García A, Matadamas-Martínez F, Alvarado-Torres JA, Meza-Cervantes P, Arriaga-Pizano L, et al. *Giardia Lamblia*: Identification of Molecules That Contribute to Direct Mast Cell Activation. *Parasitol Res* (2018) 117(8):2555–67. doi: 10.1007/s00436-018-5944-1
- 247. Palm JE, Weiland ME, Griffiths WJ, Ljungström I, Svärd SG. Identification of Immunoreactive Proteins During Acute Human Giardiasis. J Infect Dis (2003) 187(12):1849–59. doi: 10.1086/375356
- 248. Téllez A, Palm D, Weiland M, Alemán J, Winiecka-Krusnell J, Linder E, et al. Secretory Antibodies Against Giardia Intestinalis in Lactating Nicaraguan Women. *Parasite Immunol* (2005) 27(5):163–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3024.2005.00758.x
- 249. Ringqvist E, Palm JE, Skarin H, Hehl AB, Weiland M, Davids BJ, et al. Release of Metabolic Enzymes by *Giardia* in Response to Interaction With Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* (2008) 159(2):85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.molbiopara.2008.02.005
- 250. Tako EA, Hassimi MF, Li E, Singer SM. Transcriptomic Analysis of the Host Response to Giardia Duodenalis Infection Reveals Redundant Mechanisms for Parasite Control. mBio (2013) 4(6):e00660–13. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00660-13
- 251. Li Z, Peirasmaki D, Svärd S, Åbrink M. The Chymase Mouse Mast Cell Protease-4 Regulates Intestinal Cytokine Expression in Mature Adult Mice Infected With *Giardia Intestinalis*. Cells (2020) 9(4):925. doi: 10.3390/ cells9040925
- 252. McDermott JR, Bartram RE, Knight PA, Miller HR, Garrod DR, Grencis RK. Mast Cells Disrupt Epithelial Barrier Function During Enteric Nematode Infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(13):7761–6. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1231488100
- 253. Ierna MX, Scales HE, Saunders KL, Lawrence CE. Mast Cell Production of IL-4 and TNF may be Required for Protective and Pathological Responses in Gastrointestinal Helminth Infection. *Mucosal Immunol* (2008) 1(2):147–55. doi: 10.1038/mi.2007.16
- 254. McKean PG, Pritchard DI. The Action of a Mast Cell Protease on the Cuticular Collagens of *Necator Americanus*. *Parasite Immunol* (1989) 11 (3):293–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3024.1989.tb00667.x
- 255. Lee YA, Nam YH, Min A, Kim KA, Nozaki T, Saito-Nakano Y, et al. Entamoeba Histolytica-Secreted Cysteine Proteases Induce IL-8 Production in Human Mast Cells Via a PAR2-Independent Mechanism. Parasite (2014) 21:1. doi: 10.1051/parasite/2014001
- 256. Melendez AJ, Harnett MM, Pushparaj PN, Wong WSF, Tay HK, McSharry CP, et al. Inhibition of FcepsilonRI-Mediated Mast Cell Responses by ES-62, a Product of Parasitic Filarial Nematodes. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:1375–81. doi: 10.1038/nm1654
- 257. Ball DH, Al-Riyami L, Harnett W, Harnett MM. IL-33/ST2 Signalling and Crosstalk With FceRI and TLR4 is Targeted by the Parasitic Worm Product, ES-62. Sci Rep (2018) 8:4497. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22716-9
- Bongomin F, Gago S, Oladele RO, Denning DW. Global and Multi-National Prevalence of Fungal Diseases-Estimate Precision. J Fungi (Basel) (2017) 3 (4):57. doi: 10.3390/jof3040057

- 259. Ribbing C, Engblom C, Lappalainen J, Lindstedt K, Kovanen PT, Karlsson MA, et al. Mast Cells Generated From Patients With Atopic Eczema Have Enhanced Levels of Granule Mediators and an Impaired Dectin-1 Expression. *Allergy* (2011) 66(1):110–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995. 2010.02437.x
- 260. Selander C, Engblom C, Nilsson G, Scheynius A, Andersson CL. TLR2/ Myd88-Dependent and-Independent Activation of Mast Cell IgE Responses by the Skin Commensal Yeast *Malassezia Sympodialis*. J Immunol (2009) 182:4208–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0800885
- 261. Barbosa-Lorenzi VC, Peyda S, Scheynius A, Nilsson G, Lunderius-Andersson C. Curdlan Induces Selective Mast Cell Degranulation Without Concomitant Release of LTC<sub>4</sub>, IL-6 or CCL2. *Immunobiology* (2017) 222 (4):647–50. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.12.001
- 262. Honjoh C, Chihara K, Yoshiki H, Yamauchi S, Takeuchi K, Kato Y, et al. Association of C-Type Lectin Mincle With FcεRI Subunits Leads to Functional Activation of RBL-2H3 Cells Through Syk. Sci Rep (2017) 7:46064. doi: 10.1038/srep/46064
- 263. Kimura Y, Chihara K, Honjoh C, Takeuchi K, Yamauchi S, Yoshiki H, et al. Dectin-1-Mediated Signaling Leads to Characteristic Gene Expressions and Cytokine Secretion Via Spleen Tyrosine Kinase (Syk) in Rat Mast Cells. J Biol Chem (2014) 289(45):31565–75. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.581322
- 264. McCurdy JD, Olynych TJ, Maher LH, Marshall JS. Cutting Edge: Distinct Toll-Like Receptor 2 Activators Selectively Induce Different Classes of Mediator Production From Human Mast Cells. J Immunol (2003) 170 (4):1625–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.4.1625
- 265. Gantner BN, Simmons RM, Canavera SJ, Akira S, Underhill DM. Collaborative Induction of Inflammatory Responses by Dectin-1 and Toll-Like Receptor 2. *J Exp Med* (2003) 197(9):1107–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021787
- 266. Olynych TJ, Jakeman DL, Marshall JS. Fungal Zymosan Induces Leukotriene Production by Human Mast Cells Through a Dectin-1-Dependent Mechanism. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2006) 118(4):837–43. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2006.06.008
- 267. Yang Z, Marshall JS. Zymosan Treatment of Mouse Mast Cells Enhances Dectin-1 Expression and Induces Dectin-1-Dependent Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Generation. *Immunobiology* (2009) 214(4):321–30. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2008.09.002
- 268. Zelechowska P, Brzezińska-Błaszczyk E, Rozalska S, Agier J, Kozłowska E. Mannan Activates Tissue Native and IgE-Sensitized Mast Cells to Proinflammatory Response and Chemotaxis in TLR4-Dependent Manner. *J Leukoc Biol* (2021) 109(5):931–42. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4A0720-452R
- 269. Valim CX, da Silva EZ, Assis MA, Fernandes FF, Coelho PS, Oliver C, et al. rPbPga1 From *Paracoccidioides Brasiliensis* Activates Mast Cells and Macrophages Via NFkB. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2015) 9(8):e0004032. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004032
- 270. Urb M, Pouliot P, Gravelat FN, Olivier M, Sheppard DC. Aspergillus Fumigatus Induces Immunoglobulin E-Independent Mast Cell Degranulation. J Infect Dis (2009) 200(3):464-72. doi: 10.1086/600070
- 271. Nieto-Patlán A, Campillo-Navarro M, Rodríguez-Cortés O, Muñoz-Cruz S, Wong-Baeza I, Estrada-Parra S, et al. Recognition of Candida Albicans by Dectin-1 Induces Mast Cell Activation. *Immunobiology* (2015) 220(9):1093– 100. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.05.005
- 272. De Zuani M, Paolicelli G, Zelante T, Renga G, Romani L, Arzese A, et al. Mast Cells Respond to *Candida Albicans* Infections and Modulate Macrophages Phagocytosis of the Fungus. *Front Immunol* (2018) 30:2829 (9). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02829
- 273. Nosál R, Novotný J, Sikl D. The Effect of Glycoprotein From Candida Albicans on Isolated Rat Mast Cells. Toxicon (1974) 12(2):103-8. doi: 10.1016/0041-0101(74)90233-5
- 274. Romo-Lozano Y, Hernández-Hernández F, Salinas E. Mast Cell Activation by Conidia of Sporothrix Schenckii: Role in the Severity of Infection. Scand J Immunol (2012) 76(1):11–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2012.02706.x
- 275. Romo-Lozano Y, Hernández-Hernández F, Salinas E. Sporothrix Schenckii Yeasts Induce ERK Pathway Activation and Secretion of IL-6 and TNF-α in Rat Mast Cells, But No Degranulation. *Med Mycol* (2014) 52(8):862–8. doi: 10.1093/mmy/myu055
- Jiao Q, Luo Y, Scheffel J, Geng P, Wang Y, Frischbutter S, et al. Skin Mast Cells Contribute to Sporothrix Schenckii Infection. Front Immunol (2020) 11:469. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00469

- 277. Rocha FAC, Alves AMCV, Rocha MFG, Cordeiro RA, Brilhante R, Pinto A, et al. Tumor Necrosis Factor Prevents *Candida Albicans* Biofilm Formation. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):1206. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01400-4
- Filler SG, Yeaman MR, Sheppard DC. Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibition and Invasive Fungal Infections. *Clin Infect Dis* (2005) 41 Suppl 3:S208–12. doi: 10.1086/430000
- 279. Cenci E, Mencacci A, Casagrande A, Mosci P, Bistoni F, Romani L. Impaired Antifungal Effector Activity But Not Inflammatory Cell Recruitment in Interleukin-6-Deficient Mice With Invasive Pulmonary Aspergillosis. *J Infect Dis* (2001) 184(5):610–7. doi: 10.1086/322793
- Doener F, Michel A, Reuter S, Friedrich P, Böhm L, Relle M, et al. Mast Cell-Derived Mediators Promote Murine Neutrophil Effector Functions. *Int Immunol* (2013) 25(10):553–61. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxt019
- 281. Carlos D, Fremond C, Samarina A, Vasseur V, Maillet I, Ramos SG, et al. Histamine Plays an Essential Regulatory Role in Lung Inflammation and Protective Immunity in the Acute Phase of *Mycobacterium Tuberculosis* Infection. *Infect Immun* (2009) 77(12):5359–68. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01497-08
- 282. Burke SM, Issekutz TB, Mohan K, Lee PW, Shmulevitz M, Marshall JS. Human Mast Cell Activation With Virus-Associated Stimuli Leads to the Selective Chemotaxis of Natural Killer Cells by a CXCL8-Dependent Mechanism. *Blood* (2008) 111(12):5467–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-118547
- 283. Shin K, Watts GFM, Oettgen HC, Friend DS, Pemberton AD, Gurish MF, et al. Mouse Mast Cell Tryptase mMCP-6 Is a Critical Link Between Adaptive and Innate Immunity in the Chronic Phase of *Trichinella Spiralis* Infection. J Immunol (2008) 180(7):4885–91. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.180.7.4885
- Dawicki W, Jawdat DW, Xu N, Marshall JS. Mast Cells, Histamine, and IL-6 Regulate the Selective Influx of Dendritic Cell Subsets Into an Inflamed Lymph Node. J Immunol (2010) 184(4):2116–23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803894
- 285. Mazzoni A, Young HA, Spitzer JH, Visintin A, Segal DM. Histamine Regulates Cytokine Production in Maturing Dendritic Cells, Resulting in Altered T Cell Polarization. J Clin Invest (2001) 108(12):1865–73. doi: 10.1172/JCI13930
- 286. Thangam EB, Jemima EA, Singh H, Baig MS, Khan M, Mathias CB, et al. The Role of Histamine and Histamine Receptors in Mast Cell-Mediated Allergy and Inflammation: The Hunt for New Therapeutic Targets. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1873. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01873
- 287. Skokos D, Botros HG, Demeure C, Morin J, Peronet R, Birkenmeier G, et al. Mast Cell-Derived Exosomes Induce Phenotypic and Functional Maturation of Dendritic Cells and Elicit Specific Immune Responses *In Vivo. J Immunol* (2003) 170(6):3037–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.6.3037
- Dudeck J, Froebel J, Kotrba J, Lehmann CHK, Dudziak D, Speier S, et al. Engulfment of Mast Cell Secretory Granules on Skin Inflammation Boosts Dendritic Cell Migration and Priming Efficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 143(5):1849–64.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.08.052
- 289. Shelburne CP, Nakano H, St John AL, Chan C, McLachlan JB, Gunn MD, et al. Mast Cells Augment Adaptive Immunity by Orchestrating Dendritic Cell Trafficking Through Infected Tissues. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 6 (4):331–42. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.09.004
- 290. Stelekati E, Bahri R, D'Orlando O, Orinska Z, Mittrücker HW, Langenhaun R, et al. Mast Cell-Mediated Antigen Presentation Regulates CD8+ T Cell Effector Functions. *Immunity* (2009) 31(4):665–76. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.022
- 291. Dudeck J, Medyukhina A, Fröbel J, Svensson CM, Kotrba J, Gerlach M, et al. Mast Cells Acquire MHCII From Dendritic Cells During Skin Inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(12):3791–811. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160783
- 292. Heuer JG, Zhang T, Zhao J, Ding C, Cramer M, Justen KL, et al. Adoptive Transfer of *In Vitro*-Stimulated CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells Increases Bacterial Clearance and Improves Survival in Polymicrobial Sepsis. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(11):7141–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.7141
- 293. Forward NA, Furlong SJ, Yang Y, Lin TJ, Hoskin DW. Mast Cells Down-Regulate CD4+CD25+ T Regulatory Cell Suppressor Function Via Histamine H1 Receptor Interaction. J Immunol (2009) 183(5):3014–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802509
- 294. Lu LF, Lind EF, Gondek DC, Bennett KA, Gleeson MW, Pino-Lagos K, et al. Mast Cells are Essential Intermediaries in Regulatory T-Cell Tolerance. *Nature* (2006) 442(7106):997–1002. doi: 10.1038/nature05010

- 295. Eller K, Wolf D, Huber JM, Metz M, Mayer G, McKenzie ANJ, et al. IL-9 Production by Regulatory T Cells Recruits Mast Cells That Are Essential for Regulatory T Cell-Induced Immune Suppression. J Immunol (2011) 186 (1):83–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001183
- 296. Piconese S, Gri G, Tripodo C, Musio S, Gorzanelli A, Frossi B, et al. Mast Cells Counteract Regulatory T-Cell Suppression Through Interleukin-6 and OX40/OX40L Axis Toward Th17-Cell Differentiation. *Blood* (2009) 114 (13):2639–48. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-05-220004
- 297. Piliponsky AM, Chen CC, Grimbaldeston MA, Burns-Guydish SM, Hardy J, Kalesnikoff J, et al. Mast Cell-Derived TNF Can Exacerbate Mortality During Severe Bacterial Infections in C57BL/6-KitW-sh/W-sh Mice. Am J Pathol (2010) 176(2):926–38. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090342
- 298. Tharp MD. The Interaction Between Mast Cells and Endothelial Cells. J Invest Dermatol (1989) 93(2 Suppl):107S-12S. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747
- 299. Ramos L, Peña G, Cai B, Deitch EA, Ulloa L. Mast Cell Stabilization Improves Survival by Preventing Apoptosis in Sepsis. J Immunol (2010) 185(1):709–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000273
- 300. Seeley EJ, Sutherland RE, Kim SS, Wolters PJ. Systemic Mast Cell Degranulation Increases Mortality During Polymicrobial Septic Peritonitis in Mice. J Leukoc Biol (2011) 90(3):591–7. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0910531
- 301. Dahdah A, Gautier G, Attout T, Fiore F, Lebourdais E, Msallam R, et al. Mast Cells Aggravate Sepsis by Inhibiting Peritoneal Macrophage Phagocytosis. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(10):4577–89. doi: 10.1172/JCI75212
- 302. Chu YT, Wan SW, Anderson R, Lin YS. Mast Cell-Macrophage Dynamics in Modulation of Dengue Virus Infection in Skin. *Immunology* (2015) 146 (1):163–72. doi: 10.1111/imm.12492
- 303. Troupin A, Shirley D, Londono-Renteria B, Watson AM, McHale C, Hall A, et al. A Role for Human Skin Mast Cells in Dengue Virus Infection and Systemic Spread. J Immunol (2016) 197(11):4382–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600846
- 304. Marks RM, Lu H, Sundaresan R, Toida T, Suzuki A, Imanari T, et al. Probing the Interaction of Dengue Virus Envelope Protein With Heparin: Assessment of Glycosaminoglycan-Derived Inhibitors. J Med Chem (2001) 44(13):2178–87. doi: 10.1021/jm000412i
- 305. St John AL, Rathore AP, Raghavan B, Ng ML, Abraham SN. Contributions of Mast Cells and Vasoactive Products, Leukotrienes and Chymase, to Dengue Virus-Induced Vascular Leakage. *Elife* (2013) 2:e00481. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00481
- 306. Masri MFB, Mantri CK, Rathore APS, John ALS. Peripheral Serotonin Causes Dengue Virus-Induced Thrombocytopenia Through 5HT2 Receptors. *Blood* (2019) 133(21):2325–37. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-08-869156
- Scriba TJ, Coussens AK, Fletcher HA. Human Immunology of Tuberculosis. Microbiol Spectr (2017) 5(1):1–24. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.TBTB2-0016-2016
- 308. Taweevisit M, Poumsuk U. High Mast Cell Density Associated With Granulomatous Formation in Tuberculous Lymphadenitis. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health (2007) 38(1):115–9.
- 309. Mysorekar VV, Dandekar CP, Rao SG. Mast Cells in Leprosy Skin Lesions. Lepr Rev (2001) 72(1):29–34. doi: 10.5935/0305-7518.20010006
- Aroni K, Kontochristopoulos G, Liossi A, Panteleos D. An Investigation of Mast Cells in Two Basic Leprosy Groups. *Int J Lepr Other Mycobact Dis* (1993) 61(4):634–5.
- Jindal S, Manjari M, Girdhar M. Role of Mast Cells in Leprosy- A Study of 62 Cases. J Evol Med Dent Sci (2017) 6(74):5328–31. doi: 10.14260/Jemds/2017/1157
- 312. Magalhães Gde O, Valentim Vda C, Pereira MJ, Nery JA, Illarramendi X, Antunes SL. A Quantitative and Morphometric Study of Tryptase-Positive Mast Cells in Cutaneous Leprosy Lesions. *Acta Trop* (2008) 105(1):62–6. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2007.10.001
- 313. Costa MB, Mimura KKO, Freitas AA, Hungria EM, Sousa ALOM, Oliani SM, et al. Mast Cell Heterogeneity and Anti-Inflammatory Annexin A1 Expression in Leprosy Skin Lesions. *Microb Pathog* (2018) 118:277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2018.03.050
- Montagna NA, de Oliveira ML, Mandarim-de-Lacerda CA, Chimelli L. Leprosy: Contribution of Mast Cells to Epineurial Collagenization. *Clin Neuropathol* (2005) 24(6):284–90.
- 315. Tauber M, Balica S, Hsu CY, Jean-Decoster C, Lauze C, Redoules D, et al. Staphylococcus Aureus Density on Lesional and Nonlesional Skin Is Strongly Associated With Disease Severity in Atopic Dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 137(4):1272–4.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.07.052
- Nakamura Y, Oscherwitz J, Cease KB, Chan SM, Muñoz-Planillo R, Hasegawa M, et al. Staphylococcus δ-Toxin Induces Allergic Skin Disease

by Activating Mast Cells. Nature (2013) 503(7476):397-401. doi: 10.1038/ nature12655

- 317. Oiwa M, Satoh T, Watanabe M, Niwa H, Hirai H, Nakamura M, et al. CRTH2-Dependent, STAT6-independent Induction of Cedar Pollen Dermatitis. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2008) 38(8):1357–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03007.x
- 318. Ando T, Matsumoto K, Namiranian S, Yamashita H, Glatthorn H, Kimura M, et al. Mast Cells are Required for Full Expression of Allergen/SEB-Induced Skin Inflammation. J Invest Dermatol (2013) 133(12):2695–705. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.250
- Sehra S, Serezani APM, Ocaña JA, Travers JB, Kaplan MH. Mast Cells Regulate Epidermal Barrier Function and the Development of Allergic Skin Inflammation. *J Invest Dermatol* (2016) 136(7):1429–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.03.019
- 320. Sulcova J, Meyer M, Guiducci E, Feyerabend TB, Rodewald HR, Werner S. Mast Cells are Dispensable in a Genetic Mouse Model of Chronic Dermatitis. *Am J Pathol* (2015) 185(6):1575–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.02.005
- 321. Nakajima S, Krishnan B, Ota H, Segura AM, Hattori T, Graham DY, et al. Mast Cell Involvement in Gastritis With or Without *Helicobacter pylori* Infection. *Gastroenterology* (1997) 113(3):746–54. doi: 10.1016/s0016-5085(97)70167-7
- 322. Nakajima S, Bamba N, Hattori T. Histological Aspects and Role of Mast Cells in *Helicobacter pylori*-Infected Gastritis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2004) 20 Suppl 1:165–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2004.01974.x
- 323. Marone G, Rossi FW, Pecoraro A, Pucino V, Criscuolo G, Paulis A, et al. HIV Gp120 Induces the Release of Proinflammatory, Angiogenic, and Lymphangiogenic Factors From Human Lung Mast Cells. Vaccines (Basel) (2020) 8(2):208. doi: 10.3390/vaccines8020208
- 324. Lucey DR, Zajac RA, Melcher GP, Butzin CA, Boswell RN. Serum IgE Levels in 622 Persons With Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection: IgE Elevation With Marked Depletion of CD4+ T-Cells. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses (1990) 6(4):427–9. doi: 10.1089/aid.1990.6.427
- 325. Rancinan C, Morlat P, Chêne G, Guez S, Baquey A, Beylot J, et al. IgE Serum Level: A Prognostic Marker for AIDS in HIV-Infected Adults? J Allergy Clin Immunol (1998) 102(2):329–30. doi: 10.1016/s0091-6749(98)70107-1
- 326. Fitzpatrick ME, Kunisaki KM, Morris A. Pulmonary Disease in HIV-Infected Adults in the Era of Antiretroviral Therapy. *AIDS* (2018) 32(3):277–92. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000001712
- 327. Singhvi D, Bon J, Morris A. Obstructive Lung Disease in HIV-Phenotypes and Pathogenesis. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* (2019) 16(4):359–69. doi: 10.1007/ s11904-019-00456-3
- Kiderlen TR, Siehl J, Hentrich M. HIV-Associated Lung Cancer. Oncol Res Treat (2017) 40(3):88–92. doi: 10.1159/000458442
- 329. Bannert N, Farzan M, Friend DS, Ochi H, Price KS, Sodroski J, et al. Human Mast Cell Progenitors can Be Infected by Macrophagetropic Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 and Retain Virus With Maturation In Vitro. J Virol (2001) 75(22):10808–14. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.22.10808-10814.2001
- 330. Jiang AP, Jiang JF, Wei JF, Guo MG, Qin Y, Guo QQ, et al. Human Mucosal Mast Cells Capture HIV-1 and Mediate Viral Trans-Infection of CD4+ T Cells. J Virol (2015) 90(6):2928–37. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03008-15
- Sundstrom JB, Little DM, Villinger F, Ellis JE, Ansari AA. Signaling Through Toll-Like Receptors Triggers HIV-1 Replication in Latently Infected Mast Cells. J Immunol (2004) 172(7):4391–401. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.4391
- 332. de Paulis A, De Palma R, Di Gioia L, Carfora M, Prevete N, Tosi G, et al. Tat Protein is an HIV-1-Encoded Beta-Chemokine Homolog That Promotes Migration and Up-Regulates CCR3 Expression on Human Fc Epsilon RI+ Cells. J Immunol (2000) 165(12):7171–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.12.7171
- 333. Sundstrom JB, Hair GA, Ansari AA, Secor WE, Gilfillan AM, Metcalfe DD, et al. IgE-Fcepsilonri Interactions Determine HIV Coreceptor Usage and Susceptibility to Infection During Ontogeny of Mast Cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(10):6401–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801481
- 334. Blaak H, van't Wout AB, Brouwer M, Hooibrink B, Hovenkamp E, Schuitemaker H. In Vivo HIV-1 Infection of CD45RA(+)CD4(+) T Cells is Established Primarily by Syncytium-Inducing Variants and Correlates With The Rate of CD4(+) T Cell Decline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97 (3):1269–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.3.1269
- 335. Hsieh JT, Rathore APS, Soundarajan G, St John AL. Japanese Encephalitis Virus Neuropenetrance is Driven by Mast Cell Chymase. Nat Commun (2019) 10(1):706. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08641-z
- Silver R, Curley JP. Mast Cells on The Mind: New Insights and Opportunities. Trends Neurosci (2013) 36(9):513–21. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.06.001

- 337. Graham AC, Hilmer KM, Zickovich JM, Obar JJ. Inflammatory Response of Mast Cells During Influenza A Virus Infection Is Mediated by Active Infection and RIG-I Signaling. J Immunol (2013) 190(9):4676–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202096
- 338. Higuchi H, Hara M, Yamamoto K, Miyamoto T, Kinoshita M, Yamada T, et al. Mast Cells Play a Critical Role in the Pathogenesis of Viral Myocarditis. *Circulation* (2008) 118(4):363–72. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA
- 339. Goldmann O, Tuchscherr L, Rohde M, Medina E. α-Hemolysin Enhances Staphylococcus Aureus Internalization and Survival Within Mast Cells by Modulating the Expression of β1 Integrin. Cell Microbiol (2016) 18(6):807– 19. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12550
- 340. Baorto DM, Gao Z, Malaviya R, Dustin ML, van der Merwe A, Lublin DM, et al. Survival of FimH-Expressing Enterobacteria in Macrophages Relies on Glycolipid Traffic. *Nature* (1997) 389(6651):636–9. doi: 10.1038/39376
- 341. Zhang YN, Liu YY, Xiao FC, Liu CC, Liang XD, Chen J, et al. Rab5, Rab7, and Rab11 are Required for Caveola-Dependent Endocytosis of Classical Swine Fever Virus in Porcine Alveolar Macrophages. J Virol (2018) 92(15):e00797– 18. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00797-18
- 342. Muriel O, Sánchez-Álvarez M, Strippoli R, Del Pozo MA. Role of the Endocytosis of Caveolae in Intracellular Signaling and Metabolism. Prog Mol Subcell Biol (2018) 57:203–34. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-96704-2\_8
- 343. Yamaguchi N, Sugita R, Miki A, Takemura N, Kawabata J, Watanabe J, et al. Gastrointestinal Candida Colonisation Promotes Sensitisation Against Food Antigens by Affecting the Mucosal Barrier in Mice. *Gut* (2006) 55(7):954–60. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.084954
- 344. Corrado G, Luzzi I, Lucarelli S, Frediani T, Pacchiarotti C, Cavaliere M, et al. Positive Association Between *Helicobacter Pylori* Infection and Food Allergy in Children. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (1998) 33(11):1135–9. doi: 10.1080/ 00365529850172467
- 345. Galadari IH, Sheriff MO. The Role of *Helicobacter Pylori* in Urticaria and Atopic Dermatitis. *SKINmed* (2006) 5(4):172–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-9740.2006.04646.x
- 346. Matysiak-Budnik T, van Niel G, Mégraud F, Mayo K, Bevilacqua C, Gaboriau-Routhiau V, et al. Gastric Helicobacter Infection Inhibits Development of Oral Tolerance to Food Antigens in Mice. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71(9):5219–24. doi: 10.1128/iai.71.9.5219-5224.2003
- 347. Renga G, Moretti S, Oikonomou V, Borghi M, Zelante T, Paolicelli G, et al. IL-9 and Mast Cells Are Key Players of Candida Albicans Commensalism and Pathogenesis in the Gut. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23(6):1767–78. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2018.04.034
- 348. Renga G, Borghi M, Oikonomou V, Mosci P, Bartoli A, Renauld JC, et al. IL-9 Integrates the Host-Candida Cross-Talk in Vulvovaginal Candidiasis to Balance Inflammation and Tolerance. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2702. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02702
- Theoharides TC. COVID-19, Pulmonary Mast Cells, Cytokine Storms, and Beneficial Actions of Luteolin. *Biofactors* (2020) 46(3):306–8. doi: 10.1002/biof.1633
- 350. Kazama I. Stabilizing Mast Cells by Commonly Used Drugs: A Novel Therapeutic Target to Relieve Post-COVID Syndrome? *Drug Discov Ther* (2020) 14(5):259–61. doi: 10.5582/ddt.2020.03095

- 351. Motta Junior JDS, Miggiolaro AFRDS, Nagashima S, de Paula CBV, Baena CP, Scharfstein J, et al. Mast Cells in Alveolar Septa of COVID-19 Patients: A Pathogenic Pathway That May Link Interstitial Edema to Immunothrombosis. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:574862. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.574862
- 352. Freedberg DE, Conigliaro J, Wang TC, Tracey KJ, Callahan MV, Abrams JA, et al. Famotidine Use is Associated With Improved Clinical Outcomes in Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients: A Propensity Score Matched Retrospective Cohort Study. *Gastroenterology* (2020) 159(3):1129–31.e3. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2020.05.053
- 353. Malone RW, Tisdall P, Fremont-Smith P, Liu Y, Huang XP, White KM, et al. COVID-19: Famotidine, Histamine, Mast Cells, and Mechanisms. Front Pharmacol (2021) 12:633680. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.633680
- 354. World Health Organization. Global Priority List of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria to Guide Research, Discovery, and Development of New Antibiotics (2017). Available at: https://www.who.int/medicines/publications/WHO-PPL-Short\_Summary\_ 25Feb-ET\_NM\_WHO.pdf?ua=1 (Accessed April, 30 2021).
- 355. Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, et al. Global, Regional, and National Sepsis Incidence and Mortality, 1990-2017: Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* (2020) 395 (10219):200–11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32989-7
- 356. Torgerson PR, Devleesschauwer B, Praet N, Speybroeck N, Willingham AL, Kasuga F, et al. World Health Organization Estimates of the Global and Regional Disease Burden of 11 Foodborne Parasitic Diseases, 2010: A Data Synthesis. PLoS Med (2015) 12(12):e1001920. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001920
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020 (2020) (Accessed April, 30 2021). file:///C:/Users/mayoj/AppData/Local/Temp/ 9789240013131-eng.pdf
- 358. Guo C, Zhou Z, Wen Z, Liu Y, Zeng C, Xiao D, et al. Global Epidemiology of Dengue Outbreaks in 1990-2015: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2017) 7:317. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00317
- Denning DW, Kneale M, Sobel JD, Rautemaa-Richardson R. Global Burden of Recurrent Vulvovaginal Candidiasis: A Systematic Review. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2018) 18(11):e339–47. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30103-8
- Suleyman G, Alangaden GJ. Nosocomial Fungal Infections: Epidemiology, Infection Control, and Prevention. *Infect Dis Clin North Am* (2016) 30 (4):1023–52. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2016.07.008

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Jiménez, Cervantes-García, Córdova-Dávalos, Pérez-Rodríguez, Gonzalez-Espinosa and Salinas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. 12-HETES

AD

ADAM

AMP

AP-1

BMMC

CBMC

ВM

CI

CLP

DC

DENV

EMP

ERK

FceRI

GAS

HR

HSC

HSV

IFN

IKK

IL

IP3

LAT

LPS

LTs

GM-CSF HIV

ΕT

# **GLOSSARY**

RY	Continued	
11	MAPK	mitogen-activated kinase
	MC	mast cell
	MCETs	mast cell-derived extracellular traps
12-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid	MCP	monocyte chemotactic protein
atopic dermatitis	MCPT	mast cell protease
disintegrin/metalloprotease	MHC	major histocompatibility complex
antimicrobial peptide	Mincle	macrophage inducible Ca2+-dependent lectin receptor
activator protein-1	MIP	macrophage inflammatory protein
bone marrow	MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
bone marrow progenitor derived mast cell	MyD88	myeloid differentiation primary response 88
umbilical cord blood derived mast cell	NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
clinical isolate	NETs	neutrophils extracellular traps
cecal ligation and puncture	NFκB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
dendritic cells	NO	nitric oxide
dengue virus	NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
erythro-myeloid progenitor	PBMCs	peripheral blood-derived mast cells
extracellular receptor kinase	PLC	phospholipase C
extracellular trap	PGs	prostaglandins
high-affinity receptor to IgE	PRRs	pattern-recognition-receptors
group A Streptococcus	RANTES	regulated upon activation normal T-cell expressed and secrete
granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor	ROS	reactive oxygen species
human immunodeficiency virus	RSV	respiratory syncytial virus
histamine receptor	SCF	stem cell factor
hematopoietic stem cell	SNAP23	soluble N-ethylmaleimide sensitive factor attachment protein
herpes simplex virus		receptor-23
interferon	TACE	disintegrin/metalloprotease ADAM-17/TNF $\alpha$ -converting
In B kinase		enzyme
interleukin	TGF	transforming growth factor
inositol 3-phosphate	TLR	Toll-like receptor
linker of activation of T cells	TNF	tumor necrosis factor
lipopolysaccharide	TRAF6	tumor necrosis factor receptor associated factor 6
	Treq	T regulatory
leukotrienes	TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β
(Continued)		vesicular stomatitis virus





# Murepavadin, a Small Molecule Host Defense Peptide Mimetic, Activates Mast Cells *via* MRGPRX2 and MrgprB2

### Aetas Amponnawarat<sup>1,2</sup>, Chalatip Chompunud Na Ayudhya<sup>1,3</sup> and Hydar Ali<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Basic and Translational Sciences, School of Dental Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Family and Community Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>3</sup> Department of Oral Diagnosis, Faculty of Dentistry, Naresuan University, Phitsanulok, Thailand

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Soman Ninan Abraham, Duke University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Gregorio Gomez, University of Houston, United States Carlos Muñoz-Garay, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico

> \*Correspondence: Hydar Ali alih@upenn.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 08 June 2021 Published: 23 June 2021

#### Citation:

Amponnawarat A, Chompunud Na Ayudhya C and Ali H (2021) Murepavadin, a Small Molecule Host Defense Peptide Mimetic, Activates Mast Cells via MRGPRX2 and MrgprB2. Front. Immunol. 12:689410. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.689410 Pseudomonas aeruginosa is a frequent cause of hospital-acquired wound infection and is difficult to treat because it forms biofilms and displays antibiotic resistance. Previous studies in mice demonstrated that mast cells (MCs) not only contribute to P. aeruginosa eradication but also promote wound healing via an unknown mechanism. We recently reported that host defense peptides (HDPs) induce human MC degranulation via Masrelated G protein-coupled receptor-X2 (MRGPRX2). Small molecule HDP mimetics have distinct advantages over HDPs because they are inexpensive to synthesize and display high stability, bioavailability, and low toxicity. Murepavadin is a lipidated HDP mimetic, (also known as POL7080), which displays antibacterial activity against a broad panel of multi-drug-resistant P. aeruginosa. We found that murepavadin induces Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization, degranulation, chemokine IL-8 and CCL3 production in a human MC line (LAD2 cells) endogenously expressing MRGPRX2. Murepavadin also caused degranulation in RBL-2H3 cells expressing MRGPRX2 but this response was significantly reduced in cells expressing missense variants within the receptor's ligand binding (G165E) or G protein coupling (V282M) domains. Compound 48/80 induced βarrestin recruitment and promoted receptor internalization, which resulted in substantial decrease in the subsequent responsiveness to the MRGPRX2 agonist. By contrast, murepavadin did not cause β-arrestin-mediated MRGPRX2 regulation. Murepavadin induced degranulation in mouse peritoneal MCs via MrgprB2 (ortholog of human MRGPRX2) and caused increased vascular permeability in wild-type mice but not in MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The data presented herein demonstrate that murepavadin activates human MCs via MRGPRX2 and murine MCs via MrgprB2 and that MRGPRX2 is resistant to  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated receptor regulation. Thus, besides its direct activity against P. aeruginosa, murepavadin may contribute to bacterial clearance and promote wound healing by harnessing MC's immunomodulatory property via the activation of MRGPRX2.

Keywords: murepavadin, mast cells, MrgprB2, MRGPRX2, host defense peptides, antimicrobial peptides
# INTRODUCTION

The emergence of multidrug-resistant bacterial infections poses a global public health threat that warrants urgent need for alternative therapeutic approaches (1). Host defense peptides (HDPs), previously known as antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), such as the cathelicidin LL-37 and human B-defensins are considered as promising antimicrobial agents (2-4). Recent evidence demonstrated that in addition to their direct antimicrobial activity, HDPs promote the recruitment and activation of various immune cells including mast cells (MCs), neutrophils, monocytes and lymphocytes (5-8). These HDPs also display angiogenic activity and contribute to wound healing (8, 9). However, many HDPs cause the lysis of erythrocytes and display cytotoxicity against a variety of cells (10, 11). In recent years, great strides have been made in optimizing HDPs to minimize their toxicity and to improve their stability, which can also modulate the immune system for therapeutic benefits (12, 13).

Mast cells (MCs) are multifunctional immune cells of hematopoietic origin that are found in vascularized tissues such as the oral mucosa, intestine, airway and the skin. MCs play an important role in host defense and promote wound healing (14-16). In addition to high affinity IgE receptor (FceRI), a subtype of human MCs (MC<sub>TC</sub>; contain both tryptase and chymase) expresses a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) known as Mas-related GPCR-X2 (MRGPRX2) (17, 18). This receptor is highly expressed in human skin MCs but is also present in lung and gut MCs but at lower levels (17, 19, 20). Mouse connective tissue MCs (CTMC; skin, nasopharynx and peritoneal) express MrgprB2 (ortholog of human MRGPRX2) (16, 21). Both receptors are activated by human and mouse HDPs (22-24). Studies with human MCs expressing MRGPRX2 and MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have strongly implicated these receptors in innate immunity and wound healing (15, 16). The major portal of entry for pathogen is the interface between host and external microenvironment such as the skin, nasopharynx, and peritoneum. MrgprB2-expressing CTMCs are found abundantly at these sites and contribute to host defense against bacterial infection through the release of MC-derived mediators and the subsequent recruitment of neutrophils (16). Furthermore, pharmacological activation of MrgprB2 at these sites results in decreased bacterial count and reduced disease severity in vivo (16).

*Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is a Gram-negative bacterium that often presents a therapeutic challenge due to its ability to form biofilms and to display antibiotic resistance (25, 26). Zimmerman et al. (27), utilized a topical *P. aeruginosa* infection model and demonstrated that MCs contribute to both bacterial elimination and promote wound healing. However, they found that culturing MCs infected with *P. aeruginosa in vitro* is insufficient to eliminate bacteria unless they are co-cultured with keratinocytes. MC mediators released in response to *P. aeruginosa* infection results in the secretion of HDPs such as mouse  $\beta$ -defensin-14 (Defb14, ortholog of human  $\beta$ -defensin-3) from keratinocytes (27). These findings suggest that MC-derived mediators confer protective immunity through the promotion of endogenous HDP secretion, which in turn, directly kill the bacteria and restrain the infection (27).

Protegrin-1 is a HDP that was originally purified from porcine leukocytes (28). We have recently shown that protegrin-1 activates human MCs via MRGPRX2 (29). However, small molecule HDP mimetics have a number of advantages over natural HDPs because of their superior stability, bioavailability, and reduced toxicity (30, 31). Moreover, several approaches have been used to increase hydrophobicity and membrane activity of HDP mimetics (32). Murepavadin is a lipidated protegrin-1 mimetic, (also known as POL7080), which specifically targets P. aeruginosa, including multidrug-resistant clinical isolates (33). Thus, it could be used for the treatment of antibiotic-resistant P. aeruginosa skin infection (34, 35). Given that HDPs including protegrin-1 activate human MCs via MRGPRX2 (22, 23, 29), raises the interesting possibility that potential therapeutic action of murepavadin for P. aeruginosa skin infection likely reflects both MRGPRX2-mediated MC activation and its direct antimicrobial activity. However, the possibility that murepavadin activates MCs has not been tested.

Besides G proteins, most GPCR agonists activate another signaling pathway that requires the recruitment of adapter proteins known as  $\beta$ -arrestins. This  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated pathway was first identified for its role in receptor desensitization (uncoupling of receptor/G protein interaction) and internalization (36). Agonists that prefer to activate G proteins over *B*-arrestins are known as G protein-biased agonists, whereas agonists that selectively activate β-arrestins are known as β-arrestin-biased agonists. By contrast, agonists that activate both pathways are designated as balanced agonists. We have recently shown that while compound 48/80 (C48/80) acts as a balanced agonist for MRGPRX2, an angiogenic host defense peptide serves as a G protein-biased agonist (37). The purpose of this study was to test if murepavadin activates human MCs via MRGPRX2 and to determine if it serves as a balanced or biased agonist for the receptor. The data presented herein demonstrate that murepavadin activates human and murine MCs via MRGPRX2 and MrgprB2, respectively and that it serves as a G protein-biased agonist for MRGPRX2 without the involvement of  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated receptor regulation. These findings have important implications for the potential utilization of murepavadin in modulating antibiotic-resistant cutaneous infections.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Materials**

All reagents used for cell culture were purchased from Invitrogen (Gaithersburg, MD, USA). Recombinant mouse interleukin-3 (IL-3), mouse stem cell factor (SCF), and recombinant human SCF (rhSCF) were obtained from Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ, USA). Compound 48/80 (C48/80) was obtained from AnaSpec (Fremont, CA, USA). Murepavadin (Catalog HY-P1674A) was from MedChem Express. P-nitrophenyl-N-acetyl-β-D-glucosamine (PNAG) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Pertussis toxin (PTx) was from List Biological Laboratories

(Campbell, CA, USA). Fura-2 acetoxymethyl ester was from Abcam (Cambridge, MA, USA). Bright-Glo Luciferase was from Promega (Madison, WI, USA). Phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated anti-human MRGPRX2 antibody was from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA). Amaxa Nucleofector Kit V was from Lonza (Gaithersburg, MD, USA). DuoSet ELISA kits were from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). Hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged MRGPRX2 plasmid in pReceiver-MO6 vector was obtained from GeneCopoeia (Rockville, MD, USA). MRGPRX2-Tango plasmid (Addgene no. 66440) was a gift from Dr. Bryan Roth.

#### Mice

C57BL/6 (wild-type; WT) mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA) and housed in pathogen-free cages. WT mice with the deletion of *MrgprB2* transcript (MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice) were generated as previously described (38). Eight-to-twelve-week-old male and female mice were used. All animal experiments performed in this study were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Pennsylvania.

#### **Cell Culture**

The human MC line (LAD2 cell) was kindly provided by Drs. Kirshenbaum and Metcalfe (Laboratory of Allergic Diseases, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA). LAD2 cells were cultured in complete StemPro-34 medium supplemented with l-glutamine (2 mM), penicillin (100 IU/mL), streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/mL), and rhSCF (100 ng/mL), and the medium was hemi-depleted weekly (39).

Rat basophilic leukemia (RBL-2H3) cells were cultured as monolayers in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS, L-glutamine (2 mM), penicillin (100 IU/mL) and streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/mL) (40). RBL cells stably expressing human MRGPRX2 were maintained similarly in the presence of 1 mg/mL G418. HTLA cells (HEK-293T cells stably expressing a tTA-dependent luciferase reporter and a  $\beta$ -arrestin2-TEV protease fusion gene) were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, L-glutamine (2 mM), penicillin (100 IU/mL), streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/mL), hygromycin (200  $\mu$ g/mL), puromycin (5  $\mu$ g/mL), and G418 (500  $\mu$ g/mL) (41). All cell cultures were kept at 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

Peritoneal mast cells (PMCs) were established from peritoneal lavages of WT and MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and were cultured for 4–8 weeks in Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM) supplemented with 10% FCS, and recombinant mouse IL-3 (10 ng/mL) and SCF (30 ng/mL). Cells were then determined for MC receptor expression and function, and were used within 4–8 weeks (38, 42).

### Degranulation

Human LAD2 (1 x  $10^4$  cells/well), RBL-2H3, RBL-MRGPRX2 (5 ×  $10^4$  cells/well), or murine peritoneal MCs (5 ×  $10^3$  cells/well) were washed and plated in a total volume of 50 µL HEPES buffer in 96-well plates. Cells were then stimulated with murepavadin for 30 min at 37°C. Total level of β-hexosaminidase release were assessed by lysing the cells with 0.1% Triton X-100, whereas cells without any stimulation were designated as controls. Aliquots

(20  $\mu$ L) of supernatants were incubated with 1 mM PNAG (20  $\mu$ L) for 1 h at 37°C. The reaction was then stopped by adding stop buffer (250  $\mu$ L; 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>/0.1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub>). Quantification of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase level was determined by measuring the absorbance at 405 nm using a Versamax microplate spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA) (40).

In some experiments, cells were pretreated with PTx (100 ng/ mL, 16 h) prior to any stimulation to assess the inhibitory effect of PTx on MC degranulation.

#### **Calcium Mobilization**

Human LAD2 cells (3 × 10<sup>5</sup>), RBL-2H3 or RBL-MRGPRX2 (2 × 10<sup>6</sup>) were loaded with Fura-2 acetoxymethyl ester (1  $\mu$ M for 30 min at 37°C) in 1.5 mL of HEPES buffer containing 0.1% BSA. Cells were then washed and allowed complete de-esterification for 15 min at room temperature. Cells were then resuspended in buffer and stimulated with Murepavadin or C48/80. Calcium mobilization was determined by the ratio between dual excitation wavelengths of 340 and 380 nm, and an emission wavelength of 510 nm using a Hitachi F-2700 Fluorescence Spectrophotometer.

# Cytokine and Chemokine Production and Measurement

LAD2 cells  $(3 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/mL})$  were washed with medium, resuspended in fresh medium, and stimulated with indicated concentrations of Murepavadin for 24 h at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cell-free supernatants were collected and kept at -80°C until further analyses. Similarly, RBL-2H3 or RBL-MRGPRX2 cells  $(2 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/mL})$  were seeded in a 24-well plate and cultured overnight in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The next day, the medium was aspirated, fresh medium was added to the cells, and the cells were stimulated with indicated concentrations of Murepavadin for 24 h at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cell-free supernatants were collected and kept at -80°C until further analyses. The cytokine and chemokine production were measured using human CCL3/MIP-1 alpha, human IL-8/ CXCL8, rat JE/MCP-1/CCL2 and rat TNF-alpha DuoSet ELISA kits (R&D Systems) following the manufacturer's protocols.

To determine the inhibitory effect of PTx on cytokine and chemokine production, pretreatment with PTx (100 ng/mL, 16 h) was performed prior to any stimulation.

# Generation of Cells Transiently Expressing MRGPRX2 and Its Variants

Transient transfections in RBL-2H3 cells expressing WT-MRGPRX2 and its naturally occurring missense variants within MRGPRX2's ligand binding cradle (G165E) or G protein-coupling region (V282M) were performed as described previously (43, 44). RBL-2H3 cells ( $2 \times 10^6$ ) were transfected with 2 µg of HA-tagged plasmid using the Amaxa Nucleofector Device and Amaxa Kit V and were used within 16 – 20 h post-transfection.

Flow cytometry was used to determine cell surface expression of transiently transfectants. Cells (5  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup>) were incubated with PE-

anti-MRGPRX2 antibody for 30 min, washed in ice-cold FACS buffer (PBS containing 2% FCS and 0.09% NaN<sub>3</sub>), followed by fixation with 1.5% paraformaldehyde. Expression level of MRGPRX2 and its variants were analyzed using a BD LSR II flow cytometer (San Jose, CA, USA) with WinList software, version 8.

## Transcriptional Activation Following Arrestin Translocation (Tango) Assay

HTLA-MRGPRX2 cells (5 × 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well, 96-well plate) were cultured overnight in a 37°C incubator. The next day, the medium was removed and cells were exposed to Murepavadin in an antibiotic-free medium (160  $\mu$ L) for 16 h at 37°C. The medium was then replaced with 100  $\mu$ L of Bright-Glo solution and relative luminescence was analyzed using a Thermo Luminoskan Ascent 392 Microplate Luminometer (41).

### **Receptor Internalization**

RBL-MRGPRX2 or HTLA-MRGPRX2 cells ( $5 \times 10^5$ ) were treated with C48/80 or Murepavadin for 30 min, 3, 6, and 16 h to induce cell surface receptor internalization. After indicated time, cell surface expression was determined by flow cytometry as described above.

# Evan's Blue Dye Extravasation

Mice (WT and MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup>) were intravenously injected with 1% Evan's blue followed by intradermal injection of 20  $\mu$ L Murepavadin (30  $\mu$ M) in the right paw and PBS (vehicle) in the left paw. After 30 min, the mice were euthanized and the paws were removed, weighed, dissolved in 500  $\mu$ L formamide and incubated at 56°C overnight. The Evan's blue dye extravasation was measured by collecting the supernatants and the absorbance was measured at 650 nm using microplate spectrophotometer.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Data shown represent mean  $\pm$  SEM value derived from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance was calculated using *t*-test and one-way or two-way ANOVA analyzed by GraphPad Prism version 9.0.1. Significant differences were set at \**p* < 0.05, \*\**p* < 0.01, \*\*\**p* < 0.001, \*\*\**p* < 0.001.

# RESULTS

#### Murepavadin Induces Intracellular Cas<sup>2+</sup> Mobilization, Degranulation and Chemokine Generation in Human MCs

We previously demonstrated that LL-37, human  $\beta$ -defensins and protegrin-1 activate human MCs *via* MRGPRX2 at concentrations ranging from 1 - 10  $\mu$ M (22, 23, 29). To determine if murepavadin activates MCs, we initially utilized a human MC line, LAD2 cells and tested the ability of 10  $\mu$ M murepavadin to induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization. As shown in **Figure 1A**, murepavadin at this concentration induced a robust and sustained Ca<sup>2+</sup> response. Next, we asked if murepavadin induces MC degranulation. We found that murepavadin induced a dose-dependent degranulation as measured by  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release, reaching ~80% at a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M with an EC<sub>50</sub> value of ~3  $\mu$ M (**Figure 1B**). While MC degranulation promotes

increased vascular permeability *in vivo*, its innate and adaptive immune function require the generation of chemokines. We therefore investigated the ability of murepavadin to stimulate chemokine IL-8 and CCL3 production in LAD2 cells. At a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M, murepavadin induced substantial IL-8 (**Figure 1C**) and CCL3 (**Figure 1D**).

To explore the underlying mechanism *via* which murepavadin activates MCs, we utilized RBL-2H3 cells that were transfected to stably express human MRGPRX2 (RBL-MRGPRX2). We found that murepavadin induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization,  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase as well as TNF- $\alpha$  and CCL2 production from RBL-MRGPRX2, but not from untransfected cells (**Figures 2A–E**). Moreover, we found that Pertussis toxin (PTx), an inhibitor of G $\alpha$ i/o family of G proteins, caused significant inhibition of murepavadin-induced degranulation, TNF- $\alpha$  and CCL2 production (**Figures 2C–E**). Taken together, these findings demonstrate that murepavadin causes the activation of human MCs specifically *via* MRGPRX2 and that these responses are G protein-dependent.

#### Naturally Occurring MRGPRX2 Missense Variants Are Hypo-Responsive to Murepavadin for MC Degranulation

We have previously identified naturally occurring loss-offunction MRGPRX2 missense variants within the receptor's ligand binding (G165E) and G protein coupling (V282M) domains (**Figures 3A, B**) (43, 44). To further validate



**FIGURE 1** | Murepavadin induces intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization, degranulation and causes chemokine production in human MCs. (A) Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization measurement following murepavadin (10  $\mu$ M) stimulation of Fura-2-loaded LAD2 cells. (B) LAD2 cells were exposed to indicated concentrations of murepavadin (30 min) and degranulation was assayed by measuring the release of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase. (C, D) LAD2 cells were exposed to 10  $\mu$ M of murepavadin for 24 h and the production of IL-8 and CCL3 were determined by ELISA. Data presented are the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three experiments. Statistical significance was determined by *t*-test or one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparisons at a value \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, and \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.



**FIGURE 2** | Murepavadin induces intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization, degranulation and chemokine production in MCs through MRGPRX2. (**A**) Calcium mobilization measurement following murepavadin (10  $\mu$ M) stimulation of Fura-2 loaded WT-RBL and RBL-MRGPRX2 cells. (**B**) WT-RBL and RBL-MRGPRX2 cells were exposed to 10  $\mu$ M murepavadin (30 min), and degranulation was assayed by measuring the release of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase. (**C**) RBL-MRGPRX2 cells were incubated in the presence or absence of pertussis toxin (PTx), at a concentration of 100 ng/mL for 16 h and exposed to indicated concentrations of murepavadin (30 min) and degranulation was assayed by measuring the release of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase. (**D**, **E**) WT-RBL and RBL-MRGPRX2 cells were incubated in the presence or absence of pertussis toxin (PTx), at a concentration of 100 ng/mL for 16 h and exposed to indicated concentrations of murepavadin (30 min) and degranulation was assayed by measuring the release of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase. (**D**, **E**) WT-RBL and RBL-MRGPRX2 cells were incubated in the presence or absence of pertussis toxin (PTx) at a concentration of 100 ng/mL for 16 h and exposed to 10  $\mu$ M of murepavadin (24 h) and the production of cytokine TNF- $\alpha$  and chemokine CCL2 were quantified by ELISA. Data presented are the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three experiments. Statistical significance was determined by two-way ANOVA with Šidák's or Tukey's multiple comparisons at a value \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.0001, and ns denotes "not significant".

murepavadin's specificity for MRGPRX2, we transiently transfected RBL-2H3 cells with cDNAs encoding each of these variants. Flow cytometry analyses confirmed cell surface expression of MRGPRX2 (WT) and its missense variants (G165E and V282M) (**Figure 3C**). While murepavadin (10  $\mu$ M) induced  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release in cells expressing WT-MRGPRX2, this response was significantly inhibited in cells transiently expressing the G165E or V282M variant (**Figure 3D**). These findings substantiate the notion that murepavadin utilizes MRGPRX2 to activate MCs.

## Murepavadin Does Not Promote β-Arrestin Recruitment Following MRGPRX2 Activation

To determine if murepavadin promotes  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment in addition to G proteins, we utilized HTLA (HEK-293T cells that were transfected with a tTA-dependent luciferase reporter and a  $\beta$ -arrestin2-TEV protease fusion gene) cells stably expressing MRGPRX2 (HTLA-MRGPRX2). We have previously shown that C48/80 strongly promotes  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment in HTLA-MRGPRX2 cells as determined by a transcriptional activation following arrestin translocation (Tango) assay (37). We therefore utilized C48/80 as a positive control and tested the ability of murepavadin to promote  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment. As shown in **Figures 4A, B**, while C48/80 (3 µg/mL) induced ~30-fold increase in  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated gene expression when compared to buffer control, murepavadin was without effect.

# Murepavadin Does Not Induce MRGPRX2 Internalization or Desensitization

We have previously shown that C48/80 not only induces  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment but also causes MRGPRX2 internalization (37). We found that incubation of HTLA-MRGPRX2 cells with C48/80 (3 µg/mL; 0.5 h -16 h) induced substantial receptor internalization but murepavadin had no effect (**Figures 4C, D**). The data presented in **Figures 4E, F** show representative histograms of cell surface MRGPRX2 following incubation of HTLA-MRGPRX2 cells with C48/80 (3 µg/mL) and murepavadin (10 µM) for 16 h. These data clearly demonstrate that while C48/80 promotes  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment and caused MRGPRX2 internalization, murepavadin does not induce these responses.

To confirm the biological relevance of the findings described above, we performed receptor internalization studies in RBL-MRGPRX2 cells by flow cytometry. Similar to the situation in HTLA-MRGPRX2 cells, C48/80 induced substantial receptor internalization in RBL-MRGPRX2 cells but murepavadin had no effect (**Figures 5A, B**). As for  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment (**Figure 4A**) and receptor internalization (**Figures 5A, B**), incubation of cells with C48/80 (3 µg/mL, 16 h) resulted in substantial inhibition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization response to the stimulation by the same agonist (**Figure 5C**). Conversely, cells preincubated with murepavadin (10 µM, 16 h) had little to no effect on Ca<sup>2+</sup> response to stimulation by the same agonist (**Figure 5D**).



β-hexosaminidase. Statistical significance was determined by two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons at a value \*\*p < 0.01 and \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.

#### Murepavadin Activates Murine MCs In Vitro and In Vivo via MrgprB2

It has been previously shown that C48/80 causes substantial degranulation in mouse peritoneal MCs (PMCs) *via* MrgprB2 (21). To test if murepavadin induces degranulation in murine

PMCs and to determine the role of MrgprB2 in this response, we cultured PMCs from peritoneal lavage of wild-type (WT) and MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (38, 42). We found that murepavadin induced degranulation in PMCs cultured from WT mice but this response was not observed in cells cultured from MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice







cell surface receptor expression is shown. (B) Quantitative analysis of cell surface receptor expression was calculated using a mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) in comparison to the untreated control. (C, D) Calcium mobilization measurements of RBL-MRGPRX2 cells exposed to MRGPRX2 ligand (C48/80 3  $\mu$ g/mL or murepavadin 10  $\mu$ M, 16 h) following C48/80 (3  $\mu$ g/mL) or murepavadin (10  $\mu$ M) stimulation, respectively. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparisons at a value \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001, and ns denotes "not significant".

(**Figure 6A**). To determine if murepavadin induces degranulation of cutaneous MC *in vivo*, we performed intradermal injection of murepavadin (30  $\mu$ M, 20  $\mu$ L) or PBS into the paw after intravenous injection of Evan's blue dye. Consistent with peritoneal MC degranulation *in vitro*, murepavadin caused a significant increase in vascular permeability when compared to PBS. However, this vascular permeability response was abolished in MrgprB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figures 6B, C**). Together, these data demonstrate

that murepavadin induces degranulation in murine MCs to cause increased vascular permeability *via* the activation of MrgprB2.

# DISCUSSION

Murepavadin is a synthetic cyclic  $\beta$ -hairpin HDP mimetic that targets an outer membrane protein transporter LptD of the Gram-





negative bacterium P. aeruginosa, which makes it highly specific to this pathogen (45, 46). In in vitro studies, murepavadin is very effective against a wide-ranging species of multi-drug resistant Pseudomonas bacteria and demonstrates exceptional efficacy in sepsis, lung, and thigh infection models in vivo (47). However, intravenous administration of murepavadin for treating nosocomial pneumonia has been temporarily halted due to reports of kidney injury. Despite this, an inhaled formulation of murepavadin is under investigation for its potential effectiveness in treating Pseudomonas infection in patients with cystic fibrosis (33, 48). We made the novel observation that murepavadin is able to induce human MC activation through MRGPRX2 and murine MC activation through MrgprB2. Because human skin MCs express MRGPRX2 at high levels (17, 19, 49), these findings suggest that murepavadin can be utilized for treating P. aeruginosa skin infection through harnessing MC's host defense and wound healing properties.

P. aeruginosa skin infection is associated with high morbidity and mortality rates mainly because of its ability to form biofilms and to resist multiple antibiotics (25, 26). Therefore, novel treatment approach together with rapid wound closure are critical to control this type of infection. Weller et al. (50), showed that skin wounding in mice results in MC degranulation. This, in turn, causes increased vascular permeability and neutrophil recruitment. Using the same wound model but superimposed with P. aeruginosa, Zimmerman et al. (27), showed that MCs are essential in controlling bacterial infection and promoting healing. It was proposed that IL-1 and IL-33 generated by keratinocytes in response to infection activate MCs to produce IL-6, which in turn generate HDPs from keratinocytes resulting in the direct bacterial killing. However, recent studies demonstrated that HDPs can also induce MC degranulation in human (via MRGPRX2) and mouse (via MrgprB2) (22-24). Based on these findings, we suspect that the activation of MCs via MRGPRX2/B2 confer protective immunity and contribute to host defense. The minimum concentration of murepavadin required to inhibit 90% growth of P. aeruginosa (MIC<sub>90</sub>) was reported to be in the range of 2 - 32 mg/L (33, 48). We found that murepavadin (1 µM; 1.667 mg/L) induced significant MC degranulation via MRGPRX2 and that maximal response was obtained at a concentration of 10 µM (16.67 mg/L). Murepavadin at 10 µM, which is relevant for direct inhibition of P. aeruginosa growth, induced TNF-a, IL-8 and CCL3 production from MCs via MRGPRX2. A topical application of murepavadin is currently under investigation for treating P. aeruginosa cutaneous infection mainly because of its direct and specific activity against the pathogen (34, 35). Based on the data presented herein, we propose that potential effectiveness of murepavadin also reflects its ability to harness MC's immunomodulatory property via the activation of MRGPRX2 (Figure 7).

It is well documented that *Staphylococcus aureus* is responsible for the majority of bacterial skin infections (51, 52). In a murine model of *S. aureus* skin infection, topical application of mastoparan, an amphipathic peptide found in *Hymenoptera* venom that causes MC activation *via* MrgprB2, results in the recruitment of immune cells particularly neutrophils, This contributes to subsequent bacterial clearance (15). However, a mastoparan derivative that does not induce MC degranulation is unable to control *S. aureus*  infection despite the fact that it demonstrates direct antibacterial activity. By contrast, another mastoparan derivative that induces MC degranulation *via* MrgprB2 but has no direct antibacterial activity effectively controls infection. These findings suggest that the potential therapeutic effectiveness of mastoparan could reflect its action on MCs *via* MRGPRX2 rather than its direct antibacterial activity.

Apart from degranulation, mastoparan also triggers the generation of chemokines CCL2, CCL3 and CCL4 from MCs, which promote the mobilization of dendritic cells (DCs) including CD301b<sup>+</sup> dermal dendritic cells (DDCs). DDCs have been implicated in promoting re-epithelialization of sterile wounds and accelerating wound closure. Depletion of MrgprB2-expressing MCs results in significantly decreased number of DDCs, suggesting that MCs contribute to the restoration of DDCs population to homeostatic levels, thus contributing to regenerative healing (15). Moreover, mastoparan also contributes to the production of S. aureusspecific IgG following initial S. aureus skin infection, which is associated with reduced lesion size during subsequent bacterial reinfection (15). Thus, it is highly likely that activation of murine MCs by mastoparan through MrgprB2 confers both innate and adaptive immunity to provide protection against bacterial infection and reinfection. Given that murepavadin activates human MCs via MRGPRX2, it should be possible to use this HDP mimetic for the modulation of S. aureus skin infection. Because murepavadin appears to have a lower  $EC_{50}$  value for MC degranulation than mastoparan (15), our prediction is that lower concentration of the drug will be required to treat S. aureus infection. Also, since murepavadin is an HDP mimetic and is less susceptible to degradation than mastoparan, its effectiveness is likely to be greater than that of mastoparan, thus requiring fewer treatments to clear infection and to promote healing.

It is generally accepted that most GPCRs activate two parallel but independent signaling pathways; one involving G proteins while second pathway is independent of G proteins but requires the recruitment of  $\beta$ -arrestins (53–56). For certain GPCRs, agonists can activate only G proteins (G protein biased) or only β-arrestin (βarrestin biased) or both (balanced). Agonists that induce both pathways not only activate G protein-mediated signaling but also result in dissociation of G proteins from the receptor (desensitization) and promote the receptor internalization. We have previously shown that while C48/80 acts as balanced agonist for MRGPRX2, an HDP angiogenic peptide, AG-30/5C acts as a G protein-biased agonist for the receptor. Thus, C48/80 caused substantial  $\beta$ -arrestin recruitment while AG-30/5C had little to no effect. Most importantly, preincubation of cells with C48/80 resulted in a significant reduction of cell surface receptor expression and loss of cell responsiveness to all MRGPRX2 agonists tested. By contrast, AG-30/5C had little to no effect on cell surface receptor expression or MC degranulation to any of the MRGPRX2 agonists tested (37). The data presented herein demonstrate that similar to AG-30/5C, murepavadin acts as a G protein-biased agonist for MRGPRX2. Thus, it is possible that the resistance MRGPRX2 to undergo desensitization and internalization by murepavadin could enhance its therapeutic potential.



In summary, although HDPs have therapeutic potential for the treatment of multi-drug-resistant bacterial infections, their relative instability and cytotoxicity have limited their usefulness as prospective antimicrobial agents. Small molecule HDP mimetics do not display these limitations and murepavadin was synthesized to specifically target P. aeruginosa. However, the possibility that murepavadin could activate MCs has not been suspected. In the present study, we have shown that murepavadin induces degranulation, TNF-a, IL-8 and CCL3 production via MRGPRX2, a receptor that is primarily expressed in human skin MCs. Thus, the ability of murepavadin to exploit MC's immunomodulatory functions could form the basis for the treatment of skin infection caused by bacterial species such as P. aeruginosa and S. aureus. Furthermore, the findings presented herein that MCs expressing missense MRGPRX2 variants G165E (rs141744602) and V282M (rs779414608) were resistant to murepavadin-induced degranulation likely has important clinical implications. It is possible that murepavadin may not effectively clear microbial infection in individuals harboring these MRGPRX2 polymorphisms because of their inability to support MC degranulation.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Pennsylvania.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HA contributed to conception, supervision and funding acquisition of the study. AA and CC performed the experiments and analyzed the data. AA and HA wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by grants R01-AI143185, R01-AI149487 and R01-AI124182 to HA.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Drs. Arnold Kirshenbaum and Dean Metcalfe (National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases) for providing LAD2 cells. We also thank the FACS core facility of the University of Pennsylvania School of Dental Medicine for flow cytometry acquisition and analysis.

# REFERENCES

- Ardal C, Balasegaram M, Laxminarayan R, McAdams D, Outterson K, Rex JH, et al. Antibiotic Development - Economic, Regulatory and Societal Challenges. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2020) 18(5):267–74. doi: 10.1038/s41579-019-0293-3
- Boldenow E, Jones S, Lieberman RW, Chames MC, Aronoff DM, Xi C, et al. Antimicrobial Peptide Response to Group B Streptococcus in Human Extraplacental Membranes in Culture. *Placenta* (2013) 34(6):480–5. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.02.010
- Zaga-Clavellina V, Ruiz M, Flores-Espinosa P, Vega-Sanchez R, Flores-Pliego A, Estrada-Gutierrez G, et al. Tissue-Specific Human Beta-Defensins (HBD)-1, HBD-2 and HBD-3 Secretion Profile From Human Amniochorionic Membranes Stimulated With Candida Albicans in a Two-Compartment Tissue Culture System. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2012) 10:70. doi: 10.1186/ 1477-7827-10-70
- van der Does AM, Bergman P, Agerberth B, Lindbom L. Induction of the Human Cathelicidin LL-37 as a Novel Treatment Against Bacterial Infections. *J Leukoc Biol* (2012) 92(4):735–42. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0412178
- Rohrl J, Yang D, Oppenheim JJ, Hehlgans T. Human Beta-Defensin 2 and 3 and Their Mouse Orthologs Induce Chemotaxis Through Interaction With CCR2. J Immunol (2010) 184(12):6688–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903984
- Yang D, Liu ZH, Tewary P, Chen Q, de la Rosa G, Oppenheim JJ. Defensin Participation in Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *Curr Pharm Des* (2007) 13 (30):3131–9. doi: 10.2174/138161207782110453
- Niyonsaba F, Iwabuchi K, Someya A, Hirata M, Matsuda H, Ogawa H, et al. A Cathelicidin Family of Human Antibacterial Peptide LL-37 Induces Mast Cell Chemotaxis. *Immunology* (2002) 106(1):20–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2002.01398.x
- Koczulla R, von Degenfeld G, Kupatt C, Krotz F, Zahler S, Gloe T, et al. An Angiogenic Role for the Human Peptide Antibiotic LL-37/hCAP-18. J Clin Invest (2003) 111(11):1665–72. doi: 10.1172/JCI17545
- Hirsch T, Spielmann M, Zuhaili B, Fossum M, Metzig M, Koehler T, et al. Human Beta-Defensin-3 Promotes Wound Healing in Infected Diabetic Wounds. J Gene Med (2009) 11(3):220–8. doi: 10.1002/jgm.1287
- 10. Dawson RM, Liu CQ. Disulphide Bonds of the Peptide Protegrin-1 Are Not Essential for Antimicrobial Activity and Haemolytic Activity. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* (2010) 36(6):579–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2010.08.011
- Westman J, Hansen FC, Olin AI, Morgelin M, Schmidtchen A, Herwald H. p33 (gC1q Receptor) Prevents Cell Damage by Blocking the Cytolytic Activity of Antimicrobial Peptides. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(11):5714–21. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1300596
- Ashby M, Petkova A, Hilpert K. Cationic Antimicrobial Peptides as Potential New Therapeutic Agents in Neonates and Children: A Review. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* (2014) 27(3):258–67. doi: 10.1097/QCO.00000000000057
- Hilchie AL, Wuerth K, Hancock RE. Immune Modulation by Multifaceted Cationic Host Defense (Antimicrobial) Peptides. *Nat Chem Biol* (2013) 9 (12):761–8. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1393
- Galli SJ, Gaudenzio N, Tsai M. Mast Cells in Inflammation and Disease: Recent Progress and Ongoing Concerns. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2020) 38:49–77. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-071719-094903
- Arifuzzaman M, Mobley YR, Choi HW, Bist P, Salinas CA, Brown ZD, et al. MRGPR-Mediated Activation of Local Mast Cells Clears Cutaneous Bacterial Infection and Protects Against Reinfection. *Sci Adv* (2019) 5(1):eaav0216. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aav0216
- Pundir P, Liu R, Vasavda C, Serhan N, Limjunyawong N, Yee R, et al. A Connective Tissue Mast-Cell-Specific Receptor Detects Bacterial Quorum-Sensing Molecules and Mediates Antibacterial Immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* (2019) 26(1):114–22 e8. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2019.06.003
- Fujisawa D, Kashiwakura J, Kita H, Kikukawa Y, Fujitani Y, Sasaki-Sakamoto T, et al. Expression of Mas-Related Gene X2 on Mast Cells Is Upregulated in the Skin of Patients With Severe Chronic Urticaria. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2014) 134(3):622–33.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.004
- Tatemoto K, Nozaki Y, Tsuda R, Konno S, Tomura K, Furuno M, et al. Immunoglobulin E-Independent Activation of Mast Cell Is Mediated by Mrg Receptors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 349(4):1322–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbrc.2006.08.177
- Plum T, Wang X, Rettel M, Krijgsveld J, Feyerabend TB, Rodewald HR. Human Mast Cell Proteome Reveals Unique Lineage, Putative Functions, and

Structural Basis for Cell Ablation. *Immunity* (2020) 52(2):404–16.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.01.012

- Motakis E, Guhl S, Ishizu Y, Itoh M, Kawaji H, de Hoon M, et al. Redefinition of the Human Mast Cell Transcriptome by Deep-CAGE Sequencing. *Blood* (2014) 123(17):e58–67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-483792
- McNeil BD, Pundir P, Meeker S, Han L, Undem BJ, Kulka M, et al. Identification of a Mast-Cell-Specific Receptor Crucial for Pseudo-Allergic Drug Reactions. *Nature* (2015) 519(7542):237–41. doi: 10.1038/nature14022
- 22. Subramanian H, Gupta K, Guo Q, Price R, Ali H. Mas-Related Gene X2 (MrgX2) Is a Novel G Protein-Coupled Receptor for the Antimicrobial Peptide LL-37 in Human Mast Cells: Resistance to Receptor Phosphorylation, Desensitization, and Internalization. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286(52):44739–49. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.277152
- Subramanian H, Gupta K, Lee D, Bayir AK, Ahn H, Ali H. beta-Defensins Activate Human Mast Cells Via Mas-related Gene X2. *J Immunol* (2013) 191 (1):345–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300023
- Zhang L, McNeil BD. Beta-Defensins Are Proinflammatory Pruritogens That Activate Mrgprs. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 143(5):1960–2.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.01.013
- Lister PD, Wolter DJ, Hanson ND. Antibacterial-Resistant Pseudomonas Aeruginosa: Clinical Impact and Complex Regulation of Chromosomally Encoded Resistance Mechanisms. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2009) 22(4):582–610. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00040-09
- Serra R, Grande R, Butrico L, Rossi A, Settimio UF, Caroleo B, et al. Chronic Wound Infections: The Role of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa and Staphylococcus Aureus. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther (2015) 13(5):605–13. doi: 10.1586/ 14787210.2015.1023291
- Zimmermann C, Troeltzsch D, Gimenez-Rivera VA, Galli SJ, Metz M, Maurer M, et al. Mast Cells Are Critical for Controlling the Bacterial Burden and the Healing of Infected Wounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2019) 116(41):20500– 4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1908816116
- Kokryakov VN, Harwig SS, Panyutich EA, Shevchenko AA, Aleshina GM, Shamova OV, et al. Protegrins: Leukocyte Antimicrobial Peptides That Combine Features of Corticostatic Defensins and Tachyplesins. *FEBS Lett* (1993) 327(2):231–6. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(93)80175-T
- Gupta K, Kotian A, Subramanian H, Daniell H, Ali H. Activation of Human Mast Cells by Retrocyclin and Protegrin Highlight Their Immunomodulatory and Antimicrobial Properties. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(30):28573–87. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5611
- Chowdhury MH, Ryan LK, Cherabuddi K, Freeman KB, Weaver DG, Pelletier JC, et al. Antifungal Potential of Host Defense Peptide Mimetics in a Mouse Model of Disseminated Candidiasis. J Fungi (Basel) (2018) 4(1):30. doi: 10.3390/jof4010030
- Ryan LK, Freeman KB, Masso-Silva JA, Falkovsky K, Aloyouny A, Markowitz K, et al. Activity of Potent and Selective Host Defense Peptide Mimetics in Mouse Models of Oral Candidiasis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (2014) 58 (7):3820–7. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02649-13
- Scott RW, Tew GN. Mimics of Host Defense Proteins; Strategies for Translation to Therapeutic Applications. *Curr Top Med Chem* (2017) 17 (5):576–89. doi: 10.2174/1568026616666160713130452
- 33. Ekkelenkamp MB, Canton R, Diez-Aguilar M, Tunney MM, Gilpin DF, Bernardini F, et al. Susceptibility of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Recovered From Cystic Fibrosis Patients to Murepavadin and 13 Comparator Antibiotics. Antimicrob Agents Chemother (2020) 64(2):e01541-19. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01541-19
- Tummler B. Emerging Therapies Against Infections With Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. F1000Res (2019) 8:1371. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.19509.1
- Jabbour JF, Sharara SL, Kanj SS. Treatment of Multidrug-Resistant Gram-Negative Skin and Soft Tissue Infections. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* (2020) 33 (2):146–54. doi: 10.1097/QCO.00000000000635
- 36. Cahill TJ3rd, Thomsen AR, Tarrasch JT, Plouffe B, Nguyen AH, Yang F, et al. Distinct Conformations of GPCR-beta-Arrestin Complexes Mediate Desensitization, Signaling, and Endocytosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114(10):2562–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1701529114
- Roy S, Ganguly A, Haque M, Ali H. Angiogenic Host Defense Peptide AG-30/ 5C and Bradykinin B2 Receptor Antagonist Icatibant Are G Protein Biased Agonists for MRGPRX2 in Mast Cells. *J Immunol* (2019) 202(4):1229–38. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801227

- Alkanfari I, Freeman KB, Roy S, Jahan T, Scott RW, Ali H. Small-Molecule Host-Defense Peptide Mimetic Antibacterial and Antifungal Agents Activate Human and Mouse Mast Cells Via Mas-Related GPCRs. *Cells* (2019) 8(4):311. doi: 10.3390/cells8040311
- 39. Kirshenbaum AS, Akin C, Wu Y, Rottem M, Goff JP, Beaven MA, et al. Characterization of Novel Stem Cell Factor Responsive Human Mast Cell Lines LAD 1 and 2 Established From a Patient With Mast Cell Sarcoma/ Leukemia; Activation Following Aggregation of FcepsilonRI or FcgammaRI. Leuk Res (2003) 27(8):677–82. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2126(02)00343-0
- Ali H, Richardson RM, Tomhave ED, DuBose RA, Haribabu B, Snyderman R. Regulation of Stably Transfected Platelet Activating Factor Receptor in RBL-2H3 Cells. Role of Multiple G Proteins and Receptor Phosphorylation. J Biol Chem (1994) 269(40):24557–63. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(17)31428-X
- Lansu K, Karpiak J, Liu J, Huang XP, McCorvy JD, Kroeze WK, et al. In Silico Design of Novel Probes for the Atypical Opioid Receptor MRGPRX2. Nat Chem Biol (2017) 13(5):529–36. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2334
- Chompunud Na Ayudhya C, Amponnawarat A, Roy S, Oskeritzian CA, Ali H. MRGPRX2 Activation by Rocuronium: Insights From Studies With Human Skin Mast Cells and Missense Variants. *Cells* (2021) 10(1):156. doi: 10.3390/ cells10010156
- 43. Chompunud Na Ayudhya C, Roy S, Alkanfari I, Ganguly A, Ali H. Identification of Gain and Loss of Function Missense Variants in MRGPRX2's Transmembrane and Intracellular Domains for Mast Cell Activation by Substance P. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(21):5247. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20215247
- 44. Alkanfari I, Gupta K, Jahan T, Ali H. Naturally Occurring Missense MRGPRX2 Variants Display Loss of Function Phenotype for Mast Cell Degranulation in Response to Substance P, Hemokinin-1, Human beta-Defensin-3, and Icatibant. J Immunol (2018) 201(2):343–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1701793
- Martin-Loeches I, Dale GE, Torres A. Murepavadin: A New Antibiotic Class in the Pipeline. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther (2018) 16(4):259–68. doi: 10.1080/ 14787210.2018.1441024
- Srinivas N, Jetter P, Ueberbacher BJ, Werneburg M, Zerbe K, Steinmann J, et al. Peptidomimetic Antibiotics Target Outer-Membrane Biogenesis in Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. *Science* (2010) 327(5968):1010–3. doi: 10.1126/ science.1182749
- 47. Wach A, Dembowsky K, Dale GE. Pharmacokinetics and Safety of Intravenous Murepavadin Infusion in Healthy Adult Subjects Administered Single and Multiple Ascending Doses. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (2018) 62(4):e02355-17. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02355-17

- Diez-Aguilar M, Hernandez-Garcia M, Morosini MI, Fluit A, Tunney MM, Huertas N, et al. Murepavadin Antimicrobial Activity Against and Resistance Development in Cystic Fibrosis Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Isolates. *J Antimicrob Chemother* (2021) 76(4):984–92. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkaa529
- Dwyer DF, Barrett NA, Austen KF. Immunological Genome Project C. Expression Profiling of Constitutive Mast Cells Reveals a Unique Identity Within the Immune System. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(7):878–87. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3445
- Weller K, Foitzik K, Paus R, Syska W, Maurer M. Mast Cells Are Required for Normal Healing of Skin Wounds in Mice. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(13):2366–8. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-5837fje
- McCaig LF, McDonald LC, Mandal S, Jernigan DB. Staphylococcus Aureus-Associated Skin and Soft Tissue Infections in Ambulatory Care. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2006) 12(11):1715–23. doi: 10.3201/eid1211.060190
- Moran GJ, Krishnadasan A, Gorwitz RJ, Fosheim GE, McDougal LK, Carey RB, et al. Methicillin-Resistant S. Aureus Infections Among Patients in the Emergency Department. N Engl J Med (2006) 355(7):666–74. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa055356
- DeWire SM, Ahn S, Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. Beta-Arrestins and Cell Signaling. Annu Rev Physiol (2007) 69:483-510. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.physiol.69.022405.154749
- Lefkowitz RJ. Arrestins Come of Age: A Personal Historical Perspective. Prog Mol Biol Trans Sci (2013) 118:3–18. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-394440-5.00001-2
- Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ. Beta-Arrestin-Mediated Receptor Trafficking and Signal Transduction. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2011) 32(9):521–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.tips.2011.05.002
- Ranjan R, Pandey S, Shukla AK. Biased Opioid Receptor Ligands: Gain Without Pain. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2017) 28(4):247–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.tem.2017.01.001

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Amponnawarat, Chompunud Na Ayudhya and Ali. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Molecular Mechanisms of Mast Cell Activation by Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins

#### Lubica Draberova\*, Magda Tumova and Petr Draber\*

Department of Signal Transduction, Institute of Molecular Genetics of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czechia

Mast cells are potent immune sensors of the tissue microenvironment. Within seconds of activation, they release various preformed biologically active products and initiate the process of *de novo* synthesis of cytokines, chemokines, and other inflammatory mediators. This process is regulated at multiple levels. Besides the extensively studied IgE and IgG receptors, toll-like receptors, MRGPR, and other protein receptor signaling pathways, there is a critical activation pathway based on cholesterol-dependent, poreforming cytolytic exotoxins produced by Gram-positive bacterial pathogens. This pathway is initiated by binding the exotoxins to the cholesterol-rich membrane, followed by their dimerization, multimerization, pre-pore formation, and pore formation. At low sublytic concentrations, the exotoxins induce mast cell activation, including degranulation, intracellular calcium concentration changes, and transcriptional activation, resulting in production of cytokines and other inflammatory mediators. Higher toxin concentrations lead to cell death. Similar activation events are observed when mast cells are exposed to sublytic concentrations of saponins or some other compounds interfering with the membrane integrity. We review the molecular mechanisms of mast cell activation by pore-forming bacterial exotoxins, and other compounds inducing cholesterol-dependent plasma membrane perturbations. We discuss the importance of these signaling pathways in innate and acquired immunity.

Keywords: mast cell, cholesterol-dependent cytolysins, pore-forming toxins, Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling, cytokine production, streptolysin O, pneumolysin, listeriolysin O

# INTRODUCTION

Mast cells are critical initial players in innate and acquired immunity and, in this way, ultimately influence the outcome of various diseases. They are dispersed throughout the body tissues, but most abundantly are found at host-environment interfaces such as the skin, respiratory tract, and oral/gastrointestinal mucosa, suggesting their role as sentinels of infection. Mast cells share some features with other immune effector cells, such as basophils, macrophages, and neutrophils. However, they differ by their unique interactions with blood vessels and capacity to rapidly, within seconds and minutes, release an extensive set of inflammatory mediators such as histamine, proteases, lipid mediators, cytokines, and chemokines. Like other cell types of the immune system, mast cells communicate with their environment predominantly *via* surface receptors recognizing various

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Soman Ninan Abraham, Duke University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Paras K. Anand, Imperial College London, United Kingdom Carlos Muñoz-Garay, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico

> \*Correspondence: Lubica Draberova

draberlu@img.cas.cz Petr Draber draberpe@img.cas.cz

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 February 2021 Accepted: 08 June 2021 Published: 23 June 2021

#### Citation:

Draberova L, Tumova M and Draber P (2021) Molecular Mechanisms of Mast Cell Activation by Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins. Front. Immunol. 12:670205. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.670205

82

soluble or membrane-bound ligands. Depending on mast cell location and the overall context, mast cell activation leads to activation of multiple immune effector mechanisms, cell differentiation, chemotaxis, or inhibition of ongoing immune reactions. Various mast cell immune functions have been summarized in several reviews (1–5).

Mast cells can be activated by engagement of various plasma membrane receptors. The most studied receptor on the surface of mast cells is the high-affinity IgE receptor (FccRI) associated with the mast cells' role in pathological conditions such as allergy, anaphylaxis, and asthma. Besides FceRI, many other surface receptors recognize a variety of soluble or membrane-bound ligands that tightly upregulate or downregulate mast cell responsiveness. Extensively studied are pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), which are activated in response to conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (6, 7), and the Mas-related G proteincoupled receptor (Mrgpr) family, especially Mrgprb2 in the mouse and its human ortholog MRGPRX2 (8-10). Many other receptors present on the mast cell surface have been covered in numerous reviews (2, 4, 5, 11). Some of the plasma membrane receptors allow the innate system to identify invading bacteria and even viruses by their expression of pathogen-associated molecular patterns and allow mast cells to directly respond to bacteria by degranulation and production of de novo synthesized proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory products (3, 12-17). Thus, there is an intricate network of surface receptors and regulatory proteins that can either induce mast cell activation or inhibit mast cell signaling.

There is a widespread notion that mast cells are part of the antimicrobial host defense. This is based on experiments showing that mast cell-deficient mice are more sensitive to bacterial infection than WT mice (13, 18–20). In experiments with *Listeria monocytogenes*, mast cell-deficient mice showed approximately hundred-fold higher bacterial burden and significantly impaired neutrophil mobilization when compared to control mice. Although bacteria bound to mast cells triggered degranulation, their phagocytosis was negligible. Thus, mast cells

control bacterial infection not through bacterial uptake, but by activation and rapid degranulation associated with the release of pre-synthesized pro-inflammatory mediators, cytokines and chemokines, which cause influx of other immune cells, mainly neutrophils, to the site of infection. Once recruited, neutrophils not only phagocytose and destroy bacteria, but also become activated and secrete inflammatory mediators, hence amplifying the anti-bacterial inflammatory response (21). Other studies showed that animals lacking mast cells or mast cell signaling molecules respond differentially to bacterial infection when compared with wild type controls. Interestingly, in response to bacteria, mast cells, in contrast to other cell types such as macrophages, elicit only a proinflammatory response but not the type I interferon (IFN-I) response. It has been found that this phenomenon could be attributed to the spatial regulation of proinflammatory and IFN-I responses from different subcellular sites; proinflammatory responses occur from the cell surface, whereas IFN-I responses are induced from endolysosomal compartments (22). This review focuses on the molecular mechanisms of mast cell activation by cholesterol-dependent cytolysins (CDCs).

# CDCS

CDCs are a class of pore-forming proteins produced by a wide range of predominantly Gram-positive bacteria. They form the most prominent toxin family, comprising at least 28 bacterial species, that mediate bacterial virulence. The most frequently studied CDCs are those produced by pathogenic *Streptococci*, *Listeria*, and *Clostridia*. The summary of cytolysins discussed in this review, their bacterial producers, and a subset of diseases they cause are presented in **Table 1**. Various strategies have been developed to eliminate the pathogens producing CDCs. One effective way is sensing CDCs produced by the pathogens by mast cells followed by their activation and mobilizing innate and adaptive immunity mechanisms. In terms of their effects on mast cells, extensively studied CDCs were those produced by

TABLE 1 | Summary of cytolysins discussed in this review, their bacterial producers, and a subset of associated diseases.

Toxin	Abbreviation	Bacteria Streptococcus pyogenes	Diseases		
Streptolysin O	SLO		Various infectious diseases as pharyngitides, rheumatic fever, scarlet fever, necrotizing soft tissue infection, toxic shock syndrome (23, 24)		
Pneumolysin	PLY	Streptococcus pneumoniae	Bacterial pneumonia, otitis media, bacterial meningitis (25, 26)		
Listeriolysin O	LLO	Listeria monocytogenes	Listeriosis (manifestations include abortion, sepsis, meningoencephalitis, febrile gastroenteritis syndrome) (27, 28)		
Streptolysin S*	SLS	Streptococcus equi	Disease of the upper respiratory tract and associated lymph nodes in equids (29, 30)		
Perfringolysin	PFO	Clostridium perfringens	Histotoxic infections, pathogenesis of gas gangrene (31, 32)		
Vaginolysin	VLY	Gardnerella vaginalis	Bacterial vaginosis (33)		
Lectinolysin	LLY	Streptococcus mitis Streptococcus pseudopneumoniae	Infective endocarditis, bacteremia and septicemia (34)		
Suilysin	SLY	Streptococcus suis	Meningitis (35)		
Intermedilysin	ILY	Streptococcus intermedius	Associated with brain and liver abscesses (36)		

\*SLS was also identified in S. pyogenes and most of other group A Streptococcus isolates (37). However, the hemolytic activity of SLS is not affected by cholesterol (29).

pathogenic *Streptococci* and *Listeria* (see below). Numerous studies have shown that the CDCs' pore-forming ability requires the presence of cholesterol in the plasma membrane of host cells (38–47).

# General Mechanism of Plasma Membrane Pore Formation by CDCs

Formation of the plasma membrane pores by CDCs relies on the self-assembly of monomers bound individually to cholesterolrich membranes, followed by dimerization and oligomerization. At the protein level, CDCs are conserved across multiple organisms (46, 48). Structurally, various CDCs are organized into four functional domains. Figure 1 shows crystal structures of three CDCs [streptolysin O (SLO) from Streptococcus pyogenes, pneumolysin (PLY) from S. pneumoniae, and listeriolysin O (LLO) from Listeria monocytogenes] used in mast cell research. Domains 1 and 2 retain the contact with the aqueous environment during the pore formation. Domain 3 is composed of two transmembrane helices that convert to  $\beta$ strands involved in penetrating the host membrane. Domain 4 is involved in cholesterol sensing and membrane binding. This domain, which shows the highest conservation across CDCs, consists of a  $\beta$ -sandwich linked by structural loops and a tryptophan-rich undecapeptide (TR-UDP). A previous study has shown that the threonine-leucine pair of sequential amino acids binds to the hydroxyl group of cholesterol in cholesterolrich membrane regions (54), but not free cholesterol (55). Thus, the threonine-leucine pair of CDC recognizes specific features of cholesterol at the plasma membrane to initiate the cholesteroldependent interaction of the CDC with the cell. Although different CDCs have an identical cholesterol-binding motif,

they exhibit different binding parameters depending on the lipid (56) and glycan (57, 58) environment. These interactions anchor the CDC monomer in a perpendicular orientation to the membrane surface. The domain 4-lipid interaction triggers conformational changes in spatially distant domain 3, which exposes a previously hidden interface involved in oligomerization and, hence, formation a pre-pore complex. Then, two sets of short  $\alpha$ -helices in domain 3 undergo an  $\alpha$ helix to  $\beta$ -sheet transition, leading to creation of two poreforming transmembrane β-hairpins (TMHs) per monomer, which are still above the membrane surface. Through this process, plasma membrane-bound monomers oligomerize into pre-pores consisting of 35 - 50 monomers sitting on the cell surface (Figure 2). Next, the pre-pore components undergo further restructuring, including shape changes, bringing domain 3 and its TMH regions to the membrane proximity. This leads to refolding the transmembrane helices into  $\beta$ -strands and forming a  $\beta$ -barrel pore in the plasma membrane with a diameter of about 30 nm (43, 45, 46, 48, 59-62).

Recent data (57, 58) showed that of eight CDCs studied [SLO, PLY, LLO, perfringolysin (PFO) from *Clostridium perfringens*; vaginolysin (VLY) from *Gardnerella vaginalis*; lectinolysin (LLY) from *Streptococcus mitis* or *S. pseudopneumoniae*; suilysin (SLY) from *S. suis*, and intermedilysin (ILY) from *S. intermedius*], all had high-affinity lectin activity that identified glycans as candidate cellular receptors. Some of the CDCs, including SLO, VLY, and PFO, bound multiple glycans, while PLY, LLY, LLO recognized a single glycan class. All of the glycans functioning as CDC receptors are found as glycolipids, transmembrane glycoproteins, or GPI-qanchored (CD-59) glycoproteins that are frequently associated with the periphery of cholesterol-





84



enriched lipid rafts (63). Further investigation showed no competition between cholesterol and glycan receptor binding, indicating that cholesterol and glycans bind to CDCs independently. Significantly, addition of an exogenous carbohydrate receptor for each CDC inhibited the toxin activity. Thus, binding to both the glycan receptor and cholesterol-rich membrane seems to be essential to the toxic effect of the CDCs. The combined data indicated that glycoprotein and/or glycolipid receptors present on the cellular membrane contribute to the CDCs' cell and tissue tropism.

### **Cell Response to CDC in General**

The cell response to CDC depends on the cell type examined, type of CDC, and its concentration. Sensitivity to the toxic effect of CDC reflects, in part, the cell ability to repair membrane disruptions. This probably explains why erythrocytes are more sensitive to SLO than nucleated mammalian cell lines (64, 65). When used at sublytic concentrations, as is often the case *in vivo*, CDCs trigger several cellular processes, including membrane repair and resealing of the membrane pores by various mechanisms. The cell ability to reseal a limited number of pores generated by CDCs is generally dependent on Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels (66). Changes in the concentration of free cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> could lead to activation of proinflammatory transcriptional regulators, including nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa$ B, c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and NFAT (**Figures 3** and **4**). Various transcriptional regulators could be activated depending on the calcium signal

amplitude and duration (67). Initial studies suggested that the CDCs'  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling is mainly due to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx from the extracellular milieu (68, 69). However, later studies showed that CDCs could also induce  $Ca^{2+}$  release from intracellular stores *via* at least two independent mechanisms. The first one induces activation of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  channels and involves phospholipase (PLC)-inositol triphosphate receptor (IP3R)-operated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels activated *via* G-proteins and protein tyrosine kinases. The second one is  $Ca^{2+}$  channel independent, involving injury of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  stores such as endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (70).

Membrane repair after exposure to sublytic concentrations of CDCs is usually executed through microvesicular shedding and endocytosis; this could lead to removing the toxin from the membrane (71). Using SLO mutants with engineered defects in pore formation or oligomerization, the authors found that oligomerization, in the absence of pore formation, was necessary and sufficient for membrane shedding, suggesting that the calcium influx and patch formation were not required for shedding (71). However, the authors did not exclude the possibility that oligomerization and pre-pore formation induced changes in the plasma membrane leading to activation of calcium uptake and other signaling events.

CDC-mediated formation of pores in the plasma membrane leads to many other cell signaling events, which involve apoptosis (72), DNA damage and cell cycle arrest (73), unfolded protein response (74), induction of ubiquitination (75), and transcriptional activation (76, 77).



cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> and other activation events lead to the release of secretory vesicles (degranulation) in which the cytoskeleton plays an important role.

It should also be mentioned that some CDCs can induce cell activation in the absence of pore formation. The toxins bind to plasma membrane microdomains enriched in cholesterol, gangliosides, GPI-anchored proteins, and Src family kinase called lipid rafts, which are involved in signal transduction (78-80). Using LLO and the cholesterol-inactivated form of LLO (CL-LLO), Gekara et al. demonstrated that both forms of the toxin bind to and induce clustering of lipid rafts (81). Consistent with the role of lipid rafts in cell signaling, the authors found that CL-LLO-induced raft aggregation resulted in activation of tyrosine kinases in a pore-independent manner. The aggregation of rafts could have critical physiological consequences in listeriosis. Under in vivo conditions, secreted LLO is inactivated by cholesterol present in body fluids. Although cholesterol-inactivated LLO loses its pore-forming capacity, CL-LLO can activate target cells by aggregating lipid rafts and, in this way, influences the course of Listeria monocytogenes infection. In this process, the lectin activity of CDCs, discussed above, could play a key role. Interestingly, LLO was found to bind to carbohydrate structures present on gangliosides (58), which are found in lipid rafts (82).

# CDC INTERACTIONS WITH MAST CELLS

Most of the studies focused on the molecular mechanisms of CDC interactions with mast cells were performed using rat,

mouse, or human mast cell lines, bone marrow-derived mouse mast cells (BMMCs), or human mast cells isolated from the lungs or intestine. While mechanisms described in previous section are common to various cell types, including mast cells, several mast cell-specific responses are directed towards CDCs. This reflects the unique properties of mast cells, based on transcriptional profiles, dramatically different from other cell types of the immune system (83). This could be in part related to the findings that mast cells are evolutionarily ancient, dating back to at least as far as urochordates (84–86), and that mast cells have unique functions as first-line sentinels of the immune system for host defense against pathogens (87).

# Molecular Mechanism of Mast Cell Activation With CDCs

The canonical way of mast cell signaling through FccRI involves, as a first step, ligand (IgE-antigen complexes, lectin, anti-FccRI antibody)-mediated aggregation of FccRI. The aggregation of the FccRI receptors leads to Src family protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) Lyn-mediated phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motives (ITAMs) in the FccRI  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ subunits by incompletely understood mechanism (88). The phosphorylated  $\gamma$  subunits then serve as binding and activation sites for the Syk kinase, which phosphorylates many signaling molecules, including transmembrane adaptor protein LAT1 (linker for activation of T cells) and non T cell activation linker (NTAL or LAT2), reviewed in (89). Phosphorylated



LAT1 recruits molecules containing Src homology (SH)2 domains, such as adaptor protein Grb-2 and PLCy1. An important intermediate is phosphatidylinositol (PI)-3-OH kinase (PI3K), which catalyzes synthesis of PI-3,4-bisphosphate and PI-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3). These phospholipids contribute to the recruitment of PLCy1 and PLCy2 and other molecules containing pleckstrin homology domains to the plasma membrane. PLC cleaves the phospholipid phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) into diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3). IP3 diffuses through the cytosol to bind to IP3R, Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels in the ER, and thus causes a rapid but transient release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from ER stores to the cytoplasm. Decreased levels of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in ER are sensed by ER protein STIM1, which then oligomerizes and interacts with the plasma membrane (PM) protein Orai1 at ER-PM junctions [reviewed in (90, 91)]. STIM1-Orai1 assembly forms the active channel responsible for store-operated Ca<sup>2+</sup> (SOC) channels, which activates the entry of external  $Ca^{2+}$  into the cytoplasm. Phospholipids and DAG are used as substrates by phospholipase A (PLA)2 and diacylglycerol lipase, respectively, leading to arachidonic acid production. Arachidonic acid is a precursor in production of eicosanoids such as prostaglandins and leukotrienes, which exert a complex control over many bodily systems, mainly in inflammation and immunity (92, 93). The maintenance and amplification of FceRI-generated signals are regulated by the phosphoinositide 3 kinase (PI3K)/ Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) axis (94). This pathway contributes to the cytokine and chemokine production regulation through activation of transcription factors NFAT and NFKB (95). Production of cytokines, chemokines, and

other proteins also requires activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways and enhanced transcription through the activation of various transcription factors, such as those that bind to promoter regions of the genes encoding the proteins mentioned above. There are three major MAP kinase pathways involving extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and p38 MAP kinase activated *via* the Ras-Raf pathway in the FccRI-activated cells. A key role in this process is played by Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, as documented by the possibility to induce degranulation in mast cells by bypassing the early aggregated FccRI-mediated events by thapsigargin or calcium ionophore A23187 (96, 97). Significantly, the PI3 kinase is involved in mast cell activation induced through both IgE-dependent and antigen-independent pathways (98, 99).

Based on these and data from other systems showing the involvement of calcium in the activation of transcription factors (67, 100), it has been proposed that CDCs induce mast cell activation by producing pores through which Ca<sup>2+</sup> enters the cell (70). However, as described by Usmani et al. (101), the interaction of SLO with the cells could increase the concentration of free Ca<sup>2+</sup> through IP3-mediated depletion of intracellular stores and activation of store-operated Ca<sup>2+</sup> (SOC) entry dependent on the STIM1-Orail cross-talk. This mechanism of Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry was independent of the toxin's ability to form Ca<sup>2+</sup>-conducting pores, allowing the cell to respond to much lower toxin concentrations. Thus, SLO may induce IP3 release by a mechanism comparable to the one used by regular surface receptors. The molecular mechanisms of IP3 release by CDCs, however, remain enigmatic. Below, we will review data on three CDCs (SLO, PLY, and LLO) used in the

studies on the molecular mechanisms of mast cell activation. In several studies, bacteria producing CDCs and their nonproducing forms have been used. Summary data on the effects of CDCs on degranulation, cytokine and chemokine production, tyrosine phosphorylation, and  $Ca^{2+}$  responses are presented in **Table 2**. **Table 3** provides summary data on the effect of CDCs on cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators produced in mouse and human mast cells.

## Streptolysin O (SLO)

SLO is a multifunctional protein with pore-dependent and poreindependent functions (112, 113) produced by *Streptococcus pyogenes*. This pathogen is responsible for various infectious diseases, including pharyngitides, rheumatic fever, scarlet fever, and life-threatening conditions such as necrotizing soft tissue infection (necrotizing fasciitis) and streptococcal toxic shock syndrome (23, 24). In initial studies, peritoneal mast cells were permeabilized by treatment with SLO at concentrations that generated membrane lesions. The permeabilized mast cells released histamine and  $\beta$ -N-acetylglucosaminidase, dependent on the presence of nucleoside triphosphate and micromolar concentrations of Ca<sup>2+</sup>. SLO-permeabilized mast cells have been used as a simplified system for studies to understand the molecular mechanisms of exocytosis (114–118) and the role of plasma membrane repair mechanisms (65, 76, 119). In these experiments, relatively high SLO doses were used, allowing formation of numerous pores in the plasma membrane of target cells. While such doses are cytocidal, low doses are tolerated because a limited number of lesions are formed and can be resealed by repair mechanisms (120).

Further studies showed that sublethal doses of SLO rapidly activated BMMCs to degranulate and to induce production of mRNAs of several cytokines, including tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , IL-13, IL-4, IL-6, and GM-CSF (Figures 3 and 4). Production of TNF- $\alpha$  was blunted upon pharmacological depletion of protein kinase C by phorbol-12 myristate-13 acetate. Exposure to low, nontoxic concentrations of SLO also resulted in enhanced phosphorylation of stress-activated protein kinases p38 mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase and c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK). Inhibition of p38 MAP kinase markedly reduced production of TNF- $\alpha$ , suggesting that transcriptional activation of mast cells following transient permeabilization might contribute to the host defense against streptococcal infections via the beneficial effects of TNF-a. However, mast cell hyperstimulation might also lead to overproduction of TNF- $\alpha$ , promoting development of the toxic streptococcal syndrome (102). The involvement of TNF- $\alpha$  in the host defense against streptococcal infection was described in previous studies (13, 76, 107, 108).

The resistance to CDCs is affected by the levels of surface cholesterol and proteins exposed to the plasma membrane.

**TABLE 2** | Effect of various cytolysins at sublytic concentrations on mast cell degranulation, production of cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators, tyrosine phosphorylation of signaling molecules, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> response.

MC response Activating agents	Degranulation		Level of cytokines, chemokines and other mediators		Tyrosine phosphorylation			Ca <sup>2+</sup> levels
	Histamine release	β-Hexosaminidase release*	mRNA	Protein	P38 MAPK	JNK	Erk1/2	
Cytolysins								
SLO		↑ (102) ↑ (103, serotonin*)	↑ (102)	↑ (102)	↑ (102)	<b>↑ (</b> 102 <b>)</b>		
PLY	- (104)			↑ (104)				
LLO		↑ (70)	↑ (70)	↑ (70)				↑ (70)
Cholesterol-inactivated LLO		- (70)	- (70)					- (70)
Cytolysin-producing and no	n-producing ba	cteria						
SLS producing <i>S. equi</i> live bacteria	<b>↑ (</b> 105)		<b>↑/- (</b> 106 <b>)</b>	↑ (105, 106)	↑ (106)			
SLS non-producing <i>S. equi</i> live bacteria			- (106)	- (106)	- (106)		- (106)	
PLY producing S. Pneumoniae live bacteria (107) lysed bacteria (102, 108)	<b>– (</b> 104 <b>)</b>	↑ (26, 109)		- (109) ↑/- (26) ↑ (104)				
PLY-non-producing S. pneumoniae	<b>- (</b> 104 <b>)</b>	- (26)		- (26, 104)				
LLO-producing Listeria		↑ (70)		↑ (70, 110)				↑ (70)
monocytogenes		↑ (110, CD107a*)						,
LLO-non-producing <i>Listeria</i> monocytogenes		- (70)						- (70)
Others Saponin			↑ (106)	↑ (106)	↑ (106)		↑ (106)	

↑Increased level, - unchanged level.

\*In these studies, serotonin release or CD107a surface expression were used for quantification of degranulation instead of  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release.

TABLE 3 | Effect of cytolysins or bacteria producing the corresponding cytolysins on production of selected cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators by various mast cell types.

Mast cell type	Changes in production of cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators in response to cytolysins or bacteria producing the corresponding cytolysins					
	At the mRNA level	At the protein level	Ref.			
Mouse						
BMMC	↑: TNF-α, IL-4, IL-6, IL-13, GM- CSF, MCP-1, Nr4a3	↑: TNF-α, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-12, IL-13, CCL2/MCP-1, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, RANTES, GM-CSF -: TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-10, IL-12, IL-17A, IFN-γ, TGF-β	(26, 70, 102, 105, 106, 110)			
BMMC (response to SLS-deficient strain)	-: TNF-α, IL-6, Nr4a3	-: TNF-α, IL-6, CCL2/MCP-1	(106)			
BMMC (response to PLY-deficient strain)		-: IL-6, -CCL2/MCP-1	(26)			
PCMC	†: IL-6, Nr4a3 –: TNF-α	†: TNF-α, IL-6, CCL2/MCP-1	(106)			
PCMC (response to SLS-deficient strain)	-: TNF-α, IL-6, Nr4a3	-: TNF-α, IL-6, CCL2/MCP-1	(106)			
Human						
HLMC		↑: LTC4	(104)			
Human intestinal MC	↑: TNF-α, IL-3, -5, -6, CXCL8	↑: TNF-α, CXCL8, LTB4, sLT	(111)			
Human intestinal MC (response to Hly-deficient strain)	-: TNF-α, IL-5, CXCL8	-: LTB4, sLT	(111)			
HMC-1		↑: LTC4	(104)			
HMC-1 (response to PLY-deficient strain)		-: LTC4	(104)			
LAD2		↑: LTC4	(104)			

↑ increased level. – unchanged level.

BMMC, Bone marrow-derived mast cells.

PCMC. Peritoneal cell-derived mast cells.

HLMC, Human lung mast cells.

HMC-1, Human mast cell line.

LAD2, Human mast cell line.

Schoenaurer et al. (121) described that toxin-induced plasma membrane perforation caused by SLO in human mast cells (HMC1) is affected by expression levels of the P2X7 receptor. The P2X7 receptor is an ATP-gated trimeric membrane cation channel, which after activation with ATP triggers Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and induces blebbing (122). This protective effect of the P2X7 receptor can be increased by activating the P2X7 receptor with ATP and abolished by selective P2X7R antagonists, A-438079 or blebbistatin (121).

Other studies showed that SLO is not the only activator of the mast and other immune cells, but also inhibits immune cell activity. Experiments with neutrophils revealed that SLO sublytic concentrations suppressed the oxidative burst in neutrophils, facilitating bacteria escape from innate immune killing (123). Thus, SLO functions as a virulence factor that is necessary and sufficient for suppressing bactericidal ROS production, thereby subverting neutrophil ROS-dependent killing. Interestingly, S. aureus, producing pore-forming virulence factor α-hemolysin (H1a), did not modulate the oxidative burst of neutrophils, suggesting a specific unique role of SLO, not a general consequence of membrane perturbation and disruption. Further studies showed that LLO and PFO could suppress the oxidative burst in murine macrophages by preventing NADPH oxidase localization with phagosome (124). In addition to oxidative burst suppression, low concentrations of SLO

prevented release of IL-8 and elastase and blocked formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (123). It should also be mentioned that Logsdon and colleagues (113) showed that SLO at low levels reduced bacteria internalization by keratinocytes and concluded that SLO interferes with the internalization through local perturbations of the cell membrane and disruption of clathrin-dependent uptake pathways. They suggested that by forming plasma membrane pores in cholesterol-rich membrane domains, SLO may mimic cholesterol depletion and, in this way, inhibit the clustering of lipid rafts, thereby interfering with integrin signaling and bacterial internalization. These results are compatible with a model in which SLO binding (through fibronectin) to integrins of the cell surface acts to cluster integrin-containing membrane domains, thereby enhancing integrin-mediated cell signaling to stimulate the process of bacterial internalization. The results obtained in vitro were confirmed by experiments in vivo in which injection of SLO into ears of mast cell-deficient mice (KitW/ KitW-v) resulted in a weak inflammatory response when compared to KitW/KitW-v mice that had been selectively engrafted with BMMCs (103).

### Pneumolysin (PLY)

Most pathogenic isolates of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* produce PLY. These bacteria are the leading source of bacterial

pneumonia and could cause otitis media and bacterial meningitis (25, 26). Experiments *in vitro* showed that exposure of rat RBL-2H3 cells to various strains of *S. pneumoniae* leads to degranulation in a dose- and time-dependent manner. The degranulation was only partially controlled by cytosolic calcium and was not accompanied by production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 (109). The authors suggested that the induction of mast cell degranulation by pneumococcal factors not accompanied by the production of proinflammatory cytokines may be a specific strategy elaborated by this bacterium to promote its spreading from the respiratory mucosa and reducing neutrophil infiltration. Thus, the PLY amount could be meager, and other bacterial proteins could play a dominant role.

Human lung mast cells (HLMCs) and human mast cell lines HMC-1 and LAD2 were cocultured with pneumococci or stimulated with PLY. HLMCs and cell lines exhibited antimicrobial activity against *S. pneumoniae*. PLY induced release of antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin LL-37. These data suggested that mast cells limit pneumococcal dissemination early in the course of pneumococcal pulmonary disease (104). A recent study extended these findings and showed that mouse BMMCs degranulated and released IL-6, CCL2, CCL3, and CCL4 (but not IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , and several other cytokines) after exposure to *S. pneumoniae* (104, 125).

Furthermore, the response of BMMCs varied among different pneumococcal serotypes and was dependent on PLY but independent of TLR activation (26). These studies suggested that the absence of mast cells or pharmacologic mast cell stabilizer (cromoglycate) may reduce inflammation and ameliorate the disease severity following intracisternal infection in mice with *S. pneumoniae*. Surprisingly, experiments *in vivo* using mast cell-deficient strains (WBB6F1-KitW/Wv and C57BL/6 KitW-sh/W-sh mice) showed no significant effect on the disease phenotype of experimental pneumococcal meningitis (26). Thus, the results do not support previous *in vivo* data showing that mast cell-deficient KitW-sh/W-sh mice exposed to *S. pneumoniae* exhibited reduced inflammation, lower bacterial outgrowth, and longer survival compared with wild-type (WT) mice (126).

# Listeriolysin (LLO)

Pore-forming toxin LLO is the main virulence factor of *Listeria* monocytogenes. LLO is known to induce a broad spectrum of host responses that ultimately influence the outcome of listeriosis. Unlike the other pathogens producing CDCs, *Listeria monocytogenes* is an intracellular pathogen that requires its CDC, LLO, for intracellular survival. LLO is thus the only cytolysin that is secreted by a facultative intracellular pathogen, while all other CDCs are produced by pathogens that are largely extracellular. LLO monomers bind to plasma membrane microdomains in target cell membranes, dimerize and oligomerize to form pre-pore complexes, followed by formation of pores of 50-80 subunits. Formation of pre-pores leads to aggregation of lipid rafts and signal transduction. Formation of pores and reparation processes are other steps of CDC-mediated cell activation in which extracellular components  $(Ca^{2+})$  enter the cytoplasm, and cytoplasmic components (such as K<sup>+</sup> and proteins) are released from the cell. This leads to signals in target host cells resulting in degranulation, cytokine and chemokine production, suppression of phagocytosis, and induction of apoptosis (127–130) (**Figures 3** and **4**).

Using BMMCs and RBL-2H3 cells, Gekara et al. (70) showed that LLO triggers cellular responses such as degranulation and cytokine synthesis in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner. They also found that LLO-mediated  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling is due to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx from the extracellular milieu and release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores. Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from intracellular stores occurs via activation of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, which involve tyrosine phosphorylation of several proteins, including PLC-y1 and IP<sub>3</sub>R-operated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels activated *via* G-proteins and protein tyrosine kinases. These data and the fact that the Ca<sup>2+</sup> release could partially be blocked by tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein and G-protein inhibitor pertussis toxin suggested that LLO activated the IP<sub>3</sub>R Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels via tyrosine phosphorylation and G-protein activation of PLC  $\gamma$  and PLC  $\beta$ isoforms, respectively. Another mechanism of Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from intracellular stores is Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel independent, which could reflect injury of intracellular stores, such as the ER (70). The data are relevant to previous studies showing that exposure of human embryonic kidney cells to sublytic concentrations of LLO caused long-lasting oscillation of the intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, leading to a pulsed influx of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> through pores that LLO forms in the plasma membrane. Calcium influx did not require the activity of endogenous Ca2+ channels. These data indicated that Ca<sup>2+</sup> oscillations modulate cellular signaling and gene expression and could form a basis for the broad spectrum of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent cellular responses induced during Listeria infection (68).

Later studies using macrophage cell line J774 indicated that LLO is a potent aggregator of plasma membrane components, including GPI-anchored proteins CD14, CD16, ganglioside GM1, and protein tyrosine kinase Lyn. Abrogation of the cytolytic activity of LLO by cholesterol pretreatment was found not to interfere with the ability of LLO to aggregate the abovementioned surface molecules nor to trigger tyrosine phosphorylation of Lyn and Syk kinases in the cells. When the oligomerization of LLO was blocked by monoclonal anti-LLO antibody, aggregation of surface molecules and tyrosine phosphorylation were blocked. The combined data suggested that LLO induces signaling through coaggregation of the plasma membrane receptors, kinases, and adaptors (81). Recently discovered lectin activity of LLO could play a vital role in this process (58). However, cholesterol-inactivated LLO, which binds and aggregates plasma membrane components such as the active form of LLO, could not induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> release in mast cells. Thus, it is likely that membrane binding or plasma membrane protein aggregation is not sufficient to activate the IP<sub>3</sub>R-dependent pathways and that LLO oligomerization and transmembrane insertion leading to pore formation are essential in this process (70).

Contrary to the study of Gekara et al. (70), Jobbings et al. (110) found that in the absence of  $Ca^{2+}$ , LLO-mediated

degranulation was enhanced, whereas antigen and PMA/Imediated degranulation was completely inhibited. This discrepancy could be explained by LLO-mediated pore formation in granules resulting in degranulation and mediator release. Thus LLO is required for mast cell degranulation, independent of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The authors also found that in mast cells, LLO induces transient downregulation of cell surface c-kit receptor (CD117) without any effect of the FceRI expression. Detailed analysis showed that in response to *L. monocytogenes*, mast cells release in addition to the key inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) a range of other mediators including Osteopontin, IL-2, IL-4, IL-13, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and several chemokines (CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, and CCL5). These cytokines are released in a MyD88-dependent manner.

A recent study (51) showed that four D4 subunits of LLO in the membrane-bound state are placed in the bilayer interface in a pre-pore configuration. In contrast, the membrane-inserted state consists of a tetrameric arc-like pore configuration. The binding of LLO leads to induced spatial heterogeneity that occurs in both membrane-bound and membrane-inserted states. This heterogeneity is primarily driven by the local density enhancement of cholesterol in the vicinity of LLO D4 subunits in the membrane-bound state. The induced heterogeneity after plasma membrane binding of LLO could be at least in part responsible for the observed changes in signaling machinery in cells exposed to low concentrations of CDCs. In this process, aggregation of lipid raft components (**Figure 2**) could play an important role.

# COMPARABLE RESPONSE OF MAST CELLS TO CDCS AND OTHER PORE-FORMING COMPOUNDS

The results so far discussed indicate that various CDCs at sublytic concentrations induce similar mast cell activation events. This could reflect the structural similarity of CDCs examined (**Figure 1**) or the general effect of compounds leading to plasma membrane perturbation. Several lines of evidence indicate that the mast cell inflammatory response described for CDCs is comparable to other pore-forming and membrane destabilizing compounds.

Extensive studies have been devoted to SLS produced by *Streptococcus equi*, which causes a highly contagious and common disease of the upper respiratory tract and associated lymph nodes in equids (29). SLS was also identified in *Streptococcus pyogenes* and other *Streptococcus* species. Genomic analysis has identified gene clusters that are similar to the SLS-associated cluster in other pathogens such as *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Clostridium botulinum* and *Staphylococcus aureus* (131). SLS belongs to a distinct group of toxins whose hemolytic activity is sensitive to trypan blue, which are resistant to cholesterol and unaffected by oxidation. In these properties it differs from SLO and other CDCs (29, 131, 132). An initial

ultrastructural study using BMMCs as a model showed the extensive formation of dilated ER in response to *S. equi* exposure, indicating enhanced protein synthesis (105). Further analysis revealed that exposure of BMMCs to *S. equi* did not show signs of extensive degranulation. However, the coculture of live bacteria with BMMCs resulted in profound secretion of IL-4, IL-6, IL-12, IL-13, TNF- $\alpha$ , CCL2, CCL7, MCP3, CXCL2, CCL5. In contrast, heat-inactivated bacteria caused only minimal cytokine/chemokine response (105).

A recent study showed that BMMCs responded vividly to wild-type S. equi by upregulating a panel of proinflammatory genes and secreting proinflammatory IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)1 (106). However, this response was abrogated entirely in S. equi lacking the sagA gene encoding SLS. Several lines of evidence indicated that mast cell activation is not the result of mast cell lysis and release of components capable of mast cell triggering. Immunoblotting analysis revealed that exposure of mast cells to wild-type S. equi, but not to a SLS-deficient mutant, induced phosphorylation of p38 and Erk1/2, which could be inhibited by the corresponding inhibitors. Based on these data, the authors concluded that bacteria-derived SLS at sublytic concentrations is a major stimulus for mast cell activation leading to proinflammatory gene expression and cytokine production. It should be noted, however, that in contrast to CDCs, SLS induced only week degranulation (106).

Kramer et al. (111) examined the effect of α-hemolysin, a protein toxin that assembles on membranes to form a heptameric pore structure (133). They found that *Escherichia coli* strains producing α-hemolysin induced release of histamine, leukotrienes, and proinflammatory cytokines from intestinal human mast cells. Blocking the extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and calmodulin/calcineurin pathway by cyclosporine A inhibited the response to α-hemolysin. Activation of mast cells by αhemolysin was also inhibited by blocking MAPKs p38 and ERK. Pharmacological blockade of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent PKCα, and PKCβ1 or PI3K had an only weak effect on α-hemolysin activation of mast cells, but a robust inhibitory effect on FceRImediated cell activation. The data indicate that mast cell activation by FceRI and α-hemolysin utilize different signal transduction pathways (111).

During their experiments focused on *S. equi* interaction with mast cells, von Beek et al. (106) used another pore-forming compound, saponin, and a steroid glycoside detergent digitonin to determine whether SLS and saponins trigger BMMCs in a similar way. They found that saponin, which forms tiny pores in the plasma membrane (134, 135) at sublytic concentrations, triggered IL-6 and TNF production similarly to SLS. They concluded that mast cell activation by *S. equi* SLS could be phenocopied by low sublytic concentrations of saponin. When steroidal saponin, digitonin, was used at sublytic concentrations, profound production of IL-6 in mast cells was also observed. Altogether, these data suggest that multiple lytic agents at sublytic concentrations could induce mast cell activation by similar mechanisms.

# CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Despite impressive progress in understanding the molecular mechanism of CDCs' interaction with plasma membranes and CDC-mediated activation of the mast and other cell types, the picture is far from complete. The involvement of similar signaling pathways triggered by CDCs and saponins suggests a similar cell response towards plasma membrane perturbations. These perturbations involve (I) binding of ligands to plasma membrane structures (GPI-anchored proteins, cholesterol-rich domains, glycoconjugates), (II) aggregation of monomers (oligomerization process) and pre-pore formation, (III) plasma membrane pore formation, and (IV) activation of the signaling machinery leading to cell activation and production of inflammatory mediators. The molecular-level details of individual steps are yet to be determined. Although studies of membranes can now benefit from the large-scale detailed analysis of lipid molecular species, there is currently a paucity of data regarding some of the critical points, such as (I) lipid compositional analysis of plasma membrane domains from cells at various stages of pore formation and (II) complete compositional analysis of proteins associated with lipid prepores and pores at various time intervals after exposure to CDCs. Furthermore, a comparison of phosphoproteomes from cells activated via IgE-antigen complexes, sublytic concentrations of CDCs, or sublytic concentrations of saponins could be informative in delineating specific signaling pathways involved in cell activation by CDCs.

# REFERENCES

- Galli SJ, Nakae S, Tsai M. Mast Cells in the Development of Adaptive Immune Responses. Nat Immunol (2005) 6:135–42. doi: 10.1038/ ni1158
- Rivera J, Gilfillan AM. Molecular Regulation of Mast Cell Activation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2006) 117:1214–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.04.015
- Abraham SN, St John AL. Mast Cell-Orchestrated Immunity to Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:440–52. doi: 10.1038/nri2782
- Harvima IT, Levi-Schaffer F, Draber P, Friedman S, Polakovicova I, Gibbs BF, et al. Molecular Targets on Mast Cells and Basophils for Novel Therapies. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2014) 134:530–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2014.03.007
- Mukai K, Tsai M, Saito H, Galli SJ. Mast Cells as Sources of Cytokines, Chemokines, and Growth Factors. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 282:121–50. doi: 10.1111/imr.12634
- Trinchieri G, Sher A. Cooperation of Toll-like Receptor Signals in Innate Immune Defence. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:179–90. doi: 10.1038/ nri2038
- Agier J, Pastwinska J, Brzezinska-Blaszczyk E. An Overview of Mast Cell Pattern Recognition Receptors. *Inflammation Res* (2018) 67:737–46. doi: 10.1007/s00011-018-1164-5
- Subramanian H, Gupta K, Guo Q, Price R, Ali H. Mas-Related Gene X2 (MrgX2) is a Novel G Protein-Coupled Receptor for the Antimicrobial Peptide LL-37 in Human Mast Cells: Resistance to Receptor Phosphorylation, Desensitization, and Internalization. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:44739-49. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.277152
- Arifuzzaman M, Mobley YR, Choi HW, Bist P, Salinas CA, Brown ZD, et al. MRGPR-Mediated Activation of Local Mast Cells Clears Cutaneous Bacterial Infection and Protects Against Reinfection. *Sci Adv* (2019) 5: eaav0216. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aav0216

Most of the experiments described in this review were performed *in vitro*. Models that more closely resemble *in vivo* conditions are needed to unravel the relevance of CDCs and other pore-forming compounds to the pathogenesis of various diseases caused by CDC-producing bacteria. Such studies will be of great value in rational usage of CDCs as anti-cancer therapeutics (136, 137), vaccine adjuvants (138–141), and adjuvants stimulating inflammasome activity (142).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LD, MT, and PD wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by projects 18-18521S and 20-16481S from the Czech Science Foundation and by institutional project RVO 68378050.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Figures in this review were created with BioRender.com.

- Chompunud Na AC, Roy S, Thapaliya M, Ali H. Roles of a Mast Cell-Specific Receptor MRGPRX2 in Host Defense and Inflammation. *J Dent Res* (2020) 99:882–90. doi: 10.1177/0022034520919107
- Bulfone-Paus S, Nilsson G, Draber P, Blank U, Levi-Schaffer F. Positive and Negative Signals in Mast Cell Activation. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38:657–67. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.01.008
- Malaviya R, Ross EA, MacGregor JI, Ikeda T, Little JR, Jakschik BA, et al. Mast Cell Phagocytosis of FimH-expressing Enterobacteria. J Immunol (1994) 152:1907–14.
- Malaviya R, Ikeda T, Ross E, Abraham SN. Mast Cell Modulation of Neutrophil Influx and Bacterial Clearance at Sites of Infection Through TNF-α. *Nature* (1996) 381:77–80. doi: 10.1038/381077a0
- Malaviya R, Gao Z, Thankavel K, van der Merwe PA, Abraham SN. The Mast Cell Tumor Necrosis Factor α Response to FimH-expressing *Escherichia coli* is Mediated by the Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Anchored Molecule CD48. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1999) 96:8110–5. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.96.14.8110
- Malaviya R, Abraham SN. Mast Cell Modulation of Immune Responses to Bacteria. *Immunol Rev* (2001) 179:16–24. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065x.2001.790102.x
- Akira S, Takeda K, Kaisho T. Toll-Like Receptors: Critical Proteins Linking Innate and Acquired Immunity. Nat Immunol (2001) 2:675–80. doi: 10.1038/90609
- Marshall JS. Mast-Cell Responses to Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4:787–99. doi: 10.1038/nri1460
- Echtenacher B, Mannel DN, Hultner L. Critical Protective Role of Mast Cells in a Model of Acute Septic Peritonitis. *Nature* (1996) 381:75–7. doi: 10.1038/ 381075a0
- 19. Edelson BT, Li Z, Pappan LK, Zutter MM. Mast Cell-Mediated Inflammatory Responses Require the  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  Integrin. *Blood* (2004) 103:2214–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-08-2978

- Matsui H, Sekiya Y, Takahashi T, Nakamura M, Imanishi K, Yoshida H, et al. Dermal Mast Cells Reduce Progressive Tissue Necrosis Caused by Subcutaneous Infection With. *Streptococcus Pyogenes Mice J Med Microbiol* (2011) 60:128–34. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.020495-0[doi
- Gekara NO, Weiss S. Mast Cells Initiate Early anti-Listeria Host Defences. Cell Microbiol (2008) 10:225–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.01033.x
- Dietrich N, Rohde M, Geffers R, Kroger A, Hauser H, Weiss S, et al. Mast Cells Elicit Proinflammatory But Not Type I Interferon Responses Upon Activation of TLRs by Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107:8748–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912551107
- Cunningham MW. Pathogenesis of Group A Streptococcal Infections. Clin Microbiol Rev (2000) 13:470–511. doi: 10.1128/cmr.13.3.470-511.2000
- Bolz DD, Li Z, McIndoo ER, Tweten RK, Bryant AE, Stevens DL. Cardiac Myocyte Dysfunction Induced by Streptolysin O is Membrane Pore and Calcium Dependent. *Shock* (2015) 43:178–84. doi: 10.1097/ SHK.00000000000266
- Marriott HM, Mitchell TJ, Dockrell DH. Pneumolysin: A Double-Edged Sword During the Host-Pathogen Interaction. *Curr Mol Med* (2008) 8:497– 509. doi: 10.2174/156652408785747924
- 26. Fritscher J, Amberger D, Dyckhoff S, Bewersdorf JP, Masouris I, Voelk S, et al. Mast Cells are Activated by *Streptococcus Pneumoniae In Vitro* But Dispensable for the Host Defense Against Pneumococcal Central Nervous System Infection *In Vivo. Front Immunol* (2018) 9:550. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00550
- Schlech WF. Epidemiology and Clinical Manifestations of Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. Microbiol Spectr (2019) 7:1–12. doi: 10.1128/ microbiolspec.GPP3-0014-2018
- Vazquez-Boland JA, Kuhn M, Berche P, Chakraborty T, Dominguez-Bernal G, Goebel W, et al. Listeria Pathogenesis and Molecular Virulence Determinants. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2001) 14:584–640. doi: 10.1128/ CMR.14.3.584-640.2001
- Flanagan J, Collin N, Timoney J, Mitchell T, Mumford JA, Chanter N. Characterization of the Haemolytic Activity of *Streptococcus Equi. Microb Pathog* (1998) 24:211–21. doi: 10.1006/mpat.1997.0190
- Sweeney CR, Timoney JF, Newton JR, Hines MT. Streptococcus Equi Infections in Horses: Guidelines for Treatment, Control, and Prevention of Strangles. J Vet Intern Med (2005) 19:123–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-1676.2005.tb02671.x
- 31. O'Brien DK, Melville SB. Effects of *Clostridium Perfringens* α-Toxin (PLC) and Perfringolysin O (PFO) on Cytotoxicity to Macrophages, on Escape From the Phagosomes of Macrophages, and on Persistence of *C. Perfringens* in Host Tissues. *Infect Immun* (2004) 72:5204–15. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.9.5204-5215.2004[doi
- 32. Verherstraeten S, Goossens E, Valgaeren B, Pardon B, Timbermont L, Haesebrouck F, et al. Perfringolysin O: The Underrated *Clostridium Perfringens* Toxin? *Toxins* (*Basel*) (2015) 7:1702-21. doi: 10.3390/ toxins7051702
- Gelber SE, Aguilar JL, Lewis KL, Ratner AJ. Functional and Phylogenetic Characterization of Vaginolysin, the Human-Specific Cytolysin From Gardnerella Vaginalis. J Bacteriol (2008) 190:3896–903. doi: 10.1128/ JB.01965-07
- Mitchell J. Streptococcus Mitis: Walking the Line Between Commensalism and Pathogenesis. Mol Oral Microbiol (2011) 26:89–98. doi: 10.1111/j.2041-1014.2010.00601.x
- Tenenbaum T, Asmat TM, Seitz M, Schroten H, Schwerk C. Biological Activities of Suilysin: Role in *Streptococcus Suis* Pathogenesis. *Future Microbiol* (2016) 11:941–54. doi: 10.2217/fmb-2016-0028
- 36. Issa E, Salloum T, Tokajian S. From Normal Flora to Brain Abscesses: A Review of Streptococcus Intermedius. Front Microbiol (2020) 11:826. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.00826
- Yoshino M, Murayama SY, Sunaoshi K, Wajima T, Takahashi M, Masaki J, et al. Nonhemolytic *Streptococcus Pyogenes* Isolates That Lack Large Regions of the Sag Operon Mediating Streptolysin S Production. *J Clin Microbiol* (2010) 48:635–8. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01362-09
- Bernheimer AW, Davidson M. Lysis of Pleuropneumonia-Like Organisms by Staphylococcal and Streptococcal Toxins. *Science* (1965) 148:1229–31. doi: 10.1126/science.148.3674.1229

- Cowell JL, Bernheimer AW. Role of Cholesterol in the Action of Cereolysin on Membranes. Arch Biochem Biophys (1978) 190:603–10. doi: 10.1016/ 0003-9861(78)90316-8
- Giddings KS, Johnson AE, Tweten RK. Redefining Cholesterol's Role in the Mechanism of the Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2003) 100:11315–20. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2033520100
- Hotze EM, Tweten RK. Membrane Assembly of the Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Pore Complex. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2012) 1818:1028–38. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.07.036
- Feil SC, Ascher DB, Kuiper MJ, Tweten RK, Parker MW. Structural Studies of *Streptococcus Pyogenes* Streptolysin O Provide Insights Into the Early Steps of Membrane Penetration. *J Mol Biol* (2014) 426:785–92. doi: 10.1016/ j.jmb.2013.11.020
- Tweten RK, Hotze EM, Wade KR. The Unique Molecular Choreography of Giant Pore Formation by the Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins of Grampositive Bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol (2015) 69:323–40. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-micro-091014-104233
- Dal PM, van der Goot FG. Pore-Forming Toxins: Ancient, But Never Really Out of Fashion. Nat Rev Microbiol (2016) 14:77–92. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro.2015.3
- 45. Christie MP, Johnstone BA, Tweten RK, Parker MW, Morton CJ. Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins: From Water-Soluble State to Membrane Pore. *Biophys Rev* (2018) 10:1337–48. doi: 10.1007/s12551-018-0448-x
- Morton CJ, Sani MA, Parker MW, Separovic F. Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins: Membrane and Protein Structural Requirements for Pore Formation. *Chem Rev* (2019) 119:7721–36. doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrev. 9b00090
- Thapa R, Ray S, Keyel PA. Interaction of Macrophages and Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins: The Impact on Immune Response and Cellular Survival. *Toxins (Basel)* (2020) 12:531. doi: 10.3390/toxins12090531
- Heuck AP, Moe PC, Johnson BB. The Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Family of Gram-Positive Bacterial Toxins. Subcell Biochem (2010) 51:551– 77. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-8622-8\_20
- Park SA, Park YS, Bong SM, Lee KS. Structure-Based Functional Studies for the Cellular Recognition and Cytolytic Mechanism of Pneumolysin From *Streptococcus Pneumoniae. J Struct Biol* (2016) 193:132–40. doi: 10.1016/ j.jsb.2015.12.002
- Koster S, van PK, Hudel M, Leustik M, Rhinow D, Kuhlbrandt W, et al. Crystal Structure of Listeriolysin O Reveals Molecular Details of Oligomerization and Pore Formation. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3690. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4690
- Cheerla R, Ayappa KG. Molecular Dynamics Study of Lipid and Cholesterol Reorganization Due to Membrane Binding and Pore Formation by Listeriolysin O. J Membr Biol (2020) 253:535–50. doi: 10.1007/s00232-020-00148-9
- Ramachandran R, Tweten RK, Johnson AE. Membrane-Dependent Conformational Changes Initiate Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Oligomerization and Intersubunit β-Strand Alignment. Nat Struct Mol Biol (2004) 11:697–705. doi: 10.1038/nsmb793
- Dowd KJ, Farrand AJ, Tweten RK. The Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Signature Motif: A Critical Element in the Allosteric Pathway That Couples Membrane Binding to Pore Assembly. *PloS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002787. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002787
- Farrand AJ, LaChapelle S, Hotze EM, Johnson AE, Tweten RK. Only Two Amino Acids are Essential for Cytolytic Toxin Recognition of Cholesterol at the Membrane Surface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107:4341–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911581107
- 55. Kozorog M, Sani MA, Lenarcic ZM, Ilc G, Hodnik V, Separovic F, et al. <sup>19</sup>F NMR Studies Provide Insights Into Lipid Membrane Interactions of listeriolysin O, a Pore Forming Toxin From Listeria Monocytogenes. *Listeria Monocytogen Sci Rep* (2018) 8:6894. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-24692-6
- 56. Farrand AJ, Hotze EM, Sato TK, Wade KR, Wimley WC, Johnson AE, et al. The Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Membrane-Binding Interface Discriminates Lipid Environments of Cholesterol to Support β-Barrel Pore Insertion. J Biol Chem (2015) 290:17733–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.656769

- 57. Shewell LK, Harvey RM, Higgins MA, Day CJ, Hartley-Tassell LE, Chen AY, et al. The Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins Pneumolysin and Streptolysin O Require Binding to Red Blood Cell Glycans for Hemolytic Activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2014) 111:E5312-20. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1412703111
- Shewell LK, Day CJ, Jen FE, Haselhorst T, Atack JM, Reijneveld JF, et al. All Major Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins Use Glycans as Cellular Receptors. *Sci Adv* (2020) 6:eaaz4926. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaz4926
- Tweten RK. Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins, a Family of Versatile Pore-Forming Toxins. *Infect Immun* (2005) 73:6199–209. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.73.10.6199-6209.2005
- Ramachandran R, Tweten RK, Johnson AE. The Domains of a Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Undergo a Major FRET-Detected Rearrangement During Pore Formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2005) 102:7139–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500556102
- Savinov SN, Heuck AP. Interaction of Cholesterol With Perfringolysin O: What Have We Learned From Functional Analysis? *Toxins (Basel)* (2017) 9:1–17. doi: 10.3390/toxins9120381
- 62. van Pee K, Neuhaus A, D'Imprima E, Mills DJ, Kuhlbrandt W, Yildiz O. CryoEM Structures of Membrane Pore and Prepore Complex Reveal Cytolytic Mechanism of Pneumolysin. *Elife* (2017) 6:e23644. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.23644
- Gupta N, DeFranco AL. Visualizing Lipid Raft Dynamics and Early Signaling Events During Antigen Receptor-Mediated B-lymphocyte Activation. *Mol Biol Cell* (2003) 14:432–44. doi: 10.1091/mbc.02-05-0078
- Duncan JL, Schlegel R. Effect of Streptolysin O on Erythrocyte Membranes, Liposomes, and Lipid Dispersions. A Protein-Cholesterol Interaction. J Cell Biol (1975) 67:160–74. doi: 10.1083/jcb.67.1.160
- McNeil PL, Terasaki M. Coping With the Inevitable: How Cells Repair a Torn Surface Membrane. Nat Cell Biol (2001) 3:E124–9. doi: 10.1038/ 35074652
- 66. Walev I, Palmer M, Martin E, Jonas D, Weller U, Hohn-Bentz H, et al. Recovery of Human Fibroblasts From Attack by the Pore-Forming α-Toxin of *Staphylococcus Aureus*. *Microb Pathog* (1994) 17:187–201. doi: 10.1006/ mpat.1994.1065
- Dolmetsch RE, Lewis RS, Goodnow CC, Healy JI. Differential Activation of Transcription Factors Induced by Ca<sup>2+</sup> Response Amplitude and Duration. *Nature* (1997) 386:855–8. doi: 10.1038/386855a0
- Repp H, Pamukci Z, Koschinski A, Domann E, Darji A, Birringer J, et al. Listeriolysin of *Listeria Monocytogenes* Forms Ca<sup>2+</sup>-permeable Pores Leading to Intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> Oscillations. *Cell Microbiol* (2002) 4:483–91. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2002.00207.x
- Dramsi S, Cossart P. Listeriolysin O-mediated Calcium Influx Potentiates Entry of *Listeria Monocytogenes* Into the Human Hep-2 Epithelial Cell Line. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71:3614–8. doi: 10.1128/iai.71.6.3614-3618.2003
- Gekara NO, Westphal K, Ma B, Rohde M, Groebe L, Weiss S. The Multiple Mechanisms of Ca<sup>2+</sup> Signalling by Listeriolysin O, the Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin of *Listeria Monocytogenes. Cell Microbiol* (2007) 9:2008–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00932.x
- Romero M, Keyel M, Shi G, Bhattacharjee P, Roth R, Heuser JE, et al. Intrinsic Repair Protects Cells From Pore-Forming Toxins by Microvesicle Shedding. *Cell Death Differ* (2017) 24:798–808. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2017.11
- Carrero JA, Calderon B, Unanue ER. Listeriolysin O From Listeria Monocytogenes is a Lymphocyte Apoptogenic Molecule. J Immunol (2004) 172:4866–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.8.4866
- Rai P, He F, Kwang J, Engelward BP, Chow VT. Pneumococcal Pneumolysin Induces DNA Damage and Cell Cycle Arrest. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22972. doi: 10.1038/srep22972
- Pillich H, Loose M, Zimmer KP, Chakraborty T. Activation of the Unfolded Protein Response by *Listeria Monocytogenes. Cell Microbiol* (2012) 14:949– 64. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2012.01769.x
- Hancz D, Westerlund E, Valfridsson C, Aemero GM, Bastiat-Sempe B, Orning P, et al. Streptolysin O Induces the Ubiquitination and Degradation of Pro-IL-1β. J Innate Immun (2019) 11:457–68. doi: 10.1159/000496403
- 76. Walev I, Hombach M, Bobkiewicz W, Fenske D, Bhakdi S, Husmann M. Resealing of Large Transmembrane Pores Produced by Streptolysin O in Nucleated Cells is Accompanied by NF-κB Activation and Downstream Events. *FASEB J* (2002) 16:237–9. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0572fje

- Gekara NO, Zietara N, Geffers R, Weiss S. Listeria Monocytogenes Induces T Cell Receptor Unresponsiveness Through Pore-Forming Toxin Listeriolysin O. J Infect Dis (2010) 202:1698–707. doi: 10.1086/657145
- Simons K, Toomre D. Lipid Rafts and Signal Transduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2000) 1:31–9. doi: 10.1038/35036052
- Dráber P, Dráberová L, Kovárová M, Hálová I, Tolar P, Cerná H, et al. Lipid Rafts and Their Role in Signal Transduction - Mast Cells as a Model. *Trends Glycosci Glyc* (2001) 13:261–79. doi: 10.4052/tigg.13.261
- Dráber P, Draberova L. Lipid Rafts in Mast Cell Signaling. Mol Immunol (2002) 38:1247–52. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(02)00071-8
- Gekara NO, Jacobs T, Chakraborty T, Weiss S. The Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin Listeriolysin O Aggregates Rafts Via Oligomerization. *Cell Microbiol* (2005) 7:1345–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00561.x
- Wilson BS, Steinberg SL, Liederman K, Pfeiffer JR, Surviladze Z, Zhang J, et al. Markers for Detergent-Resistant Lipid Rafts Occupy Distinct and Dynamic Domains in Native Membranes. *Mol Biol Cell* (2004) 15:2580–92. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e03-08-0574
- Dwyer DF, Barrett NA, Austen KF. Expression Profiling of Constitutive Mast Cells Reveals a Unique Identity Within the Immune System. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17:878–87. doi: 10.1038/ni.3445
- Cavalcante MC, Allodi S, Valente AP, Straus AH, Takahashi HK, Mourao PA, et al. Occurrence of Heparin in the Invertebrate *Styela Plicata* (Tunicata) is Restricted to Cell Layers Facing the Outside Environment. An Ancient Role in Defense? *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275:36189–6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M005830200
- Cavalcante MC, de Andrade LR, Du BS-P, Straus AH, Takahashi HK, Allodi S, et al. Colocalization of Heparin and Histamine in the Intracellular Granules of Test Cells From the Invertebrate *Styela Plicata* (Chordata-Tunicata). J Struct Biol (2002) 137:313–21. doi: 10.1016/s1047-8477(02) 00007-2
- Wong GW, Zhuo L, Kimata K, Lam BK, Satoh N, Stevens RL. Ancient Origin of Mast Cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 451:314–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.124
- Marshall JS, Portales-Cervantes L, Leong E. Mast Cell Responses to Viruses and Pathogen Products. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20:1–18. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20174241
- Bugajev V, Bambousková M, Dráberová L, Dráber P. What Precedes the Initial Tyrosine Phosphorylation of the High Affinity IgE Receptor in Antigen-Activated Mast Cell? *FEBS Lett* (2010) 584:4949–55. doi: 10.1016/ j.febslet.2010.08.045
- Draber P, Halova I, Levi-Schaffer F, Draberova L. Transmembrane Adaptor Proteins in the High-Affinity IgE Receptor Signaling. *Front Immunol* (2012) 2:95. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00095
- Draber P, Draberova L. Lifting the Fog in Store-Operated Ca<sup>2+</sup> Entry. Trends Immunol (2005) 26:621–4. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2005.09.006
- Putney JW. Capacitative Calcium Entry: From Concept to Molecules. Immunol Rev (2009) 231:10–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00810.x
- Boyce JA. Mast Cells and Eicosanoid Mediators: A System of Reciprocal Paracrine and Autocrine Regulation. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 217:168–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00512.x
- Ma HT, Beaven MA. Regulators of Ca<sup>2+</sup> Signaling in Mast Cells: Potential Targets for Treatment of Mast Cell-Related Diseases? *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2011) 716:62–90. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-9533-9\_5
- Gilfillan AM, Tkaczyk C. Integrated Signalling Pathways for Mast-Cell Activation. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:218–30. doi: 10.1038/nri1782
- Iwaki S, Tkaczyk C, Satterthwaite AB, Halcomb K, Beaven MA, Metcalfe DD, et al. Btk Plays a Crucial Role in the Amplification of Fccri-Mediated Mast Cell Activation by Kit. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:40261–70. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M506063200
- Heiman AS, Chen M. Activation-Secretion Coupling in 10P2 Murine Mast Cells Challenged With IgE-antigen, Ionophore A23187, Thapsigargin and Phorbol Ester. *Pharmacology* (1997) 54:153–61. doi: 10.1159/000139482
- Draberova L, Shaik GM, Volna P, Heneberg P, Tumova M, Lebduska P, et al. Regulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> Signaling in Mast Cells by Tyrosine-Phosphorylated and Unphosphorylated non-T Cell Activation Linker. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:5169–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.8.5169
- Hirasawa N, Sato Y, Yomogida S, Mue S, Ohuchi K. Role of Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase in Degranulation Induced by IgE-

dependent and -Independent Mechanisms in Rat Basophilic RBL-2H3 (Ml) Cells. Cell Signal (1997) 9:305–10. doi: 10.1016/s0898-6568(96)00189-1

- Huber M, Hughes MR, Krystal G. Thapsigargin-Induced Degranulation of Mast Cells is Dependent on Transient Activation of Phosphatidylinositol-3 Kinase. J Immunol (2000) 165:124–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.1.124
- Carafoli E, Krebs J. Why Calcium? How Calcium Became the Best Communicator. J Biol Chem (2016) 291:20849-57. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.R116.735894
- 101. Usmani SM, von Einem J, Frick M, Miklavc P, Mayenburg M, Husmann M, et al. Molecular Basis of Early Epithelial Response to Streptococcal Exotoxin: Role of STIM1 and Orail Proteins. *Cell Microbiol* (2012) 14:299–315. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2011.01724.x
- 102. Stassen M, Muller C, Richter C, Neudorfl C, Hultner L, Bhakdi S, et al. The Streptococcal Exotoxin Streptolysin O Activates Mast Cells to Produce Tumor Necrosis Factor α by p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase- and Protein Kinase C-dependent Pathways. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71:6171–7. doi: 10.1128/iai.71.11.6171-6177.2003
- 103. Metz M, Magerl M, Kuhl NF, Valeva A, Bhakdi S, Maurer M. Mast Cells Determine the Magnitude of Bacterial Toxin-Induced Skin Inflammation. *Exp Dermatol* (2009) 18:160–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2008.00778.x
- 104. Cruse G, Fernandes VE, de Salort J, Pankhania D, Marinas MS, Brewin H, et al. Human Lung Mast Cells Mediate Pneumococcal Cell Death in Response to Activation by Pneumolysin. J Immunol (2010) 184:7108–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900802
- 105. Ronnberg E, Guss B, Pejler G. Infection of Mast Cells With Live Streptococci Causes a Toll-Like Receptor 2- and Cell-Cell Contact-Dependent Cytokine and Chemokine Response. *Infect Immun* (2010) 78:854–64. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.01004-09
- 106. von Beek C, Waern I, Eriksson J, Melo FR, Robinson C, Waller AS, et al. Streptococcal Saga Activates a Proinflammatory Response in Mast Cells by a Sublytic Mechanism. *Cell Microbiol* (2019) 21:e13064. doi: 10.1111/ cmi.13064
- 107. Mannel DN, Hultner L, Echtenacher B. Critical Protective Role of Mast Cell-Derived Tumour Necrosis Factor in Bacterial Infection. *Res Immunol* (1996) 147:491–3. doi: 10.1016/s0923-2494(97)85212-1
- Henderson B, Wilson M, Wren B. Are Bacterial Exotoxins Cytokine Network Regulators? *Trends Microbiol* (1997) 5:454–8. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(97) 01125-6
- Barbuti G, Moschioni M, Censini S, Covacci A, Montecucco C, Montemurro P. Streptococcus Pneumoniae Induces Mast Cell Degranulation. Int J Med Microbiol (2006) 296:325–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2005.11.009
- 110. Jobbings CE, Sandig H, Whittingham-Dowd JK, Roberts IS, Bulfone-Paus S. Listeria Monocytogenes Alters Mast Cell Phenotype, Mediator and Osteopontin Secretion in a Listeriolysin-Dependent Manner. PloS One (2013) 8:e57102. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057102
- 111. Kramer S, Sellge G, Lorentz A, Krueger D, Schemann M, Feilhauer K, et al. Selective Activation of Human Intestinal Mast Cells by *Escherichia Coli* Hemolysin. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:1438–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 181.2.1438
- 112. Magassa N, Chandrasekaran S, Caparon MG. Streptococcus Pyogenes Cytolysin-Mediated Translocation Does Not Require Pore Formation by Streptolysin O. EMBO Rep (2010) 11:400–5. doi: 10.1038/embor.2010.37
- Logsdon LK, Hakansson AP, Cortes G, Wessels MR. Streptolysin O Inhibits Clathrin-Dependent Internalization of Group a. *Streptococcus mBio* (2011) 2: e00332–10. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00332-10
- 114. Howell TW, Gomperts BD. Rat Mast Cells Permeabilised With Streptolysin O Secrete Histamine in Response to Ca<sup>2+</sup> at Concentrations Buffered in the Micromolar Range. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1987) 927:177–83. doi: 10.1016/ 0167-4889(87)90132-7
- 115. Cockcroft S, Howell TW, Gomperts BD. Two G-proteins Act in Series to Control Stimulus-Secretion Coupling in Mast Cells: Use of Neomycin to Distinguish Between G-proteins Controlling Polyphosphoinositide Phosphodiesterase and Exocytosis. J Cell Biol (1987) 105:2745–50. doi: 10.1083/jcb.105.6.2745
- 116. Koffer A, Tatham PE, Gomperts BD. Changes in the State of Actin During the Exocytotic Reaction of Permeabilized Rat Mast Cells. J Cell Biol (1990) 111:919–27. doi: 10.1083/jcb.111.3.919

- 117. Brown AM, O'Sullivan AJ, Gomperts BD. Induction of Exocytosis From Permeabilized Mast Cells by the Guanosine Triphosphatases Rac and Cdc42. *Mol Biol Cell* (1998) 9:1053–63. doi: 10.1091/mbc.9.5.1053
- 118. Pinxteren JA, Gomperts BD, Rogers D, Phillips SE, Tatham PE, Thomas GM. Phosphatidylinositol Transfer Proteins and Protein Kinase C Make Separate But non-Interacting contributions to the Phosphorylation State Necessary for Secretory Competence in Rat Mast Cells. *Biochem J* (2001) 356:287–96. doi: 10.1042/0264-6021:3560287
- 119. Shaik GM, Draberova L, Heneberg P, Draber P. Vacuolin-1-modulated Exocytosis and Cell Resealing in Mast Cells. Cell Signal (2009) 21:1337–45. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2009.04.001
- McNeil PL, Warder E. Glass Beads Load Macromolecules Into Living Cells. J Cell Sci (1987) 88( Pt 5):669–78. doi: 10.1242/jcs.88.5.669
- 121. Schoenauer R, Atanassoff AP, Wolfmeier H, Pelegrin P, Babiychuk EB, Draeger A. P2X7 Receptors Mediate Resistance to Toxin-Induced Cell Lysis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1843:915–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.01.024
- 122. Virginio C, MacKenzie A, Rassendren FA, North RA, Surprenant A. Pore Dilation of Neuronal P2X Receptor Channels. *Nat Neurosci* (1999) 2:315–21. doi: 10.1038/7225
- 123. Uchiyama S, Dohrmann S, Timmer AM, Dixit N, Ghochani M, Bhandari T, et al. Streptolysin O Rapidly Impairs Neutrophil Oxidative Burst and Antibacterial Responses to Group A Streptococcus. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:581. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00581
- 124. Lam GY, Fattouh R, Muise AM, Grinstein S, Higgins DE, Brumell JH. Listeriolysin O Suppresses Phospholipase C-mediated Activation of the Microbicidal NADPH Oxidase to Promote Listeria Monocytogenes Infection. Cell Host Microbe (2011) 10:627–34. doi: 10.1016/j.chom. 2011.11.005
- 125. Yang J, Wang J, Zhang X, Qiu Y, Yan J, Sun S, et al. Mast Cell Degranulation Impairs Pneumococcus Clearance in Mice Via IL-6 Dependent and TNF-α Independent Mechanisms. World Allergy Organ J (2019) 12:100028. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou.2019.100028
- 126. van den Boogaard FE, Brands X, Roelofs JJ, de Beer R, de Boer OJ, van 't Veer C, et al. Mast Cells Impair Host Defense During Murine Streptococcus Pneumoniae Pneumonia. J Infect Dis (2014) 210:1376–84. doi: 10.1093/ infdis/jiu285
- 127. Jacobs T, Darji A, Frahm N, Rohde M, Wehland J, Chakraborty T, et al. Listeriolysin O: Cholesterol Inhibits Cytolysis But Not Binding to Cellular Membranes. *Mol Microbiol* (1998) 28:1081–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.00858.x
- 128. Kayal S, Lilienbaum A, Poyart C, Memet S, Israel A, Berche P. Listeriolysin O-dependent Activation of Endothelial Cells During Infection With *Listeria Monocytogenes*: Activation of NF-κ B and Upregulation of Adhesion Molecules and Chemokines. *Mol Microbiol* (1999) 31:1709–22. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01305.x
- 129. Carrero JA, Calderon B, Unanue ER. Type I Interferon Sensitizes Lymphocytes to Apoptosis and Reduces Resistance to Listeria Infection. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200:535–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040769
- Tran Van Nhieu G, Clair C, Grompone G, Sansonetti P. Calcium Signalling During Cell Interactions With Bacterial Pathogens. *Biol Cell* (2004) 96:93– 101. doi: 10.1016/j.biolcel.2003.10.006
- Molloy EM, Cotter PD, Hill C, Mitchell DA, Ross RP. Streptolysin S-like Virulence Factors: The Continuing Saga. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2011) 9:670–81. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2624
- Nizet V, Beall B, Bast DJ, Datta V, Kilburn L, Low DE, et al. Genetic Locus for Streptolysin S Production by Group A Streptococcus. Infect Immun (2000) 68:4245–54. doi: 10.1128/iai.68.7.4245-4254.2000
- Menestrina G, Serra MD, Prevost G. Mode of Action of β-Barrel Pore-Forming Toxins of the Staphylococcal α-Hemolysin Family. *Toxicon* (2001) 39:1661–72. doi: 10.1016/s0041-0101(01)00153-2
- Seeman P. Transient Holes in the Erythrocyte Membrane During Hypotonic Hemolysis and Stable Holes in the Membrane After Lysis by Saponin and Lysolecithin. J Cell Biol (1967) 32:55–70. doi: 10.1083/jcb.32.1.55
- 135. Lorent JH, Quetin-Leclercq J, Mingeot-Leclercq MP. The Amphiphilic Nature of Saponins and Their Effects on Artificial and Biological Membranes and Potential Consequences for Red Blood and Cancer Cells. Org Biomol Chem (2014) 12:8803–22. doi: 10.1039/c4ob01652a

- 136. Yang WS, Park SO, Yoon AR, Yoo JY, Kim MK, Yun CO, et al. Suicide Cancer Gene Therapy Using Pore-Forming Toxin, Streptolysin O. Mol Cancer Ther (2006) 5:1610–9. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0515
- 137. Pahle J, Walther W. Vectors and Strategies for Nonviral Cancer Gene Therapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2016) 16:443–61. doi: 10.1517/14712598. 2016.1134480
- 138. Chiarot E, Faralla C, Chiappini N, Tuscano G, Falugi F, Gambellini G, et al. Targeted Amino Acid Substitutions Impair Streptolysin O Toxicity and Group A Streptococcus Virulence. *mBio* (2013) 4:e00387-12. doi: 10.1128/ mBio.00387-12
- 139. Ho NI, Huis In 't Veld LGM, Raaijmakers TK, Adema GJ. Adjuvants Enhancing Cross-Presentation by Dendritic Cells: The Key to More Effective Vaccines? *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2874. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02874
- 140. Fleck JD, Betti AH, da Silva FP, Troian EA, Olivaro C, Ferreira F, et al. Saponins From *Quillaja Saponaria* and *Quillaja Brasiliensis*: Particular Chemical Characteristics and Biological Activities. *Molecules* (2019) 24:171. doi: 10.3390/molecules24010171

- 141. Tian JH, Patel N, Haupt R, Zhou H, Weston S, Hammond H, et al. Sars-CoV-2 Spike Glycoprotein Vaccine Candidate NVX-CoV2373 Immunogenicity in Baboons and Protection in Mice. Nat Commun (2021) 12:372. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-20653-8
- 142. Keyel PA, Roth R, Yokoyama WM, Heuser JE, Salter RD. Reduction of Streptolysin O (SLO) Pore-Forming Activity Enhances Inflammasome Activation. *Toxins (Basel)* (2013) 5:1105–18. doi: 10.3390/toxins5061105

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Draberova, Tumova and Draber. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Study of Antibody-Dependent Reactions of Mast Cells *In Vitro* and in a Model of Severe Influenza Infection in Mice

Andrey Mamontov<sup>1</sup>, Igor Losev<sup>2</sup>, Dmitrii Korzhevskii<sup>3</sup>, Valeriia Guselnikova<sup>3</sup>, Alexander Polevshchikov<sup>1</sup> and Yulia Desheva<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Immunology Department, Federal State Budgetary Scientific Institution «Institute of Experimental Medicine», Saint Petersburg, Russia, <sup>2</sup> Virology Department, Federal State Budgetary Scientific Institution «Institute of Experimental Medicine», Saint Petersburg, Russia, <sup>3</sup> Department of General and Special Morphology, Federal State Budgetary Scientific Institution «Institute of Experimental Medicine», Saint Petersburg, Russia

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Anna Di Nardo, University of California, San Diego, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Adrian Piliponsky, Seattle Children's Research Institute, United States Roberta Gaziano, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

. Yulia Desheva desheva@mail.ru

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 28 June 2021 Published: 14 July 2021

#### Citation:

Mamontov A, Losev I, Korzhevskii D, Guselnikova V, Polevshchikov A and Desheva Y (2021) Study of Antibody-Dependent Reactions of Mast Cells In Vitro and in a Model of Severe Influenza Infection in Mice. Front. Immunol. 12:689436. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.689436 We investigated the reaction of mouse peritoneal mast cells (MCs) in vitro after IgGcontaining immune complex introduction using A/H5N1 and A/H1N1pdm09 influenza viruses as antigens. The sera of immune mice served as a source of IgG antibodies. The concentration of histamine in the supernatants was determined at 4 hours after incubation with antisera and virus. We compared the contribution of MCs to the pathogenesis of post-immunization influenza infection with A/H5N1 and A/H1N1 influenza viruses in mice. The mice were immunized parenterally with inactivated viruses and challenged with lethal doses of drift A/H5N1 and A/H1N1 influenza viruses on the 14<sup>th</sup> day after immunization. Simultaneously, half of the mice were injected intraperitoneally with a mixture of histamine receptor blockers (chloropyramine and quamatel). In in vitro experiments, the immune complex formed by A/H5N1 virus and antiserum caused a significant increase in the histamine release compared to immune serum or the virus alone. With regard to the A/ H1N1 virus, such an increase was not significant. A/H1N1 immunization caused detectable HI response in mice at 12<sup>th</sup> day after immunization, in contrast to the A/ H5N1 virus. After challenge of A/H5N1-immunized mice, administration of antihistamines increased the survival rate by up to 90%. When infecting the A/H1N1-immunized mice, 90% of the animals were already protected from lethal infection by day 14; the administration of histamine receptor blockers did not increase survival. Histological examination of the lungs has shown that toluidine blue staining allows to estimate the degree of MC degranulation. The possibility of in vitro activation of murine MCs by IgGcontaining immune complexes has been shown. In a model of influenza infection, it was shown that the administration of histamine receptor blockers increased survival. When the protection was formed faster due to the earlier production of HI antibodies, the administration of histamine receptor blockers did not significantly affect the course of the infection. These data allow to propose that even if there are antibody-dependent MC reactions, they can be easily stopped by the administration of histamine receptor blockers.

Keywords: mast cells, influenza infection, vaccination, IgG antibodies, immune complexes

# INTRODUCTION

Influenza virus (the genus *Influenzavirus*, the family *Orthomyxoviridae*) infections remain an important medical and social problem with high incidence during annual influenza epidemics. Despite the improvement of vaccines and the development of vaccine prevention, severe cases of the disease are still encountered. The avian influenza A/H5N1 virus has been causing periodic outbreaks of severe infection in Southeast Asia since it was first detected in Hong Kong in 1997 (1). According to WHO, for the period from 2003 to 2019, the mortality rate from laboratory-confirmed influenza A/H5N1 was 30–66% [https://www.who.int/influenza/human\_animal\_interface/2020\_MAY\_ tableH5N1.pdf?ua=1]. Avian influenza viruses of the H5 subtype not only circulate among waterfowl, but also continue to be periodically transmitted to humans (2). In this regard, the preparation of the corresponding vaccine strains will be relevant.

Influenza vaccination aimed mainly at the production of serum antibodies may have reduced protection against drift variants of viruses. In addition, infection can occur in a time period before a full-fledged immune antibody response is elicited. The effectiveness of influenza vaccination can go down when the vaccine strain does not match the epidemic virus (3). In some cases, low-affinity antibodies to the influenza virus that do not have virus-neutralizing properties may be involved in intensifying a secondary infection (4). During the 2009 influenza pandemic, the use of seasonal vaccines and the presence of antibodies against influenza A/H1N1pdm09, which do not have neutralizing properties, correlated with an increased risk of more severe influenza-like illness in infected people (5). The role of mast cells in the onset of antibody-dependent enhancement is poorly understood and underestimated.

Mast cells are specialized innate immune cells derived from the bone marrow and have been identified in all vertebrates. They have long been recognized as effector cells in allergic disorders and certain immune responses to parasites. Mast cells (MCs) are truly universal cells involved in complex immunological and non-immunological functions, providing direct effects and indirect regulation of other cells and their functioning in various biological processes (6). MCs synthesize and store cytokines in granules. Mouse MCs have been shown to produce cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , a potent preformed pro-inflammatory cytokine that is also found in human MCs (7). Some of the granule components are preformed before MCs are activated (proteases, biogenic amines, proteoglycans, TNF $\alpha$  and IL-4 cytokines, as well as many growth factors). Another part of molecules secreted by MCs molecules is synthesized after activation of MCs (interleukins, TNF $\alpha$ , TGF $\beta$ , chemokines, eotaxin, lipid inflammatory mediators) (8).

Human IgG antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus, as well as diabetes and allergies, cause pathology through interaction with MCs (9). Monovalent IgG4 antigenic complexes are unable to bind and cross link Fc $\gamma$ receptors (Fc $\gamma$ R) and cannot stimulate antigen-presenting cells activation, but can bind Fc $\gamma$ IIb receptors and cause suppression of MCs, monocytes and macrophages (10). MCs, the main effector cells in allergies, release various vasoactive substances, including histamine, SSRA (slow-reacting anaphylaxis factor), and serotonin (11). Leukotrienes, prostaglandins and platelet activating factors are synthesized by MCs activated by arachidonic acid. Cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors are synthesized *de novo* and released shortly after activation (12).

Allergic immunotherapy reduces the production of proinflammatory mediators with reduced migration of MCs in target organs (13). Different classes of Fc $\gamma$ R are expressed on many immune effector cells and mediate various cellular responses such as macrophage phagocytosis, antibody-dependent NK- and T-cell cytotoxicity, and MC degranulation. High affinity mouse Fc $\gamma$ RI is able to bind with high affinity only IgG2a isotype, while low affinity Fc $\gamma$ RIII binds polymeric forms of all IgG subclasses (IgG1, IgG2a and IgG2b), except IgG3. Not so long ago, a third activating receptor FcRIV was discovered in mice, which binds immune complexes containing IgG2a and IgG2b with intermediate affinity (14).

MCs mainly express low-affinity and, under certain conditions, high-affinity IgG receptors. Mast cell survival and cytokine secretion depend on the ITAM (Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Activation Motif) presence in cytoplasmic tails of FcR $\gamma$ -receptors, which provides for the signal transmission and cell activation (15).

Antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) has been described for some viral infections in people with repeated illnesses or in previously vaccinated people, which is manifested by a severe course of infection, often fatal. ADE is believed to develop through the mechanism of facilitated penetration of the virus in complex with IgG antibodies and/or complement factors into cells with Fc $\gamma$  and C3 receptors, which increases its infectivity and contributes to the development of a severe, life-threatening course of viral infection (16). ADE syndrome is characteristic of Dengue fever, in which it attracted attention and was first described (17).

**Abbreviations:** ADE, Antibody-dependent enhancement; AH, antihistamines; CE, chicken embryos; EID<sub>50</sub>, fifty percent embryonic infectious doses; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; FcγR, Fcγ receptors; HA, hemagglutinin; HAU, hemagglutinating units; HI - hemagglutination inhibition reaction; HRP, horseradish peroxidase; IM, intramuscularly; ITAM, Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Activation Motif; LD<sub>50</sub>, 50% mouse lethal dose; MCs, mast cells; NA, neuraminidase; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; VIP, vasoactive intestinal peptide.

Seasonal influenza vaccination successfully prevents the disease when the antigenic structure of vaccine strains and circulating viruses coincides. However, the positive effect of such vaccination is reduced in case of infection with the shift variants of the influenza virus, to which people have no immunity, resulting in increased severity of the infectious process and mortality when infected with the shift variants of the influenza virus, to which people have no immunity (18). In this regard, studies aimed at increasing the cross-protection of existing influenza vaccines, as well as at deciphering the mechanisms of aggravating viral infections during re-infection, are of particular relevance.

In connection with the above, the aim of the work was to test the hypothesis that MCs make a tangible negative contribution to the pathogenesis of viral infection due to the histamine secreted by them, which makes the course of the infectious process more severe. To study the role of MCs in the development of severe viral infection in immunized animals we used a model of infection with a drift variant of the influenza virus.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Viruses

In this study we used the following influenza viruses: A/Vietnam/ 1194/2004(H5N1) NIBRG-14 (National Institute for Biological Standards and Control, UK) [A/Vietnam(H5N1)] and A/ Indonesia/5/2005(H5N1) IDCDC-RG2 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA) [A/Indonesia(H5N1)]. These strains were produced by reverse genetics by the National Institute of Biological Standards and Control (NIBSC, United Kingdom) and the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (USA) using Vero-certified vaccine-producing cells and laboratory protocols that take into account that the end use of the vaccine is administration to humans. The WHO Influenza Center recommends these strains for the preparation of inactivated influenza vaccines against avian influenza. Viruses contain modified H5 subtype hemagglutinin (HA) and are safe for humans. Also, we used the A/South Africa/3626/2013 (H1N1)pdm09 [A/South Africa(H1N1)pdm09] and A/New York/61/2015 (H1N1)pdm09 [A/New York(H1N1)pdm09] influenza viruses obtained from the National Institute for Biological Standards and Control (NIBSC, UK) repository. The A/California/07/2009(H1N1)pdm09 was obtained from the Institute of Experimental Medicine collection of viruses. All viruses were propagated in 10-day old chicken embryos (CE) and stored at -70°C.

### Determination of Histamine Production In Vitro by Mast Cells of Mouse Peritoneal Exudate

As a material containing MCs, we used cells from mouse peritoneal exudate. 5 ml of 0.85% phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) was injected into the abdominal cavity of the mouse, then MCs containing exudate were collected. The resulting cells were used at a concentration of 1 million cells/450 µl, among which MC content averaged at an estimated 7-10%. Influenza viruses A/Vietnam(H5N1) and A/New York(H1N1)pdm09 purified by ultracentrifugation in a 30/60 stepwise sucrose gradient were used as antigens. The source of IgG was the sera of CBA mice immunized intramuscularly (IM) with the same viruses at a dose of 20,000 hemagglutating units (HAU)/1ml in a volume of 0.1 ml. The sera were collected at day 21 after immunization and the content of antibodies to the A/Vietnam (H5N1) or A/New York(H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus in sera was confirmed by ELISA as described previously (19). Fcy receptors of MC were loaded with IgG antibodies (incubation of peritoneal cells with hyperimmune mouse serum at a dilution of 1: 300 and 1: 900 (contact for 1 h, 4°C). Then the cells were washed from unbound antibodies and additionally loaded with antigens (influenza viruses) with a content of 5-50 HAU/1 ml (contact 1 h, 4°) C, followed by incubation for 40 min at 37° for degranulation and histamine release. The setup of the experiment on murine peritoneal cells is shown in Figure 1.

After the end of all incubations, results of the reaction were read with a plate modification of Shore's method (20). The method is based on the processing of the luminescent condensation product of histamine with orthophthalic

Figure 1 | Main steps of peritoneal mast cell experiments. Peritoneal cell smear stained with toluidine blue. Mast cells are metachromatically stained purple with toluidine blue. Obj. 40x, scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m; insets, obj. 100x, scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m. (1) Loading of Fcy-receptors of MC with IgG antibodies (hyperimmune serum of mice). (2) The load of MC that bound Ab using influenza viruses. (3) Degranulation and histamine release.

aldehyde at wavelengths 355/460 nm. The level of histamine was expressed in arbitrary units.

## **Ethics Statement**

The conditions for keeping animals in the vivarium provide them with a normal biological background and fully comply with the requirements of the Sanitary Rules for the Arrangement, Equipment and Maintenance of Experimental Biological Clinics (vivariums) dated 06.04.1973. The diet of animals complies with the order of the Ministry of Health No. 1179 dated 1983. The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee for Animal Care and Use at the Institute of Experimental Medicine, Saint-Petersburg, Russia (protocol № 3/17 of 30.11.2017). Nonterminal procedures were performed under ether anesthesia inhalation. To control viral load in the lungs, animals were euthanized under ether anesthesia inhalation and cervical dislocation. The health status of the challenged mice was monitored and recorded once a day for 10-14 days post infection.

# Animals

The 8-to-10-week-old female CBA mice were provided by the laboratory-breeding nursery of the Russian Academy of Sciences (Rappolovo, Leningrad Region, Russia). Mice were maintained under standard conditions and given ten days to acclimate to the housing facility. Feeding was carried out ad libitum, in the morning with free access to water. The weight of animals at the start of the experiments was  $20.0 \pm 2.0$  grams (mean  $\pm$  SEM).

# Study of Drifted Influenza Infection in A/H5N1 and A/H1N1 Sensitized Mice

#### Immunization of Mice

Viral antigens for immunization of mice were prepared as earlier described (19). Formaldehyde-inactivated influenza viruses A/Vietnam/1194/2004(H5N1) NIBRG-14 and A/New York/61/ 2015 (H1N1)pdm09 or A/California/07/2009 (H1N1)pdm09 were used for IM immunization at a dose of 20,000 HAU/1ml in a volume of 0.1 ml. The control group received IM PBS as a placebo in the same volume.

### Immunogenicity Study

Blood sera were taken from the mice on day 12 after immunization and the sera were stored at -20°C until

serological tests were performed. For the hemagglutinationinhibition (HI) assay the sera were treated with receptordestroying enzyme (RDE, Denka Seiken, Tokyo, Japan) and tested for HI antibodies against A/Vietnam/1194/2004(H5N1) NIBRG-14, A/Indonesia/5/2005(H5N1) IDCDC-RG2, A/New York/61/2015 (H1N1)pdm09, and A/South Africa/3626/2013 (H1N1)pdm09 influenza viruses as previously described (19). The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was conducted to determine serum IgG antibodies against influenza viruses in 96-well microplates (Sarstedt AG & Co, Nümbrecht, Germany) as previously described (19). For absorption we used 20 HAU/0.1 ml of the whole purified A/ H5N1 or A/H1N1 influenza viruses. As a conjugate, we used rabbit horseradish peroxidase (HPR) labeled antibodies to the Fc fragment of mouse IgG (Sigma, St. Louis, United States). The end-point ELISA titers were expressed as the highest dilution that yielded an optical density at 450 nm (OD<sub>450</sub>) greater than the mean OD<sub>450</sub> plus 3 standard deviations of negative control wells containing conjugate only.

### **Challenge Study**

On day 14 after immunization, the mice were infected intranasally with the influenza viruses at a concentration of one 50% mouse lethal dose (LD<sub>50</sub>) which was approximately  $10^{4.5}$  EID<sub>50</sub> for A/Indonesia(H5N1) influenza virus and  $10^5$  EID<sub>50</sub> for the A/South Africa(H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus. The virus was administered intranasally in a volume of 50 µl, evenly distributed between the nostrils. The LD<sub>50</sub> was preliminary determined after infection with serial dilutions of virus A/Indonesia and A/South Africa from  $10^2$  to  $10^7$  EID<sub>50</sub>.

Simultaneously with the infection, 50% of the immune mice were administered intraperitoneally with a mixture of histamine receptor blockers H1 and H2, chloropyramine (Egis, Guyancourt, France) and quamatel (Gedeon Richter, Budapest, Hungary), each 6.7 mg/kg body weight, in a volume of 0.1 ml, or PBS in the same volume. The experimental design is shown in **Figure 2**.

#### Evaluation of the Viral Titers in the Lungs

The lungs were collected from mice at day 5 after viral infection, homogenized using a Retsch MM-400 ball vibratory mill in PBS containing 100 U/ml penicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin and



centrifuged for 10 min at 6000 g. Lung homogenates were titrated in developing chick embryos starting with an initial dilution of 1:10. The viral titers were calculated as a log10 of the fifty percent embryonic infectious doses ( $EID_{50}$ ) using hemagglutination as the endpoint, as described previously (21).

#### Histamine and Levels Measuring in the Blood Sera

In order to determine histamine levels using ELISA, blood samples were collected on the 5<sup>th</sup> day after infection. Histamine production was evaluated using the EIA Histamine kit (Beckman Coulter, Brea, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All tested samples were duplicated

#### Histological Examination of the Lungs

Left- and right-lung samples from CBA mice (n = 2 per group) were used for the histological study. The samples were fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin as previously described (22). Lung sections were stained with toluidine blue (LabPoint, Russia). Briefly, a dye solution was applied to the previously dewaxed sections and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. The sections were then rinsed, dehydrated, cleared, mounted and cover slipped.

#### **Statistical Processing of Results**

Data was processed using Statistica software, version 6.0 (StatSoft, Inc. Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA) and graphics data were generated using Prism 8 (GraphPad software, San Diego, USA). When analyzing the results obtained, the mean values and standard deviation ( $M \pm \sigma$ ) were determined. The statistical significance of the differences was assessed using the Wilcoxon - Mann - Whitney nonparametric tests. The log-rank (Mantel-Cox test) was used to compare the survival distributions. The differences were considered significant at p <0.05.

# RESULTS

#### Estimation of Histamine Production by Mast Cells of Mouse Peritoneal Exudate In Vitro

The immune complexes formed on the cell surface by successive incubations with IgG antibodies and an antigen specific to these antibodies (A/Vietnam(H5N1) virus) with a content of 50 HAU) caused a significant increase in histamine release at serum dilutions of 1: 300 and 1: 900 (**Figure 3A**). This release of histamine was significantly higher than after incubation with IgG alone or with A/H5N1 virus alone, although it was inferior to that when exposed to mouse IgE antibodies.

While the concentration of the A/Vietnam (H5N1) virus was 5 HAU, a significant increase in the level of histamine in the culture supernatants was observed only when the A/H5N1-specific antiserum was diluted 1: 900 (**Figure 3B**).

For the A/New York(H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus, a significant increase in histamine was observed only at a virus concentration of 50 HAU and a 1:900 dilution of H1N1-specific serum (**Figure 3C**).

Thus, for both A/H5N1 and A/H1N1 viruses, there was a dose-dependent effect on virus concentration. The release of histamine was more pronounced with a higher dilution of the immune serum.

#### A Model of Lethal Influenza Infection in Immunized Mice Immunogenicity

Groups of mice were administered IM with inactivated influenza viruses of A/Vietnam(H5N1) or A/New York(H1N1)pdm09 influenza viruses. Immunogenicity was assessed 12 days after immunization by the production of serum antibodies. The results of the study of virus-specific serum antibodies in the HI-test and ELISA are presented in **Figure 4**.

A Figure 4A, shows that on the 12<sup>th</sup> day after A/H5N1 immunization, the levels of HI antibodies to homologous A/ Vietnam(H5N1) and drifted A/Indonesia(H5N1) viruses were lower than 1:40, i.e. less than protective level, which is traditionally associated with at least a 50% reduction in the risk of influenza (23). HI antibodies to A/H1N1 viruses were formed at a protective level against the homologous vaccine virus and, in some cases, against the drift virus (Figure 4A). The levels of virus-specific IgG among immunized mice both to A/H1N1 and A/H5N1 influenza viruses significantly exceeded the levels in the control group (Figure 4B). Thus, viruses A/H1N1 and A/ H5N1 differed in immunogenicity. When the A/New York (H1N1)pdm09 virus was administered to mice, a HI immune response was formed on the 12th day after immunization, in contrast to the A/Vietnam(H5N1) virus. These data correlate with previously obtained data on the reduced immunogenicity of A/H5N1 influenza viruses in comparison with epidemic influenza viruses (24), and may suggest that the antibodies formed as a result of A/H5N1 immunization were mainly of the non-neutralizing type.

#### Evaluation of Survival After Lethal Infection of Immunized Mice With Drifted Variant of the Same Influenza Virus Subtype

On day 14 after immunization, the mice were infected intranasally with the A/Indonesia(H5N1) or A/South Africa (H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus at a concentration of one 50% mouse lethal dose ( $LD_{50}$ ). Five independent experiments were carried out for the pair of A/H5N1 influenza viruses, and three independent experiments for the A/H1N1 pair. **Figure 5** shows data on mortality, weight loss, and lung virus titers.

**Figure 5A** shows that after infection of immune mice with the A/Indonesia(H5N1) virus of immune mice, when part of the mice was injected with a mixture of histamine receptor blockers, the survival rate of mice increased from 70% to 80%. The differences between vaccinated and unvaccinated animals became statistically significant. After infection with the A/ South Africa(H1N1)pdm09 virus, 90% of A/New York(H1N1) pdm09 immunized mice were protected from lethal infection and the administration of antihistamines did not increase the survival rate of the mice (**Figure 5B**). Interestingly, in this case,





the administration of antihistamines to non-immunized mice increased the survival rate of the mice by up to 100%, although the increase was not statistically significant. Administration of antihistamines for both A/Indonesia(H5N1) and A/South Africa (H1N1)pdm09 lethal infections did not significantly affect weight loss. **Figure 5C** shows that the isolation of infectious A/Indonesia (H5N1) viruses from the lungs of A/Vietnam(H5N1) immunized mice did not differ from those among the mice in PBS group.



And in the case of the A/South Africa(H1N1)pdm09 infecting virus, the levels of the virus in the lungs differed from those among non-immunized mice, both with and without the use of histamine receptor blockers. These data show that immunization with inactivated A/H1N1 virus may cause a higher level of protection against infection with drifted variant of virus on day 14 after immunization compared to the A/H5N1 virus. This could be due to a higher level of HI antibodies to the A/H1N1 virus which had already managed to form by the 12<sup>th</sup> day after IM immunization, although 3-4 weeks are considered the optimal time for the formation of a full-fledged humoral immune response to influenza vaccination (25).

# Sublethal A/South Africa(H1N1)pdm09 Influenza Infection in Immunized Mice

The above pair of viruses did not differ in the structure of hemagglutinin so significantly, since the challenge virus was isolated in 2013, and the vaccine virus was isolated in 2015. So, we tried to find out what will happen if immunization and infection with even more distant variants of the influenza A/H1N1 pandemic strain are carried out. The pandemic virus A/California (H1N1) pdm09 was first isolated in 2009 and has been included in the strains recommended for the preparation of influenza vaccines for almost 10 years. For immunization, we used the A/California (H1N1) pdm09 virus, inactivated as indicated above. Infection was carried out with virus A/South Africa at a sublethal dose, which was approximately equal to  $10^4 \text{ EID}_{50}$ . The results are shown in **Figure 6**.

Thus, it has been shown that both A/California/07/2009 (H1N1)pdm09 and A/New York/61/2015 (H1N1)pdm09 influenza viruses have a higher immunogenicity in mice than A/Vietnam/1194/2004(H5N1) NIBRG-14 influenza virus as estimated using HI assay. It was shown in models of lethal and sublethal infection of immunized mice that in A/H5N1-immized mice, mortality and weight loss were reduced after A/Indonesia/ 5/2005(H5N1) IDCDC-RG2 infection by histamine blockers administration but introduction of antihistamines did not affect the survival or weight loss of A/H1N1-immunized mice upon infection with the A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1) pdm09 virus. The use of antihistamines slightly reduced mortality among control (non-immune) animals after A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1)pdm09 lethal infection. Unlike A/ H1N1 immunization, A/H5N1 immunization did not reduce pulmonary infection according to lung virus titers data.

### Determination of Serum Histamine Levels After Infection of Immunized Mice

**Figure 7** shows that histamine levels in the sera of immunized mice were not affected by administration of antihistamines during infection with the A/Indonesia/5/2005(H5N1) IDCDC-RG2 influenza virus, and slightly decreased in the case of infection with this virus in non-immune mice, although the differences were not statistically significant. Administration of antihistamines led to a decrease in serum histamine levels only among non-immune mice following infection with the A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1)pdm09 virus (P=0.02).







FIGURE 7 | Serum histamine levels (n=5, in duplicates). (A) The A/Vietnam/1194/2004(H5N1) NIBRG-14 immunization followed by A/Indonesia/5/2005(H5N1) IDCDC-RG2 infection. The chart shows data from one of three independent experiments; n.s., no significance. (B) The A/California/07/2009 (H1N1)pdm09 immunization followed by A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1)pdm09 infection.

### Histological Examination of Lung Tissue A/Indonesia/5/2005(H5N1) Influenza Virus Infection of A/Vietnam/1194/2004(H5N1)- Immunized Mice

MCs were identified in lung tissue on day 8 after immunization (**Figure 8**). When using toluidine blue, MCs in the mouse lung are stained metachromatically to a rich purple color. Due to the intense staining, MCs can already be identified at a low microscope magnification (x10). This greatly facilitates the quantitative analysis of MCs. The MC cytoplasm contains a large number of densely packed metachromatically stained granules, often shielding the nucleus. Several of lung MCs showed signs of degranulation such as extracellular granules. In this case, the granule boundaries are visible. This makes it possible to identify the different stages of MC degranulation (from weak degranulation with the secretion of single granules into the extracellular space to strong degranulation with rupture of the plasma membrane and secretion of all granules) and to assess the MC degranulation degree.

On day 8 after A/H5N1 infection of non-immune mice, rare non-activated (intact) mast cells were found in the walls of the large bronchi (**Figure 8A**) and in the alveolar septa (**Figure 8B**).

After A/H5N1 infection of the immunized mice, the enrichment of lung MCs was observed (**Figures 8C, D**, arrowhead). MCs were typically found in close proximity to both inflamed bronchi and blood vessels (**Figures 8E, F**, arrowhead). Intact MCs, as well as MCs with mild/moderate degree of degranulation were identified.

#### Infection of A/California/07/2009 (H1N1)pdm09-Immunized Mice With the A/South Africa/3626/2013 (H1N1)pdm09 Influenza Virus

The lungs of intact mice (non-immunized and non-infected) had a normal histological structure (**Figure 9A**). In some airway walls, the bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue was found (**Figure 9B**).





FIGURE 9 | The lungs from non-immunized mice on day 8 after infection with A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus. A, (B) Intact non-immunized non-infected mice. C, (D) The PBS-immunized mice infected with A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus. Obj. 10x (A, C, D) and 40x (B); scale bar = 200 μm (A, C, D) and 50 μm (B).

In the PBS-immunized A/South Africa/(H1N1)pdm09– infected group, a focal pneumonia was detected (**Figure 9C**). Large areas of atelectasis and emphysema, extensive mononuclear infiltrates in the walls of the airways and blood vessels, interstitial infiltration with thickening of the interalveolar septa were detected (**Figure 9D**).

After A/H1N1-immunized animals were infected with A/South Africa/3626/2013(H1N1)pdm09 infection of AH1N1-immunized animals, extensive mononuclear infiltrates were present in the airway walls (in particular, along their entire length) and around the blood vessels (Figures 10A, B). Dystrophic changes in the ciliated epithelium and desquamation of epithelial cells in the bronchi were revealed. Some signs of diffuse alveolar damage including interstitial infiltration with thickening of the interalveolar septa and emphysema were observed. At the same time, when antihistamines were administered simultaneously with infection to the A/H1N1-immunized animals (Figures 10C, D), the lung tissue looks the same as in the intact control. Extensive mononuclear infiltrates, dystrophic changes and desquamation of the epithelium were not revealed. No signs of alveolar damage were found. In some airway walls, the presence of bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue was noted (Figure 10C). Intact MCs were also identified (Figure 10D, arrow).

### DISCUSSION

Previously, it has been noted in mouse macrophage cell lines that antibodies against influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA) or neuraminidase (NA), the two main structural components of the viral envelope, were able to induce ADE (18, 26). The enhancing activity was strain-dependent and FcRmediated (27-29).

Our *in vitro* experiments were carried out not with a purified population of MCs, but with a pool of peritoneal cells, in which the proportion of MCs is about 10% relative to other cell types (lymphocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, eosinophils). MCs are the main cells with an immediate release of histamine. This suggests that the response to the immune complex in our experiments in the form of a histamine release reaction was predominantly in response to the action of MCs.

The A/Vietnam(H5N1) and A/New York(H1N1)pdm09 strains were used as antigens for the formation of immune complexes on antibody-loaded MCs from peritoneal exudate of mice, and for both viruses, the dose of 50 HAU was more effective in stimulating the production of histamine compared to 5 HAU (**Figure 3**). The opposite trend was observed with respect to IgG containing sera when a higher dilution of immune sera caused a higher production of histamine. Thus, in our *in vitro* study of histamine production under the influence of IgG-containing immune complexes, a dose-dependent effect on the concentration of the virus was demonstrated.

Interestingly, in previous studies of antibody-dependent reactions in SARS-Cov-1 *in vitro* it was shown that the more diluted anti-S mouse sera exhibited significantly greater SARS CoV ADE effects on HL-CZ cells compared to less-diluted mouse sera (30).

As is generally known, MCs are the main source of histamine in the body. To block the action of histamine in experiments on mice, we used a mixture of H1 and H2 blockers (although the main type of receptors on cells responsible for the anaphylactogenic effects of histamine are H1 receptors). Our previous data indicate that the introduction of histamine



receptor blockers decreased in lethality after A/H5N1 infection of vaccinated mice (31). In the present study, it was shown that after challenge with the A/H1N1 virus, protection reached 90% of the immunized animals and the administration of antihistamines did not make an additional contribution to improving survival. But as estimated by the histological features in the lungs, antihistamines still had a positive effect, since when they were administered, the signs of pneumonia decreased (**Figures 10C, D**). At the same time, the administration of antihistamines to non-immunized mice also facilitated the course of A/H1N1 influenza infection.

The data obtained in our study correlates with earlier studies. Thus, a positive effect of antihistamines on A/H5N1 infection in mice has been demonstrated previously (32). The effect of vaccination on the course of the subsequent influenza infection was also previously studied in animal experiments. The C57BL/ 6J mice received two doses of subunit vaccine IM 4 weeks apart. One month later, the animals were challenged with a sublethal dose of the A/Hong Kong/2/1968(H3N2) strain. Vaccinated mice showed no clinical symptoms of disease, while unvaccinated animals lost weight from 3 to 7 days after vaccination, but subsequently recovered. After infection with the A/H5N1 virus, unvaccinated animals showed moderate signs of illness for 7 days, after which they recovered. On the contrary, the vaccinated mice developed an infection, accompanied by a critical loss of body weight by 6-8 days after infection, which indicates the formation of immunopathology (33).

Currently, there is a widespread tendency to develop universal influenza vaccines with a wide spectrum of action (34). The induction of a wide range of cross-reactive immunoglobulins is fraught with the risk of an antibodydependent enhancement of the infectious process, when antibodies that do not have neutralizing activity facilitate the penetration of the virus into cells due to FcyR-dependent endocytosis. Antibodies to M2e have low neutralizing activity, however, they provide protection through FcyR-mediated mechanisms, in particular, through antibody-dependent phagocytosis of viral particles. The formation of an immune response to a limited set of antigenic determinants of the influenza virus does not exclude the emergence of escape mutants, to which the body will not have immunity, which can lead to a large number of serious diseases. An example is previously reviewed cases of increased vulnerability to pandemic A/H1N1 strains among people who received seasonal influenza vaccine (33).

Previously, it was shown that monoclonal Abs that bound the globular head or base of the head domain of influenza HA may induced destabilization of the HA stem domain to increase infection of the macrophage-like cell line in an Fc-dependent manner. Non-neutralizing monoclonal Abs may cause enhanced respiratory disease in mice following A/Hong Kong/1/1968 (H3N2) influenza virus challenge (35). Therefore, *in vitro* tests and animal models need to be developed to confirm preclinical safety of next-generation influenza virus-receptor interaction.

# CONCLUSIONS

When vaccinated with inactivated influenza vaccines, serum antibodies are the main protective component. There is a gap between vaccination and the formation of a full-fledged antibody response. In the case of viruses with H5 hemagglutinin, the immune response may occur later than in the case of immunization with seasonal influenza viruses. Nonneutralizing antibodies can interact with MCs when infected with the avian influenza virus. Our data on the positive effect of histamine receptor blockers on the course of post-vaccination infection in drifted influenza viruses can help to overcome unwanted effects. The data obtained can be useful in the implementation of vaccines against other viral infections.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by The Local Ethics Committee for Animal Care and Use at the Institute of Experimental Medicine, Saint-Petersburg, Russia (protocol № 3/ 17 of 30.11.2017).

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM – *in vitro* experiments, mouse model, data analysis, manuscript preparation. IL – mouse model, serology, ELISA test, data analysis. DK – histological examination, data analysis, manuscript editing. VG –lung preparations, histological examination, manuscript editing. AP - general leadership, data analysis, manuscript editing. YD - study design, data curation, manuscript preparation, final editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by the Federal State Budgetary Scientific Institution «Institute of Experimental Medicine»

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work is dedicated to the untimely deceased Doctor of Medical Sciences, Professor Peter Grigorievich Nazarov, who worked for many years in the Immunology Department of the Institute of Experimental Medicine.
# REFERENCES

- Subbarao K, Klimov A, Katz J, Regnery H, Lim W, Hall H, et al. Characterization of an Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Virus Isolated From a Child With a Fatal Respiratory Illness. *Science* (1998) 279(5349):393–6. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5349.393
- European Food Safety Authority and European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control and European Union Reference Laboratory for Avian Influenza, Adlhoch C, Fusaro A, Gonzales JL, Kuiken T, et al. Avian Influenza Overview December 2020–February 2021. EFSA J (2021) 19(3):e06497. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6497
- Gupta V, Earl DJ, Deem MW. Quantifying Influenza Vaccine Efficacy and Antigenic Distance. Vaccine (2006) 24(18):3881–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.01.010
- Monsalvo AC, Batalle JP, Lopez MF, Krause JC, Klemenc J, Hernandez JZ, et al. Severe Pandemic 2009 H1N1 Influenza Disease Due to Pathogenic Immune Complexes. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(2):195–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2262
- Skowronski DM, De Serres G, Crowcroft NS, Janjua NZ, Boulianne N, Hottes TS, et al. Association Between the 2008–09 Seasonal Influenza Vaccine and Pandemic H1N1 Illness During Spring–Summer 2009: Four Observational Studies From Canada. *PLoS Med* (2010) 7(4):e1000258. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pmed.1000258
- Galli SJ, Kalesnikoff J, Grimbaldeston MA, Piliponsky AM, Williams CMM, Tsai M. Mast Cells as "Tunable" Effector and Immunoregulatory Cells: Recent Advances. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:749–86. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.immunol.21.120601.141025
- Church MK, Levi-Schaffer F. The Human Mast Cell. J Allergy Clin Immunol (1997) 99(2):155–60. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(97)70089-7
- da Silva EZM, Jamur MC, Oliver C. Mast Cell Function: A New Vision of an Old Cell. J Histochem Cytochem (2014) 62(10):698–738. doi: 10.1369/0022155414545334
- Walker ME, Hatfield JK, Brown MA. New Insights Into the Role of Mast Cells in Autoimmunity: Evidence for a Common Mechanism of Action? *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)-Mol Basis Dis* (2012) 1822(1):57–65. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbadis.2011.02.009
- Xiao W, Nishimoto H, Hong H, Kitaura J, Nunomura S, Maeda-Yamamoto M, et al. Positive and Negative Regulation of Mast Cell Activation by Lyn Via the Fccri. J Immunol (2005) 175(10):6885–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.10.6885
- Theoharides TC. Neuroendocrinology of Mast Cells: Challenges and Controversies. Exp Dermatol (2017) 26(9):751–9. doi: 10.1111/exd.13288
- 12. Galli SJ, Nakae S, Tsai M. Mast Cells in the Development of Adaptive Immune Responses. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(2):135–42. doi: 10.1038/ni1158
- Platts-Mills T, Vaughan J, Squillace S, Woodfolk J, Sporik R. Sensitisation, Asthma, and a Modified Th2 Response in Children Exposed to Cat Allergen: A Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study. *Lancet* (2001) 357(9258):752–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04168-4
- Baudino L, Nimmerjahn F, da Silveira SA, Martinez-Soria E, Saito T, Carroll M, et al. Differential Contribution of Three Activating IgG Fc Receptors (Fcγri, Fcγriii, and Fcγriv) to IgG2a-and IgG2b-induced Autoimmune Hemolytic Anemia in Mice. J Immunol (2008) 180(3):1948–53. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.180.3.1948
- Bruhns P. Properties of Mouse and Human IgG Receptors and Their Contribution to Disease Models. *Blood* (2012) 119(24):5640-9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-01-380121
- Bournazos S, Wang TT, Ravetch JV. The Role and Function of Fcγ Receptors on Myeloid Cells. *Myeloid Cells in Health and Disease* (2017) 405–27. doi: 10.1128/9781555819194.ch22
- Boonnak K, Slike BM, Burgess TH, Mason RM, Wu S-J, Sun P, et al. Role of Dendritic Cells in Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Dengue Virus Infection. J Virol (2008) 82(8):3939–51. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02484-07
- Tamura M, Webster RG, Ennis FA. Antibodies to HA and NA Augment Uptake of Influenza A Viruses Into Cells Via Fc Receptor Entry. Virology (1991) 182(1):211–9. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(91)90664-W
- Lu X, Edwards LE, Desheva JA, Nguyen DC, Rekstin A, Stephenson I, et al. Cross-Protective Immunity in Mice Induced by Live-Attenuated or Inactivated Vaccines Against Highly Pathogenic Influenza A (H5N1) Viruses. *Vaccine* (2006) 24(44-46):6588–93. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.05.039
- Shore PA. The Chemical Determination of Histamine. In. Glick D. ed. Methods of Biochemical Analysis. Analysis of Biogenic Amines and Their Related Enzymes. New York Interscience Publisher (1971). 89–97. doi: 10.1002/9780470110409.ch3

- 21. Desheva JA, Lu XH, Rekstin AR, Rudenko LG, Swayne DE, Cox NJ, et al. Characterization of an Influenza A H5N2 Reassortant as a Candidate for Live-Attenuated and Inactivated Vaccines Against Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Viruses With Pandemic Potential. *Vaccine* (2006) 24(47-48):6859–66. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.023
- Braber S, Verheijden KAT, Henricks PAJ, Kraneveld AD, Folkerts G. A Comparison of Fixation Methods on Lung Morphology in a Murine Model of Emphysema. *Am J Physiology-Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2010) 299(6):L843–51. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00192.2010
- 23. Couch RB, Atmar RL, Franco LM, Quarles JM, Wells J, Arden N, et al. Antibody Correlates and Predictors of Immunity to Naturally Occurring Influenza in Humans and the Importance of Antibody to the Neuraminidase. *J Infect Dis* (2013) 207(6):974–81. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jis935
- Treanor JJ, Campbell JD, Zangwill KM, Rowe T, Wolff M. Safety and Immunogenicity of an Inactivated Subvirion Influenza A (H5N1) Vaccine. N Engl J Med (2006) 354(13):1343–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa055778
- Patel SM, Atmar RL, El Sahly HM, Cate TR, Keitel WA. A Phase I Evaluation of Inactivated Influenza A/H5N1 Vaccine Administered by the Intradermal or the Intramuscular Route. *Vaccine* (2010) 28(17):3025–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.vaccine.2009.10.152
- Ochiai H, Kurokawa M, Kuroki Y, Niwayama S. Infection Enhancement of Influenza A H1 Subtype Viruses in Macrophage-Like P388D1 Cells by Cross-Reactive Antibodies. J Med Virol (1990) 30(4):258–65. doi: 10.1002/jmv.1890300406
- Ochiai H, Kurokawa M, Matsui S, Yamamoto T, Kuroki Y, Kishimoto C, et al. Infection Enhancement of Influenza A NWS Virus in Primary Murine Macrophages by Anti-Hemagglutinin Monoclonal Antibody. J Med Virol (1992) 36(3):217–21. doi: 10.1002/jmv.1890360312
- Tamura M, Webster RG, Ennis FA. Subtype Cross-Reactive, Infection-Enhancing Antibody Responses to Influenza A Viruses. J Virol (1994) 68 (6):3499-504. doi: 10.1128/jvi.68.6.3499-3504.1994
- Huo C, Wu H, Xiao J, Meng D, Zou S, Wang M, et al. Genomic and Bioinformatic Characterization of Mouse Mast Cells (P815) Upon Different Influenza a Virus (H1N1, H5N1, and H7N2) Infections. *Front Genet* (2019) 10:595. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2019.00595
- Wang S-F, Tseng S-P, Yen C-H, Yang J-Y, Tsao C-H, Shen C-W, et al. Antibody-Dependent SARS Coronavirus Infection is Mediated by Antibodies Against Spike Proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 451(2):208–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.090
- Desheva Y, Mamontov A, Petkova N, Karev V, Nazarov P. Mast Cell Degranulation and Histamine Release During A/H5N1 Influenza Infection in Influenza-Sensitized Mice. *Life Sci* (2020) 258:118230. doi: 10.1016/ j.lfs.2020.118230
- 32. Wang S, Wu B, Xue J, Wang M, Chen R, Wang B. Nizatidine, a Small Molecular Compound, Enhances Killed H5N1 Vaccine Cell-Mediated Responses and Protects Mice From Lethal Viral Challenge. *Hum Vaccines Immunother* (2014) 10(2):461–8. doi: 10.4161/hv.27165
- Bodewes R, Fraaij PLA, Kreijtz JHCM, Geelhoed-Mieras MM, Fouchier RAM, Osterhaus ADME, et al. Annual Influenza Vaccination Affects the Development of Heterosubtypic Immunity. *Vaccine* (2012) 30(51):7407–10. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.04.086
- Du L, Zhou Y, Jiang S. Research and Development of Universal Influenza Vaccines. *Microbes Infect* (2010) 12(4):280–6. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2010.01.001
- 35. Winarski KL, Tang J, Klenow L, Lee J, Coyle EM, Manischewitz J, et al. Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Influenza Disease Promoted by Increase in Hemagglutinin Stem Flexibility and Virus Fusion Kinetics. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2019) 116(30):15194–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1821317116

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Mamontov, Losev, Korzhevskii, Guselnikova, Polevshchikov and Desheva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cell Modulation of B Cell Responses: An Under-Appreciated Partnership in Host Defence

Alejandro M. Palma<sup>1</sup>, Mark R. Hanes<sup>2,3</sup> and Jean S. Marshall<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> IWK Health Centre and Department of Pediatrics, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pathology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute, Halifax, NS, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

Mast cells are well known to be activated *via* cross-linking of immunoglobulins bound to surface receptors. They are also recognized as key initiators and regulators of both innate and adaptive immune responses against pathogens, especially in the skin and mucosal surfaces. Substantial attention has been given to the role of mast cells in regulating T cell function either directly or indirectly through actions on dendritic cells. In contrast, the ability of mast cells to modify B cell responses has been less explored. Several lines of evidence suggest that mast cells can greatly modify B cell generation and activities. Mast cells co-localise with B cells in many tissue settings and produce substantial amounts of cytokines, such as IL-6, with profound impacts on B cell development, class-switch recombination events, and subsequent antibody production. Mast cells have also been suggest to modulate the development and functions of regulatory B cells. In this review, we discuss the critical impacts of mast cells on B cells using information from both clinical and laboratory studies and consider the implications of these findings on the host response to infections.

Keywords: infection, regulatory B cells, allergy, inflammation, CD40

# INTRODUCTION

The ability of mast cells to aid in the initiation and regulation of acquired immune responses has been demonstrated by multiple authors (1–6). As key resident sentinel cells in the skin and at mucosal surfaces, capable of detecting pathogens and tissue damage, mast cells are often one of the first cell types to be activated on pathogen invasion, tissue damage, or infection. Initial responses to bacterial pathogens often result in the production of an NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent cytokine cascade that includes the production of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, as well as other cytokines and regulatory factors. The balance of mediators produced varies considerably depending on the tissue site and stimulus (2, 7–10). These can include immunomodulatory cytokines such as IL-10, as well as IL-1RA and a wide variety of potent chemokines which recruit appropriate effector cells. In response to several viral infections the production of chemokines, along with type 1 interferons (IFN) represent the predominant mast cell response and leads to the recruitment of NK cells and CD56+ T cells (11–20). Mast cells also respond to tissue damage *via* responses to alarmins, such as IL-33, subsequently giving rise to a further unique pattern of mediators including IL-13 and IL-5 (21–23). While degranulation is induced by certain stimuli, such as nematode parasites and select bacteria, mediator production often occurs in its absence. Lipid mediators are also selectively produced in

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Anna Di Nardo, University of California, San Diego, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Selina Jessica Keppler, Technical University of Munich, Germany Roberta Gaziano, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Jean S. Marshall jean.marshall@dal.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 June 2021 Accepted: 23 August 2021 Published: 10 September 2021

#### Citation:

Palma AM, Hanes MR and Marshall JS (2021) Mast Cell Modulation of B Cell Responses: An Under-Appreciated Partnership in Host Defence. Front. Immunol. 12:718499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.718499

109

response to many infections and contribute to cell recruitment and vascular changes. This highly regulated and co-ordinated mast cell response can aid in the mobilisation of dendritic cells that subsequently migrate to draining lymph nodes (2, 7, 24–27), the recruitment of effector cells, and the initiation of an optimal acquired immune response including the production of neutralising antibodies.

In many cases it has been assumed that the interaction of mast cells and B cells is important, but not co-ordinated at the tissue level. Mast cells promote the overall initiation of antibody responses and at the same time mast cells are guided and enhanced in their responses by IgE or IgG subclasses bound to Fc receptors on their surface. However, increasing evidence suggests that the relationship between mast cells and B cells is much deeper and more complex, providing potential opportunities for therapeutic intervention. In this review we have selected just some of these proven and potential interactions to highlight and illustrate the complexity and importance of the mast cell-B cell relationship.

## RECEPTOR-LIGAND INTERACTIONS BETWEEN MAST CELLS AND B CELLS

The potential and proven interactions between mast cells and B cells are complex and multifaceted. In considering these, it is

important to distinguish between evidence obtained from human studies and those observed in rodent models. The use of mast cell lines without confirmation using primary mast cells in some studies also means that findings need to be interpreted with caution. Interactions between mast cells and B cells are summarised in **Figure 1**, including the important cell contactdependent and mediator-dependent interactions.

### CD40/CD40L

The CD40/CD40L interaction is pivotal to the regulation of antigen presentation, T cell-dependent class-switching, memory B cell development, and germinal centre formation (28). The early recognition that mast cells express CD40L suggested additional roles for mast cells in modifying B cell functions. This included the demonstration that mast cells can promote B cell class-switch to IgE production *via* a CD40/CD40L-dependent mechanism in the presence of IL-4 (29).

Signalling through CD40 was also shown to increase B cell proliferation by physical cellular contact (30). CD40L-expressing mast cells can enhance CD40/CD40L communication by promoting CD40-expression on B cells (30). Moreover, CD40L can be upregulated on mast cells through the actions of invariant NKT (iNKT) cells. iNKT cells recognise CD1d on the surface of murine mast cells and trigger the upregulation of CD40L, which can subsequently stimulate IgE class-switch by B cells to enhance allergic airways responses (31).



FIGURE 1 | Major pathways of communication between mast cells and B cells. Evidence of cytokine and receptor-ligand interaction between mast cells and B cells has been depicted according to the following color scheme: red for evidence found in rodents, blue for evidence found in humans, and green for rodents and humans. Interaction between mast cells and B cells can occur at mucosal sites as well as at lymphoid and vascular tissues (although less frequently than at the mucosa). This is achieved by a broad array of cytokines (mainly type 2 cytokines, IL-10, IL-6, and IL-33), membrane-bound receptors and ligands (e.g., CD40/CD40L), and granule products such as histamine and proteases. These interactions can promote B cell proliferation, survival, class-switch to IgA or IgE, among other impacts. In addition, exosomes from both mast cells and B cells may be involved in communication between these cells. (*Figure was prepared using BioRender*).

The CD40/CD40L-axis seems to play a role in local immunosuppression and immune tolerance, as it is implicated in the generation of IL-10 secreting B cells, as shown by Mion et al. (32). Indeed, the presence of mast cells enhances the development of B cells capable of producing IL-10 when appropriately stimulated, known as "IL-10 competent B cells". Mast cells do not selectively enhance IL-10 production, on a per cell basis, but have a key role in enhancing expansion of regulatory B cell (Breg) subsets producing this anti-inflammatory mediator (32). Breg cell generation could be enhanced without direct cell contact, as exosomes from mast cells contain CD40L.

The ability of mast cells to enhance Breg development via a CD40-dependent mechanism also appears to be dependent on the anatomical site or other microenvironmental factors. In mice, the presence of mast cells does not enhance Breg differentiation in the spleen or peritoneal cavity but is important in the colon (32). This may be related to the presence of microbial factors in the intestine that are known to activate mast cells (33-35). This type of mast cell-B cell cross-talk may be more important in reducing local inflammatory responses at sites of microbial challenge and ensuring appropriate responses to damage or infection. In the context of allergic disease, mast cells and B cells have also been shown to colocalise in the airway epithelium of ovalbumin (OVA) challenged mice. Both CD40 and CD40L expression were upregulated in this setting possibly due to upregulation of Transglutaminase 2 triggered by antibody-antigen stimulation of mast cells (36). CD40 has also been shown to be expressed by airway epithelial cells (37), where it has been implicated in promoting T cell activation. These observations suggest that blockade of CD40/ CD40L interactions in the allergic airways might have multiple consequences for local immune and inflammatory regulation. Notably, mast cells do not appear to have a key role in the development of mucosal tolerance, at least in adult animals (38).

## OX40/OX40L

Human mast cells from several tissues including the airways express OX40L (39), and this has been shown to provide a mechanism whereby mast cells may promote T cell responses. As mentioned previously, Hong et al. (40) have demonstrated that mast cells and B cells co-localise in the lung epithelium of OVAsensitised mice. Moreover, expression levels of OX40/OX40L and CD40/CD40L were elevated. Inhibition of these pathways decreases the levels of OVA-specific IgA and IgE and reduces antigen-dependent mediator-release by mast cells. This model shows how B cells are activated by mast cells through the CD40/ CD40L pathway as well as the OX40/OX40L-axis, in the presence of appropriate cytokines such as IL-4, IL-13, IL-6, and TGF-β. These signal through the TRAF2-MEKK1 and TRAF60-TAK1 signalling pathways, respectively, to induce B cell class-switch into IgA and IgE secreting cells. Enhanced IgE could provide positive feedback by stimulation of FccRI in mast cells, which in turn would increase mediator production and release. In addition to these more direct interactions between mast cells and B cells through OX40-dependent mechanisms there are a host of impacts that may result from mast cell-T cell interactions through either cell-cell contact or exosomes. For example, it has been clearly demonstrated that mast cells can limit the actions of regulatory T cells (Tregs) and promote Th17 production *via* an OX40/OX40L and IL-6-dependent mechanism (41).

## CD30/CD30L

Mast cells can express both CD30 and CD30L. CD30 expression on mast cells is often associated with mastocytosis or chronic inflammation. In contrast, CD30L expression by mast cells is more consistently observed in a variety of tumours and tumourdraining lymph nodes (42). Molin et al. <sup>74</sup> demonstrated that human mast cells interact with Reed-Sternberg lymphoma cells through the CD30/CD30L axis in Hodgkin's Lymphoma, leading to an increase in proliferation of the latter. It has also been shown that CD30L-signalling induces mast cells to produce chemokines such as CXCL8 without evidence of degranulation or lipid mediator production (43). However, the ability of this interaction to induce chemokines that would induce B cell migration has not been directly examined. Only very specific subsets of B cells in the germinal centre and extrafollicular environment normally express CD30. Notably, the human CD30+ extrafollicular B cells are a subset of active memory B cells (44). It is plausible that mast cells also interact with these B cell populations to promote proliferation under some circumstances.

# CD27 and CD52

Early mast cell progenitors have been described as CD27+ (45) and mast cells ex vivo have also been described to express CD70. This was particularly studied in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia, a form of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. In this setting, soluble CD27 produced by lymphoplasmacytic cells upregulated CD40L on mast cells (30). CD40/CD40L interactions can promote the proliferation of malignant cells and have therefore been implicated as a negative factor in disease progression. It is plausible that this mechanism may extend outside of malignancy, perhaps to a subset of antibody-producing cells.

Both mast cells and B cells express the 12-amino acid GPI linked peptide CD52 (46), which is thought to have a role in retaining cell mobility. CD52 can ligate with Siglec-10 found on mast cells in addition to sialic acid. However, the precise role of this interaction is unknown. Siglec-10-signalling *via* CD24 can reduce responses to DAMPs and inhibit responses to tissue injury in humans (47). This may provide a mechanism whereby local inhibition of inflammation may result from mast cell-B cell cross-talk. However, given the wide range of cell types expressing these molecules it may be a more general method to regulate immune responses in certain tissues.

# MAST CELL MEDIATOR IMPACTS ON B CELLS

In response to a variety of stimuli including pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or damage-associated patterns

(DAMPs), mast cells selectively produce a subset of their wide array of potential mediators. These include preformed granuleassociated products such as proteases and histamine, newly formed lipid mediators such as  $LTC_4$  and  $PGD_2$ , and over 40 different cytokines and chemokines. The combinations, timing and range of such mediator production is dependent on the nature of the acute stimulation, the microenvironment, and the mast cell subpopulation. Many mast cell mediators can directly or indirectly modify B cell recruitment, function, or differentiation. The following section will outline mediators important in the setting of acute or chronic infection.

### Histamine

Histamine is a biogenic amine released by mast cell granules during allergic reactions and in response to multiple other stimuli that induce mast cell degranulation such as tissue injury, and responses to certain pathogen products. The impact of histamine on immunity has been extensively studied as reviewed by Akdis and Blaser (48). In mice, deletion of H1R resulted in suppression of IFN-y and enhanced secretion of the type 2 cytokines, IL-4 and IL-13, with subsequent impacts on B cell responses (49). B cells express both H1 and H2 receptors that impact cellular functions. Early reports demonstrated that H1signalling with IgM/antigen-stimulation enhanced splenic B cell proliferation (50). Kimata et al. (51) showed that B cells from healthy donors treated with anti-CD58 plus IL-4 or IL-13 enhanced IL-6 and IL-10 production when concurrently treated with histamine. This in turn, selectively increased IgE and IgG4 secretion. However, as reviewed by Merluzzi et al. (52) the impact of adding histamine in B cell culture systems has reportedly been variable, possibly due to its short half-life and the presence of histamine degrading enzymes.

H2 receptors on human cells including B cells are endogenously active, so while histamine can enhance their activity, important clues to their regulatory function can often be best obtained by using H2 antagonists or through studies of receptor-deficient cells or animals. Notably, the widely used H2 antagonists, ranitidine and famotidine have been shown to have some significant impacts on B cell activity. For example, ranitidine reduced tumor growth *via* a B cell-dependent mechanism in murine models of breast cancer (53). More recently, Meghnem et al. (54) showed that high dose ranitidine inhibited the number of circulating CD19+ B cells in 29 healthy human subjects. It is not known if chronic histamine stimulation in the context of allergic disease enhances such B cell populations.

## Proteases

Mast cell proteases are released in large amounts from activated mature and immature mast cells, particularly during degranulation. They have a wide variety of important functions in aiding host defence and enhancing the function of numerous cytokines through protease-mediated activation during infection, especially at mucosal surfaces. These include TGF- $\beta$  family members that play key roles in regulating B cell development and in promoting IgA class-switch essential for the appropriate immune protection of mucosal surfaces [reviewed in (55)] as well as impacts on the activity of other inflammatory cytokines such as IL-33 (56–58). Chymase enzymes from mast cells have also been shown to induce B cell secretion of IgG1 and IgE as shown by Yoshikawa et al. (59) using rat mast cell protease II, although the mechanism for this is unclear.

Tryptase production by mast cells can also influence local mediator production and the cellular microenvironment. Moreover, tryptase can activate several protease-activated receptors such as protease activated receptor 2 (PAR2). Xue et al. (60) showed that B cells constitutively express PAR2, with levels increasing in allergic rhinitis. After PAR-2 activation, signalling through Bcl2L12 leads to IL-10 transcription repression and reduced IL-10-expression by B cells from patients with allergic rhinitis. The fact that tryptase is an important activator of PAR2 adds to the important role of mast cells in an allergic setting and raises the possibility of reduced tolerogenic responses following mast cell degranulation through inhibition of IL-10 production by B cells. It remains to be discovered if this mechanism occurs in other tissue settings where mast cells and B cells co-localise such as the gut.

### IL-6

Mast cells can be a rich source of IL-6 in response to certain infections. For example, when activated with high doses of Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharides (LPS), rodent mast cells have been reported to produce more IL-6 on a per cell basis than similarly treated macrophages. IL-6 has several roles in regulating B cell and plasma cell development and was originally described as a B cell differentiation factor. IL-6 is crucial for development of immunoglobulin-producing plasma cells and in some cases, class-switching. Merluzzi et al. (30) have shown that mast cells promote B cells differentiation into plasma cells with an IgA isotype through IL-6 secretion, which suggests that B cells can class-switch to IgA without T cell help. This process may be particularly important in the context of mucosal infections and host defence in airways. Another IL-6 family member, leukemia inhibitory factor, produced by mast cells (61), has been shown to selectively activate B1a cells in mice (62). It has also been suggested that in the presence of microbial stimulation IL-6 can promote the generation of Bregs (63). This adds to the complexity of the potential impact of mast cell IL-6 production following microbial breach of the epithelial barrier or mast cell contact with bacterial products.

Mast cells can also impact tissue remodelling events through IL-6. As described by Breitling et al. (64) in a murine pulmonary hypertension model, mast cells promoted vascular remodelling of the pulmonary artery of rats. A genetic analysis of lung samples from these rats revealed increased immunoglobulin gene products relative to controls, indicating a link between mast cells and immunoglobulin production. Upon further investigation, mast cell-derived IL-6 proved important. Pulmonary hypertension was improved by IL-6 inhibition, although increased mast cell density persisted when IL-6 was diminished. The depletion of B cells with anti-CD20 as well as the use of B cell-deficient mice also improved pulmonary hypertension. Along those lines, autoantibody levels as well as vascular remodeling decreased after oral ketotifen treatment, a mast cell stabiliser. Further information on mast cell/B cell

communication will be crucial for devising novel strategies to treat pulmonary hypertension.

## Interferons and B Cell Chemoattractants

Mast cells are not thought to be a significant source of type 2 IFNs (e.g., IFN- $\gamma$ ), although they can produce it under some circumstances (65). Mast cells are, however, an important source of type 1 IFNs following viral infection (11, 12, 18). The IFN response of human mast cells to viral infection can be enhanced by IL-4 (66) with potential to modify B cell activity. It has been demonstrated that type 1 IFN-signalling in B cells can lead to the loss of tolerance and the development of autoreactive B cells (67). Type 1 IFN responses by mast cells are only one of a number of possible routes by which they may enhance antibody generation in autoimmune disease, such as their enhancement of anticitrullinated protein antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis (68). This role for IFNs is best studied in the context of systemic lupus but could potentially also enhance responses to environmental allergens at sites such as the nasal mucosa or intestine which are prone to viral infection.

Human mast cells are also an important source of type 3 IFNs such as IL-29 during select viral infections and upon activation by specific viral-associated products such as double stranded RNA. IFN- $\lambda$  has been demonstrated to enhance the differentiation of naïve B cells into plasmablasts *via* the mTORC1 pathway (69). While the contribution of mast cells to this and other IFN-dependent modulation activities on B cells is likely small within classical draining lymph node sites, it may be of greater importance at sites of mast cell-B cell co-localisation and viral exposure, such as the nasal mucosa, intestinal lamina propria, or inflamed skin.

In environments with high levels of IFNs such as sites of viral infections, mast cells can produce large amounts of several lymphocyte chemoattractants (70). Indeed, mast cells can produce CXCL10 in the context of reovirus, dengue virus, influenza, and RSV infection (71). CXCL10 has B cell and T cell chemoattractant abilities in addition to multiple other impacts. CXCL13 is also recognised as a critical B cell chemoattractant and although not widely studied from mast cells has also been reported to be produced following reovirus infection of human cord blood-derived mast cells (13).

# IL-33 and Type 2 Cytokines

Mast cells can be a significant source of type 2 cytokines that impact B cell development and function. For example, the production of IL-4 by mucosal mast cells in allergic rhinitis may enhance IgE class-switch by B cells, albeit to a lesser degree than IL-13 (72). Local microbial stimulation likely contributes to such mast cell activation at mucosal settings. IL-33, a member of the IL-1 receptor family, has also been reported to strongly influence B cells. IL-33 has been reported to induce activation of murine B1 cells through the ST2 receptor and drive the production of CCL2 and CCL3, chemokines involved in the trafficking of monocytes, macrophages, and other effector cells. Stimulation of B1 cells with IL-33 also generates the production of angiogenic factors such as VEGF and GM-CSF (73). IL-33 also stimulates IL-5 production and secretion in both mast cells and B cells, which leads to paracrine and autocrine stimulation through the IL-5 receptor to promote B cell proliferation, maintenance of Bregs, and antibody production (52). Overall, mast cells both produce IL-33 and respond to this alarmin through the production of similar mediators. Therefore, it possible that mast cell/B cell interaction at mucosal sites can perpetuate local inflammatory responses in specific settings through production of cytokines and angiogenic factors.

# **BAFF** and **APRIL**

Mast cells not only influence B cells in terms of class-switching and differentiation but also produce soluble mediators from the TNF ligand family that enhance B cell survival and limit apoptosis. As shown by Wang et al. (74), among many cell types, mast cells produce B cell activating factor (BAFF) in the ectopic lymphoid tissue of nasal polyps. Increased BAFF production may promote B cell survival to potentially promote ectopic lymphoid tissue formation. In support of this, another related member of the TNF ligand family, A Proliferation-Inducing Ligand (APRIL) along with B-Lymphocyte Stimulator factor (BLYS) can promote the survival of lymphoplasmacytic cells in Waldenström macroglobulinemia (75). Mast cells produced APRIL in response to CD70 stimulation through CD27 (75). The activities of these molecules, together with CD40/CD40L interactions support the importance of a range of TNF family members in mast cell/B cell interaction.

## **Exosomes**

Mast cells may also modulate B cells through transfer of exosomes. Mast cell-derived exosomes can harbour multiple molecules highlighted herein (e.g., CD40 and CD40L) and others such as CD86, MHC II, LFA-1, and ICAM-1 (76). Exosome secretion may be dependent on IL-4 and mast cell maturity. Paradoxically, exosomes from mast cells have been shown to induce secretion of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-12, skewing the immune response to type 1 cytokine polarisation. This indicates that mast cells can broadly shape immune responses (e.g., allergic reactions) including the intensity through their exosome contents. Despite strong evidence of exosome importance for modifying B and T cell activities *in vitro* (77–79), the role of mast cell exosomes has yet to be conclusively demonstrated *in vivo*, particularly in settings of infection.

# MAST CELL/B CELL INTERACTION AND CO-LOCALISATION

Mast cells are resident tissue cells observed in high density at mucosal surfaces and in the skin. However, they are also found throughout the body, mainly in association with blood vessels. Mast cells are present in lymphoid tissue, but usually not as a major resident population. However, mast cell migration to inguinal lymph nodes has been reported in the context of early inflammatory responses (e.g., following UV exposure) (80–82). Mast cells are also found in close-proximity to B cells in tonsil and Peyer's patches (81–83) (**Figure 2**). At sites of ectopic



**FIGURE 2** | Extensive mast cell/B cell co-localisation within lymphoid tissue. Multiplex immunostaining using Opal<sup>TM</sup> technology (Akoya Biosciences) identified CD20<sup>+</sup>CD79 $\alpha^+$  B cells (green and cyan), tryptase<sup>+</sup>CD117<sup>+</sup> mast cells (magenta and white), and CD20<sup>-</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells (red) within formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded 5 µm-thick human tonsil sections. The 6-plex panel (including DAPI counterstaining) scans were acquired on the Mantra 2<sup>TM</sup> Quantitative Pathology Workstation using pre-defined parameters at 20x original magnification and spectrally unmixed using inForm<sup>®</sup> software (Akoya Biosciences). Representative image illustrating close-proximity between mast cells and B cells within tonsil architecture. Mast cells appear less in T cell dense areas.

lymphoid tissue development, such as in the airways during chronic allergic disease (84) and in the joints during rheumatoid arthritis (68, 85), mast cells and B cells are also found within the same microenvironment at high density, potentially as a result of the disease (**Table 1**).

This co-localisation may be functionally important. Early studies demonstrated that mast cells could effectively promote B cell function and proliferation (86, 87). There is evidence for interaction between mast cells and B cells at the nasal mucosa of patients with allergic rhinitis. Mast cells have been shown to induce IgE synthesis by purified tonsillar B cells in response to antigens without the need for exogenous IL-4 or IL-13. Mast cells in this context were reported to have enhanced expression of FccR1, CD40L, IL-4, and IL-13 (72). *In vitro*, Palm et al. (88)

demonstrated in mice that degranulated (and to some extent resting) mast cells enhanced B cell activation including elevated expression of CD19, MHC II, CD86, and L-selectin. Such activated B cells also secreted greater amounts of IgG and IgM. In the intestine, a different impact of mast cell-B cell interaction has been suggested. Mast cells and B cells co-localise in the lamina propria of the intestine of individuals with inflammatory bowel disease and an association has been reported between the presence of mast cells and elevated IgA secretion (30). These authors also clearly demonstrated the presence of mast cells and B cells in human lymph nodes undergoing reactive hyperplasia. Mast cells were particularly localised surrounding follicles and in the paracortical and medullary regions of the lymph nodes, raising the possibility of interaction with recirculating naïve B

Sites of close-proximity	Mast cell identifier(s)	B cell identifier(s)	Host	Citation(s)
Gut mucosa	Tryptase <sup>+</sup>	CD20 <sup>+</sup>	Human	Merluzzi et al., 2010 (30)
Airway epithelia	CD117 (c-Kit)+	CD23 <sup>+</sup>	Mouse	Hong et al., 2013 (36)
Lungs	Tryptase <sup>+</sup>	CD45RA <sup>+</sup>	Rat	Breitling et al., 2017 (64)
Inguinal lymph node	Toluidine blue <sup>+</sup>	CD19 <sup>+</sup>	Mouse	Byrne et al., 2008 (80)
	Tryptase <sup>+</sup>	CD20 <sup>+</sup>	Human	Merluzzi et al., 2010 (30)
Tonsil	CD117 <sup>+</sup>	CD20 <sup>+</sup>	Human	Rivellese et al., 2018 (68)
	Alcian blue <sup>+</sup>		Human	He and Xie 2005; He et al., 2005 (81, 82)
Ectopic lymphoid tissue	Tryptase <sup>+</sup>	CD19 <sup>+</sup>	Human	Zhai et al., 2018 (84)
	CD117 <sup>+</sup>	CD20 <sup>+</sup>	Human	Rivellese et al., 2018 (68)

TABLE 1 | Sites of close-proximity between mast cells and B cells in multiple hosts.

cells and activated post germinal centre B cells. Using a coculture of primary mast cells and B cells, the presence of mast cells promoted the survival and proliferation of B cells through an IL-6-dependent mechanism which also required cell-cell interactions such as CD40/CD40L (30). In contrast to these findings, it has also been suggested that mast cells within lymph nodes may have more suppressive immunomodulatory functions which limit B cell responses. For example, Chacon Salinas et al. (89) have demonstrated that the production of IL-10 by mast cells can indirectly disrupt germinal centre formation via impacts on T follicular helper cells. The production of IL-10 and IgA by B cells has also been implicated in reducing neuroinflammation (90) and inflammatory responses at mucosal surfaces (91). Thus, any impact of mast cells in modifying such responses could have critical downstream impacts on the mucosal immune environment.

Outside of secondary and ectopic lymphoid tissues there are other environments where mast cells and B cells may be concentrated. These include the previously mentioned lamina propria of the intestine as well as several tumour settings. Bone marrow studies in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia have shown an increased number of mast cells, where they are thought to contribute to tumour growth as well as angiogenesis, as shown by Ahn et al. (92). In addition to an increase in mast cell density, the proportion of CD40L+ mast cells correlated with poor tumour prognosis, illustrating the potential cross-talk between B cells (albeit abnormal ones) and mast cells through the CD40/ CD40L axis. A similar link has been suggested in the setting of multiple myeloma as shown by Pappa et al. (93). Neoplastic B cells may also modify the activities of mast cells such as recruitment and activation. This is in addition to a multitude of less B cell specific interactions between mast cells and tumours that occur in tumour settings (94-97). For example, Fischer et al. (98) have shown that neoplastic cells from Hodgkin's Lymphoma secrete CCL5 at sites of infiltration to recruit mast cells. Mast cells may also impact other aspects of the tumour microenvironment. For example, increased numbers of mast cells are found in nodular sclerosing forms of Hodgkin's lymphoma, associated with tissue fibrosis and the presence of IL-13 expressing Reed Sternberg cells. Moreover, mast cells were associated with greater disease progression and increased micro-vessel density in primary cutaneous B cell lymphomas and have potential as a prognostic marker (99).

## MAST CELLS AND CHRONIC INFECTION

### **Parasite Infections**

Mast cells have important roles in many globally important parasite infections, although their contribution differs with the infecting microorganism. Helminth gastrointestinal infections are associated with increased mast cell density and activation at the site of infection, which contributes to epithelial sloughing and increased motility (100–102). Mast cells may also contribute to tissue repair through impacts on fibroblast activation and tissue remodeling. Mast cell proteases are directly toxic to many helminths (103) and the granule product chondroitin-sulphate has also been reported to be active (104) in preventing nematode adhesion and penetration of the intestinal mucosa. Helminth infection-associated mast cell activation likely also modifies the responses of local B cells and plasma cells through mediator impacts, some of which are detailed below.

Mast cells participate in shaping type 2 immune responses to many nematodes through the release of IL-33, IL-25, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin. As shown also by Hepworth et al. (100, 105, 106), mast cell-deficient mice had an impaired type 2 immune response against helminths. Enhanced type 2 immune responses could indirectly alter B cell responses and contribute to the high IgE levels observed in many such infections. In secondary infections, the presence of specific IgE may enhance local mast cell responses enabling more rapid infection clearance (100, 106).

Infections by *Schistosoma mansoni*, a parasite mainly found in Africa and South America, are known to induce polyclonal B cell responses. *S. mansoni* produces glycoproteins recognised by galectin-3 that induce strong antibody responses. In a chronic schistosomiasis murine model developed by Oliveira et al. (107), mast cell degranulation was suggested to be one of the drivers for IgA class-switch and subsequent antibody production by peritoneal B1 cells. This process was regulated by galectin-3. Even though these findings are not yet completely understood, they highlight complex interactions between mast cells and B cells in parasite infections.

It is important to stress that many mast cell effector functions in response to chronic or repeated infection require the presence of B cells and antibodies. This was formally demonstrated by Matsumoto et al. (108) using activation induced cytidine deaminase (AID)-deficient mice, which despite the presence of intact T and mast cell compartments demonstrated delayed elimination of *Strongyloides venezuelensis*. Enhanced expulsion was restored with the addition of IgG1 and IgE to AID-deficient mice indicating the importance of antibody production. Antibody enhanced expulsion was shown to be mediated by mast cells, which underscores the importance of mast cell stimulation through their Fc $\gamma$  and Fc $\epsilon$  receptors (108).

While the role of mast cells and B cells in helminth infections is well established, their role in protozoan infections is less clear. In infections by *Plasmodium* spp., mast cell-derived TNF- $\alpha$  was shown to be important for the clearance of infection and protection against cerebral involvement. However, mast cell degranulation, increased concentrations of histamine and higher levels of IgE against *Plasmodium falciparum* were associated with worse outcomes. Similarly, in the setting of cerebral malaria, mast cell degranulation involved histamine release, increased vascular permeability, enhanced endothelial damage, and lead to the release of VEGF, which associated with worse outcome (109).

In infections by *Leishmania* spp., the participation of mast cells seems to depend on the species of the parasite as a first line of defence, without a clear interaction with B cells. As shown by Naqvi et al. (110), mast cells can phagocytose *L. tropica* which causes cutaneous leishmaniasis but not *L. donovani*, which causes visceral leishmaniasis. Both species are susceptible to killing by extracellular traps created by mast cells, but *L. tropica* is more vulnerable. These observations highlight differential roles for mast cells depending on the type of leishmaniasis.

In Chagas disease, there have been descriptions of coexistence of mast cells and B cells in heart biopsies of patients with dilated myocardiopathy. The presence of mast cells in the heart and intestine has been associated with worse prognosis, possibly implying ongoing inflammation and fibrotic processes involving mast cells (111–113).

## **Viral Infections**

Mast cells have been implicated in the host response to multiple viral infections. Multiple viral associated stimuli can induce the production of type I and III IFNs, chemokines, inflammatory cytokines as well as factors involved in tissue remodelling such as VEGF (11, 17, 70). Such interactions occur in the absence of B cells or antibody in many cases. For example, infections with reovirus, respiratory syncytial virus, adenovirus, and influenza of human mast cells have been reported, leading to substantial mediator release (11, 13, 16, 114–116). These types of responses are often the result of signalling through RNA or DNA sensors such as TLR 3, 7, 8 or 9, RIG-I, MDA-5, and STING pathways (12, 117, 118). Mediators produced can include both B cell chemoattractants and cytokines which act on B cells, such as IL-6. However, antibody mediated events can also play a key role in these processes for some viruses.

Antibody-dependent enhancement occurs when subneutralising levels of antibody facilitate the entry of virus into the cell *via* Fc receptors. For mast cells this process has been described for Dengue virus infection, mediated by low concentrations of IgG *via* Fc $\gamma$ RII (15, 119) where it can induce cytokine and chemokine production, and mast cell apoptosis (120). IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  which have been implicated in vascular damage and endothelial dysfunction (121) are also produced by infected human mast cells. Mast cell activation in this clinical context has been implicated in Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever and Dengue Shock Syndrome (122–124).

Antibody-dependent enhancement of infection of mast cells may also be a factor in response to subsequent infections with other viruses such as Zika virus (116) and has most recently been suggested as a factor in SARS-CoV-2 infection (125, 126). It likely also occurs for other viruses under specific circumstances where antibody is not sufficient for neutralisation.

Antibody-mediated processes in viral infections can also activate mast cells via Fc receptor cross-linking leading to degranulation, lipid mediator production, and subsequent longer-term cytokine and chemokine production. The nature of the responses is highly dependent on the class and subclass profile of antibodies produced in response to infection. In many cases the type 1 cytokine response to viruses does not support a strong specific IgE response, but given the long half-life of such antibodies on mast cells in sites such as the skin and airways there is potential for IgE mediated events to enhance events such as the mobilisation of dendritic cells (24, 26) leading to enhanced B and T cell responses in draining lymph nodes. During HIV infections, mast cells and their precursors may also harbour virus which can be reactivated through either TLR- or antibody/Fc receptor-pathways (114, 127, 128). Indirect processes such as complement product (C3a, C5a) mediated activation of mast cells may also occur in response to antibody complexes with viral products.

# **Atopy and Bacterial Infections**

Mast cells and B cells are both important players in effective responses against bacterial pathogens. Mast cells function as critical sentinel cells during the early stages of infection and promote the recruitment of effector cells to sites of infection. On the other hand, the B cell mediated antibody response is key to combatting longer-term and secondary infections. Interplay between these cell types can therefore generally be seen as positive for anti-bacterial host defence. However, this is not always the case. The skin of individuals with atopic dermatitis is frequently colonised by Staphylococcus aureus. This suggests that S. aureus may contribute to the pathophysiological events that culminates in atopic dermatitis. Interestingly, mast cells and B cells may partner in driving this disease. A report using an atopic dermatitis mouse model showed that mast cell-deficient mice inoculated with wild-type S. aureus and challenged with ovalbumin had reduced skin disease and serum IgE than wildtype mice. Mast cell contribution may be through their degranulation products, as skin-derived murine mast cells degranulate in response to S. aureus-derived  $\delta$ -toxin, which is enhanced if mast cells are first primed with B cell-derived IgE (129). Other Gram-positive bacterial-derived products promote mast cell production of type 2 cytokines known to induce atopic dermatitis features such as IL-13, as well as proinflammatory

TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6. Patients with atopic dermatitis have increased blood IgE production signatures in blood and higher frequency of blood and lesional B cells compared to control groups (130) but the precise contribution of mast cells to this response is unknown.

In related studies considering superantigens as triggers for atopic disease, Schlievert et al. (131) analysed the response of keratinocytes to bacterial superantigens and found an enhanced production of chemokines and cytokines. Among them, IL-33 was notably increased. Mast cells can also respond to IL-33 producing a number of type 2 cytokines which could promote class-switch to IgE and antibody generation. Taken together, these studies indicate an interplay between staphylococci colonisation, superantigen stimulation, mast cell stimulation and therefore B cell stimulation, and production of IgE which in turn could produce a positive feedback on mast cell degranulation.

### Hypersensitivity and Fungal Infections

Interaction between B cell and mast cells could also be an influencing factor in immunity and inflammation in response to several fungal infections. Histamine release from mast cells is a frequent feature of cutaneous and mucosal fungal infections. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) has been mainly reported in patients with asthma and cystic fibrosis where the production of IgE towards Aspergillus spp. spores by B cells leads to the activation of mast cells (132). A. fumigatus antigen Af1 is presented through MHC II to Th2 lymphocytes (132) eliciting production of IL-4 and IL-13. This type 2 cytokine rich environment promotes class-switch to IgE. As with other pathogens, IgE bound to mast cells can mediate mast cell activation to Aspergillus spp. antigens in secondary or chronic infections (133). It is also worth noting that Aspergillus spp. can induce mast cell degranulation independently of IgE in rodents, without causing any damage to the hyphae (134) but more damage to the airway mucosa.

While the fungus itself produces damage in the airway epithelium, the release of mast cell proteases and the recruitment of eosinophils contribute substantially to remodelling of the airway in response to such infection (135). Eosinophils release their toxic granular proteins while mast cells release tryptase and both of them activate and promote the production of TGF- $\beta$ . This cytokine induces bronchial fibroblasts to differentiate to myofibroblasts that directly induce in the remodelling of the airway wall (135). Further corroborating the involvement of mast cells driven by IgE in ABPA, treatment with omalizumab (a monoclonal antibody targeting the high-affinity receptor binding site on human IgE and thereby reducing mast cell sensitisation) has been shown to be effective for patients with severe allergic asthma and ABPA (136).

Cross-talk between mast cells and B cells has also been shown to be important in *Malassezia* spp. infections. *Malassezia* spp. are a group of opportunistic fungi that grow mainly in skin areas with abundant sebaceous glands. They have been implicated in the pathogenesis of atopic eczema, seborrheic dermatitis and pityriasis versicolor (133). Selander et al. have shown, using a rodent model, that Malassezia sympodialis can activate both non-sensitised and IgE-sensitised mast cells (137). While IgEsensitised mast cells degranulate, release cysteinyl leukotrienes, cytokines and chemokines when stimulated with extracts of M. sympodialis, non-sensitised mast cells selectively release leukotrienes without degranulation (137). This activation is induced through the TLR2/Myd88 and MAPK pathway. Although the in vivo impact of such responses is not well studied, cysteinyl leukotrienes can act through Cys LT1 receptors on B cells to enhance immunoglobulin production in vitro (138). Taken together, these findings support the idea of a mast cell response to Malassezia spp. enhanced by IgE produced by B cells in atopic dermatitis. This would be expected to both promote local inflammation and effector cell recruitment and potentially enhance the development and maintenance of an acquired immune response to infection through impacts on dendritic cells and draining lymph nodes.

Some similar mast cell responses have also been observed in response to Candida albicans. Mast cells can respond directly to this pathogen through both TLR and dectin-1 mediated pathways, giving rise to both lipid mediator and cytokine responses, often without degranulation. These responses may promote the generation of acquired immunity. A link has also been established between Candida spp. colonisation of the skin and exacerbation of atopic dermatitis (139, 140). As shown by various reports (139, 140), Candida spp. can induce IgE-mediated mast cell degranulation and subsequent responses in humans who have been previously sensitised and both promote inflammation and exacerbate histaminergic symptoms of patients. Taken together, these findings suggest a dual role of mast cells in the interaction with Candida spp.: they act as sentinels and first line of defence, but their mediators can become detrimental for the host and perpetuate inflammation.

# CONCLUSION

This short description of some of the most crucial known and potential interactions between B cells and mast cells raises many questions. Mast cells are tissue resident cells, often in limited numbers in lymph nodes. However, they are more prominent in tissues such as the tonsils and Peyer's patches where they are in close-proximity to B cells as they are in the respiratory and intestinal mucosa. Traditionally, B cells in the skin have often been overlooked but both B1 and B2 cells are present and B cell populations in these sites are increased during inflammation. It is in the skin and other mucosal tissues where mast cells play the most important role as sentinel cells against infection; it is also in these sites where interaction between mast cells and B cells might be most critical to local infection and inflammation regulation. Given the key role of mast cells in promoting the selective recruitment and activation of other effector cells, it seems likely that mast cells play an early role in B cell responses. However, the

complex interactions between mast cells and B cells persist longer-term. Current data suggests a number of mechanisms whereby mast cells can support or limit Breg development. Most of these can occur without direct cell contact. Similarly, the production of antibodies and cytokines such as IL-10 by the B cell lineage can dramatically alter mast cell function and provide a long-term mechanism for heightened responses to secondary infection. There is a wide menu of potential mechanisms whereby mast cells can modify B cell populations and function. Each tissue site and pathogen response will likely access only a subset of such mechanisms. Understanding and modifying these mast cell-dependent pathways shows promise for enhancing responses in chronic infection, limiting the development of autoreactive B cells and combating local immune suppression in some tumour settings. Critical to this process is direct analysis of the nature and function of local resident B cell populations and their resident mast cell neighbors in normal tissues and sites of disease.

## REFERENCES

- Mukai K, Tsai M, Saito H, Galli SJ. Mast Cells as Sources of Cytokines, Chemokines, and Growth Factors. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 282(1):121–50. doi: 10.1111/imr.12634
- Suto H, Nakae S, Kakurai M, Sedgwick JD, Tsai M, Galli SJ. Mast Cell-Associated TNF Promotes Dendritic Cell Migration. *J Immunol* (2006) 176 (7):4102–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4102
- Nakae S, Suto H, Kakurai M, Sedgwick JD, Tsai M, Galli SJ. Mast Cells Enhance T Cell Activation: Importance of Mast Cell-Derived TNF. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2005) 102(18):6467–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501912102
- Arifuzzaman M, Mobley YR, Choi HW, Bist P, Salinas CA, Brown ZD, et al. MRGPR-Mediated Activation of Local Mast Cells Clears Cutaneous Bacterial Infection and Protects Against Reinfection. *Sci Adv* (2019) 5(1): eaav0216. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aav0216
- Malaviya R, Ikeda T, Ross E, Abraham SN. Mast Cell Modulation of Neutrophil Influx and Bacterial Clearance at Sites of Infection Through TNF-Alpha. *Nature* (1996) 381(6577):77–80. doi: 10.1038/381077a0
- Marshall JS. Mast-Cell Responses to Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4 (10):787–99. doi: 10.1038/nri1460
- Dawicki W, Jawdat DW, Xu N, Marshall JS, et al. Mast Cells, Histamine, and IL-6 Regulate the Selective Influx of Dendritic Cell Subsets Into an Inflamed Lymph Node. J Immunol (2010) 184(4):2116–23. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0803894
- Leal-Berumen I, Conlon P, Marshall JS. IL-6 Production by Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells is Not Necessarily Preceded by Histamine Release and can be Induced by Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide. *J Immunol* (1994) 152(11):5468–76.
- Nakae S, Suto H, Iikura M, Kakurai M, Sedgwick JD, Tsai M, et al. Mast Cells Enhance T Cell Activation: Importance of Mast Cell Costimulatory Molecules and Secreted TNF. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(4):2238–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.4.2238
- Dreskin SC, Abraham SN. Production of TNF-Alpha by Murine Bone Marrow Derived Mast Cells Activated by the Bacterial Fimbrial Protein, FimH. *Clin Immunol* (1999) 90(3):420–4. doi: 10.1006/clim.1998.4657
- Al-Afif A, Alyazidi R, Oldford SA, Huang YY, King CA, Marr N, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection of Primary Human Mast Cells Induces the Selective Production of Type I Interferons, CXCL10, and CCL4. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2015) 136(5):1346–54 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.042
- Brown MG, McAlpine SM, Huang YY, Haidl ID, Al-Afif A, Marshall JS, et al. RNA Sensors Enable Human Mast Cell Anti-Viral Chemokine Production and IFN-Mediated Protection in Response to Antibody-Enhanced Dengue Virus Infection. *PloS One* (2012) 7(3):e34055. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0034055
- 13. Burke SM, Issekutz TB, Mohan K, Lee PW, Shmulevitz M, Marshall JS. Human Mast Cell Activation With Virus-Associated Stimuli Leads to the

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AMP contributed the literature search, evaluation of material, Figure 2 and a substantial portion of the written manuscript. MRH contributed Figure 1, evaluation of key sections of literature scientific insights and review. AMP contributed Figure 1 and MRH contributed Figure 2. JSM provided substantial writing and editing of the manuscript and conceptualization of the review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR grant number PJT-173350). MH is the recipient of a Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute trainee award. AP is funded through an investigator award from the IWK Health Centre, Halifax, NS.

Selective Chemotaxis of Natural Killer Cells by a CXCL8-Dependent Mechanism. *Blood* (2008) 111(12):5467–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-118547

- Ebert S, Becker M, Lemmermann NA, Buttner JK, Michel A, Taube C, et al. Mast Cells Expedite Control of Pulmonary Murine Cytomegalovirus Infection by Enhancing the Recruitment of Protective CD8 T Cells to the Lungs. *PloS Pathog* (2014) 10(4):e1004100. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004100
- King CA, Anderson R, Marshall JS. Dengue Virus Selectively Induces Human Mast Cell Chemokine Production. J Virol (2002) 76(16):8408–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.16.8408-8419.2002
- Marcet CW, St Laurent CD, Moon TC, Singh N, Befus AD. Limited Replication of Influenza A Virus in Human Mast Cells. *Immunol Res* (2013) 56(1):32–43. doi: 10.1007/s12026-012-8377-4
- McAlpine SM, Issekutz TB, Marshall JS. Virus Stimulation of Human Mast Cells Results in the Recruitment of CD56(+) T Cells by a Mechanism Dependent on CCR5 Ligands. FASEB J (2012) 26(3):1280–9. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-188979
- Portales-Cervantes L, Haidl ID, Lee PW, Marshall JS. Virus-Infected Human Mast Cells Enhance Natural Killer Cell Functions. J Innate Immun (2017) 9 (1):94–108. doi: 10.1159/000450576
- St John AL, Rathore AP, Raghavan B, Ng ML, Abraham SN. Contributions of Mast Cells and Vasoactive Products, Leukotrienes and Chymase, to Dengue Virus-Induced Vascular Leakage. *Elife* (2013) 2:e00481. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00481
- Wang Z, Lai Y, Bernard JJ, Macleod DT, Cogen AL, Moss B, et al. Skin Mast Cells Protect Mice Against Vaccinia Virus by Triggering Mast Cell Receptor S1PR2 and Releasing Antimicrobial Peptides. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(1):345– 57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101703
- Iikura M, Suto H, Kajiwara N, Oboki K, Ohno T, Okayama Y, et al. IL-33 can Promote Survival, Adhesion and Cytokine Production in Human Mast Cells. *Lab Invest* (2007) 87(10):971–8. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700663
- Lunderius-Andersson C, Enoksson M, Nilsson G. Mast Cells Respond to Cell Injury Through the Recognition of IL-33. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:82. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00082
- Allakhverdi Z, Smith DE, Comeau MR, Delespesse G. Cutting Edge: The ST2 Ligand IL-33 Potently Activates and Drives Maturation of Human Mast Cells. J Immunol (2007) 179(4):2051–4. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.4.2051
- Shelburne CP, Nakano H, St John AL, Chan C, McLachlan JB, Gunn MD, et al. Mast Cells Augment Adaptive Immunity by Orchestrating Dendritic Cell Trafficking Through Infected Tissues. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 6 (4):331–42. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.09.004
- Dudeck A, Suender CA, Kostka SL, von Stebut E, Maurer M. Mast Cells Promote Th1 and Th17 Responses by Modulating Dendritic Cell Maturation and Function. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(7):1883–93. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040994
- 26. Jawdat DM, Albert EJ, Rowden G, Haidl ID, Marshall JS. IgE-Mediated Mast Cell Activation Induces Langerhans Cell Migration

In Vivo. J Immunol (2004) 173(8):5275-82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 173.8.5275

- Jawdat DM, Rowden G, Marshall JS. Mast Cells Have a Pivotal Role in TNF-Independent Lymph Node Hypertrophy and the Mobilization of Langerhans Cells in Response to Bacterial Peptidoglycan. *J Immunol* (2006) 177 (3):1755–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.3.1755
- Grewal IS, Flavell RA. CD40 and CD154 in Cell-Mediated Immunity. Annu Rev Immunol (1998) 16:111–35. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.111
- Gauchat JF, Henchoz S, Mazzei G, Aubry JP, Brunner T, Blasey H, et al. Induction of Human IgE Synthesis in B Cells by Mast Cells and Basophils. *Nature* (1993) 365(6444):340–3. doi: 10.1038/365340a0
- Merluzzi S, Frossi B, Gri G, Parusso S, Tripodo C, Pucillo C. Mast Cells Enhance Proliferation of B Lymphocytes and Drive Their Differentiation Toward IgA-Secreting Plasma Cells. *Blood* (2010) 115(14):2810–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-250126
- Hong GU, Kim NG, Kim TJ, Ro JY. CD1d Expressed in Mast Cell Surface Enhances IgE Production in B Cells by Up-Regulating CD40L Expression and Mediator Release in Allergic Asthma in Mice. *Cell Signal* (2014) 26 (5):1105–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.01.029
- Mion F, D'Inca F, Danelli L, Toffoletto B, Guarnotta C, Frossi B, et al. Mast Cells Control the Expansion and Differentiation of IL-10-Competent B Cells. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(9):4568–79. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302593
- 33. Bednarska O, Walter SA, Casado-Bedmar M, Strom M, Salvo-Romero E, Vicario M, et al. Vasoactive Intestinal Polypeptide and Mast Cells Regulate Increased Passage of Colonic Bacteria in Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 4):948–960 e3. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2017.06.051
- 34. Kramer S, Sellge G, Lorentz A, Krueger D, Schemann M, Feilhauer K, et al. Selective Activation of Human Intestinal Mast Cells by Escherichia Coli Hemolysin. J Immunol (2008) 181(2):1438–45. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.181.2.1438
- Chichlowski M, Westwood GS, Abraham SN, Hale LP. Role of Mast Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Inflammation-Associated Colorectal Neoplasia in IL-10-Deficient Mice. *PloS One* (2010) 5(8):e12220. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012220
- Hong GU, Park BS, Park JW, Kim SY, Ro JY. IgE Production in CD40/ CD40L Cross-Talk of B and Mast Cells and Mediator Release *via* TGase 2 in Mouse Allergic Asthma. *Cell Signal* (2013) 25(6):1514–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.cellsig.2013.03.010
- 37. Propst SM, Denson R, Rothstein E, Estell K, Schwiebert LM. Proinflammatory and Th2-Derived Cytokines Modulate CD40-Mediated Expression of Inflammatory Mediators in Airway Epithelia: Implications for the Role of Epithelial CD40 in Airway Inflammation. *J Immunol* (2000) 165 (4):2214–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.4.2214
- Tunis MC, Dawicki W, Carson KR, Wang J, Marshall JS. Mast Cells and IgE Activation do Not Alter the Development of Oral Tolerance in a Murine Model. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2012) 130(3):705–715 e1. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2012.04.011
- 39. Kashiwakura J, Yokoi H, Saito H, Okayama Y. T Cell Proliferation by Direct Cross-Talk Between OX40 Ligand on Human Mast Cells and OX40 on Human T Cells: Comparison of Gene Expression Profiles Between Human Tonsillar and Lung-Cultured Mast Cells. J Immunol (2004) 173(8):5247–57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.8.5247
- Hong GU, Lim JY, Kim NG, Shin JH, Ro JY. IgE and IgA Produced by OX40-OX40L or CD40-CD40L Interaction in B Cells-Mast Cells Re-Activate FcepsilonRI or FcalphaRI on Mast Cells in Mouse Allergic Asthma. Eur J Pharmacol (2015) 754:199–210. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejphar.2015.02.023
- Piconese S, Gri G, Tripodo C, Musio S, Gorzanelli A, Frossi B, et al. Mast Cells Counteract Regulatory T-Cell Suppression Through Interleukin-6 and OX40/OX40L Axis Toward Th17-Cell Differentiation. *Blood* (2009) 114 (13):2639–48. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-05-220004
- Molin D, Edstrom A, Glimelius I, Glimelius B, Nilsson G, Sundstrom C, et al. Mast Cell Infiltration Correlates With Poor Prognosis in Hodgkin's Lymphoma. Br J Haematol (2002) 119(1):122–4. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03768.x
- 43. Fischer M, Harvima IT, Carvalho RF, Moller C, Naukkarinen A, Enblad G, et al. Mast Cell CD30 Ligand is Upregulated in Cutaneous Inflammation and

Mediates Degranulation-Independent Chemokine Secretion. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(10):2748–56. doi: 10.1172/JCI24274

- Weniger MA, Tiacci E, Schneider S, Arnolds J, Ruschenbaum S, Duppach J, et al. Human CD30+ B Cells Represent a Unique Subset Related to Hodgkin Lymphoma Cells. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(7):2996–3007. doi: 10.1172/ JCI95993
- Franco CB, Chen CC, Drukker M, Weissman IL, Galli SJ. Distinguishing Mast Cell and Granulocyte Differentiation at the Single-Cell Level. *Cell Stem Cell* (2010) 6(4):361–8. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.02.013
- 46. Santos DD, Hatjiharissi E, Tournilhac O, Chemaly MZ, Leleu X, Xu L, et al. CD52 is Expressed on Human Mast Cells and is a Potential Therapeutic Target in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia and Mast Cell Disorders. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma* (2006) 6(6):478–83. doi: 10.3816/ CLM.2006.n.029
- Chen GY, Tang J, Zheng P, Liu Y. CD24 and Siglec-10 Selectively Repress Tissue Damage-Induced Immune Responses. *Science* (2009) 323 (5922):1722-5. doi: 10.1126/science.1168988
- Akdis CA, Blaser K. Histamine in the Immune Regulation of Allergic Inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2003) 112(1):15–22. doi: 10.1067/ mai.2003.1585
- Jutel M, Watanabe T, Klunker S, Akdis M, Thomet OA, Malolepszy J, et al. Histamine Regulates T-Cell and Antibody Responses by Differential Expression of H1 and H2 Receptors. *Nature* (2001) 413(6854):420–5. doi: 10.1038/35096564
- Banu Y, Watanabe T. Augmentation of Antigen Receptor-Mediated Responses by Histamine H1 Receptor Signaling. J Exp Med (1999) 189 (4):673–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.4.673
- Kimata H, Fujimoto M, Ishioka C, Yoshida A. Histamine Selectively Enhances Human Immunoglobulin E (IgE) and IgG4 Production Induced by Anti-CD58 Monoclonal Antibody. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184(2):357–64. doi: 10.1084/jem.184.2.357
- Merluzzi S, Betto E, Ceccaroni AA, Magris R, Giunta M, Mion F, et al. Mast Cells, Basophils and B Cell Connection Network. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 63 (1):94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2014.02.016
- Rogers D, Vila-Leahey A, Pessoa AC, Oldford S, Marignani PA, Marshall JS. Ranitidine Inhibition of Breast Tumor Growth Is B Cell Dependent and Associated With an Enhanced Antitumor Antibody Response. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1894. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01894
- Meghnem D, Oldford SA, Haidl ID, Barrett L, Marshall JS. Histamine Receptor 2 Blockade Selectively Impacts B and T Cells in Healthy Subjects. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1):1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-88829-w
- 55. Tamayo E, Alvarez P, Merino R. TGFbeta Superfamily Members as Regulators of B Cell Development and Function-Implications for Autoimmunity. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19(12):3928. doi: 10.3390/ijms 19123928
- Lefrancais E, Duval A, Mirey E, Roga S, Espinosa E, Cayrol C, et al. Central Domain of IL-33 is Cleaved by Mast Cell Proteases for Potent Activation of Group-2 Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2014) 111 (43):15502–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1410700111
- 57. Roy A, Ganesh G, Sippola H, Bolin S, Sawesi O, Dagalv A, et al. Mast Cell Chymase Degrades the Alarmins Heat Shock Protein 70, Biglycan, HMGB1, and Interleukin-33 (IL-33) and Limits Danger-Induced Inflammation. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289(1):237–50. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.435156
- Waern I, Lundequist A, Pejler G, Wernersson S. Mast Cell Chymase Modulates IL-33 Levels and Controls Allergic Sensitization in Dust-Mite Induced Airway Inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6(5):911–20. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.129
- Yoshikawa T, Imada T, Nakakubo H, Nakamura N, Naito K. Rat Mast Cell Protease-I Enhances Immunoglobulin E Production by Mouse B Cells Stimulated With Interleukin-4. *Immunology* (2001) 104(3):333–40. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2001.01320.x
- Xue JM, Yang LT, Yang G, Geng XR, Liu ZQ, Wang S, et al. Protease-Activated Receptor-2 Suppresses Interleukin (IL)-10 Expression in B Cells *via* Upregulating Bcl2L12 in Patients With Allergic Rhinitis. *Allergy* (2017) 72(11):1704–12. doi: 10.1111/all.13186
- Marshall JS, Gauldie J, Nielsen L, Bienenstock J. Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Production by Rat Mast Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1993) 23(9):2116–20. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830230911

- Tumang JR, Holodick NE, Vizconde TC, Kaku H, Frances R, Rothstein TL. A CD25(-) Positive Population of Activated B1 Cells Expresses LIFR and Responds to LIF. Front Immunol (2011) 2:6. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00006
- Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Tonon S, Doyle R, Bosma A, Carter NA, et al. Regulatory B Cells are Induced by Gut Microbiota-Driven Interleukin-1beta and Interleukin-6 Production. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(11):1334–9. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3680
- 64. Breitling S, Hui Z, Zabini D, Hu Y, Hoffmann J, Goldenberg NM, et al. The Mast Cell-B Cell Axis in Lung Vascular Remodeling and Pulmonary Hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2017) 312(5):L710–21. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00311.2016
- Gupta AA, Leal-Berumen I, Croitoru K, Marshall JS. Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells Produce IFN-Gamma Following IL-12 Treatment But Not in Response to IgE-Mediated Activation. J Immunol (1996) 157(5):2123–8.
- Portales-Cervantes L, Crump OM, Dada S, Liwski CR, Gotovina J, Haidl ID, et al. IL-4 Enhances Interferon Production by Virus-Infected Human Mast Cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2020) 146(3):675–677 e5. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2020.02.011
- Domeier PP, Chodisetti SB, Schell SL, Kawasawa YI, Fasnacht MJ, Soni C, et al. B-Cell-Intrinsic Type 1 Interferon Signaling Is Crucial for Loss of Tolerance and the Development of Autoreactive B Cells. *Cell Rep* (2018) 24 (2):406–18. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.046
- Rivellese F, Mauro D, Nerviani A, Pagani S, Fossati-Jimack L, Messemaker T, et al. Mast Cells in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis Associate With Disease Severity and Support B Cell Autoantibody Production. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2018) 77(12):1773–81. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213418
- Syedbasha M, Bonfiglio F, Linnik J, Stuehler C, Wuthrich D, Egli A. Interferon-Lambda Enhances the Differentiation of Naive B Cells Into Plasmablasts via the Mtorc1 Pathway. Cell Rep (2020) 33(1):108211. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108211
- 70. Oldford SA, Salsman SP, Portales-Cervantes L, Alyazidi R, Anderson R, Haidl ID, et al. Interferon Alpha2 and Interferon Gamma Induce the Degranulation Independent Production of VEGF-A and IL-1 Receptor Antagonist and Other Mediators From Human Mast Cells. *Immun Inflammation Dis* (2018) 6(1):176–89. doi: 10.1002/iid3.211
- Marshall JS, Portales-Cervantes L, Leong E. Mast Cell Responses to Viruses and Pathogen Products. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(17):4241. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20174241
- 72. Pawankar R, Okuda M, Yssel H, Okumura K, Ra C. Nasal Mast Cells in Perennial Allergic Rhinitics Exhibit Increased Expression of the Fc epsilonRI, CD40L, IL-4, and IL-13, and can Induce IgE Synthesis in B Cells. J Clin Invest (1997) 99(7):1492–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI119311
- Ahmed A, Koma MK. Interleukin-33 Triggers B1 Cell Expansion and Its Release of Monocyte/Macrophage Chemoattractants and Growth Factors. *Scand J Immunol* (2015) 82(2):118–24. doi: 10.1111/sji.12312
- Wang ZZ, Song J, Wang H, Li JX, Xiao Q, Yu Z, et al. B Cell-Activating Factor Promotes B Cell Survival in Ectopic Lymphoid Tissues in Nasal Polyps. Front Immunol (2020) 11:625630. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.625630
- 75. Ho AW, Hatjiharissi E, Ciccarelli BT, Branagan AR, Hunter ZR, Leleu X, et al. CD27-CD70 Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. *Blood* (2008) 112(12):4683–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-04-084525
- 76. Skokos D, Le Panse S, Villa I, Rousselle JC, Peronet R, David B, et al. Mast Cell-Dependent B and T Lymphocyte Activation is Mediated by the Secretion of Immunologically Active Exosomes. *J Immunol* (2001) 166 (2):868–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.868
- Elieh Ali Komi D, Grauwet K. Role of Mast Cells in Regulation of T Cell Responses in Experimental and Clinical Settings. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2018) 54(3):432–45. doi: 10.1007/s12016-017-8646-z
- Carroll-Portillo A, Surviladze Z, Cambi A, Lidke DS, Wilson BS. Mast Cell Synapses and Exosomes: Membrane Contacts for Information Exchange. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:46. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00046
- Skokos D, Botros HG, Demeure C, Morin J, Peronet R, Birkenmeier G, et al. Mast Cell-Derived Exosomes Induce Phenotypic and Functional Maturation of Dendritic Cells and Elicit Specific Immune Responses *In Vivo. J Immunol* (2003) 170(6):3037–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.6.3037
- 80. Byrne SN, Limón-Flores AY, Ullrich SE. Mast Cell Migration From the Skin to the Draining Lymph Nodes Upon Ultraviolet Irradiation Represents a

Key Step in the Induction of Immune Suppression. *J Immunol* (2008) 180 (7):4648–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4648

- He S, Xie H. Modulation of Tryptase Release From Human Tonsil Mast Cells by Protease Inhibitors. *Pharmacol Rep* (2005) 57(4):523–30.
- He SH, Xie H, Fu YL. Activation of Human Tonsil and Skin Mast Cells by Agonists of Proteinase Activated Receptor-2. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2005) 26 (5):568–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7254.2005.00079.x
- Kawanishi H, Ihle JM. In Vitro Induction and Characterization of Mast Cells From Murine Peyer's Patches. Scand J Immunol (1987) 25(2):109–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.1987.tb01053.x
- Zhai GT, Wang H, Li JX, Cao PP, Jiang WX, Song J, et al. IgD-Activated Mast Cells Induce IgE Synthesis in B Cells in Nasal Polyps. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 142(5):1489–1499 e23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.07.025
- Rivellese F, Nerviani A, Rossi FW, Marone G, Matucci-Cerinic M, de Paulis A, et al. Mast Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Friends or Foes? *Autoimmun Rev* (2017) 16(6):557–63. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2017.04.001
- Tkaczyk C, Villa I, Peronet R, David B, Chouaib S, Mecheri S. *In Vitro* and *In Vivo* Immunostimulatory Potential of Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells on B- and T-Lymphocyte Activation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2000) 105(1 Pt 1):134–42. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(00)90188-X
- Tkaczyk C, Frandji P, Botros HG, Poncet P, Lapeyre J, Peronet R, et al. Mouse Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells and Mast Cell Lines Constitutively Produce B Cell Growth and Differentiation Activities. *J Immunol* (1996) 157 (4):1720–8.
- Palm A-KE, Garcia-Faroldi G, Lundberg M, Pejler G, Kleinau S. Activated Mast Cells Promote Differentiation of B Cells Into Effector Cells. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:20531. doi: 10.1038/srep20531
- Chacon-Salinas R, Limon-Flores AY, Chavez-Blanco AD, Gonzalez-Estrada A, Ullrich SE. Mast Cell-Derived IL-10 Suppresses Germinal Center Formation by Affecting T Follicular Helper Cell Function. J Immunol (2011) 186(1):25–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001657
- Rojas OL, Probstel AK, Porfilio EA, Wang AA, Charabati M, Sun T, et al. Recirculating Intestinal IgA-Producing Cells Regulate Neuroinflammation via IL-10. Cell (2019) 177(2):492–3. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.037
- Yanaba K, Yoshizaki A, Asano Y, Kadono T, Tedder TF, Sato S. IL-10-Producing Regulatory B10 Cells Inhibit Intestinal Injury in a Mouse Model. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 178(2):735–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.10.022
- Ahn A, Park CJ, Cho YU, Jang S, Seo EJ, Lee JH, et al. Clinical, Laboratory, and Bone Marrow Findings of 31 Patients With Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. Ann Lab Med (2020) 40(3):193–200. doi: 10.3343/ alm.2020.40.3.193
- Pappa CA, Tsirakis G, Stavroulaki E, Kokonozaki M, Xekalou A, Konsolas I, et al. Mast Cells Influence the Proliferation Rate of Myeloma Plasma Cells. *Cancer Invest* (2015) 33(4):137–41. doi: 10.3109/07357907.2015.1008639
- Hanes MR, Giacomantonio CA, Marshall JS. Mast Cells and Skin and Breast Cancers: A Complicated and Microenvironment-Dependent Role. *Cells* (2021) 10(5):986. doi: 10.3390/cells10050986
- 95. Jachetti E, Cancila V, Rigoni A, Bongiovanni L, Cappetti B, Belmonte B, et al. Cross-Talk Between Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Mast Cells Mediates Tumor-Specific Immunosuppression in Prostate Cancer. Cancer Immunol Res (2018) 6(5):552–65. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0385
- Oldford SA, Haidl ID, Howatt MA, Leiva CA, Johnston B, Marshall JS. A Critical Role for Mast Cells and Mast Cell-Derived IL-6 in TLR2-Mediated Inhibition of Tumor Growth. J Immunol (2010) 185(11):7067–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001137
- Oldford SA, Marshall JS. Mast Cells as Targets for Immunotherapy of Solid Tumors. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 63(1):113–24. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2014.02.020
- Fischer M, Juremalm M, Olsson N, Backlin C, Sundström C, Nilsson K, et al. Expression of CCL5/RANTES by Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg Cells and its Possible Role in the Recruitment of Mast Cells Into Lymphomatous Tissue. *Int J Cancer* (2003) 107(2):197–201. doi: 10.1002/ijc.11370
- Rabenhorst A, Schlaak M, Heukamp LC, Forster A, Theurich S, von Bergwelt-Baildon M, et al. Mast Cells Play a Protumorigenic Role in Primary Cutaneous Lymphoma. *Blood* (2012) 120(10):2042–54. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-415638
- 100. Pemberton AD, Wright SH, Knight PA, Miller HR. Anaphylactic Release of Mucosal Mast Cell Granule Proteases: Role of Serpins in the Differential

Clearance of Mouse Mast Cell Proteases-1 and -2. J Immunol (2006) 176 (2):899–904. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.2.899

- 101. Knight PA, Wright SH, Lawrence CE, Paterson YY, Miller HR. Delayed Expulsion of the Nematode Trichinella Spiralis in Mice Lacking the Mucosal Mast Cell-Specific Granule Chymase, Mouse Mast Cell Protease-1. J Exp Med (2000) 192(12):1849–56. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.12.1849
- 102. Woodbury RG, Miller HR, Huntley JF, Newlands GF, Palliser AC, Wakelin D. Mucosal Mast Cells are Functionally Active During Spontaneous Expulsion of Intestinal Nematode Infections in Rat. *Nature* (1984) 312 (5993):450–2. doi: 10.1038/312450a0
- Vukman KV, Lalor R, Aldridge A, O'Neill SM. Mast Cells: New Therapeutic Target in Helminth Immune Modulation. *Parasite Immunol* (2016) 38 (1):45–52. doi: 10.1111/pim.12295
- 104. Yasuda K, Nakanishi K. Host Responses to Intestinal Nematodes. Int Immunol (2018) 30(3):93–102. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxy002
- Hepworth MR, Maurer M, Hartmann S. Regulation of Type 2 Immunity to Helminths by Mast Cells. *Gut Microbes* (2012) 3(5):476–81. doi: 10.4161/ gmic.21507
- 106. Nawa Y, Miller HR, Hall E, Jarrett EE. Adoptive Transfer of Total and Parasite-Specific IgE Responses in Rats Infected With Nippostrongylus Brasiliensis. *Immunology* (1981) 44(1):119–23.
- 107. Oliveira FL, Bernardes ES, Brand C, dos Santos SN, Cabanel MP, Arcanjo KD, et al. Lack of Galectin-3 Up-Regulates IgA Expression by Peritoneal B1 Lymphocytes During B Cell Differentiation. *Cell Tissue Res* (2016) 363 (2):411–26. doi: 10.1007/s00441-015-2203-y
- 108. Matsumoto M, Sasaki Y, Yasuda K, Takai T, Muramatsu M, Yoshimoto T, et al. IgG and IgE Collaboratively Accelerate Expulsion of Strongyloides Venezuelensis in a Primary Infection. *Infect Immun* (2013) 81(7):2518–27. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00285-13
- Lu F, Huang S. The Roles of Mast Cells in Parasitic Protozoan Infections. Front Immunol (2017) 8:363. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00363
- 110. Naqvi N, Ahuja K, Selvapandiyan A, Dey R, Nakhasi H, Puri N. Role of Mast Cells in Clearance of Leishmania Through Extracellular Trap Formation. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):13240. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12753-1
- 111. Kannen V, Sakita JY, Carneiro ZA, Bader M, Alenina N, Teixeira RR, et al. Mast Cells and Serotonin Synthesis Modulate Chagas Disease in the Colon: Clinical and Experimental Evidence. *Dig Dis Sci* (2018) 63(6):1473–84. doi: 10.1007/s10620-018-5015-6
- 112. Nascimento CR, Andrade D, Carvalho-Pinto CE, Serra RR, Vellasco L, Brasil G, et al. Mast Cell Coupling to the Kallikrein-Kinin System Fuels Intracardiac Parasitism and Worsens Heart Pathology in Experimental Chagas Disease. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:840. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00840
- 113. Pinheiro SW, Rua AM, Etchebehere RM, Cancado CG, Chica JE, Lopes ER, et al. Morphometric Study of the Fibrosis and Mast Cell Count in the Circular Colon Musculature of Chronic Chagas Patients With and Without Megacolon. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop* (2003) 36(4):461–6. doi: 10.1590/S0037-86822003000400005
- 114. Bannert N, Farzan M, Friend DS, Ochi H, Price KS, Sodroski J, et al. Human Mast Cell Progenitors Can be Infected by Macrophagetropic Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 and Retain Virus With Maturation In Vitro. J Virol (2001) 75(22):10808–14. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.22.10808-10814.2001
- 115. Oymar K, Halvorsen T, Aksnes L. Mast Cell Activation and Leukotriene Secretion in Wheezing Infants. Relation to Respiratory Syncytial Virus and Outcome. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2006) 17(1):37–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2005.00345.x
- 116. Rabelo K, Goncalves A, Souza LJ, Sales AP, Lima SMB, Trindade GF, et al. Zika Virus Infects Human Placental Mast Cells and the HMC-1 Cell Line, and Triggers Degranulation, Cytokine Release and Ultrastructural Changes. *Cells* (2020) 9(4):975. doi: 10.3390/cells9040975
- 117. Kulka M, Alexopoulou L, Flavell RA, Metcalfe DD. Activation of Mast Cells by Double-Stranded RNA: Evidence for Activation Through Toll-Like Receptor 3. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2004) 114(1):174–82. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2004.03.049
- 118. Graham AC, Hilmer KM, Zickovich JM, Obar JJ. Inflammatory Response of Mast Cells During Influenza A Virus Infection is Mediated by Active Infection and RIG-I Signaling. J Immunol (2013) 190(9):4676–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202096

- 119. Brown MG, King CA, Sherren C, Marshall JS, Anderson R. A Dominant Role for FcgammaRII in Antibody-Enhanced Dengue Virus Infection of Human Mast Cells and Associated CCL5 Release. *J Leukoc Biol* (2006) 80(6):1242–50. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0805441
- 120. Brown MG, Huang YY, Marshall JS, King CA, Hoskin DW, Anderson R. Dramatic Caspase-Dependent Apoptosis in Antibody-Enhanced Dengue Virus Infection of Human Mast Cells. J Leukoc Biol (2009) 85(1):71–80. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0308167
- 121. Brown MG, Hermann LL, Issekutz AC, Marshall JS, Rowter D, Al-Afif A, et al. Dengue Virus Infection of Mast Cells Triggers Endothelial Cell Activation. J Virol (2011) 85(2):1145–50. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01630-10
- 122. Furuta T, Murao LA, Lan NT, Huy NT, Huong VT, Thuy TT, et al. Association of Mast Cell-Derived VEGF and Proteases in Dengue Shock Syndrome. *PloS Negl Trop Dis* (2012) 6(2):e1505. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pntd.0001505
- 123. Sherif NA, Zayan AH, Elkady AH, Ghozy S, Ahmed AR, Omran ES, et al. Mast Cell Mediators in Relation to Dengue Severity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Rev Med Virol* (2020) 30(1):e2084. doi: 10.1002/ rmv.2084
- 124. St John AL. Influence of Mast Cells on Dengue Protective Immunity and Immune Pathology. *PloS Pathog* (2013) 9(12):e1003783. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1003783
- Ricke DO. Two Different Antibody-Dependent Enhancement (ADE) Risks for SARS-CoV-2 Antibodies. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:640093. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.640093
- 126. Arvin AM, Fink K, Schmid MA, Cathcart A, Spreafico R, Havenar-Daughton C, et al. A Perspective on Potential Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* (2020) 584(7821):353–63. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2538-8
- 127. Sundstrom JB, Ellis JE, Hair GA, Kirshenbaum AS, Metcalfe DD, Yi H, et al. Human Tissue Mast Cells are an Inducible Reservoir of Persistent HIV Infection. *Blood* (2007) 109(12):5293–300. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-11-058438
- 128. Marone G, de Paulis A, Florio G, Petraroli A, Rossi FW, Triggiani M. Are Mast Cells MASTers in HIV-1 Infection? *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2001) 125(2):89–95. doi: 10.1159/000053802
- 129. Nakamura Y, Oscherwitz J, Cease KB, Chan SM, Munoz-Planillo R, Hasegawa M, et al. Staphylococcus Delta-Toxin Induces Allergic Skin Disease by Activating Mast Cells. *Nature* (2013) 503(7476):397–401. doi: 10.1038/nature12655
- 130. Czarnowicki T, Gonzalez J, Bonifacio KM, Shemer A, Xiangyu P, Kunjravia N, et al. Diverse Activation and Differentiation of Multiple B-Cell Subsets in Patients With Atopic Dermatitis But Not in Patients With Psoriasis. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 137(1):118–129 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.08.027
- Schlievert PM, Gourronc FA, Leung DYM, Klingelhutz AJ, et al. Human Keratinocyte Response to Superantigens. *mSphere* (2020) 5(5). doi: 10.1128/ mSphere.00803-20
- 132. Patel G, Greenberger PA. Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis. *Allergy Asthma Proc* (2019) 986:5–9. doi: 10.2500/aap.2019.40.4262.
- 133. Jiao Q, Luo Y, Scheffel J, Zhao Z, Maurer M. The Complex Role of Mast Cells in Fungal Infections. *Exp Dermatol* (2019) 28(7):749–55. doi: 10.1111/ exd.13907
- 134. Urb M, Pouliot P, Gravelat FN, Olivier M, Sheppard DC. Aspergillus Fumigatus Induces Immunoglobulin E-Independent Mast Cell Degranulation. J Infect Dis (2009) 200(3):464–72. doi: 10.1086/600070
- Kauffman HF. Immunopathogenesis of Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis and Airway Remodeling. Front Biosci (2003) 8(5):e190–6. doi: 10.2741/990
- 136. Li J-X, Fan L-C, Li M-H, Cao W-J, Xu J-F. Beneficial Effects of Omalizumab Therapy in Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis: A Synthesis Review of Published Literature. *Respir Med* (2017) 122:33–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.rmed.2016.11.019
- 137. Selander C, Engblom C, Nilsson G, Scheynius A, Andersson CL. TLR2/MyD88-Dependent and-Independent Activation of Mast Cell IgE Responses by the Skin Commensal Yeast Malassezia Sympodialis. J Immunol (2009) 182(7):4208–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0800885
- Lamoureux J, Stankova J, Rola-Pleszczynski M. Leukotriene D4 Enhances Immunoglobulin Production in CD40-Activated Human B Lymphocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2006) 117(4):924–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.12.1329

139. Khosravi AR, Bandghorai AN, Moazzeni M, Shokri H, Mansouri P, Mahmoudi M. Evaluation of Candida Albicans Allergens Reactive With Specific IgE in Asthma and Atopic Eczema Patients. *Mycoses* (2009) 52 (4):326–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0507.2008.01599.x

140. Nissen D, Petersen LJ, Esch R, Svejgaard E, Skov PS, Poulsen LK, et al. IgE-Sensitization to Cellular and Culture Filtrates of Fungal Extracts in Patients With Atopic Dermatitis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (1998) 81(3):247–55. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)62821-9

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Palma, Hanes and Marshall. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cells Are Identified in the Lung Parenchyma of Wild Mice, Which Can Be Recapitulated in Naturalized Laboratory Mice

Yu-Wen Yeh<sup>1</sup>, Arka Sen Chaudhuri<sup>1</sup>, Ling Zhou<sup>2,3</sup>, Yu Fang<sup>2,3\*</sup>, Preben Boysen<sup>4\*</sup> and Zou Xiang<sup>1,5\*</sup>

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Soman Ninan Abraham, Duke University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Alasdair Leslie, Africa Health Research Institute (AHRI), South Africa Aaron Conrad Ericsson, University of Missouri, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Yu Fang yu.fang@gmc.edu.cn Preben Boysen preben.boysen@nmbu.no Zou Xiang xiang.y.zou@polyu.edu.hk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 05 July 2021 Accepted: 01 September 2021 Published: 27 September 2021

#### Citation:

Yeh Y-W, Chaudhuri AS, Zhou L, Fang Y, Boysen P and Xiang Z (2021) Mast Cells Are Identified in the Lung Parenchyma of Wild Mice, Which Can Be Recapitulated in Naturalized Laboratory Mice. Front. Immunol. 12:736692. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.736692 <sup>1</sup> Department of Health Technology and Informatics, Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR China, <sup>2</sup> Center for Clinical Laboratory, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, <sup>3</sup> School for Clinical Laboratory, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, <sup>4</sup> Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU), Oslo, Norway, <sup>5</sup> The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Shenzhen Research Institute, Shenzhen, China

**Background:** It is well documented that laboratory mice bred and maintained in ultrahygienic specific pathogen-free (SPF) barriers display reduced richness and complexity of microbiota compared with wild mice. The laboratory mice profoundly lack lung parenchymal mast cells. Hence, we aimed to investigate the lung distribution of mast cells in free-living wild mice.

**Methods:** Wild house mice were trapped in South-Eastern Norway and Hemtabad, West Bengal, India. C57BL/6 laboratory mice were bred in a purposefully built, closed environment with bedding material obtained from the natural environment in order to normalize the gut microbiota of these laboratory mice to that of the wild mice, and the offspring were collected for study at eight weeks of age.

**Results:** Mast cells were easily identified at a substantial density in the lung parenchymal tissues of wild mice from both Norway and India, which stands in clear contrast to the rare distribution of lung parenchymal mast cells in the conventional laboratory SPF mice. Consistently, wild mice also expressed higher pulmonary levels of stem cell factor, a critical growth factor for mast cell survival. Higher levels of histamine were recorded in the lung tissues of the wild mice. Interestingly, "naturalized" C57BL/6 laboratory mice which spent their entire life in a semi-natural environment developed lung parenchymal mast cells at an appreciable density.

**Conclusion:** Our observations support that environmental factors, possibly through modulation of microbiota, may impact the tissue distribution of mast cells in mouse lung parenchyma.

Keywords: laboratory mouse, mast cell, wild mouse, lung, mouse naturalization

# INTRODUCTION

Because of their anatomical and physiological similarity to humans, as well as a number of other advantages, such as the ease of maintenance and breeding in a laboratory setting, house mice (Mus musculus) have long been the model species of choice to mimic human diseases in experimental studies (1). However, limitations of translating mouse research in areas where humans are possibly different from mice are also evident. There is a growing concern that laboratory mice do not truthfully mirror relevant aspects of human physiology and pathology, including immune responses, and hence it is quite often difficult to extrapolate results derived from mouse studies to human treatments (2). Lack of precision in data extrapolation from mice to humans may be due to their fundamental divergence at the genetic level over a long evolutionary history. Alternatively, this may also reflect a more recent artefact arising from the creation and breeding of laboratory mouse strains (1). Accumulating experimental evidence suggests that traditional laboratory mice that are bred and maintained in an ultrahygienic specific pathogen-free (SPF) barrier display reduced richness and complexity of microbiota compared with wild house mice. Discrepant immunological features have been well documented between SPF laboratory mice and wild-caught mice (3-7). Wild populations of house mice are predicted to be a more relevant model to reflect human immune responses (8).

Asthma, a chronic disease characterized by airway inflammation and respiratory symptoms, is one of the most prevalent human diseases affecting the quality of life of more than 300 million people across the globe (9). There is an urgent need for improved treatment plans to tackle this chronic disease. Animal models are critical for elucidating the immunological mechanisms in asthma and developing therapeutic strategies. To date, the established mouse asthma models have relied on the use of laboratory-adapted, inbred strains of mice (e.g., C57BL/6 and BALB/c). Of particular relevance to allergy and asthma, these laboratory strains profoundly lack lung parenchymal mast cells (10), which stands in clear contrast to the presence of abundant mast cell populations in human lungs (11). This observation challenges the relevance of mouse asthma models for understanding human asthma (12).

Mast cells have been described as one of the major types of cells that are involved in the development of asthma and allergy by virtue of their potential to secrete a variety of allergic mediators (13). Mast cells are derived from hematopoietic progenitors in the bone marrow and these progenitors migrate to the vascularized tissues where they further differentiate into mature mast cells. Mast cells are enriched in the skin, around blood vessels, and in mucosal membranes such as the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts. Tissue-specific distribution of mast cells is dependent on various mediators. It has been shown that after allergen-mediated sensitization in the respiratory tract, CCL2 is locally produced and recruits mast cell progenitors which express CCR2 (14). Stem cell factor (SCF) is one of the major growth and differentiation factors for mast cells (15). In addition to SCF, mast cell growth and differentiation can be facilitated by several other cytokines including IL-3 (16). Tissue mast cells are capable of further differentiating both phenotypically and functionally as a consequence of tissue-specific stimulation under defined microenvironmental conditions. For example, inflamed human lungs are reported to have more tryptase/chymase-producing mast cells compared with non-inflamed lung tissue in which tryptase-producing mast cells are dominant (17, 18). The number of mast cells is increased at sites of allergic inflammation, and there is a correlation between mast cell density in the tissue and the severity of allergic symptoms (19). In allergy, plurivalent antigens bind and crosslink IgE molecules bound to the high-affinity IgE-receptor (FceRI) expressed on mast cells, resulting in cell degranulation and release of proinflammatory mediator molecules.

Given the literature reports revealing the discrepancies between conventional laboratory mice and wild mice with respect to various immunological features (20), we were intrigued to investigate lung mast cell distribution in free-living wild mice. We captured a number of free-living mice near or in farm-houses in South-Eastern Norway and Hemtabad, West Bengal, India. We examined mast cell distribution in these wild mice and observed substantial numbers of mast cells in the lung parenchyma of these wild mice. All the laboratory control mice, either C57BL/6 or BALB/c, examined in parallel, lacked mast cells in lung parenchyma. We also show that laboratory mice born and raised in a semi-natural environment for rodents could develop lung parenchymal mast cells. Our aim was to understand mast cell biology in relation to environmental and genetic influences, and potentially to improve the mouse model for asthma and allergy research.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Live-Trapping of Wild Mice and the Source of Laboratory Mice

Wild house mice were caught using our previously described practical methodology on mouse capture (6). Free-living mice were captured in Hemtabad, West Bengal, India. Furthermore, wild-caught and control laboratory mice from Norway were obtained from a previously reported material (6, 21). The Mus musculus identity of the wild mice were confirmed as previously described (22) or by PCR genotyping based on the Mus musculus-specific GAPDH gene sequences using two sets of primers (forward 5'-TGGCCGGATACCTAGTTCCA-3'; reverse 5'-AGGTGAATCAGGGAAGCAGC-3', and forward 5'- AACAACTGGCTTTCCACCCA -3'; reverse 5'-ACTGCCTGGTAAAGGTCACG-3'). The specific pathogenfree (SPF) C57BL/6 and BALB/c laboratory mouse controls were obtained from Charles River/Scanbur, Norway, Huafukang Bioscience, Beijing, or bred in-house at the Centralized Animal Facilities at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. The animal protocols were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Guizhou Medical University. Animal material from Norway was collected under approval from the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (FOTS ID 4788, 6801, 8080 and 8198) and the Norwegian Environment Agency (ref. 2012/693 and 2014/7215).

# Housing and Breeding of Laboratory Mice in a Semi-Natural Environment

Both female and male C57BL/6 mice were housed in mouse pens designed with a naturalistic farm-like environment as previously reported (21), however, without the direct presence of wildcaught mice. Briefly, a purposefully built, closed environment was prepared with bedding material regularly brought in from domestic animal farmhouses, as well as sawdust, soil, compost, twigs and hay. This would recapture a common habitat for the free-living house mouse, aiming to normalize the C57BL/6 mice in terms of the gut microbiota and cellular immunology. Mice were allowed to breed in this closed environment and their progeny were collected for study at 8 weeks of age.

# Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded Lung Tissue Block Preparation

The lung tissues were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 h at room temperature followed by embedding in paraffin wax. The lung sections were taken from lung lobes avoiding the central airways. Tissue processing was carried out using a Thermo Scientific Excelsior AS Tissue Processor. Consecutive 5- $\mu$ m sections were generated from each of the FFPE tissue blocks using a standard microtome blade and the sections were fixed onto glass microscope slides.

# **Microscopic Examination**

Deparaffinized FFPE sections were rehydrated using xylene and downgraded concentrations of alcohol. The slides were stained with 0.1% toluidine blue (Sigma; 89640-5G) for 30 sec, followed by rinsing in 96% ethanol for a few seconds and then dehydrating in absolute ethanol. For tryptase, c-Kit and histamine staining by immunohistochemistry, slides were stained with a rabbit monoclonal antibody against mast cell tryptase (Huabio; ET1610-64), a rat monoclonal antibody against c-Kit (Biolegend; 105822), or rabbit polyclonal antibody against histamine (Abcam; ab37088), followed by staining with a rabbit IgG-specific (Abcam; ab64261) or a rat IgG-specific (Cell Signaling Technology; 7077S) HRP-linked secondary antibody, using the HRP/DAB Detection IHC kit (Abcam; ab64261) according to the manufacturer's instruction. For H&E staining, slides were stained with hematoxylin (Thermo Scientific; 72711) and eosin (Pioneer Research Chemicals; PRC/ 66/1) using a standard methodology. Slides were mounted with LAMB DPX mounting medium (Thermo Scientific), and microscopic images were acquired using a Nikon Eclipse Ci-L upright clinical microscope or using a Nikon Ti2-E wide-field microscope. Mast cell density was determined by counting the number of positively stained cells in high power fields  $(400 \times)$  per mm<sup>2</sup>. For counting the mast cell, we focused on the lung parenchymal tissues and tried to avoid the area close to the bronchi. For quantitative analysis of histamine expression, optical density (OD) was obtained and processed using ImageJ. Histamine levels were expressed as OD per area. Depending on the density of the cells identified or the frequency of the positive staining, the whole sectioned tissues (toluidine blue), or three (histamine) or five (tryptase and c-Kit) randomly selected high

power fields were scanned for enumeration or quantification, or otherwise as indicated.

# Real-Time Quantitative Reverse Transcription PCR

All the FFPE lung blocks and 5- $\mu$ m sections were stored at room temperature until RNA extraction. Following deparaffinization, total RNA was extracted and purified using an RNeasy FFPE Kit (Qiagen; 73504) according to the manufacturer's instruction. cDNA was synthesized using the RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher; K1622). qRT-PCR was performed with the ViiA 7 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems<sup>TM</sup>) using the Power SYBR<sup>TM</sup> Green PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher; A25776). PCR was carried out with an initial incubation at 50°C for 2 min, and 95°C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec and 60°C for 1 min. The specificity of the reaction was verified by melt curve analysis. The relative expression values of each gene were normalized to GAPDH expression and were calculated by the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. The PCR primer sequences are displayed in **Table S1**.

# **Statistical Analysis**

A Mann-Whitney *U* test was used to calculate statistical differences between the two comparisons. Where applicable, data are expressed as median with individual mouse data points shown. Outliers were removed based on Grubbs' test.

# RESULTS

# Wild Mice Exhibit Lung Parenchymal Mast Cells

We trapped free-living wild mice in South-Eastern Norway and Hemtabad, West Bengal, India. Mouse lungs were embedded in paraffin and sectioned for microscopy. Mast cells could be easily identified in the lung parenchyma of wild mice from India according to staining with toluidine blue, a dye that stains mast cell metachromatic granule content, which stands in clear contrast to the rare distribution of lung parenchymal mast cells in the conventional C57BL/6 laboratory mice (Figure 1A). Statistically significantly different distributions of lung parenchymal mast cells were observed between wild mice and control laboratory mice (Figure 1A). Furthermore, identification of mast cells based on staining for mast cell tryptase (Figure 1B) or expression of c-Kit (Figure 1C) also supported increased distribution of mast cells in wild mice. A similar trend towards increased lung mast cell numbers was noted in mice trapped in Norway, based on toluidine blue staining (Figure S1A) and tryptase expression (Figure S1B), although the number of animals was too low to validate statistically. We noted that tryptase and c-Kit staining seemed to be more sensitive than toluidine blue for identifying lung mast cells in wild mice obtained in India. In contrast, tryptase and toluidine blue staining seemed to be consistent for staining lung mast cells in wild mice obtained in Norway. Differential staining sensitivity of toluidine blue for mast cells in different tissues or different



**FIGURE 1** | Mast cells are identified in the lung parenchyma of wild free-living mice. Free-living wild mice were trapped at Hemtabad, India (n = 11). Their lung tissues, together with those from C57BL/6 laboratory (lab) mice (n = 11), were processed and sectioned, followed by staining with the mast cell-specific dye toluidine blue (**A**), or peroxidase-based immunostaining using an anti-mouse tryptase antibody (**B**) or an anti-mouse c-Kit antibody (**C**). Arrows indicate mast cells which were stained purple (for toluidine blue) or brown (for immunostaining). Mast cell density was quantified and shown as number of cells per unit area (right panels). Each dot represents an individual mouse and horizontal lines indicate the median. Scale bar: 50 µm. Two wild mice and one lab mouse, which had extremely high values were removed (**B**, right panel) as outliers based on Grubbs' test (P < 0.05).

species has been observed previously. For example, guinea pig lung mast cells could not be clearly revealed by toluidine blue [(23); and personal communication with Dr Mikael Adner, Stockholm]. Furthermore, we could find more densely populated mast cells around the bronchi in both the laboratory mice and the wild mice (**Figure S2**), which is consistent with a previous study (10). Therefore, in our cell number quantification, we tried to focus on mast cells in the lung parenchyma and avoid the areas around bronchi. The average density of lung parenchymal mast cells in C57BL/6 mice, which was minimal, is also consistent with this previous report (10).

# Wild Mouse Lungs Express Higher Levels of Histamine

We next examined the lung tissue histamine levels, which correlates with mast cell distribution (24), using immunostaining. Wild mouse lungs were observed to express higher levels of histamine, as confirmed directly from the visual comparison of the microscopic images (**Figures 2A, B**) and based on the staining intensity quantification (**Figure 2C**).

# Wild Mice Express Higher Levels of SCF and Have Similar Overall Lung Tissue Histology as Laboratory Mice

Next, we investigated factors underlying the emergence of lung mast cells in the wild mice. We measured a group of cytokines and molecules that are involved in mast cell differentiation and migration, which included SCF, IL-3, IL-4, IL-6, IL-9, TGF-β, VCAM-1, CXCR2 and CCL2 (25, 26). Except for SCF, which demonstrated a modest enhancement in the wild mice (Figure 3A), none of the others were found to be enhanced at appreciable levels (data not shown). It has been reported that enriched microbiota can upregulate the production of SCF (27). To investigate whether wild mice developed enhanced lung inflammation as a result of persistent exposure to various types of microbes including pathogens, we compared the overall lung histological features between the wild mice and laboratory mice. Lung inflammation has been reported to be an inducer for recruitment of pulmonary mast cells (28). However, no obvious differences were observed between the laboratory mice and the wild mice trapped in India using H&E staining (Figure 3B).



with laboratory (lab) mouse (C57BL/6) controls (n = 11) (**B**), were processed and sectioned, followed by peroxidase-based immunostaining using an antihistamine antibody. Magnified views of the highlighted regions are shown. At least three randomly chosen areas were scanned for determining the intensity of histamine which was expressed as optical density (OD) per area (**C**). Each dot represents an individual mouse and horizontal lines indicate the median. Scale bar: 200  $\mu$ m or 50  $\mu$ m (magnified view).

## Laboratory Mice Born and Raised in a Semi-Natural Environment Develop Lung Parenchymal Mast Cells

It is generally assumed that immunological phenotypic adaptation can arise owing to environmental impacts by living in a dirty, natural environment (20). We therefore explored whether it was possible to repopulate lung mast cells in the laboratory mice by exposing them to a natural environment mimicking the natural habitat of wild mice. Laboratory mice were bred in a closed area with bedding material obtained from the natural rodent living environment (**Figure 4A**) (21). We collected offspring mice who spent their entire life in this seminatural, dirty environment when they were eight weeks old for analysis. Interestingly, these mice showed a significantly higher density of lung parenchymal mast cells compared to the barrier facility-bred and -reared mice as confirmed using toluidine blue staining (**Figures 4B–D**) as well as tryptase staining (**Figure S3**), thus demonstrating that exposure to the natural living environment early in life was associated with the recruitment of mast cells in the lung parenchymal tissues.



**FIGURE 3** | Higher levels of SCF are identified in wild mouse lungs which show similar overall histological features as laboratory mice. Free-living wild mice were trapped at Hemtabad, India. (A) RNA was purified from formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) lung tissues of both wild mice (n = 11) and C57BL/6 laboratory (lab) mice (n = 11), followed by cDNA synthesis. Levels of mRNA expression of SCF were assessed using quantitative reverse transcription PCR. SCF expression was normalized relative to the expression of GAPDH. Each dot represents an individual mouse and horizontal lines indicate the median. (B) Lung tissues from wild mice together with lab control mice were processed and sectioned for H&E staining. Shown are the representative images. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m.

# DISCUSSION

We have provided evidence showing that wild mice contained substantially greater numbers of lung parenchymal mast cells compared with the commonly used laboratory mice, which almost completely lacked lung parenchymal mast cells. Our aim was to understand mast cell biology in relation to environmental and genetic influences, and potentially to provide implication for refining relevant mouse models whereby the function of lung mast cells is crucial, e.g., relevant models for asthma research.

Compared with the abundant expression of mast cells in human lungs, absence of lung parenchymal mast cells in conventional laboratory mice may arise from both genetic and environmental factors. In evolutionary terms, mice and humans diverged between 80 and 90 million years ago (29). An ever growing body of evidence also indicates that gut microbiota can effectively contribute to the shaping of the immune signatures of individuals including mice (30). Therefore, humans and mice, harboring quite different microorganisms, could have developed unique features and functionality of their respective immune system. Our data showing the presence of lung parenchymal mast cells in the wild-caught house mice, to some lesser extent in naturalized laboratory mice, but not in SPF laboratory mice, argues for a strong environmental impact on mast cell tissue distribution (**Figure 5**).

Free-living wild mice inhabit environments that are drastically different from laboratory SPF mice, and mice from these two populations have evolved to demonstrate profoundly different patterns of microbiota (31). We have previously shown that cohousing of SPF laboratory mice with wild mice leads to substantial changes in the fecal microbiota of the laboratory strain after 8-12 weeks (21, 32). Co-housing of laboratory mice with pet store mice can convert their immune phenotypes from originally reflecting human neonates to bearing immune signatures of adult humans (4). Providing laboratory mice with a history of infections that mice normally encounter in the wild changes their blood immune signatures akin to wild mice and adult humans (33). A seminal study showed that breeding laboratory mouse progeny in a wild surrogate mother generates so-called 'wildling' mice with a purely inbred genotype but with the microbiota and many of the immune phenotypes of wild mice (34). Recently, wildling mice were shown



purposefully built, closed environment with bedding material from the natural environment at Oslo, Norway, or bred in a conventional specific pathogen-free (SPF) animal facility as indicated (A). Lung tissues were collected from the mice born and raised in the semi-natural environment [(B), n = 10] or the SPF facility [(C), n = 10] at 8 weeks old. Lung tissue sections were stained with the mast cell-specific dye toluidine blue. Arrows indicate mast cells which were stained purple. Mast cell density was quantified by enumerating toluidine blue-positive mast cells per unit area (D). Each dot represents an individual mouse and horizontal lines indicate the median. Scale bar: 50 µm. One mouse from the SPF group which had an extremely high value was removed as an outlier based on Grubbs' test (P < 0.05).

to develop stronger asthmatic inflammation compared with SPF mice (bioRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.28. 437143). Mast cell numbers in the lungs were not reported in these studies, and it would be of interest to investigate if these may be altered in wildlings, which would provide an explanation to their stronger asthmatic responses, and strengthen the link between enriched microbiota and mast cell presence.

Since laboratory mice normally harbor few lung mast cells and poorly respond in asthma models, various approaches have been employed to induce pulmonary recruitment of mast cells in mice. Adjuvant-free sensitization with ovalbumin (OVA) followed by chronic intranasal OVA challenge leads to the recruitment of mast cells in the lung tissue (35). Sensitization with OVA admixed to alum followed by exposing mice to daily challenges with aerosolized OVA for one week (36), intranasal OVA challenges twice weekly for at least one month (37), or three consecutive daily intratracheal OVA challenges (38) induces lung recruitment of mast cells. In the model presented here, sensitization to natural allergens could have similarly recruited mast cells to the lung parenchyma, as an alternative or additional causative factor for our findings. The mode of exposure in naturalized and wild mice may arguably be more in accord with exposures in humans compared to repeated OVA/ alum aerosols, but how these models might comparatively play out in translational studies remains to be investigated.

Mice have served and will continue to serve as a valuable research tool for the study of immunology including mast cell biology. Indeed, research based on the use of mouse models have contributed substantially to our knowledge in understanding the roles of mast cells in asthma and allergy. However, preclinical



maintained in ultra-hygienic, specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions profoundly lack lung parenchymal mast cells, in contrast to the rich presence of mast cells in human lungs (not depicted). Interestingly, free-living wild house mice are found to express lung parenchymal mast cells. Support for an environmental impact on the development of lung mast cells in these mice comes from the fact that mast cells do appear in the lung tissues of 'naturalized' lab mice bred in a semi-natural environment with farm-derived bedding materials.

research using animal models that are different from human immunology may account for the discrepancies between predictions of animal models and clinical trial outcomes. From a translational medicine point of view, establishing clinically relevant mouse asthma models may make preclinical research extrapolatable, which can avoid waste of time and research resources. Indeed, the majority of asthma drugs that pass preclinical testing never survive clinical trials. Among the reasons for the high failure rate of drug development, limitations of appropriate animal models used for drug testing obviously constitute a major one (1). Our naturalization approach may provide an alternative practical solution to the establishment of mouse models with resident lung mast cells.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Guizhou Medical University.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YF, PB, and ZX conceived and designed the study. Y-WY, AC, and LZ performed research. All authors contributed to data analysis and interpretation. Y-WY, PB, and ZX wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from Shenzhen Science and Technology Commission, China (JCYJ20170818103812122) (ZX), General research fund from Hong Kong Research Grants Council (15104418) (ZX), and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81560266 and 81760294) (YF).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Tongqian Wu, Martin Yeung, Nga Shan Li, Yan-Yu Huang, Fang-Ju Yeh, and Siu Lun Leung for technical support. We thank Harald Carlsen (Faculty of Chemistry, Biotechnology and Food Science, NMBU) and Henriette Arnesen, Linn Emilie Knutsen, Caroline Aakeson Piercey and the staff at the Pathology Unit (Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, NMBU) for help with processing wild mouse as well as naturalized mouse specimens from Norway. We thank the staff at the Centralized Animal Facilities (CAF) and University Research Facility in Life Sciences (ULS) at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University for technical service.

# REFERENCES

- Perlman RL. Mouse Models of Human Disease: An Evolutionary Perspective. Evol Med Public Health (2016) 2016(1):170–6. doi: 10.1093/emph/eow014
- Shay T, Jojic V, Zuk O, Rothamel K, Puyraimond-Zemmour D, Feng T, et al. Conservation and Divergence in the Transcriptional Programs of the Human and Mouse Immune Systems. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2013) 110(8):2946–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1222738110
- Abolins S, King EC, Lazarou L, Weldon L, Hughes L, Drescher P, et al. The Comparative Immunology of Wild and Laboratory Mice, Mus Musculus Domesticus. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14811. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14811
- Beura LK, Hamilton SE, Bi K, Schenkel JM, Odumade OA, Casey KA, et al. Normalizing the Environment Recapitulates Adult Human Immune Traits in Laboratory Mice. *Nature* (2016) 532(7600):512–6. doi: 10.1038/nature17655
- Abolins SR, Pocock MJ, Hafalla JC, Riley EM, Viney ME. Measures of Immune Function of Wild Mice, Mus Musculus. *Mol Ecol* (2011) 20 (5):881–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04910.x
- Boysen P, Eide DM, Storset AK. Natural Killer Cells in Free-Living Mus Musculus Have a Primed Phenotype. *Mol Ecol* (2011) 20(23):5103–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05269.x
- Devalapalli AP, Lesher A, Shieh K, Solow JS, Everett ML, Edala AS, et al. Increased Levels of IgE and Autoreactive, Polyreactive IgG in Wild Rodents: Implications for the Hygiene Hypothesis. *Scand J Immunol* (2006) 64(2):125– 36. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2006.01785.x
- Tao L, Reese TA. Making Mouse Models That Reflect Human Immune Responses. Trends Immunol (2017) 38(3):181–93. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.12.007
- 9. Dharmage SC, Perret JL, Custovic A. Epidemiology of Asthma in Children and Adults. *Front Pediatr* (2019) 7:246. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00246
- Gersch C, Dewald O, Zoerlein M, Michael LH, Entman ML, Frangogiannis NG. Mast Cells and Macrophages in Normal C57/BL/6 Mice. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2002) 118(1):41–9. doi: 10.1007/s00418-002-0425-z
- Andersson CK, Mori M, Bjermer L, Lofdahl CG, Erjefalt JS. Novel Site-Specific Mast Cell Subpopulations in the Human Lung. *Thorax* (2009) 64 (4):297–305. doi: 10.1136/thx.2008.101683
- Lei Y, Gregory JA, Nilsson GP, Adner M. Insights Into Mast Cell Functions in Asthma Using Mouse Models. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther* (2013) 26(5):532–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2013.03.019
- Galli SJ, Tsai M. IgE and Mast Cells in Allergic Disease. Nat Med (2012) 18 (5):693–704. doi: 10.1038/nm.2755
- Collington SJ, Hallgren J, Pease JE, Jones TG, Rollins BJ, Westwick J, et al. The Role of the CCL2/CCR2 Axis in Mouse Mast Cell Migration *In Vitro* and *In Vivo. J Immunol* (2010) 184(11):6114. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904177
- Wedemeyer J, Tsai M, Galli SJ. Roles of Mast Cells and Basophils in Innate and Acquired Immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2000) 12(6):624–31. doi: 10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00154-0
- Lantz CS, Boesiger J, Song CH, Mach N, Kobayashi T, Mulligan RC, et al. Role for Interleukin-3 in Mast-Cell and Basophil Development and in Immunity to Parasites. *Nature* (1998) 392(6671):90–3. doi: 10.1038/32190
- Andersson CK, Mori M, Bjermer L, Lofdahl CG, Erjefalt JS. Alterations in Lung Mast Cell Populations in Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2010) 181(3):206–17. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.200906-0932OC
- Balzar S, Chu HW, Strand M, Wenzel S. Relationship of Small Airway Chymase-Positive Mast Cells and Lung Function in Severe Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2005) 171(5):431–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200407-949OC
- Galli SJ, Tsai M, Piliponsky AM. The Development of Allergic Inflammation. Nature (2008) 454(7203):445–54. doi: 10.1038/nature07204
- Graham AL. Naturalizing Mouse Models for Immunology. Nat Immunol (2021) 22(2):111–7. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-00857-2

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2021.736692/full#supplementary-material

- Arnesen H, Knutsen LE, Hognestad BW, Johansen GM, Bemark M, Pabst O, et al. A Model System for Feralizing Laboratory Mice in Large Farmyard-Like Pens. Front Microbiol (2020) 11:615661. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.615661
- Knutsen LE, Dissen E, Saether PC, Bjornsen EG, Pialek J, Storset AK, et al. Evidence of Functional Cd94 Polymorphism in a Free-Living House Mouse Population. *Immunogenetics* (2019) 71(4):321–33. doi: 10.1007/s00251-018-01100-x
- Riley JP, Fuchs B, Sjoberg L, Nilsson GP, Karlsson L, Dahlen SE, et al. Mast Cell Mediators Cause Early Allergic Bronchoconstriction in Guinea-Pigs *In Vivo*: A Model of Relevance to Asthma. *Clin Sci* (2013) 125(11):533–42. doi: 10.1042/CS20130092
- Metcalfe DD. Mast Cells and Mastocytosis. Blood (2008) 112(4):946–56. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-11-078097
- Hallgren J, Jones TG, Abonia JP, Xing W, Humbles A, Austen KF, et al. Pulmonary CXCR2 Regulates VCAM-1 and Antigen-Induced Recruitment of Mast Cell Progenitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2007) 104(51):20478–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709651104
- Dahlin JS, Hallgren J. Mast Cell Progenitors: Origin, Development and Migration to Tissues. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 63(1):9–17. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2014.01.018
- Wang Z, Mascarenhas N, Eckmann L, Miyamoto Y, Sun X, Kawakami T, et al. Skin Microbiome Promotes Mast Cell Maturation by Triggering Stem Cell Factor Production in Keratinocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 139 (4):1205–16.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.09.019
- Zarnegar B, Mendez-Enriquez E, Westin A, Soderberg C, Dahlin JS, Gronvik KO, et al. Influenza Infection in Mice Induces Accumulation of Lung Mast Cells Through the Recruitment and Maturation of Mast Cell Progenitors. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00310
- Springer MS, Murphy WJ. Mammalian Evolution and Biomedicine: New Views From Phylogeny. *Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc* (2007) 82(3):375–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00016.x
- Zheng D, Liwinski T, Elinav E. Interaction Between Microbiota and Immunity in Health and Disease. *Cell Res* (2020) 30(6):492–506. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0332-7
- Ericsson AC, Montonye DR, Smith CR, Franklin CL. Modeling a Superorganism - Considerations Regarding the Use of "Dirty" Mice in Biomedical Research. Yale J Biol Med (2017) 90(3):361–71.
- 32. Lindner C, Thomsen I, Wahl B, Ugur M, Sethi MK, Friedrichsen M, et al. Diversification of Memory B Cells Drives the Continuous Adaptation of Secretory Antibodies to Gut Microbiota. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(8):880–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.3213
- 33. Reese TA, Bi K, Kambal A, Filali-Mouhim A, Beura LK, Burger MC, et al. Sequential Infection With Common Pathogens Promotes Human-Like Immune Gene Expression and Altered Vaccine Response. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 19(5):713–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.003
- 34. Rosshart SP, Herz J, Vassallo BG, Hunter A, Wall MK, Badger JH, et al. Laboratory Mice Born to Wild Mice Have Natural Microbiota and Model Human Immune Responses. *Science* (2019) 365(6452):eaaw4361. doi: 10.1126/science.aaw4361
- Yu M, Tsai M, Tam SY, Jones C, Zehnder J, Galli SJ. Mast Cells can Promote the Development of Multiple Features of Chronic Asthma in Mice. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(6):1633–41. doi: 10.1172/JCI25702
- Bankova LG, Dwyer DF, Liu AY, Austen KF, Gurish MF. Maturation of Mast Cell Progenitors to Mucosal Mast Cells During Allergic Pulmonary Inflammation in Mice. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8(3):596–606. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.91
- 37. Ikeda RK, Miller M, Nayar J, Walker L, Cho JY, McElwain K, et al. Accumulation of Peribronchial Mast Cells in a Mouse Model of Ovalbumin Allergen Induced Chronic Airway Inflammation: Modulation by Immunostimulatory DNA Sequences. J Immunol (2003) 171(9):4860–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4860

 Nabe T, Matsuya K, Akamizu K, Fujita M, Nakagawa T, Shioe M, et al. Roles of Basophils and Mast Cells Infiltrating the Lung by Multiple Antigen Challenges in Asthmatic Responses of Mice. *Br J Pharmacol* (2013) 169 (2):462–76. doi: 10.1111/bph.12154

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of

the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Yeh, Chaudhuri, Zhou, Fang, Boysen and Xiang. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

